MICRONUTRIENTS AND FATTY ACIDS IN PRECISION NUTRITION STRATEGIES

EDITED BY: Manja Zec, Cornelius M. Smuts, Lizelle Zandberg and Irena Krga <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Nutrition and Frontiers in Genetics</u>



۵





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-216-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-216-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MICRONUTRIENTS AND FATTY ACIDS IN PRECISION NUTRITION STRATEGIES

Topic Editors:

Manja Zec, University of Arizona, United States Cornelius M. Smuts, North-West University, South Africa Lizelle Zandberg, North-West University, South Africa Irena Krga, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Citation: Zec, M., Smuts, C. M., Zandberg, L., Krga, I., eds. (2022). Micronutrients and Fatty Acids in Precision Nutrition Strategies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-216-5

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Micronutrients and Fatty Acids in Precision Nutrition Strategies

Manja M. Zec, Irena Krga, Lizelle Zandberg and Cornelius M. Smuts

08 Association of Vitamin D, Zinc and Selenium Related Genetic Variants With COVID-19 Disease Severity

Nikola Kotur, Anita Skakic, Kristel Klaassen, Vladimir Gasic, Branka Zukic, Vesna Skodric-Trifunovic, Mihailo Stjepanovic, Zorica Zivkovic, Olivera Ostojic, Goran Stevanovic, Lidija Lavadinovic, Sonja Pavlovic and Biljana Stankovic

- 18 The Interaction Between Fatty Acid Desaturase-2 (FADS2) rs174583 Genetic Variant and Dietary Quality Indices (DASH and MDS) Constructs Different Metabolic Phenotypes Among Obese Individuals Mahdieh Khodarahmi, Leila Nikniaz and Mahdieh Abbasalizad Farhangi
- **33** *Polyphenol-Rich* Aronia melanocarpa Juice Consumption Affects LINE-1 DNA Methylation in Peripheral Blood Leukocytes in Dyslipidemic Women Ljiljana Stojković, Manja Zec, Maja Zivkovic, Maja Bundalo, Maja Bošković, Marija Glibetić and Aleksandra Stankovic
- 44 Characterization of Genetic Variants in the SLC5A5 Gene and Associations With Breast Milk Iodine Concentration in Lactating Women of African Descent: The NUPED Study

Sicelosethu S. Siro, Jeannine Baumgartner, Maryke Schoonen, Jennifer Ngounda, Linda Malan, Elizabeth A. Symington, Cornelius M. Smuts and Lizelle Zandberg

- 54 Plant Extracts Rich in Polyphenols as Potent Modulators in the Growth of Probiotic and Pathogenic Intestinal Microorganisms
 Milica Milutinović, Suzana Dimitrijević-Branković and Mirjana Rajilić-Stojanović
- 65 Zinc as a Biomarker of Cardiovascular Health Marija Knez and Maria Glibetic
- 72 Memorable Food: Fighting Age-Related Neurodegeneration by Precision Nutrition

Maja Milošević, Aleksandra Arsić, Zorica Cvetković and Vesna Vučić

- 85 Certain Associations Between Iron Biomarkers and Total and γ' Fibrinogen and Plasma Clot Properties Are Mediated by Fibrinogen Genotypes
 Petro H. Rautenbach, Cornelie Nienaber-Rousseau, Zelda de Lange-Loots and Marlien Pieters
- 95 Vitamin D Status and Its Correlation With Anthropometric and Biochemical Indicators of Cardiometabolic Risk in Serbian Underground Coal Miners in 2016

Ivana Šarac, Jovica Jovanović, Manja Zec, Zoran Pavlović, Jasmina Debeljak-Martačić, Milica Zeković, Jelena Milešević, Mirjana Gurinović and Maria Glibetić

110 Genetic Link Determining the Maternal-Fetal Circulation of Vitamin D Aparna Sampathkumar, Karen M. Tan, Li Chen, Mary F. F. Chong, Fabian Yap, Keith M. Godfrey, Yap Seng Chong, Peter D. Gluckman, Adaikalavan Ramasamy and Neerja Karnani

122 Zinc Deficiency, Plasma Fatty Acid Profile and Desaturase Activities in Hemodialysis Patients: Is Supplementation Necessary? Marija Takic, Milica Zekovic, Brankica Terzic, Aleksandar Stojsavljevic, Mirjana Mijuskovic, Slavica Radjen and Danijela Ristic-Medic





Editorial: Micronutrients and Fatty Acids in Precision Nutrition Strategies

Manja M. Zec^{1*}, Irena Krga², Lizelle Zandberg³ and Cornelius M. Smuts³

¹ School of Nutritional Sciences and Wellness, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ² Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, Institute for Medical Research—National Institute of the Republic of Serbia, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Centre of Excellence for Nutrition, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa

Keywords: precision nutrition, micronutrients, fatty acids, polyphenols, nutrigenetic biomarkers, microbiota

Editorial on the Research Topic

Micronutrients and Fatty Acids in Precision Nutrition Strategies

PRECISION NUTRITION

The importance of precision nutrition in health management strategies is gaining attention. Precision nutrition aims to translate individual molecular signatures into applicable personalized dietary and nutritional recommendations and ultimately a personalized dietary plan. Some endeavors have been made to customize macronutrient intake for individual predispositions, through the implementation of different dietary regimes, such as the Mediterranean diet with optimized fat intake (1), or a keto diet that favors fat intake (2). Huge interest, however, remains in supplying adequate amounts of essential microelements, individual nutrients, and bioactives, based on personal predispositions which include genetics, microbiota features, and molecular nutrition biomarker profiles. Having said that, this Research Topic reflects recent works dealing with nutrigenetic and gene x dietary/environment interactions, micronutrients, and microbiota responsiveness to bioactive supplementation, altogether evaluated in various health contexts.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Annalisa Terranegra, Sidra Medicine, Qatar

***Correspondence:** Manja M. Zec manjazec@email.arizona.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 01 October 2021 Accepted: 12 November 2021 Published: 09 December 2021

Citation:

Zec MM, Krga I, Zandberg L and Smuts CM (2021) Editorial: Micronutrients and Fatty Acids in Precision Nutrition Strategies. Front. Nutr. 8:788215. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.788215

MICROELEMENTS AND BIOACTIVES IN EARLY LIFE DEVELOPMENT AND HEALTHY AGING

Early development largely depends on maternal nutritional competence, which primarily relies on intake but could also be modulated by endogenous factors such as the genetic background of a mother and even the developing fetus, both factors influencing the adequate nutritional supply of an offspring. The first 1,000 days concept requires appropriate delivery of essential nutrients, otherwise, a set of metabolic derangements may occur in malnourished children (3). In addition to the nutritional intake itself, a genetic make-up might modulate mother-offspring nutritional transfer. Thus, it has been suggested that a genetic variation in *SLC5A5* (rs775249401) gene locus might modulate transportation of iodine into breast milk, with A-allele carrier mothers being more efficient with iodine transportation to breast milk when exposed to inadequate iodine intake (Siro et al.). The results have been demonstrated in women of African descent and warrant more research in the race- and ethnic-specific context. On the other hand, a genome-wide association study across 7 million single nucleotide polymorphisms in Asian populations of Malay, Indian, and Chinese women, revealed that genetic variation (rs4588) in *GC* gene encoding for vitamin D binding protein was associated with low vitamin D status in mothers and cord blood, while the variation in *CYP2J2*

(rs10789082) was associated with low vitamin D in the antenatal analysis only (Sampathkumar et al.). Precision nutrition tailored strategies based on adequate vitamin D supplementation during pre- and peri-conception periods could largely improve vitamin D deficiencies in both women and babies, potentially associated with immunological benefits and musculoskeletal health.

On the other side of the lifespan continuum, adequate supplementation of bioactives such as polyphenols and microelements from fruits and medicinal plants might improve healthy aging and prevent neurodegenerative disease through a panel of nutri(epi)genetic mechanisms, as well as gut microbiota-brain axis, as reviewed in Milošević et al.

POLYPHENOLS AND MICRONUTRIENTS IN IMMUNITY AND HEMOSTASIS

A body of research has recently been directed toward gut microbiota different organ axes, with gut microbiota eubiosis playing an essential role in immunological balance and prevention of a leaky gut through sustained intestinal integrity and low permeability. Fine modulation of gut microbiota profiles remains an outstanding goal for future personalized strategies, and a recent paper has shown that polyphenols from medicinal plants might have growth-stimulating effects on probiotic bacterial and yeast strains (Milutinović et al.).

The importance of microelements in immunological response has also been demonstrated in the burning topic of COVID-19 disease, with unprecedented effects on public health globally. In adult Serbian subjects, but not in a pediatric population, variations in genes involved in vitamin D metabolism (*DHCR7/NADSYN* rs12785878 and *CYP2R1* rs10741657 variants) were linked with severe COVID-19 disease (Kotur et al.), implicating the potential of vitamin D-based precision supplementation strategies in boosting immunological response toward more efficient COVID-19 prevention and suppression.

Precision nutrition supplementation strategies of iron might also depend on the genetic variation coding for fibrinogen and FXIII molecules, as indicated in the recent epidemiological cohort of black African descent (Rautenbach et al.). In this study, biomarkers of iron status, such as ferritin and transferrin, were shown to be linked with fibrinogen, fibrin formation, and fibrinogen lysis, implicating a role of circulating iron in hemostasis.

BIOACTIVES AND NUTRIENTS IN CHRONIC DISEASES

Due to the increased incidence of cardiovascular disease worldwide, associated with a striking increase in obesity, related to nutritional transitions toward Westernized dietary patterns, novel personalized approaches in cardiometabolic conditions are highly desirable.

Zinc is involved in the inflammatory response and disturbed zinc homeostasis is an early feature of cardiovascular disease. Zinc status is essential for optimal cellular and tissue proliferation, hormonal and immunological balance, and randomized controlled zinc interventions to alleviate cardiovascular disease, as well as nutrigenetic implications of zinc transporter proteins and metallothionein, are much needed (Knez and Glibetic). The necessity of zinc supplementation has also been established in reportedly zinc-deficient hemodialysis patients, who also presented with an inadequate long-chain omega-3 fatty acid intake (Takic et al.), indicating potential interaction between fatty acid and micronutrient metabolism. Furthermore, the interaction between dietary bioactives i.e., polyphenols from Aronia berry and polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism, has also been reported in dyslipidemic women, with those consuming polyphenol-rich berry juice having a lower inflammatory arachidonic acid/eicosapentaenoic acid ratio (Stojković et al.). The same study demonstrated that habitual polyphenol intake also induced decreases in Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element-1 methylation levels in peripheral blood leukocytes, which was dependent on MTHFR variant allele (C677T), indicating nutri(epi)genetic forces elicited by polyphenol consumption. Aside from microelements and bioactives, fatty acid profiles are influenced by the quality of a diet. In obese subjects, FADS2 rs174583 variant, involved in dietary fatty acid conversion, interacted with the level of adherence to either Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension or Mediterranean diet, finally affecting triglyceride concentration/diastolic blood pressure in women/men and glucose serum levels, respectively (Khodarahmi et al.).

Finally, precision nutrition strategies are of special importance in populations with specific nutritional and dietary needs, which was demonstrated in a recent study in underground coal miners, where unexpected direct correlations between serum vitamin D levels and anthropometric and biochemical indicators were demonstrated, the latter commonly indicative of obesity, metabolic syndrome, and fatty liver disease (Šarac et al.).

FOUNDATION FOR FUTURE STUDIES

In order to implement precision nutrition postulates in practice, further race-, ethnicity-, and population-specific randomized controlled studies are needed to validate responsiveness to a particular nutrient and dietary intervention depending on the holistic interpretation of individual genetic and molecular biomarker profiles. Further research should put additional attention on population groups with specific nutritional and dietary needs, such as occupational groups and athletes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MMZ wrote the manuscript and IK, LZ, and CMS reviewed the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Martínez-González MA, Gea A, Ruiz-Canela M. The mediterranean diet and cardiovascular health. *Circ Res.* (2019) 124:779– 98. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313348
- O'Neill B, Raggi P. The ketogenic diet: pros and cons. Atherosclerosis. (2020) 292:119–26. doi: 10.1016/j.Atherosclerosis.2019.11.021
- Mayneris-Perxachs J, Swann JR. Metabolic phenotyping of malnutrition during the first 1000 days of life. *Eur J Nutr.* (2019) 58:909–30. doi: 10.1007/S00394-018-1679-0

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zec, Krga, Zandberg and Smuts. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association of Vitamin D, Zinc and Selenium Related Genetic Variants With COVID-19 Disease Severity

Nikola Kotur¹, Anita Skakic¹, Kristel Klaassen¹, Vladimir Gasic¹, Branka Zukic¹, Vesna Skodric-Trifunovic^{2,3}, Mihailo Stjepanovic^{2,3}, Zorica Zivkovic^{4,5}, Olivera Ostojic⁴, Goran Stevanovic^{3,6}, Lidija Lavadinovic⁶, Sonja Pavlovic¹ and Biljana Stankovic^{1*}

¹ Laboratory for Molecular Biomedicine, Institute of Molecular Genetics and Genetic Engineering, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Clinic of Pulmonology, Clinical Center of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Medical Faculty, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁴ Children's Hospital for Lung Diseases and Tbc, MC Dr Dragisa Misovic, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁶ Faculty of Pharmacy Novi Sad, Business Academy, Novi Sad, Serbia, ⁶ Clinic for Infectious and Tropical Diseases, Clinical Centre of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Manja Zec, University of Arizona, United States

Reviewed by:

Matina Kouvari, Harokopio University, Greece Janaina Donadio, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence: Biljana Stankovic biljana.stankovic@imgge.bg.ac.rs

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 11 May 2021 Published: 04 June 2021

Citation:

Kotur N, Skakic A, Klaassen K, Gasic V, Zukic B, Skodric-Trifunovic V, Stjepanovic M, Zivkovic Z, Ostojic O, Stevanovic G, Lavadinovic L, Pavlovic S and Stankovic B (2021) Association of Vitamin D, Zinc and Selenium Related Genetic Variants With COVID-19 Disease Severity. Front. Nutr. 8:689419. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.689419 **Background:** COVID-19 pandemic has proved to be an unrelenting health threat for more than a year now. The emerging amount of data indicates that vitamin D, zinc and selenium could be important for clinical presentation of COVID-19. Here, we investigated association of genetic variants related to the altered level and bioavailability of vitamin D, zinc and selenium with clinical severity of COVID-19.

Methods: We analyzed variants in genes significant for the status of vitamin D (*DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878, GC rs2282679, *CYP2R1* rs10741657, and *VDR* rs2228570), zinc (*PPCDC* rs2120019) and selenium (*DMGDH* rs17823744) in 120 Serbian adult and pediatric COVID-19 patients using allelic discrimination. Furthermore, we carried out comparative population genetic analysis among European and other worldwide populations to investigate variation in allelic frequencies of selected variants.

Results: Study showed that *DHCR7/NADSYN* rs12785878 and *CYP2R1* rs10741657 variants were associated with severe COVID-19 in adults (p = 0.03, p = 0.017, respectively); carriers of *DHCR7/NADSYN* TG+GG and *CYP2R1* GG genotypes had 0.21 and 5.9 the odds for developing severe disease, OR 0.21 (0.05–0.9) and OR 5.9 (1.4–25.2), respectively. There were no associations between selected genetic variants and disease severity in pediatric patients. Comparative population genetic analysis revealed that Serbian population had the lowest frequency of *CYP2R1* rs10741657 G allele compared to other non-Finish Europeans (0.58 compared to 0.69 and 0.66 in Spanish and Italian population, respectively), suggesting that other populations should also investigate the relationship of *CYP2R1* variant and the COVID-19 disease course.

Conclusion: The results of the study indicated that vitamin D related genetic variants were implicated in severe COVID-19 in adults. This could direct prevention strategies based on population specific nutrigenetic profiles.

Keywords: DHCR7, CYP2R1, nutrigenetics, COVID-19, population genetics

8

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 pandemic has proved to be an unrelenting health threat for more than a year now. More contagious and more deadly SARS-CoV-2 variants are a major concern, especially because effective, causal therapy is still unavailable, and vaccination coverage rates are lower than anticipated. Moreover, protection from vaccination is likely to last only for a season or two. One of the strategies to save lives is to identify groups at risk of severe COVID-19 disease and to implement measures aimed at those groups. The elderly, male, obese, chronic disease patients, patients with malignancies, immunocompromised, dark-skinned, socioeconomically disadvantaged and tobacco users suffered the most death toll from COVID-19 (1, 2). Also, interindividual genetic variations might be implicated in more severe COVID-19 (3, 4).

Another strategy directed toward reducing severe COVID-19 symptoms relies on high dose vitamins and trace elements (micronutrients) supplementation. Among micronutrients important for adequate immune function, vitamin D, zinc and selenium are of particular importance for coping with viral, respiratory infections, such as COVID-19 (5). Adequate status of these micronutrients is not only important for immune function and viral clearance, but also might mitigate lifethreatening complications of SARS-CoV-2 infection, such as thrombosis and uncontrolled inflammation which leads to cytokine storm. Namely, vitamin D via vitamin D receptor (VDR) mediates immune function and regulation, strengthening of epithelial barriers and antioxidant defense, and also regulates expression of SARS-CoV-2 receptor, ACE2 (6-8). Zinc exerts direct anti-viral effects and also serves as a cofactor of dozens of proteins important for immune function and regulation, and antioxidative defense (9). Selenium via selenoproteins regulates immune function and provides antioxidant defense and vaso-protection (10).

Although important for various processes in our body, a lot of people worldwide have inadequate status of vitamin D, zinc or selenium. There is a pandemic of vitamin D deficiency, especially in higher latitudes due to inadequate sun exposure necessary for the synthesis of this vitamin (11). Selenium deficiency is prevalent in Europe and other parts of the world where soil is poor of this element, while zinc status is compromised predominantly in underdeveloped regions (12). Vitamin D, zinc and selenium deficiency is associated with factors of COVID-19 severity, such as old age, obesity, diabetes, dyslipidemia and chronic and acute inflammation. COVID-19 patients have lower status of vitamin D, zinc and selenium than healthy individuals (13). Also, patients with severe COVID-19 disease have lower status of vitamin D, zinc and selenium than mild and moderate disease patients (14-16). Preliminary evidence from intervention studies suggests that supplementation with these micronutrients protects from severe COVID-19 disease (17, 18).

Apart from chronic and acute health conditions, lifestyle and nutrition, genetic factors also play a role in bioavailability and status of vitamin D, zinc and selenium. Several large genomewide association studies (GWAS) identified variants located near genes involved in synthesis, transport and metabolism of vitamin D, namely DHCR7/NADSYN1, GC and CYP2R1, respectively (19-21). Variants in these genes are associated with serum level of 25OHD, which is a measure of vitamin D status. Also, genetic variants in VDR gene, which codes for vitamin D receptor that regulates expression of more than 200 human genes (22), have been shown to increase susceptibility to acute lower respiratory infections in children, as well as several inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (23-26). GWAS studies comprising three large independent cohorts associated selenium status measured in whole blood and erythrocytes (27), as well as nails (reflects longer duration of selenium exposure) (28) with a locus near DMGDH gene. The same locus was implicated in a response to selenium supplementation in another GWAS (29). Zinc nutrigenetics is less studied, but a few candidate variants associated with status of this trace elements are identified in a large GWAS, and the most significant association was noted for rs2120019 variant near PPCDC gene (27).

Building on this premise, we hypothesize that genetic variants linked to suboptimal level or decreased bioavailability of vitamin D, zinc and selenium, may also serve as markers of disease course in COVID-19 patients, influenced by the level of these micronutrients. Therefore, we evaluated genetic determinants of vitamin D (DHCR7/NADSYN1 rs12785878, GC rs2282679, CYP2R1 rs10741657, VDR rs2228570), zinc (PPCDC rs2120019) and selenium (DMGDH rs17823744) as risk factors for severe forms of COVID-19. Furthermore, we attempted to investigate the inter-population diversity of the selected genetic variants. Inter-population nutrigenetic variability could suggest different relevance of nutrigenetic factors in populations exposed to different nutritional habits and specific environmental factors. These data should be taken into account when evaluating the possible relationship of nutrigenetic variants with severe COVID-19 forms in other populations struck by the pandemic.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Present study included 120 patients with diagnosis of COVID-19 (adult and pediatric) who were treated in tertiary healthcare institutions, the Clinic of Pulmonology, Clinical Center of Serbia and Children's Hospital for Lung Diseases and Tuberculosis, Medical Center "Dr Dragiša Mišović," Belgrade, Serbia, between April and June of 2020. For all patients, a COVID-19 infection was defined as a positive SARS-CoV-2 laboratory test (viral RNA RT-PCR test from nasopharyngeal swabs). From each patient, peripheral blood sample was collected for DNA isolation and further genetic analyses.

Clinical data were assessed using electronic health records. From a total of 120 COVID-19 patients included in the study, clinical data were available for 115 patients, 73 adults and 42 pediatric.

Adult COVID-19 patients were categorized into mild, moderate or severe clinical course according to the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Definition of COVIID-19 Disease Severity (COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel. *Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines*. 2020. Available at: http://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov), as follows: *mild* – patients with symptoms such as fever, fatigue, cough, myalgia, and headache, but without dyspnea or pneumonia; *moderate* - those with evidence of pneumonia based on imaging showing up to 50% of lung involvement, who had blood oxygen saturation >93% on room air; *severe* - patients who demonstrated pneumonia with >50% of lung involvement on imaging or had blood oxygen saturation level equal to or <93% on room air and required supportive oxygen therapy.

Pediatric patients were enrolled during the first peak of the COVID-19. At that time, SARS-CoV-2 positive pediatric patients were admitted to the hospital if they had COVID-19 symptoms or for observation due to previous health issues. Most of the recruited pediatric patients (90.5%) demonstrated mild form of the disease. Therefore, for the purpose of this study, we classified pediatric patients into 2 groups – *symptomatic*, who were diagnosed with pneumonia or any typical COVID-19 symptoms such as cough, fever, sore throat, fatigue, and headache or *asymptomatic*, patients tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 with medical history of recurrent respiratory diseases.

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Molecular Genetics and Genetic Engineering University of Belgrade (approval for sample collection and biobank formation O-EO-016/2020, 06.05.2020.; approval for the genetic study O-EO-016/2020/1, 03.09.2020). Informed consent was obtained from each participant or their parents/legal guardians. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Genotyping

Genomic DNA was isolated from the whole blood samples using QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen) and stored at -20° C until analysis.

Genetic variants *DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878, *GC* rs2282679, *CYP2R1* rs10741657, *VDR* rs2228570, *PPCDC* rs2120019 and *DMGDH* rs17823744 were analyzed using TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific) (C_32063037_10, C_26407519_10, C_2958430_10, C_12060045_20, C_304992_10, C_32728760_10), according to the manufacturer's instructions with modifications. A total volume of 8 μ l PCR reaction contained 36 ng of DNA, 1x Taqman Genotyping Master Mix and 1x TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Genotyping was performed on a real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems 7500, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Genotype calling was implemented with built-in 7500 System Software v1.3.1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in software SPSS v23.0 and R v.3.6.2.

Differences in demographic and clinical data between COVID-19 mild/moderate/severe subgroups were examined using adequate statistical tests for continuous and discrete data (Mann-Whitney U test, Chi-square or Fisher exact test).

For genetic data, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was examined to assess the performance of the genotyping assays. Differences in genotype and allele counts distribution for each variant between COVID-19 subgroups were tested using the Chi-squared test. Impact of each genetic variable on severity of the COVID-19 was estimated by odds ratio with 95% confidence interval using a logistic regression model in order to control for confounding factors, such as age and gender.

Frequencies of the analyzed variants were compared between group of Serbian COVID-19 patients and other populations using two openly available variant databases, 1,000 Genomes Project (1KGP) and Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD) v.3.0 (30, 31). Chi square or Fisher exact tests were used to measure significant differences in allelic distributions between Serbian and European populations (Finish and non-Finish, particularly Italian, Spanish, Britain and USA with European ancestry), and other worldwide populations (African, East and South Asian, American Latino/Admixture and Ashkenazi Jewish), applying Bonferroni correction for multiple testing.

We examined the level of population genetic variability at each genetic loci using the maximal global difference in risk allele frequency (delta AF), which was calculated by subtracting the maximum and the minimum allele frequency across analyzed populations.

All tests were bi-directional. The threshold for statistical significance was defined using appropriate multiple comparisons correction methods, such as Bonferroni or Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate (FDR).

RESULTS

Description of COVID-19 Patient Groups

In the selected study group, 73 were adults while 42 were pediatric patients. Among adults 65.8% were females and the median age was 43 (range 20–82); among pediatric patients 38.1% were females and median age was 9 (range 0.3–17). Demographic and clinical descriptions of COVID-19 patients are presented in **Table 1**.

In the group of adult COVID-19 patients, 10 (13.7%) required supportive oxygen therapy and 3 (4%) had COVID-19 related death outcomes. Examining available clinical data, patients were categorized into mild (n = 35), moderate (n = 21) or severe (n = 17) disease groups. Age distribution of the patients significantly varied between groups; gradual increase in participants' age has been observed across mild, moderate and severe groups (p < 0.001). In the severe group, a significantly higher number of patients suffered from hypertension, diabetes and were using ACE inhibitors, compared to mild and moderate groups (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, respectively). The highest percent of lymphopenia and thrombocytopenia events were observed in the severe group, 93.8 and 56.3%, respectively. Also, patients with severe COVID-19 had higher levels of CRP, compared to patients with moderate and mild disease (p < 0.001).

Pediatric COVD-19 patients were categorized into two groups – asymptomatic (n = 20) and symptomatic (n = 22). There was no significant difference in distribution of age, gender, nor in the presence of comorbidity between the two groups, except past respiratory diseases. The level of CRP was significantly higher in COVID-19 symptomatic compared to asymptomatic pediatric patients (p = 0.003).

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristic of COVID-19 patients.

	Adult COVID-19 ($n = 73$)				
	Mild	Moderate	Severe	p	
 N (%)	35 (47.9)	21 (28.8)	17 (23.3)		
Age, median [IQR]	37 [29–49]	41 [33.7–52]	61 [49.3–67]	<0.001	
Gender, Female n (%)	28 (80)	11 (52.4)	9 (52.9)	0.05	
Obesity, n/available (%)	5/33 (14)	7/19 (36.8)	6/16 (37.5)	0.1	
Hypertension, n/available (%)	7/35 (20)	5/21 (23.8)	10/16 (62.5)	0.01	
Diabetes, n/available (%)	1/35 (3)	2/21 (9.5)	4/16 (25)	0.05	
ACE inhibitors, n/available (%)	5/35 (14.3)	2/21 (9.5)	8/15 (53.3)	0.006	
% SatO ₂ , median [IQR]	98 [98–99]	97.5 [97–99]	95.5 [87–97]	<0.001	
CRP, median [IQR]	0.6 [0.2-4.3]	17.2 [4.7–91.7]	135.6 [96.7–260.4]	<0.001	
Febrile, n/available (%)	7/35 (20)	11/21 (52.4)	14/16 (87.5)	<0.001	
Lymphopenia (<0.8 x109/L), n/available (%)	7/34 (20.6)	9/21 (42.9)	15/16 (93.8)	<0.001	
Thrombocytopenia (<150,000/mm ³), n/available (%)	5/33 (15.2)	3/21 (14.3)	9/16 (56.3)	0.005	

	Pediatric COVID-19 (n = 42)			
	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic	p	
	20 (47.6)	22 (52.4)		
Age, median [IQR]	9.0 [7.3–13.5]	10.0 [1.7–15.0]	0.9	
Gender, Female %	8/20 [40]	8/22 (36.4)	0.8	
Obesity, n/available (%)	0/20 (0)	1/22 (4.5)	1	
Hypertension, n/available (%)	0/20 (0)	1/22 (4.5)	1	
Diabetes, n/available (%)	0/20 (0)	0/22 (0)	NA	
% SatO ₂	98.0 [97.0–99.0]	98.0 [96.7–98.3]	0.3	
CRP, median [IQR]	0.45 [0.2–0.97]	2.7 [0.53–11.3]	0.002	
Lymphopenia (<0.8 x109/L), n/available (%)	0/20 (0)	4/22 (18.2)	0.1	
Thrombocytopenia (<150,000/mm ³), n/available (%)	0/20 (0)	0/22 (0)	NA	

....

To deal with missing data, each variable count was presented along with the total available data for that category (n/available). Differences between groups were tested using Mann-Whitney U test for continuous data, or Chi-square/Fisher exact test for discrete data. Benjamini-Hochberg correction for multiple testing was applied (FDR of 0.05); significant probabilities after correction were presented in bold. IQR, interquartile range; SatO₂, Blood oxygen saturation; CRP, C-reactive protein.

Association of Genetic Variants With the Risk of Severe COVID-19

COVID-19 patients were genotyped for variants in *DHCR7/NADSYN1*, *GC*, *CYP2R1*, *VDR*, *PPCDC* and *DMGDH* genes (**Table 2**). Distributions of genotypes of all analyzed variants were in accordance with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

We compared the distribution of analyzed genotypes between different COVID-19 severity groups. In the group of adult patients, two outcomes were considered in the logistic regression model – first included both mild and moderate disease, and second was severe disease (**Table 3**). Logistic regression used genotypes of analyzed variants as variables, controlled for age and gender in multivariate models. To increase the statistical power of the study, a dominant genetic model has been applied, in particular, a group of homozygous carriers of more frequent allele were compared to heterozygous and homozygous carriers of the less frequent, minor allele. Analysis showed that carriers of *DHCR7/NADSYN1* G allele (TG+GG), associated with lower levels of 25OHD were 4.9 times less likely (or had 0.21 the odds) to develop a severe form of COVID-19, compared with

carriers of TT genotype. When adjusted for age and gender, observed association was still significant (OR 0.21, 95% CI 0.05–0.9, p = 0.03). Association has also been observed between severe COVID-19 and *CYP2R1* GG genotype, previously related to decreased levels of 25OHD. In the logistic regression model, *CYP2R1* GG carriers had 5.9 times higher odds to develop severe disease, adjusted for age and gender (OR 5.9, 95% CI 1.4–25.2, p = 0.017). Additionally, we applied adjustment for obesity in multivariate logistic regression models, showing that *DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878 and *CYP2R1* rs10741657 variants remained significant predictors of severe COVID-19 in adults (OR 0.22, 95% CI 0.06-0.93, p = 0.02; OR 4.9, 95% CI 1.5-16.4, p = 0.009, respectively). Our study did not show association of *GC* and *VDR* variants with higher risk of severe COVID-19 in adults.

Homozygous carriers of *DMGDH* A allele, which has been related to lower levels of selenium, in our study were less likely to present severe form of COVID-19 (OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.09–0.9, p = 0.03). However, this association was not significant after correction for age and gender. Regarding zinc-related

TABLE 2 Genotype and allele frequencies of COVID-19 patients ($n = 120$).
--

Genetic variant	Genotype	n (freq)	HW	Allele	freq
DHCR7/NADSYN1 rs12785878	TT	56 (0.47)	0.2	Т	0.70
	TG	56 (0.47)		G	0.30
	GG	8 (0.07)			
GC rs2282679	Π	59 (0.50)	0.8	Т	0.70
	TG	49 (0.41)		G	0.30
	GG	11 (0.09)			
CYP2R1 rs10741657	GG	36 (0.3)	0.1	G	0.58
	GA	67 (0.56)		А	0.42
	AA	17 (0.14)			
VDR rs2228570	GG	53 (0.44)	0.5	G	0.65
	GA	51 (0.43)		А	0.35
	AA	16 (0.13)			
PPCDC rs2120019	Π	65 (0.54)	0.4	Т	0.75
	TC	49 (0.41)		С	0.25
	CC	6 (0.05)			
DMGDH rs17823744	AA	87 (0.72)	0.7	А	0.85
	AG	31 (0.26)		G	0.15
	GG	2 (0.02)			

HW, hardy weinberg equilibrium; freq, frequency (number of observations/total number).

PPCDC variant, we observed no significant association with severe COVID-19 outcome in adult patients.

In pediatric COVID-19 cases, we applied a logistic regression model to predict two outcomes – asymptomatic and symptomatic disease, using genotype data (**Table 4**). No significant associations with increased risk for symptomatic pediatric COVID-19 disease were found with any of the analyzed genetic variants.

Comparative Population Genetics

Finally, we aimed to compare allele frequencies of selected genetic variants in Serbian COVID-19 study group with their frequencies in other populations. Therefore, we retrieved variant site data from the two genetic databases, 1KGP and gnomAD. Distributions of alleles frequencies (AF) associated with decreased levels of selected micronutrients in European and worldwide populations have been presented in Figure 1 (data used for calculations are provided in Supplementary Table 1). For all analyzed genetic variants, observed AF in Serbian study group did not diverge from overall AF in European non-Finish populations. When comparing Serbian study group with populations of non-Finish Europeans, we noticed a difference in the frequency of DHCR7/NADSYN1 allele G between Italian compared to Serbian population (0.22 and 0.3, respectively, p =0.07). Difference was also observed in the frequency of CYP2R1 rs10741657 allele G between Serbian (0.58) and Spanish (0.69) as well as Italian population (0.66) (p = 0.02, p = 0.08, respectively). Serbian population had the lowest frequency of the CYP2R1 rs10741657 G variant among European non-Finish populations, while Spanish and Italians demonstrated the highest. However, noted differences were not statistically significant. As expected, significant differences were mostly seen between Serbian and African, South and East Asian, American Latino/Admixed, and Ashkenazi populations.

The level of population genetic variability at each selected loci was assessed using delta AF (dAF), representing the difference between maximum and minimum AF value across analyzed populations. The highest dAF was observed for the *DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878 variant (dAF 0.56). The lowest dAF was detected for *CYP2R1* rs10741657 and *DMGDH* rs17823744 variants (dAF 0.15 and 0.15, respectively).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we focused our attention to genetic variants related to altered level, bioavailability or mechanism of action of vitamin D, zinc and selenium, aiming to investigate their association with different COVID-19 presentation in children and adults. Serbia, like much of Europe and the world, faces micronutrient deficiency/insufficiency which is in part influenced by genetic variability. The prevalence of suboptimal levels of vitamin D and selenium in Serbian population is estimated to be around 50% (32, 33), while zinc insufficiency is around 7% (12). Bearing in mind that even a mild insufficiency of these micronutrients can cause suboptimal immune function, implications for COVID-19 pandemic can be formidable.

Results of our study showed association of *DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878 and *CYP2R1* rs10741657 variants with severe form of COVID-19 in adult patients. In the pediatric COVID-19 group, we did not detect any associations between analyzed genetic factors and disease severity.

Variant rs12785878 is located 8 kilobases upstream of the *DHCR7* gene on chromosome 11q12. *DHCR7* codes for 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase, a key enzyme in cholesterol

		Adult COVID-19 ($n = 73$)		Mild+moderate vs. severe disease					
Genetic variant	Genotype	Mild (<i>n</i> = 35)	Moderate ($n = 21$)	Severe (<i>n</i> = 17)	Genetic model*	OR [CI]	Р	OR ^{adj} [CI]	p ^{adj}
DHCR7/NADSYN1 rs12785878	Π	12 (34.3%)	9 (42.8%)	12 (70.6%)	TT ^R vs. TG+GG	0.25 [0.08-0.81]	0.02	0.21 [0.05-0.9]	0.03
	TG	20 (57.1%)	9 (42.8%)	5 (29.4%)					
	GG	3 (8.6%)	3 (14.3%)	0 (0%)					
GC rs2282679	TT	16 (45.7%)	8 (40.0%)	8 (47.1%)	TT ^R vs. TG+GG	0.8 [0.3–2.6]	0.8	1.3 [0.3–5.0]	0.7
	TG	17 (48.6%)	9 (45.0%)	8 (47.1%)					
	GG	2 (5.7%)	3 (15.0%)	1 (5.8%)					
CYP2R1 rs10741657	GG	11 (31.4%)	4 (19.0%)	10 (58.8%)	GA+AA ^R vs. GG	3.9 [1.3–12.1]	0.018	5.9 [1.4–25.2]	0.017
	GA	18 (51.4%)	14 (66.7%)	4 (23.5%)					
	AA	6 (17.1%)	3 (14.3%)	3 (17.6%)					
VDR rs2228570	GG	15 (42.9%)	8 (38.1%)	7 (41.2%)	GG ^R vs. GA+AA	1.0 [0.3–3.0)	1	0.8 [0.2–3.2]	0.7
	GA	15 (42.9%)	10 (47.6%)	8 (47.1%)					
	AA	5 (14.3%)	3 (14.3%)	2 (11.7%)					
PPCDC rs2120019	Π	20 (57.1%)	11 (52.4%)	7 (41.2%)	TT ^R vs. TC+CC	1.8 [0.6–5.3]	0.3	1.4 [0.4–5.2]	0.6
	TC	14 (40.0%)	9 (42.8%)	8 (47.0%)					
	CC	1 (2.9%)	1 (4.8%)	2 (11.8)					
DMGDH rs17823744	AA	28 (80.0%)	17 (81.0%)	9 (53.0%)	AG+GG ^R vs. AA	0.27 [0.09–0.9]	0.03	0.4 [0.1–1.8]	0.2
	AG	7 (20.0%)	2 (9.5%)	8 (47.0%)					
	GG	0 (0%)	2 (9.5%)	0 (0%)					

*To increase statistical power of the study, a dominant genetic model was applied. Homozygous carriers of more frequent allele were compared to heterozygous and homozygous carriers of less frequent, minor allele. ^RGroup that included homozygous carriers of allele associated with higher levels of analyzed micronutrient was set to be a referent group in the logistic regression model.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; adj, adjusted for age and gender. Bolded p-values remained significant after Benjamini-Hochberg correction for multiple testing (p < 0.033), if FDR was set to 0.1.

biosynthesis and vitamin D cutaneous production. Particularly, the activity of DHCR7 enzyme decreases the level of vitamin D precursor availability, 7-dehydorcholesterol, shunting it in the direction of cholesterol biosynthesis (34). DHCR7 rs12785878 variant was firstly noted in a large GWAS of 25OHD concentrations in 33 996 individuals of European descent by (21), and subsequently confirmed in other numerous studies, where the G allele was shown to be associated with lower 25OHD serum levels. In our comparative genetic population analysis, we showed that frequency of G allele markedly varied across different populations; it ranged from 0.75 in African and Asian populations to 0.22 in European populations. Considerable differences in allele frequencies between populations may indicate a locus that has undergone positive selection in a specific geographical area. It has been suggested that positive selection influenced the DHCR7 gene, increasing the frequency of reduced activity variant (allele T) in European populations (35). Reduced activity of DHCR7 leads to increased availability of 7-dehydrocholesterol for vitamin D synthesis allowing Europeans to avoid deficiency in northern latitudes. Our results suggested an association of the rs12785878 variant with the severe form of COVID-19. However, in our study, carriers of the TT genotype which has been linked to higher circulating level of 25OHD, were more likely to develop a severe form of COVID-19. Given the immune-enhancing aspects of vitamin D, one might expect the opposite. However, it should be noted that the roll of DHCR7 variants to vitamin D status is constrained to vitamin D synthesis in the skin exposed to UV light and probably does not influence contribution of dietary sources and supplementation to the level of this vitamin. COVID-19 patients enrolled in our study were hospitalized with this disease in the spring of 2020 during or right after lockdown measures were in place. That means that vitamin D was scarcely synthetized in skin during that time and, therefore, *DHCR7* variants had limited influence on vitamin D level. Regardless of vitamin D production, *DHCR7* variants could influence immune function mediated through cholesterol metabolites. Namely, reduced activity of DHCR7 leads to increased 7-dehydrocholesterol levels which influences interferon production and viral clearance (36).

After initial UV-light mediated production of vitamin D3 in the skin, the second step in the synthesis of active vitamin D is catalyzed in the liver by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme which hydroxylates carbon 25, producing the intermediate 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, or 25OHD, the major circulatory form of the vitamin D (37). This enzyme is encoded by the CYP2R1 (cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily R, polypeptide 1) gene. Variant rs10741657 located near the CYP2R1 gene was linked by several studies to 25OHD serum concentrations (21, 38), with the allele G shown to be associated with lower 25OHD serum levels, and with the GG homozygotes having the lowest levels. Our results indicated an association between severe COVID-19 and CYP2R1 GG genotype. In the logistic regression model, CYP2R1 rs10741657 GG carriers had 5.9 times higher odds to develop severe disease. We noticed low level of variability of allele G frequency for CYP2R1 rs10741657 variant across analyzed populations (dAF 0.15); G allele frequencies ranged from 0.58

		Pediatric COV	ID-19 (<i>n</i> = 42)	Asympt	omatic vs. syn	nptom	atic disease	
Enetic variant	Genotype	Asymptomatic ($n = 20$)	Symptomatic ($n = 22$)	Genetic model*	OR [CI]	p	OR ^{adj} [CI]	${m p}^{ m adj}$
DHCR7/NADSYN1 rs12785878	Π	11 (55%)	7 (31.8%)	TT ^R vs. TG+GG	2.6 [0.7–9.2]	0.1	3.1 [0.8–11.8]	0.1
	TG	8 (40.0%)	14 (63.6%)					
	GG	1 (5.0%)	1 (4.5%)					
GC rs2282679	Π	10 (50.0%)	13 (59.1%)	TT ^R vs. TG+GG	0.7 [0.2–2.3]	0.6	0.7 [0.2–2.5]	0.6
	TG	6 (30.0%)	8 (36.4%)					
	GG	4 (20.0%)	1 (4.5%)					
CYP2R1 rs10741657	GG	4 (20.0%)	5 (22.7%)	GA+AA ^R vs. GG	1.2 [0.3–5.2]	0.8	1.2 [0.3–5.2]	0.8
	GA	13 (65.0%)	15 (68.2%)					
	AA	3 (15.0%)	2 (9.1%)					
VDR rs2228570	GG	9 (45.0%)	11 (50.0%)	GG ^R vs. GA+AA	0.8 [0.2–2.7]	0.7	0.8 [0.2–2.8]	0.7
	GA	8 (40.0%)	8 (36.4%)					
	AA	3 (15.0%)	3 (13.6%)					
PPCDC rs2120019	Π	14 (70.0%)	11 (50.0%)	TT ^R vs. TC+CC	2.3 [0.7–8.3]	0.2	2.6 [0.7–9.9]	0.2
	TC	6 (30.0%)	9 (40.9%)					
	CC	0 (0%)	2 (9.1%)					
DMGDH rs17823744	AA	14 (70.0%)	17 (77.3%)	AG+GG ^R vs. AA	1.5 [0.4–5.8]	0.6	1.5 [0.4–5.8]	0.6
	AG	6 (30.0%)	5 (22.7%)					
	GG	0 (0%)	0 (0%)					

*To increase statistical power of the study, a dominant genetic model was applied. Homozygous carriers of more frequent allele were compared to heterozygous and homozygous carriers of less frequent, minor allele. ^RGroup that included homozygous carriers of allele associated with higher levels of analyzed micronutrient was set to be a referent group in the logistic regression model. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; adj, adjusted for age and gender.

in Serbian, which was the lowest among European populations, to 0.73 in African population. The highest frequency of the G allele among Europeans was observed in Italian and Spanish populations (0.66 and 0.69, respectively). Recent study that reported negative correlations between mean levels of vitamin D in various European countries with COVID-19 cases per million people, suggested that Spain, Italy and Switzerland are the most vulnerable countries since they have very low levels of vitamin D in the aging population (39). Our results could be of particular interest for these populations. Relatively high occurrence of the CYP2R1 rs10741657 G variant in different populations, reproducible association with decreased 25OHD levels and observed relationship with severe COVID-19 in our group of patients, gives a solid ground for future studies to examine relationship of this CYP2R1 variant with the clinical course of COVID-19 in other populations.

A role of vitamin D in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 has been extensively studied since the beginning of the pandemic. Calcitriol (1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3) has an important role in regulating renin angiotensin system by enhancing the expression of ACE2, which is the main target of SARS-CoV2 cell entry (7, 8). Also, vitamin D has an immunomodulatory effect and it can prevent macrophages to release excessive proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (6, 40). A recent study showed that the intake levels of relevant micronutrients such as vitamin D are inversely associated with higher COVID-19 incidence and/or mortality (41).

Furthermore, other studies sought for more detailed nutrigenetic markers as factors that might contribute to the

bioavailability of vitamin D and therefore influence COVID-19 susceptibility and/or clinical course. A study which aimed to assess the association between variants in the GC gene that encodes vitamin D binding/transport protein (DBP), and the prevalence and mortality rates of COVID-19, pointed out to rs7041 variant (42). Another recent study (not peer-reviewed yet) performed in Portuguese population of COVID-19 patients found an association of GC rs2282679 variant with COVID-19 disease severity (43). Our study indicated an association between DHCR7/NADSYN1 rs12785878 and CYP2R1 rs10741657 variants and the severity of COVID-19, but the variants GC rs2282679 and VDR rs2228570 were not linked to a higher risk of severe COVID-19 in adults. In a recent Mendelian randomization study (not peer-reviewed yet) on vitamin D and COVID-19 in individuals of European ancestry, genetically increased 25OHD concentrations did not protect against COVID-19 susceptibility, but increased the odds for hospitalization and severe disease (44). Another Mendelian randomization study failed to find evidence of a linkage between vitamin D deficiency and COVID-19 infection rates or severe disease (45). However, described studies did not consider true vitamin D deficiency in participants, and it can be possible that vitamin D supplementation could benefit insufficient/deficient patients (44, 45).

Nutrigenetics of zinc and selenium were discussed in the context of COVID-19 as a promising strategy to implement personalized approach to strengthening antioxidant and antiviral defense (41). However, the present study is the first study on genetic determinants of zinc and selenium that included COVID-19 patients. Our results did not show association of these



FIGURE 1 Variability of vitamin D, zinc and selenium related genetic loci among wordwide populations based on the 1,000 Genome project (1KGP), Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD) and Serbian COVID-19 study group data. Populations: SRB, Serbian; CEU, Utah residents with Northern and Western European ancestry (1KGP); GBR, British in England and Scotland (1KGP); TSI, Tuscany in Italy (1KGP); IBS, Iberian populations in Spain (1KGP); FIN-Finnish European (gnomAD); NFE-non-Finnish European, including Northwestern European, Bulgarian, Estonian, Swedish, Southern European, and Other non-Finnish European (gnomAD); AFR, African (gnomAD); EA, East Asian (gnomAD); SA, South Asian (gnomAD); LAT, Latino/Admixed American (gnomAD); ASJ, Ashkenazi Jewish (gnomAD). Barplots are showing frequencies of the alleles associated with lower levels of selected micronutrients. Differences in allelic distributions were analyzed between Serbian and other populations using Chi square test followed by Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. Statistical significance was marked with *($\rho = < 0.008$), while statistical trend with #(0.1 < $\rho < 0.008$).

variants with severe COVID-19, however, our univariate analysis pointed out to *DMGDH* rs17823744 variant, which warrants further investigation. DMGDH is implicated in homocysteine metabolism and it is postulated that there is a connection between selenium exposure and the homocysteine metabolic pathways (28). Apart from locus near *DMGDH* gene, which was noted in several GWAS cohorts focused on selenium status, other studies analyzed genes coding for selenoproteins. Candidate gene approach studies or studies that analyzed protein activity, associated glutathione peroxidase 1 (*GPX1*), *GPX4* and selenoprotein P (*SELENOP*) with response to selenium supplementation (46–48). Although important for selenium action, these genes were not associated with selenium status in GWAS studies.

Apart from nutrigenetics, other studies also dealt with genetic factors associated with COVID-19 severity, but the results were not consistent. A GWAS study of almost 4,000 healthy volunteers and severely ill Italian and Spanish COVID-19 patients associated

loci on chromosomes 3 and chromosome 9 (near ABO locus) (3), while another GWAS study of 2,244 critically ill UK patients associated variants located on chromosomes 12, 19 and 21 with more severe disease or poor outcome (4). None of these loci are located near nutrigenetic variants analyzed in the present study.

Results of this study should be evaluated in larger cohorts of COVID-19 patients. Small number of patients is the main limitation of this study, although, both mild and moderate, as well as severe groups are well-represented among adult patients. Among pediatric patients, the majority of patients had mild symptoms so we could not investigate risk factors of severe disease in children. Instead, genetic variants were analyzed as risk factors of symptomatic disease.

Another limitation of this study is lack of micronutrient measurement needed to assess actual status of vitamin D, zinc and selenium. We focused solely on the genetic variants associated with altered levels of vitamin D, zinc and selenium. Status of the micronutrient is highly confounded variable that depends on numerous factors. Beside genetics, nutrition habits, individual lifestyle and presence of comorbidities are also important. Therefore, comprehensive nutrigenetic studies complemented with measures of nutritional intake, micronutrient's serum level and detailed lifestyle evaluations are needed in the future.

This study highlights the importance of personalized as well as population based strategies directed toward reduction of COVID-19 burden. These strategies can be implemented through employment of established nutrigenetic markers, such as genetic variants involved in vitamin D disposition. Our results pointed out to *DHCR7/NADSYN1* rs12785878 and *CYP2R1* rs10741657 variants, both involved in vitamin D synthesis, as potential risk factors of severe COVID-19. Holistic approach comprising nutrigenetics, micronutrient, status, lifestyle and clinical parameters could effectively combat micronutrient deficiency, and potentially improve anti-viral defense. This approach is especially important in populations at risk of micronutrient deficiency.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Molecular Genetics and Genetic Engineering University of Belgrade (approval for sample collection and biobank formation

REFERENCES

- Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. *Nature*. (2020) 584:430–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4
- Reddy RK, Charles WN, Sklavounos A, Dutt A, Seed PT, Khajuria A. The effect of smoking on COVID-19 severity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Virol. (2021) 93:1045–56. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26389
- Ellinghaus D, Degenhardt F, Bujanda L, Buti M, Albillos A, Invernizzi P, et al. Genomewide association study of severe Covid-19 with respiratory failure. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:1522–34. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2020283
- Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, Bretherick AD, Rawlik K, Pasko D, et al. Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in Covid-19. *Nature*. (2020) 591:92–8. doi: 10.1101/2020.09.24.20200048
- Alexander J, Tinkov A, Strand TA, Alehagen U, Skalny A, Aaseth J. Early nutritional interventions with zinc, selenium and vitamin D for raising anti-viral resistance against progressive COVID-19. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1– 12. doi: 10.3390/nu12082358
- Teymoori-Rad M, Marashi SM. Vitamin D and Covid-19: from potential therapeutic effects to unanswered questions. *Rev Med Virol.* (2020) 31:e2159. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2159
- Cui C, Xu P, Li G, Qiao Y, Han W, Geng C, et al. Vitamin D receptor activation regulates microglia polarization and oxidative stress in spontaneously hypertensive rats and angiotensin II-exposed microglial cells: role of renin-angiotensin system. *Redox Biol.* (2019) 26:101295. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101295
- 8. Xu J, Yang J, Chen J, Luo Q, Zhang Q, Zhang H. Vitamin D alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury via

O-EO-016/2020, 06.05.2020.; approval for the genetic study O-EO-016/2020/1, 03.09.2020).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NK: conceptualization, investigation, statistical analysis, writing - draft preparation, and editing. AS: methodology, investigation, and writing – draft preparation. KK: investigation, methodology, and writing – draft preparation. VG: data analysis and interpretation, investigation, and writing – draft preparation. BZ: methodology, investigation, writing — review, and editing, VS-T, MS, ZZ, OO, GS, and LL: methodology, sample collection, and clinical data analysis. SP: concept and design of the study, writing –review, and editing, BS: concept and design of the study, statistical analysis, results interpretation, drafting, and review of final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia (Grant No. 451-03-9/2021-14/200042).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 689419/full#supplementary-material

regulation of the renin-angiotensin system. Mol Med Rep. (2017) 16:7432–8. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.7546

- Iddir M, Brito A, Dingeo G, Del Campo SSF, Samouda H, La Frano MR, et al. Strengthening the immune system and reducing inflammation and oxidative stress through diet and nutrition: considerations during the covid-19 crisis. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1562. doi: 10.3390/nu12061562
- Gröber U, Holick MF. The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) a supportive approach with selected micronutrients. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. (2021). doi: 10.1024/0300-9831/a000693
- Cashman KD, Dowling KG, Škrabáková Z, Gonzalez-Gross M, Valtueña J, De Henauw S, Moreno L, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in Europe: pandemic? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 103:1033–44. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.120873
- 12. Wessells KR, Brown KH. Estimating the global prevalence of zinc deficiency: results based on zinc availability in national food supplies and the prevalence of stunting. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050568
- Im JH, Je YS, Baek J, Chung MH, Kwon HY, Lee JS. Nutritional status of patients with COVID-19. Int J Infect Dis. (2020) 100:390– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.08.018
- 14. Liu N, Sun J, Wang X, Zhang T, Zhao M, Li H. Low vitamin D status is associated with coronavirus disease 2019 outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 104:58– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.12.077
- Jothimani D, Kailasam E, Danielraj S, Nallathambi B, Ramachandran H, Sekar P, et al. COVID-19: poor outcomes in patients with zinc deficiency. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 100:343–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.09.014
- Moghaddam A, Heller RA, Sun Q, Seelig J, Cherkezov A, Seibert L, et al. Selenium deficiency is associated with mortality risk from COVID-19. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1–13. doi: 10.3390/nu12072098

- Shah K, Saxena D, Mavalankar D. Vitamin D supplementation, COVID-19 and disease severity: a meta-analysis. QJM An Int J Med. (2021). doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcab009
- Carlucci PM, Ahuja T, Petrilli C, Rajagopalan H, Jones S, Rahimian J. Zinc sulfate in combination with a zinc ionophore may improve outcomes in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. J Med Microbiol. (2020) 69:1228– 34. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001250
- Jiang X, O'Reilly PF, Aschard H, Hsu YH, Richards JB, Dupuis J, et al. Genome-wide association study in 79,366 European-ancestry individuals informs the genetic architecture of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:260–71. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02662-2
- Moy KA, Mondul AM, Zhang H, Weinstein SJ, Wheeler W, Chung CC, et al. Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D-binding protein. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 99:1424–31. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.080309
- Wang TJ, Zhang F, Richards JB, Kestenbaum B, Van Meurs JB, Berry D, et al. Common genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet.* (2010) 376:180–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60588-0
- Ramagopalan S V., Heger A, Berlanga AJ, Maugeri NJ, Lincoln MR, Burrell A, et al. A ChIP-seq defined genome-wide map of vitamin D receptor binding: associations with disease and evolution. *Genome Res.* (2010) 20:1352– 60. doi: 10.1101/gr.107920.110
- Roth DE, Jones AB, Prosser C, Robinson JL, Vohra S. Vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and the risk of acute lower respiratory tract infection in early childhood. J Infect Dis. (2008) 197:676–80. doi: 10.1086/527488
- Gallone G, Haerty W, Disanto G, Ramagopalan SV, Ponting CP, Berlanga-Taylor AJ. Identification of genetic variants affecting vitamin D receptor binding and associations with autoimmune disease. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2017) 26:2164–76. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddx092
- Tizaoui K, Kaabachi W, Hamzaoui A, Hamzaoui K. Association between Vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and multiple sclerosis: systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2015) 12:243– 52. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.47
- Bojović K, Stanković B, Kotur N, Krstić-Milošević D, Gašić V, Pavlović S, et al. Genetic predictors of celiac disease, lactose intolerance, and vitamin D function and presence of peptide morphins in urine of children with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2019) 22:40– 50. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2017.1352121
- Evans DM, Zhu G, Dy V, Heath AC, Madden PAF, Kemp JP, et al. Genomewide association study identifies loci affecting blood copper, selenium and zinc. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2013) 22:3998–4006. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt239
- Cornelis MC, Fornage M, Foy M, Xun P, Gladyshev VN, Morris S, et al. Genome-wide association study of selenium concentrations. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2015) 24:1469–77. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu546
- Batai K, Trejo MJ, Chen Y, Kohler LN, Lance P, Ellis NA, et al. Genome-wide association study of response to selenium supplementation and circulating selenium concentrations in adults of European descent. J Nutr. (2021) 151:293–302. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa355
- Auton A, Abecasis GR, Altshuler DM, Durbin RM, Bentley DR, Chakravarti A, et al. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*. (2015) 526:68–74. doi: 10.1038/nature15393
- Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, Cummings BB, Alföldi J, Wang Q, et al. The mutational constraint spectrum quantified from variation in 141,456 humans. *Nature*. (2020) 581:434–43. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2308-7
- 32. Lips P, Cashman KD, Lamberg-Allardt C, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Obermayer-Pietsch B, Bianchi ML, et al. Current Vitamin D status in European and middle east countries and strategies to prevent Vitamin D deficiency: a position statement of the European calcified tissue society. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2019) 180:P23–54. doi: 10.1530/EJE-18-0736
- Pavlovic Z, Miletic I, Zekovic M, Nikolic M, Glibetic M. Impact of selenium addition to animal feeds on human selenium status in Serbia. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:225. doi: 10.3390/nu10020225
- Prabhu AV, Luu W, Li D, Sharpe LJ, Brown AJ. DHCR7: a vital enzyme switch between cholesterol and vitamin D production. *Prog Lipid Res.* (2016) 64:138–51. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2016.09.003

- 35. Kuan V, Martineau AR, Griffiths CJ, Hyppönen E, Walton R. DHCR7 mutations linked to higher vitamin D status allowed early human migration to Northern latitudes. BMC Evol Biol. (2013) 13:144. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-13-144
- 36. Xiao J, Li W, Zheng X, Qi L, Wang H, Zhang C, et al. Targeting 7-Dehydrocholesterol reductase integrates cholesterol metabolism and irf3 activation to eliminate infection. *Immunity.* (2020) 52:109–22.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.11.015
- Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanism of action, and pleiotropic effects. *Physiol Rev.* (2015) 96:365–408. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00014.2015
- Ahn J, Yu K, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Claire Simon K, McCullough ML, Gallicchio L, et al. Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D levels. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2010) 19:2739–45. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq155
- Ilie PC, Stefanescu S, Smith L. The role of vitamin D in the prevention of coronavirus disease 2019 infection and mortality. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2020) 32:1195–8. doi: 10.1007/s40520-020-01570-8
- Helming L, Böse J, Ehrchen J, Schiebe S, Frahm T, Geffers R, et al. 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a potent suppressor of interferon γ-mediated macrophage activation. *Blood.* (2005) 106:4351-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1029
- Galmés S, Serra F, Palou A. Current state of evidence: influence of nutritional and nutrigenetic factors on immunity in the COVID-19 pandemic framework. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1–33. doi: 10.3390/nu12092738
- 42. Karcioglu Batur L, Hekim N. The role of DBP gene polymorphisms in the prevalence of new coronavirus disease 2019 infection and mortality rate. *J Med Virol.* (2021) 93:1409–13. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26409
- Freitas AT, Calhau C, Antunes G, Araújo B, Bandeira M, Barreira S, et al. Vitamin D-related polymorphisms and vitamin D levels as risk biomarkers of COVID-19 infection severity. *Medrxiv*. (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.03.22.21254032
- Butler-Laporte G, Nakanishi T, Mooser V, Morrison DR, Abdullah T, Adeleye O, et al. Vitamin D and Covid-19 susceptibility and severity: a mendelian randomization study. *Medrxiv [preprint]*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.09.08.20190975
- 45. Amin HA, Drenos F. No evidence that vitamin D is able to prevent or affect the severity of COVID-19 in individuals with European ancestry: a mendelian randomisation study of open data. *BMJ Nutr Prev Heal.* (2021). doi: 10.1136/bmjnph-2020-000151
- 46. Donadio JLS, Rogero MM, Guerra-Shinohara EM, Barbosa F, Desmarchelier C, Borel P, et al. Genetic variants in selenoprotein genes modulate biomarkers of selenium status in response to Brazil nut supplementation (the SU.BRA.NUT study). *Clin Nutr.* (2019) 38:539–48. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.03.011
- 47. Combs GF, Jackson MI, Watts JC, Johnson LAK, Zeng H, Idso J, et al. Differential responses to selenomethionine supplementation by sex and genotype in healthy adults. Br J Nutr. (2012) 107:1514– 25. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511004715
- Méplan C, Crosley LK, Nicol F, Horgan GW, Mathers JC, Arthur JR, et al. Functional effects of a common single-nucleotide polymorphism (GPX4c718t) in the glutathione peroxidase 4 gene: interaction with sex. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 87:1019–27. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.4.1019

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kotur, Skakic, Klaassen, Gasic, Zukic, Skodric-Trifunovic, Stjepanovic, Zivkovic, Ostojic, Stevanovic, Lavadinovic, Pavlovic and Stankovic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Interaction Between Fatty Acid Desaturase-2 (FADS2) rs174583 Genetic Variant and Dietary Quality Indices (DASH and MDS) Constructs Different Metabolic Phenotypes Among Obese Individuals

Mahdieh Khodarahmi¹, Leila Nikniaz² and Mahdieh Abbasalizad Farhangi^{1*}

¹ Department of Community Nutrition, Faculty of Nutrition and Food Science, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran, ² Tabriz Health Services Management Research Center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Manja Zec, University of Arizona, United States

Reviewed by:

Milica Zekovic, Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Serbia Ljiljana Stojković, University of Belgrade, Serbia

*Correspondence:

Mahdieh Abbasalizad Farhangi abbasalizad_m@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 18 February 2021 Accepted: 22 April 2021 Published: 07 June 2021

Citation:

Khodarahmi M, Nikniaz L and Abbasalizad Farhangi M (2021) The Interaction Between Fatty Acid Desaturase-2 (FADS2) rs174583 Genetic Variant and Dietary Quality Indices (DASH and MDS) Constructs Different Metabolic Phenotypes Among Obese Individuals. Front. Nutr. 8:669207. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.669207 **Background and Aim:** Genetic variation in fatty acid desaturases (FADS) has previously been linked to several diet-related diseases. We aimed to determine whether the FADS2 rs174583 variant interacts with the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) score and Mediterranean dietary score (MDS) to influence cardio-metabolic risk factors among obese adults.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was performed among 347 apparently healthy obese adults (aged 20–50 years). Dietary quality indicator scores (DASH and MDS) were generated using a validated 147-item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ). The FADS2 rs174583 variant was genotyped by polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP). The gene–diet interaction was analyzed by the ANCOVA multivariate interaction model.

Results: A significant interaction was observed between rs174583 and adherence to the DASH score in relation to serum triglyceride (TG) concentration among the female group (*P*_{Interaction} = 0.046); CT-genotype carriers who were assigned to the second tertile of DASH compared with those in the first tertile had a lower TG level (*P* < 0.05). Another significant interaction was revealed between adherence to MDS score and rs174583 polymorphism on serum glucose levels (*P*_{Interaction} = 0.044); the lowest mean of glucose level was observed in homozygous minor subjects (TT) in the third tertile of MDS, in comparison with other tertiles of this dietary index (*P* < 0.05). There was a similar significant interaction between DASH and rs174583 in relation to diastolic blood pressure (*P*_{Interaction} = 0.038) among the male group. Additionally, a significant positive association was found between TT genotype and odds of having high TG both in the crude (OR, 3.21; 95% CI, 1.02–10.14) and adjusted (OR, 3.58; 95% CI, 1.07–11.97) models, taking into account different confounders.

June 2021 | Volume 8 | Article 669207

18

Conclusion: Adherence to the dietary quality indicators (DASH and MDS) modified the relationship between FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism and cardio-metabolic risk factors in obese subjects. Prospective cohort studies are needed to confirm the results of our study.

Keywords: diet quality, obesity, gene-diet interaction, fatty acid desaturase (FADS) gene, cardio-metabolic risk

INTRODUCTION

Obesity, as a consequence of nutrition transition, has emerged as a major global health problem and is now a worldwide epidemic (1). Based on World Health Organization (WHO) estimation in 2016, over 650 million adults were obese. Iran, like many other developing countries, is joining the global obesity epidemic; the national prevalence rate of obesity among Iranian adults was 22.7% in 2016 (2). Obesity is known to be a complex and preventable disorder which is highly associated with a high risk of chronic diseases such as metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2), cardiovascular disease (CVD), and certain cancers (3). Obesity is also a cause of cardio-metabolic risk factors which are related to the risk of several abovementioned health problems (4). On the other hand, epidemiological studies have demonstrated that plasma fatty acid composition plays an important role in the development of chronic diseases, such as obesity and its related consequences (5). Recently, CVD has been considered as the leading cause of death in Iran (6), and it has been estimated that 50% of all deaths per year and 79% of deaths associated with chronic diseases are attributed to CVD (7, 8). Obesity, as a multifactorial condition, is caused by genetic makeup, environmental factors, and the synergistic interaction between them (9). In other words, major modifiable environmental factors such as diet can modify the genetic predisposition to various disorders. Over the last two decades, approximately 140 obesity susceptibility genes have been found to be related to weight gain or obesity (10) and generally 40-60% of the variations in obesity-related phenotypes have been explained by hereditary factors (11). Considering the broad roles that polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) have in the development of non-communicable diseases (12), recent candidate gene studies have concentrated on the contribution of genetic variants in fatty acid desaturases (FADS) to changes in the profile of endogenous fatty acids (13). The FADS1 and FADS2 genes which are localized on chromosome 11 (11q12q13.1) encode delta-5 (D5D) and delta-6 fatty acid desaturases (D6D), respectively (14, 15). Altered activities of D5D and D6D, key enzymes in PUFA metabolism, were described in obesity and a number of chronic diseases such as metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and some malignancies (16). Recently, single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in FADS1 and FADS2 genes have been associated with altered activity of D5D and D6D enzymes and also risk of obesity (17) and itsrelated conditions, such as elevated level of triglyceride, decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) concentrations (18), and a higher risk of coronary disease (19) and type 2 diabetes (20). Nevertheless, there are some inconsistencies in the outcomes of SNP association studies which may, in part, be explained by interactions with environment factors, such as dietary influences.

Several socio-demographic factors such as sex, age, and socioeconomic status (SES) (21) as well as psychological factors (22) have indicated to play a main role in the development of obesity and its related health outcomes. Among psychosocial stressors, depression and anxiety have received special attention in the past years and a growing number of studies have reported a strong and independent relationship between these psychological disorders and the development of chronic diseases such as CVD (23). It has been suggested that chronic diseases are influenced by the interaction between mental health and various unhealthy behaviors such as poorer dietary quality and physical inactivity (24). Diet, as an important lifestyle factor, plays a crucial role in the prevention and treatment of obesity and its complications (25). In recent years, a dietary pattern approach that represents a broader picture of food and nutrient intake and accounts for the complexity of the diet has gained much attention in disease prevention, compared to their single dietary components (26). Among a large number of priori-defined diet quality indices that have been proposed in the nutrition literature, the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) score and Mediterranean dietary score (MDS) have been widely used (27). These diet quality indices (DASH and MDS) have been frequently associated with a reduced risk of diseases, such as diabetes, CVD, and several forms of cancer (27, 28). Although a growing body of research has confirmed the significant and consistent protection provided by adherence to these healthy dietary patterns in relation to various health outcomes (29, 30), other studies have not provided clear evidence of the beneficial effects of high adherence to these diet indices (31, 32). Moreover, there is a relative shortage of knowledge on these health promotion indices in developing countries (33-35). On the other hand, responses to dietary interventions for the prevention and treatment of obesity and its related health conditions differ among various ethnicities with different genetic structures (36), suggesting the existence of gene-diet interactions which may play a main role in these interindividual inequalities. Thus, understanding the nature of gene-diet interactions is crucial in the treatment and management of obesity and its related chronic conditions and it can even be used to develop individualized effective dietary strategies. To the best of our knowledge, the interactions between adherence to the dietary quality indices (DASH score and MDS) and rs174583 polymorphism of FADS2 gene in relation to cardio-metabolic factors have not been examined. Therefore, we examined whether rs174583 polymorphism of the FADS2 gene has an association with cardio-metabolic risk factors in an

obese Iranian population and whether those influences might be modulated by dietary quality indicators (DASH score, MDS).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

This study was carried out as a cross-sectional study among 347 apparently healthy obese adults (58.2 % male, 41.8 % female) within the age range of 20-50 years. This study was performed from November 2017 to October 2018 in Tabriz city, one of the major cities in the northwest part of Iran. Study participants were recruited using the convenience sampling method through announcements and posters placed in healthcare facilities and public places in the city of Tabriz. These announcements contained information on the inclusion criteria (good health, obesity (BMI \geq 30), and ages of 20-50 years). Initially, 400 participants were willing to take part in the research. After screening for eligibility based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria, 48 individuals were excluded from the study. The exclusion criteria for the present study included pregnant, lactating, and menopausal women; medical history of chronic diseases such as cardio-vascular diseases, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, renal diseases, hepatic disorders, and cancer; and having any recent surgery such as bariatric surgery. Additionally, people receiving any medications and supplements which had effects on weight and variables studied such as loop diuretics, corticosteroids, antidepressants, statins, and antihypertensive agents were also excluded from the study. Before the commencement of the study, the objective of the study was described for eligible participants and they had time to ask their questions to the research team. During the study, two subjects dropped out of the study because their dietary questionnaires were incomplete. We also excluded participants (n = 3) whose total energy intake was outside the range of 800-4,200 kcal/day as under-reports and overreports of energy intakes (37, 38). The required sample size for the present study was calculated by considering the association between dietary quality indices and obesity as a key dependent variable. With regard to the correlation coefficient (r) of 0.25 (39), $\alpha = 0.05$, and power of 80%, using G*Power software, the minimum sample size was calculated to be 225, and taking into account 20-25% dropout, the final sample size of 340 was considered for the study. Finally, a total of 347 available subjects who agreed to participate were enrolled in the current study and written consent was obtained from each subject before enrollment to the study. The Ethical Committee of the Tabriz University of Medical Sciences approved the study protocol (registration codes IR.TBZMED.REC.1399.874 and IR.TBZMED.REC.1396.768). Metabolic syndrome (MetS) was defined using criteria established by The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Adult Treatment Panel (ATP) III (40). Individuals were identified to have MetS if they had three or more of the following criteria: waist circumference > 102 cm (men) or 88 cm (women), blood pressure $\ge 130/85$ mmHg, fasting triglyceride (TG) level \geq 150 mg/dl, fasting highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) level <40 mg/dl or 50 mg/dl (women), and fasting blood sugar \geq 100 mg/dl. The cardio-metabolic risk factors were also defined based on Adult Treatment Panel III (40).

Dietary Assessment and Dietary Score Calculation

The habitual dietary intakes of the participants were assessed with the use of a 147-item semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) with prior evidence of validity and reliability (41, 42). All information was gathered by expert dietitians in a face-to-face interview with each participant. The study subjects were asked to report their frequency and amount of intake of each food item during the previous year based on daily, weekly, monthly, and yearly bases. After that, portion sizes of foods were converted to daily intakes (grams) using household measurements. Since the Iranian food composition table (FCT) (43) is incomplete, USDA FCT was also used to provide information missing from the Iranian FCT (44).

DASH Score

The level of conformity of the individuals' diet to the DASH diet was determined by a scale proposed by Fung et al. (45). This indicator was constructed based on eight food-group or nutrient components which were emphasized or minimized in the DASH diet. This approach strongly encourages the intake of fruits, vegetables, low-fat dairy products, nuts, legumes, and whole grains while discouraging the consumption of red and processed meats, sodium, and sweetened beverages. Sex-specific quintile intakes of the dietary components were calculated within the study population. Participants with the highest quintile of intakes of emphasized components (fruits, vegetables, whole grains, lowfat dairy, nuts, and legumes) received a score of five, while those with the lowest quintile of these intakes were given a score of one. For the remaining components in which their low intakes were desirable (sodium, red and processed meats, and sweetened beverages), a reverse-scoring method was used. Then, the scores for all components were summed up to obtain an overall DASH score (ranged 8-40). A higher total score represents a higher conformity to the DASH diet and a better nutrition quality.

MDS

The level of conformity of the subjects' diet to the Mediterranean dietary pattern was assessed using the MDS proposed by Trichopoulou et al. (46). The sex-specific median intakes of its components (nine items) were calculated. The scoring system was as follows: score one was given for intakes at or above the median for protective components such as vegetables, legumes, fruits and nuts, cereals, fish, and seafood, and a high ratio of monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) to saturated fatty acid (SFA) as well, otherwise a value of 0 was assigned. For non-protective components (like meats and dairy products), a value of 1 was assigned for intakes less than the median, otherwise a value of zero was given. As there was no reliable data on alcohol consumption in the current study, this component was omitted and the scoring system was modified with a total score of eight points. Finally, the overall score was reported as a summation of all component scores ranging between 0 (minimal adherence to the Mediterranean diet) and 8 (maximum adherence).

Socio-Demographic, Anthropometric, and Blood Pressure Assessments

Information of socio-demographic variables such as age, gender, marital status, smoking, medical history, and socioeconomic status (SES) was obtained by a trained interviewer. To determine the SES, questions on occupational position, educational status, family size, and house ownership were considered as individual indicators. The total score determined by summing the three scale scores was categorized into three groups: low, middle, and high. The level of physical activity was estimated using a short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (47). Body weight and height were directly measured using a Seca scale (Seca, Germany) and a tape measure with a precision of 100 g and 0.1 cm, respectively, while the subjects were in light clothing without shoes. Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) technology (Tanita, BC-418 MA, Tokyo, Japan) was applied to assess the body composition. Waist circumference (WC) was measured using a flexible inelastic tape to the nearest 0.1 cm, at the narrowest level without applying any pressure to the body. Blood pressure (BP) measurements were conducted using a standard mercury sphygmomanometer twice after a 15-min rest in a sitting position. The average of the two measurements was reported as the participants' BP.

Mental Health and Appetite Assessment

To assess the severity of the emotional disturbance of participants, they were asked to complete the Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale-21 Items (DASS-21) questionnaire

which has been previously validated in Iran (48, 49). For example, Sahebi et al. reported the Cronbach's alpha of the Iranian version of DASS-21 to be 0.77 for depression, 0.79 for anxiety, and 0.78 for stress (48). DASS-21 consists of three categories of seven-item self-report scales which measure the negative states of depression, anxiety, and stress. Items in this questionnaire were scored based on a Likert scale from zero ("did not apply to me at all") to 3 ("applied to me very much or most of the time"). A total score for every scale was computed by summing up the scores for the relevant items and multiplying them by two which could range from 0 to 42. Based on cutoff scores which have been proposed by Lovibond and Lovibond, all the participants were divided into five groups: normal, mild, moderate, severe, and extremely severe depression, anxiety, and stress (50). Higher scores of each subcategory indicated a greater degree of mood disruption.

A 100-mm Visual Analog Scale (VAS) questionnaire was applied to assess appetite sensation. This questionnaire, which has been validated in literature, includes questions about feelings of hunger, satiation, fullness, prospective food consumption, thirst, and the desire to eat something sweet, salty, or fat (51). The participants completed this scale by placing a slash on the 100-mm horizontal line corresponding to their feelings, and subsequently quantification of the measurement was performed by measuring the distance from the left side of the line to the mark.

Biochemical Assessments

Fasting venous blood samples were obtained from all participants and then were centrifuged (10 min at 4,500 rpm, 4° C) to



TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study participants.

	%	Mean (SD) or Mediar (25 and 75 percentiles			
Age (y)		38.08 (7.49)			
Weight (kg)		96.10 (12.87)			
FM (Kg)		33.83 (9.16)			
FFM (kg)		62.29 (12.38)			
WC (cm)		108.89 (9.90)			
Sex					
Vale	58.20				
Female	41.80				
Physical activity level, (%)					
LOW	47.80				
Moderate	27.70				
High	24.50				
Marital status, (%)					
Married	86.00				
Single	14.00				
SES, n (%)					
LOW	2.70				
Middle	52.90				
High	44.40				
Stress, n (%)					
Normal	40.4				
Vild	17.0				
Moderate	23.4				
Severe	14.4				
Extremely severe	4.8				
Anxiety, (%)					
Normal	36.2				
Vild	8.5				
Moderate	25.0				
Severe	13.8				
Extremely-severe	16.5				
Depression, (%)					
Normal	45.7				
Vild	12.8				
Moderate	23.5				
Severe	9.0				
Extremely severe	9.0				
Appetite		33.58 (8.96)			
LDL-C, (mg/dl)		119.47 (30.91)			
HDL-C, (mg/dl)		44.97 (8.85)			
Cholesterol, (mg/dl)		188.43 (33.73)			
TG, (mg/dl)		119.97 (58.46)			
AIP		0.03 (0.24)			
Glucose, (mg/dl)		91.00 (85.00, 98.00)			
Insulin, U/mL		13.10 (9.10, 23.30)			
HOMA-IR		3.20 (1.95, 5.28)			
QUICKI		0.33 (0.03)			
SBP (mmHg)		115.64(16.44)			
DBP (mmHg)		76.33 (12.32)			
Mets (%)	56.1				

TABLE 1 | Continued

%	Mean (SD) or Median (25 and 75 percentiles)
37.8	
51.9	
10.3	
	37.8 51.9

WC, waist circumference; SES, socio-economic status; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TG, triglyceride; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; AIP, athrogenic index of plasma; MetS, metabolic syndrome; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat free mass; FADS, fatty acid desaturase.

TABLE 2 | Daily dietary intake of macronutrients, energy and several food groups in relation to MDS and DASH score among study participants.

Variables	Mean (SD) or Median (25 and 75 percentiles)
Macronutrients	
Carbohydrate (g/day)	440.02 (164.76)
Protein (g/day)	97.86 (34.67)
Fats (g/day)	108.04 (46.85)
Energy intake (kcal/day)	3042.91 (1077.89)
Fiber (g/day)	58.03 (42.30, 92.44)
DASH score [total score (8–40)]	23.97 (4.27)
MDS [total score (0–8)]	4.01 (1.43)
Fruits (g/day)	444.03 (289.52, 751.85)
Vegetables (g/day)	320.53 (198.02, 439.48)
Nuts (g/day)	10.98 (5.01, 23.72)
Legumes (g/day)	49.13 (28.70, 73.33)
Red and processed meat (g/day)	49.05 (27.53, 78.91)
Cereals (g/day)	523.44 (355.91, 701.92)
Fish and seafood (g/day)	6.37 (1.91, 13.767)
Dairy products (g/day)	260.62 (140.26, 435.56)
MUFA/SFA	1.21 (0.31)

MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid, MDS, Mediterranean diet score; DASH, dietary approach to stop hypertension.

separate serum. Aliquots were frozen at-80 C until analysis. Serum triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), glucose, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) were assayed using commercial kits (Pars Azmoon, Tehran, Iran). Serum insulin was also analyzed with commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits (Bioassay Technology Laboratory, Shanghai Korean Biotech, Shanghai City, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) was calculated using the Friedewald formula (52). Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) was determined as the base 10 logarithm of TG to HDL-C ratio (53). Homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance index (HOMA-IR) and quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) as indicators of insulin resistance were calculated based on the standard formula (54, 55). TABLE 3 | Socio-demographic and anthropometric characteristics and cardio-metabolic risk factors according to the tertiles of dietary quality indices in men.

	DASH				MDS				
	T1	T2	тз	P*	T1	T2	тз	P*	
Age (y)	36.41 (5.91)	38.11 (6.90)	41.67 (6.00)	0.008	37.91 (6.14)	38.50 (6.59)	38.63 (9.04)	0.969	
Weight (kg)	103.60 (10.39)	102.52 (9.34)	99.65 (11.47)	0.617	102.06 (9.84)	102.53 (10.82)	101.48 (9.25)	0.960	
FM (Kg)	30.35 (7.27)	28.71 (6.68)	28.42 (8.01)	0.644	28.93 (7.83)	29.43 (6.76)	29.56 (7.86)	0.952	
FFM (kg)	73.26 (5.24)	73.86 (7.57)	71.24 (5.36)	0.477	73.14 (6.58)	73.15 (6.49)	71.93 (4.46)	0.961	
WC (cm)	114.31 (8.05)	112.47 (6.29)	112.57 (8.30)	0.644	113.49 (8.01)	112.90 (7.29)	113.50 (6.41)	0.926	
Physical activity level, (%)				0.808				0.763	
Low	35.3	29.4	35.3		41.2	44.1	14.7		
Moderate	46.9	40.6	12.5		34.4	62.5	3.1		
High	26.7	50.0	23.3		30	60	10		
Marital status, (%)				0.682				0.620	
Married	35.8	39.5	24.7		34.6	55.6	9.8		
Single	40.0	40.0	20.0		40.0	53.3	6.7		
SES, n (%)									
Low	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.371	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.037	
Middle	30.0	43.3	26.7		20.0	66.7	13.3		
High	40.0	38.5	21.5		43.1	49.2	7.7		
Stress, n (%)				0.004				0.481	
Normal	21.7	45.7	32.6		26.1	65.2	8.7		
Mild	41.2	47.1	11.8		52.9	35.3	11.8		
Moderate	47.1	29.4	23.5		47.1	47.1	5.9		
Severe	60.0	20.0	20.0		20.0	60.0	20.0		
Extremely severe	66.7	33.3	0.0		50.0	50.0	0.0		
Anxiety, (%)				0.788				0.541	
Normal	35.7	42.9	21.4		33.3	57.1	9.5		
Mild	66.7	16.7	16.7		50.0	33.3	16.7		
Moderate	22.7	36.4	40.9		36.4	54.5	9.1		
Severe	35.7	42.9	21.4		14.3	71.4	14.3		
Extremely-severe	50.0	41.7	8.3		58.3	41.7	0.0		
Depression, (%)				0.049				0.647	
Normal	27.8	40.7	31.5		31.5	59.3	9.3		
Mild	41.7	41.7	16.7		41.7	50.0	8.3		
Moderate	55.6	33.3	11.1		38.9	55.6	5.6		
Severe	33.3	50.0	16.7		33.3	50.0	16.7		
Extremely severe	50.0	33.3	16.7		50.0	33.3	16.7		
Appetite	35.09 (11.31)	34.74 (8.87)	33.96 (7.83)	0.908	33.12 (9.77)	35.43 (9.31)	36.11 (10.23)	0.490	
LDL-C, (mg/dl)	122.61 (27.08)	122.69 (29.83)	113.79 (22.70)	0.201	119.14 (24.18)	122.70 (29.51)	113.95 (27.22)	0.471	
HDL-C, (mg/dl)	41.88 (6.75)	44.46 (9.28)	40.62 (6.24)	0.220	41.71 (6.41)	43.24 (8.93)	42.75 (6.58)	0.675	
Cholesterol, (mg/dl)	192.09 (28.44)	191.30 (35.83)	183.14 (25.87)	0.404	188.18 (27.86)	192.18 (33.83)	181.00 (26.24)	0.601	
TG, (mg/dl)	134.00 (106.00, 194.00)	104.50 (76.25, 138.50)	121.00 (85.00, 168.00)	0.050	119.00 (86.50, 174.50)	116.00 (83.00, 164.50)	129.00 (85.50, 177.00)	0.814	
AIP	0.16 (0.22)	0.02 (0.27)	0.12 (0.22)	0.032	0.11 (0.23)	0.07 (0.26)	0.07 (0.22)	0.753	
Glucose, (mg/dl)	90.00 (84.00, 101.00)	91.00 (86.00, 99.25)	96.00 (85.00, 108.00)	0.345	91.00 (86.00, 107.00)	91.00 (85.00, 97.00)	94.00 (83.00, 101.50)	0.813	
Insulin, U/mL	13.30 (9.00, 23.30)	12.00 (9.37, 20.48)	9.40 (8.40, 16.90)	0.275	12.15 (8.85, 23.63)	12.00 (9.00, 19.00)	9.40 (8.35, 21.85)	0.825	
HOMA-IR	3.22 (1.94, 5.03)	2.87(2.25, 4.57)	2.04 (1.78, 4.79)	0.451	3.06 (1.98, 5.26)	2.84 (1.95, 4.64)	2.51 (1.70, 5.09)	0.771	
QUICKI	0.33 (0.03)	0.32 (0.02)	0.34 (0.03)	0.401	0.33 (0.03)	0.33 (0.03)	0.34 (0.03)	0.796	
SBP (mmHg)	120.00 (105.00, 130.00)	120.00 (110.00, 130.00)	110.00 (110.00–120.00)	0.480	120.00 (110.00, 130.00)	120.00 (107.50, 130.00)	110.00 (110.00, 125.00)	0.857	

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

	DASH			MDS				
	T1	T2	тз	P *	T1	T2	тз	P*
DBP (mmHg)	77.50 (12.57)	77.30 (10.04)	70.43 (16.61)	0.143	76.76 (11.67)	75.38 (14.34)	74.38 (8.63)	0.816
Mets (%)	41.5	31.7	26.8	0.815	43.9	48.8	7.3	0.150
FADS2 (%)				0.756				0.365
CC	37.1	28.6	34.3		28.6	54.3	17.1	
СТ	41.0	48.7	10.3		48.7	46.2	5.1	
Π	30.0	30.0	40.0		10.0	90.0	0.0	

Data are presented as mean (SD) or median (25 and 75 percentiles). *Analysis of variance for continuous variables and χ^2 test for categorical variables. WC, waist circumference; SES, socio-economic status HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TG, triglyceride; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; AIP, athrogenic index of plasma; MetS, metabolic syndrome; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat free mass; FADS, fatty acid desaturase.

Genotyping

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood using the chloroform technique, and a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer was used to investigate the concentration and purity of extracted DNA. All available DNAs were expected to be genotyped for rs174583. SNP rs174583, which is located in the 61842278 position of chromosome 11 in the intron of FADS2, was genotyped by the polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP) method. The PCR was completed using primers with the following sequence: forward, 5' AGGAAGCAGACCACAGAGTC 3'; reverse, 5' TC CTTCGTCTGGTGTCTCAG 3'. PCR reactions were performed in a final volume of 10 µl which contains 5 µl Master Mix (Ampliqon, Denmark), 2 µl extracted DNA, 1 µl primers, and 2 µl distilled water. The PCR cycles in a DNA thermocycler (Bio-Rad T100 Thermal Cycler) were optimized to 95 °C for 10 min of initial denaturation; amplification consisted of 35 cycles at 95 °C for 15s (denaturation), and annealing at 60 $^\circ C$ for 20 s and 50 s of extension at 72 $\,^\circ C$ and final extension occurred at 74 °C for 10 min. According to the restriction sites on the sequence of the amplified DNA, TauI (cat. num. ER1652, USA) as a restriction enzyme was used to digest amplified DNA. Afterward, all digested PCR products were visualized by green staining gel electrophoresis on 1.5% agarose gel in a Gel Doc system (U.V.P Company, Cambridge, UK). As shown in Figure 1, after electrophoresis, the T allele appeared as a 572-bp fragment whereas the C allele was cleaved by the restriction enzyme and appeared as fragments with lengths of 192 and 380 bp.

Statistical Analysis

Sample distributions were tested for normality according to descriptive measures such as coefficients of skewness and kurtosis, mean, and standard deviation (56). The data were presented as means \pm standard deviations (SD) for normally distributed continuous variables, frequencies or percentages for categorical variables, and the median (25 and 75 percentiles) for skewed continuous variables. Sex-stratified one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and chi-square tests were used to compare continuous and discrete variables across different

tertile categories of dietary quality indices. Multinomial logistic regression in different models was utilized to estimate the associations between diet quality indices and rs174583 genotypes, as well as the association of this variant with odds of MetS and cardio-metabolic risk factors. Gene–diet interactions were tested by analyses of covariance using the General Linear Model procedures, after adjusting for confounding factors (age, physical activity, SES and WC). All of these gene–diet interaction analyses were conducted based on sex categories, and then significant interactions were depicted as plot to help their illustration. The *P*-value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, version 21) was used for all statistical analyses.

RESULTS

The demographic, anthropometric, clinical, biochemical, and genetic characteristics of all participants are summarized in **Table 1**. The mean (\pm SD) age of participants was 38.08 \pm 7.49 years, and the mean (\pm SD) WC was 108.89 \pm 9.90 cm. More than one half of the individuals were male (58.2 %), and 86.0 % were married. In relation to physical activity, 47.8 % of the subjects had low physical activity and more had middle SES (52.90%). It was found that 56.1 % of participants had MetS and the overall prevalence of rs174583 genotypes was 37.8, 51.9, and 10.3 for CC, CT, and TT, respectively (Table 1). Daily intakes (g/day) of macronutrients, micronutrients, and several food groups in relation to diet quality indices (MDS and DASH score) among study participants are presented in Table 2. The mean $(\pm$ SD) energy intake was 3049.91 \pm 1077 kcal/d. For the total sample, the mean (\pm SD) DASH score was 23.97 \pm 4.27 points and the MDS score was $4.01\pm$ 1.43 points. The distributions of the study population regarding general characteristics and clinical, genetic, and biochemical parameters across the tertiles of dietary quality indices among men and women are presented in Tables 3, 4. Among men, in comparison with the lowest tertile, those who were assigned to the top tertile of the DASH score were older (P = 0.008) and were less likely to have higher severity of mental health disorders such as depression (P = 0.049) and stress TABLE 4 | Socio-demographic and anthropometric characteristics and cardio-metabolic risk factors according to the tertiles of dietary quality indices in women.

	DASH				MDS			
	T1	T2	Т3	P*	T1	T2	Т3	P*
Age (y)	36.94 (8.77)	38.51 (7.93)	38.78 (8.00)	0.669	38.23 (8.78)	37.29 (8.14)	39.33 (7.60)	0.677
Weight (kg)	87.73 (8.84)	91.77 (16.56)	89.66 (8.13)	0.418	88.57 (13.92)	89.01 (10.27)	93.62 (13.47)	0.322
FM (Kg)	37.75 (6.09)	39.93 (11.06)	38.49 (5.98)	0.633	38.71 (9.37)	37.81 (6.76)	41.15 (9.62)	0.358
FFM (kg)	50.26 (3.75)	51.62 (6.52)	51.18 (3.77)	0.466	49.58 (4.99)	51.44 (4.85)	52.47 (4.94)	0.154
WC (cm)	104.45 (9.37)	104.32 (11.03)	104.70 (10.18)	0.966	103.09 (10.03)	103.95 (9.25)	108.00 (11.90)	0.207
Physical activity level, <i>n</i> (%)				0.814				0.853
Low	33.9	41.1	25.0		33.9	42.9	23.2	
Moderate	45.0	25.0	30.0		45.0	45.0	10.0	
High	31.3	50.0	18.8		25.0	56.3	18.8	
Marital status, n (%)				0.413				0.827
Married	35.8	42.0	22.2		35.8	44.4	19.8	
Single	36.4	18.2	45.5		27.3	54.5	18.2	
SES, n (%)				0.264				0.995
Low	60.0	20.0	20.0		20.0	40.0	40.0	
Middle	34.8	43.5	21.7		36.2	47.8	15.9	
High	33.3	27.8	38.9		33.3	38.9	27.8	
Stress, n (%)				0.377				0.723
Normal	46.7	33.3	20.0		36.7	43.3	20.0	
Mild	40.0	33.3	26.7		40.0	46.7	13.3	
Moderate	22.2	40.7	37.0		33.3	44.4	22.2	
Severe	41.2	41.2	17.6		29.4	47.1	23.5	
Extremely severe	0.0	100.0	0.0		33.3	66.7	0.0	
Anxiety, n (%)				0.557				0.286
Normal	34.6	38.5	26.9		50.0	34.6	15.4	
Mild	40.0	40.0	20.0		10.0	60.0	30.0	
Moderate	44.0	44.0	12.0		40.0	44.0	16.0	
Severe	33.3	16.7	50.0		25.0	41.7	33.3	
Extremely-severe	26.3	47.4	26.3		26.3	57.9	15.8	
Depression (%)	2010		2010	0.699	2010	0110	1010	0.959
Normal	40.6	28.1	31.3	0.000	31.3	50.0	18.8	0.000
Mild	41.7	41.7	16.7		33.3	33.3	33.3	
Moderate	34.6	38.5	26.9		42.3	46.2	11.5	
Severe	36.4	63.6	0.0		45.5	27.3	27.3	
Extremely severe	18.2	45.5	36.4		18.2	63.6	18.2	
Appetite	34.18 (7.06)	30.97 (8.56)	32.26 (8.87)	0.265	32.72 (8.56)	32.33 (8.79)	32.22 (6.08)	0.972
LDL-C, (mg/dl)	109.66 (26.43)	127.14 (35.24)	123.07 (38.40)	0.088	117.38 (35.47)	119.20 (33.80)	125.21 (31.84)	0.732
HDL-C, (mg/dl)	48.58 (8.27)	46.23 (10.33)	47.52 (9.44)	0.590	48.68 (9.90)	47.29 (9.49)	45.50 (8.14)	0.520
Cholesterol, (mg/dl)	179.27 (30.28)	194.51 (37.54)	191.87 (40.42)	0.191	186.39 (37.50)	188.33 (37.10)	191.61 (33.10)	0.890
TG, (mg/dl)	105.18 (37.71)	105.74 (42.17)	106.39 (45.88)	0.994	101.65 (49.15)	109.21 (33.22)	104.50 (44.42)	0.737
AIP	-0.04 (0.18)	-0.02 (0.23)	-0.04 (0.26)	0.890	-0.08 (0.26)	-0.01 (0.18)	-0.03 (0.24)	0.399
Glucose, (mg/dl)	91.76 (9.23)	92.94 (13.38)	89.13 (9.55)	0.440	92.32 (10.90)	91.11 (11.61)	91.22 (10.60)	0.893
Insulin, U/mL	14.50 (9.45, 26.85)	14.50 (9.10, 25.50)	16.20 (8.90, 24.20)	0.937	15.40 (8.70, 22.70)	14.80 (9.65, 25.95)	14.25 (5.95, 25.90)	0.898
HOMA-IR	3.26 (1.99, 6.24)	3.91 (1.95, 5.70)	3.44 (1.96, 5.44)	0.937	3.68 (1.95, 5.32)	3.34 (2.09, 5.62)	4.12 (1.38, 6.28)	0.943
QUICKI	0.33 (0.03)	0.32 (0.03)	0.33 (0.03)	0.874	0.33 (0.03)	0.32 (0.03)	0.33 (0.04)	0.943
SBP(mmHg)	112.85 (17.49)	114.31 (14.82)	117.09 (13.79)	0.724	114.06 (15.88)	113.79 (14.99)	116.83 (16.78)	0.750
DBP(mmHg)	75.45 (13.90)	77.09 (9.31)	78.57 (12.40)	0.629	75.77 (11.40)	75.69 (10.78)	81.50 (14.36)	0.170
	10.40 (10.80)	40.0	32.0	0.029	44.0	32.0	24.0	0.643

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

	DASH				MDS			
	T1	T2	тз	P*	T1	T2	тз	P*
FADS2 (%)				0.537				0.897
CC	33.3	50.0	16.7		37.5	37.5	25.0	
CT	42.9	26.2	31.0		33.3	45.2	21.4	
Π	16.7	50.0	33.3		33.3	33.3	33.3	

Data are presented as mean (SD) or median (25 and 75 percentiles). ^{*}Analysis of variance for continuous variables and χ² test for categorical variables. WC, waist circumference; SES, socio-economic status; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TG, triglyceride; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; AIP, athrogenic index of plasma; MetS, metabolic syndrome; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat free mass; FADS, fatty acid desaturase.

TABLE 5 Odds ratio (OR) and confidence interval (CI) for the association between dietary quality indices and FADS2 rs174583 genotypes.

	Men			Women		
	CC	СТ	TT	CC	ст	т
DASH score (to	otal score)					
Crude	1(Ref.)	0.93 (0.83-1.04)	1.05 (0.88–1.25)	1(Ref.)	0.99 (0.90-1.12)	1.12 (0.91–1.37)
Model 1*	1(Ref.)	0.94 (0.84-1.06)	1.03 (0.86–1.23)	1(Ref.)	1.00 (0.89–1.12)	1.12 (0.90–1.38)
Model 2**	1(Ref.)	0.94 (0.84-1.06)	1.03 (0.86–1.23)	1(Ref.)	1.00 (0.89-1.12)	1.12 (0.90–1.38)
MDS (total sco	re)					
Crude	1(Ref.)	0.72 (0.49-1.06)	1.09 (0.61–1.93)	1(Ref.)	0.93 (0.69–1.26)	1.06 (0.62–1.83)
Model 1	1(Ref.)	0.75 (0.50-1.11)	1.06 (0.59–1.91)	1(Ref.)	0.93 (0.68-1.26)	0.97 (0.56–1.67)
Model 2	1(Ref.)	0.75 (0.50-1.11)	1.06 (0.59-1.92)	1(Ref.)	1.00 (0.72-1.40)	1.00 (0.57–1.76)

The multivariate multinomial logistic regression was used for estimation of ORs and confidence interval (CI). *Adjusted for age, physical activity and socio-economic status. **Additionally adjusted for waist circumference.

(P = 0.004). The distribution of SES for men was significantly different among tertile of MDS (P = 0.037); those who had a higher level of SES were assigned to the second tertile of this index. Additionally, men in the third tertile of the DASH score compared with the first tertile had lower AIP (P = 0.032) and TG (P = 0.050) levels. No significant differences were observed in the frequencies of genotypes across different tertiles of diet quality indices (MDS and DASH) (P > 0.05). Among women, no statistical significant difference was found regarding qualitative and quantitative variables across tertile categories of dietary quality indices (**Table 4**). Also, we did not observe statistically significant differences in genotype frequencies of the FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism across MDS and DASH score tertiles (P > 0.05) in this group.

A sex-stratified analysis for the association between dietary quality indices (DASH and MDS scores) and FADS2 rs174583 genotypes is shown in **Table 5**, and as summarized in this table, no significant association was revealed between dietary quality indices and the rs174583 variant in either crude or multivariate-adjusted models, among men and women. Crude and multivariable-adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for MetS and cardio-metabolic factors (high cholesterol, high LDL-C, low HDL-C, high TG, elevated blood pressure, hyperglycemia, high HOMA-IR, low QUIKI) across FADS2 rs174583 genotypes are presented in **Table 6**. There was a significant positive association between the TT genotype and the odds of having high TG when compared to the CC genotype, either in the crude (OR, 3.21; 95% CI, 1.02–10.14) or in the adjusted model 1 (OR, 3.32; 95% CI, 1.00–11.01) and model 2 (OR, 3.58; 95% CI, 1.07–11.97), taking into account various potential confounders.

To confirm whether FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism interacts with dietary quality indices to modulate cardio-metabolic risk factors, we carried out covariance analyses and illustrated the significant interactions, as shown in Figure 2. Among the female participants, a significant interaction was observed between rs174583 and adherence to the DASH score in relation to serum TG concentration, and this result remained significant even after controlling for confounding variables ($P_{\text{Interaction}} = 0.046$). Female CT-genotype carriers who were assigned to the second tertile of DASH compared with those in the first tertile had the lower TG level (P < 0.05) (Figure 2). Accordingly, in the female group, another significant interaction was revealed between adherence to the MDS score and rs174583 polymorphism on serum glucose levels ($P_{\text{Interaction}} = 0.044$), such that the lowest mean of glucose level was observed in homozygous minor subjects (TT) in the third tertile of MDS, in comparison with other tertiles of this dietary index (P < 0.05). Among the male group, no FADS-diet interaction was found except for DASH and rs174583 in relation to diastolic blood pressure (DBP) (P

TABLE 6 Odds ratio (OR) and confidence interval (CI) for FADS2 rs174583
genotypes and cardio-metabolic risk factors ^a of participants.

	FADS2					
	сс	СТ	π			
MetS ^b						
Crude	1 (Ref.)	0.68 (0.33–1.39)	1.81 (0.59–5.52)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.76 (0.36–1.61)	1.64 (0.52–5.23)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.88 (0.40-1.93)	1.74 (0.53–5.70)			
High Choles	sterol					
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.50 (0.72–3.12)	2.69 (0.86–8.37)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.52 (0.72–3.23)	2.61 (0.82–8.32)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.41 (0.65–3.02)	2.55 (0.79–8.17)			
High LDL-C						
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.06 (0.05–2.27)	0.82 (0.25–2.73)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.19 (0.54–2.61)	0.73 (0.22–2.51)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.13 (0.51–2.53)	0.68 (0.20–2.36)			
Low HDL-C						
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.03 (0.53–2.01)	3.32 (0.96–11.50)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.00 (0.51–1.99)	3.24 (0.92–11.38)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.07 (0.53–2.15)	3.37 (0.95–12.00)			
High TG						
Crude	1 (Ref.)	0.61 (0.26–1.43)	3.21 (1.02–10.14)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.69 (0.29–1.66)	3.32 (1.00–11.01)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.77 (0.32–1.87)	3.58 (1.07–11.97)			
High blood	pressure					
Crude	1 (Ref.)	0.73 (0.35–1.51)	0.65 (0.19–2.28)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.85 (0.40-1.82)	0.58 (0.16–2.10)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.98 (0.44–2.19)	0.53 (0.14–2.08)			
Hyperglyce	mia					
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.21 (0.50–2.89)	2.94 (0.87–9.95)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.32 (0.54–3.22)	2.72 (0.78–9.41)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.37 (0.55–3.44)	2.67 (0.75–9.55)			
High HOMA	-IR					
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.05 (0.53–2.08)	0.88 (0.29–2.69)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.06 (0.53–2.12)	0.83 (0.27–2.58)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.10 (0.54–2.24)	0.81 (0.26–2.54)			
Low QUIKI						
Crude	1 (Ref.)	1.42 (0.43-4.63)	0.79 (0.14–4.36)			
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.53 (0.46–5.12)	0.81 (0.15–4.55)			
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.69 (0.50-5.75)	0.80 (0.14-4.53)			

The multivariate multinomial logistic regression across Tertiles of dietary DASH score and MDS was used for estimation of ORs and confidence interval (CI). Model1, Adjusted for age, sex and physical activity. Model 2, Further adjusted for waist circumference and socio-economic status. ^aDefined as having high cholesterol (total cholesterol \geq 220 mg/dl), high LDL-C (\geq 160 mg/dl), low HDL-C (<40 mg/dl for men and <50 mg/dl for women), high TG (\geq 150 mg/dl), high blood pressure (systolic/diastolic blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg), hyperglycernia (fasting blood sugar \geq 100 mg/dl), high HOMA-IR (> 2.6) and low QUIKI (<38). ^bDefined as the presence of 3 of the following components: (1) abdominal adiposity (waist circumference > 88 cm); (2) low serum HDL cholesterol (<50 mg/dL); (57) high serum triacylglycerol (\geq 150 mg/dL); (3) elevated blood pressure (\geq 130/85 mm Hg); (4) abnormal glucose homeostasis (fasting plasma glucose \geq 110 mg/dL). HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; MetS, metabolic syndrome. ^cIndicates statistically significant values as P < 0.05.

interaction = 0.038), where homozygous carriers of the major allele who were assigned to the highest tertile of DASH had significantly lower DBP levels than those in the second tertile (P < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

The current study, based on our knowledge, is the first attempt to study the interactions between FADS2 gene polymorphism (rs174583) and dietary quality indicators in relation to cardiometabolic risk factors. We found consistently significant interactions between adherence to DASH and rs174583 polymorphism of the FADS2 gene in relation to serum TG level among female subjects; the CT heterozygote which was assigned to the second tertile of DASH had the lower TG level than those who were in the first tertile. Additionally, adherence to the MDS modified the effects of FADS2 rs174583 polymorphisms on levels of glucose in women; minor homozygote carriers with the highest adherence to MDS had the lowest glucose concentrations. On the other hand, being in the highest tertiles of DASH could indicate favorable effects in decreasing DBP in male homozygous carriers of the major allele. Another main finding in this study was that FADS2 rs174583 was associated with higher odds of having high serum TG in multivariate-adjusted models. The minor allele frequency of FADS2 rs174583 in our research (36 %) was lower than reported in a sample of the Taiwanese (58) and European (HapMap database) population. The reason for the differences in allele frequencies by population or ethnic group is not fully understood but could be, in part, explained by differences in sample size, study design, lifestyle, and other demographic characteristics among studies.

In the present study, we revealed novel evidence from an aspect of gene-diet interaction that the associations between the FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism and cardio-metabolic risk factors depend on the diet consumed. Therefore, it seems that improving adherence to dietary quality indices can attenuate the genetic association with metabolic risk factors. As elucidated above, a good adherence to both DASH and MDS could show favorable effects in reducing some of the metabolic risk factors including TG and glucose in female minor allele carriers and DBP in male major allele carriers. Mechanisms involved in these gender-dependent differences are not clear; however, these discrepancies can be attributed to heterogeneities in regional depots of adipose tissue and hormonal status (59). Although there is no relevant published study regarding the FADS2 rs174583-diet interaction to compare our results with, a crosssectional genome-wide association study (GWAS) in the Korean population reported significant interactions between total fat intake and the FADS1 and haplotype of FADS1 and FADS2 in relation to the MetS risk; carriers of the FADS1 rs174547 and FADS2 rs2845573 minor alleles have a greater predisposition to MetS and its components such as dyslipidemia, and, on the other hand, intermediate intake of dietary fat protected carriers of the FADS1 major alleles against the risk of MetS (60). Another investigation in Swedish adults indicated that minor allele carriers of FADS1 had lower LDL-cholesterol



concentrations, following the consumption of a low n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid diet (61). Evidence emerging from human-based studies has reported that genetic variation in FADS genes through changes in enzyme activity, which is usually estimated using product-to-substrate ratios, and plasma and erythrocyte fatty acid composition affect disease risk factors (62). Accordingly, several previous studies have reported a lower risk of mortality, insulin resistance, and obesity with reduction of the D6D activity (63, 64). Likewise, the associations have been observed between polymorphisms in FADS genes and high D6D activity (65), as well as between these variants and increased levels of inflammatory markers and fasting insulin and a higher risk of coronary artery disease (66). Thus, our results regarding the association between rs174583 polymorphism and greater odds of having TG concentrations are consistent with the results of other previous studies, where the FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism was associated with an increased risk of overweight and its related consequences (17). The biological mechanisms underlying how FADS genetic variations contribute to disease development have not yet been elucidated. However, it has hypothesized that these variants may impair desaturase activity and lead to a decrease in n-3 LC-PUFA in the red blood cell (RBC) and consequently deleterious metabolic effects (58).

Altogether, our results suggest that adherence to the healthy dietary pattern could modify the genetic association with some of the cardio-metabolic parameters. Substantial evidence supports a protective effect of improved adherence to the diet quality scores, which represent a broader picture of dietary intake, on health outcomes (26). For instance, Saraf-Bank et al. in a sample of Iranian subjects revealed that higher healthy eating index (HEI) 2010 scores were inversely associated with lower risk of MetS and its components (67). Likewise, similar results were observed in our previous study in which high adherence to HEI was found to be inversely associated with MetS risk (44). Therefore, it is not surprising that high compliance with these healthy dietary patterns suppresses the adverse influence of greater genetic susceptibility to cardio-metabolic risk factors in carriers of the FADS2 risk allele; in other words, people appear to be more prone to the beneficial effects of improving diet quality. The precise underlying mechanisms behind these interactions are not fully understood. Nevertheless, the favorable modulating effects of these indices could be explained by their components which are accompanied with high intake of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, seafood and plant proteins, nuts, and fiber and low intake of saturated fatty acids (68). In this regard, extensive evidence from epidemiologic studies has revealed the inverse associations of fruit, vegetables, and unsaturated fats with nutrition-related health conditions (69). In the present study, we found that greater adherence to the DASH score was associated with lower AIP and TG levels in men. These findings were in concordance with previous studies that reported a protective role for DASH diet against cardio-metabolic risk factors. A number of meta-analyses of RCT have revealed inverse relationships between DASH and CVD risk factors (70, 71). Additionally, Maddock et al. confirmed that long-term adherence to a DASH-type diet is related to a favorable cardiovascular-risk profile in adulthood (72). As mentioned above, since this diet is characterized by a higher consumption of healthy food items such as whole grain, fruits and vegetables, low-fat dairy products, lean meat, poultry and fish, nuts, and legumes which are rich dietary sources of potassium, magnesium, calcium, and dietary fiber, health benefits of excellent adherence with the DASH score are of no surprise (73).

A major strength of this study is that we, for the first time, found significant interactions between healthy dietary patterns and genetic predisposition in relation to cardio-metabolic risk factors, which is highly novel; therefore, our findings emphasize the importance of considering the influence of gene-diet interactions in relation to health outcomes. Thoroughly, the identification and better understanding of gene-diet interactions may open new opportunities for developing precision nutrition strategies based on subjects' genotype for the prevention and control of diseases. Moreover, diet quality scores provide comprehensive measures of diet than the single-component approach. Another strength of the present study was that we applied a reliable and validated FFQ for dietary assessment. Nonetheless, some limitations of this investigation need to be highlighted. First, although the cross-sectional design of the study makes causal inferences impossible, this research helps to generate the hypothesis to be studied more rigorously using cohort studies or other types of study. Second, under-reporting of dietary intake which is significant among obese people may cause misclassifications in dietary variables and ultimately this phenomenon can result in bias in the diet-disease relationship (74). Nevertheless, we removed the lower and higher extreme values of dietary intake. Third, despite that we have carefully adjusted for multiple confounders in the analyses, residual confounding by other unmeasured or unknown variables could not be fully eliminated. Fourth, it might be limited by the relatively small sample size. Thus, our finding should be interpreted with caution and replication in large epidemiological cohort studies is needed. Fifth, we have to mention that only one variant from a single gene was analyzed in this study while a number of other candidate genes have been implicated in the pathogenesis of the obesity phenotype and its dependent complications. Last, our conclusions may not be generalized to the general population as the present study was performed in Tabriz with different cultures, dietary intakes, and other lifestyle factors.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we found for the first time the statistically significant interactions of FADS2 rs174583 with adherence to the dietary quality indicators (DASH and MDS) in relation to cardio-metabolic risk factors in both women and men. Female carriers of the risk allele with higher adherence to DASH and MDS had lower adjusted means of TG and glucose concentrations, respectively. Likewise, a similar interaction was observed for DBP in male homozygous carriers of the major allele. Additionally FADS2 rs174583 polymorphism was associated with higher odds of having high serum TG. Therefore, our findings highlight the importance of improving adherence to a healthy diet in prevention of obesity-dependent complications especially in subjects with greater genetic susceptibility. Subsequently, prospective cohort studies are needed to confirm the results of our study.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IR.TBZMED.REC.1399.062. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK contributed to the data collection, manuscript writing, performed the statistical analysis, and data interpretation. MA conceptualized and designed the study. Moreover, MA revised the manuscript and approved the final manuscript as submitted. LN was involved in lab works. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The current study has been financially supported by a grant from Tabriz University of Medical Sciences (Identifiers: IR.TBZMED.REC.1399.874 and IR.TBZMED.REC. 1396.768).

REFERENCES

- Blüher M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol. (2019) 15:288–98. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8
- Djalalinia S, Saeedi Moghaddam S, Sheidaei A, Rezaei N, Naghibi Iravani SS, Modirian M, et al. Patterns of obesity and overweight in the iranian population: findings of STEPs 2016. *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 26:11:42. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00042
- 3. Hruby A, Hu FB. The epidemiology of obesity: a big picture. *PharmacoEconomics*. (2015) 33:673–89. doi: 10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Sharma AM, Chetty VT. Obesity, hypertension and insulin resistance. Acta Diabetol. (2005) 42(Suppl. 1):S3–8. doi: 10.1007/s00592-005-0175-1
- Steffen LM, Vessby B, Jacobs DR, Steinberger J, Moran A, Hong CP, et al. Serum phospholipid and cholesteryl ester fatty acids and estimated desaturase activities are related to overweight and cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents. *Intern J Obesity*. (2008) 32:1297–304. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.89
- Forouzanfar MH, Sepanlou SG, Shahraz S, Dicker D, Naghavi P, Pourmalek F, et al. Evaluating causes of death and morbidity in Iran, global burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors study 2010. *Archiv Iran Med.* (2014) 17:304–20.
- Fakhrzadeh H, Bandarian F, Adibi H, Samavat T, Malekafzali H, Hodjatzadeh E, et al. Coronary heart disease and associated risk factors in Qazvin: a population-based study. *East Mediterr Health J*. (2008) 14:33–41.
- Hatmi ZN, Tahvildari S, Motlag AG, Kashani AS. Prevalence of coronary artery disease risk factors in Iran: a population based survey. *BMC Cardiov Dis.* (2007) 7:1–5. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-7-32
- Qi Q, Chu AY, Kang JH, Jensen MK, Curhan GC, Pasquale LR, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages and genetic risk of obesity. *N Eng J Med.* (2012) 367:1387–96. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1203039
- Pigeyre M, Yazdi FT, Kaur Y, Meyre D. Recent progress in genetics, epigenetics and metagenomics unveils the pathophysiology of human obesity. *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130:943–86. doi: 10.1042/CS20160136
- Lyon HN, Hirschhorn JN. Genetics of common forms of obesity: a brief overview. Am J Clin Nutr. (2005) 82(1 Suppl):215s-7s. doi: 10.1093/ajcn.82.1.215S
- Yeates AJ, Love TM, Engström K, Mulhern MS, McSorley EM, Grzesik K, et al. Genetic variation in FADS genes is associated with maternal long-chain PUFA status but not with cognitive development of infants in a high fish-eating observational study. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids.* (2015) 102-103:13–20. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2015. 08.004
- Mozaffarian D, Kabagambe EK, Johnson CO, Lemaitre RN, Manichaikul A, Sun Q, et al. Genetic loci associated with circulating phospholipid trans fatty acids: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies from the CHARGE Consortium. Am J Clin Nutr. (2015) 101:398– 406. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.094557
- Cho HP, Nakamura MT, Clarke SD. Cloning, expression, and nutritional regulation of the mammalian Delta-6 desaturase. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:471– 7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.1.471
- Cho HP, Nakamura M, Clarke SD. Cloning, expression, and fatty acid regulation of the human delta-5 desaturase. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:37335– 9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.52.37335
- Žák A, Slabý A, Tvrzická E, Jáchymová M, Macášek J, Vecka M, et al. [Desaturases of fatty acids (FADS) and their physiological and clinical implication]. *Casopis Lekaru Ceskych*. (2016) 155:15–21.
- 17. de la Garza Puentes A, Montes Goyanes R, Chisaguano Tonato AM, Torres-Espínola FJ, Arias García M, de Almeida L, et al. Association of maternal weight with FADS and ELOVL genetic variants

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants of the current study. The work has been supported by a grant from Research Undersecretary of Tabriz University of Medical Sciences (identifier: IR.TBZMED.REC.1399.874 and grant number: 66569).

and fatty acid levels- The PREOBE follow-up. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0179135. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179135

- Nakayama K, Bayasgalan T, Tazoe F, Yanagisawa Y, Gotoh T, Yamanaka K, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the FADS1/FADS2 gene is associated with plasma lipid profiles in two genetically similar Asian ethnic groups with distinctive differences in lifestyle. *Hum Gen.* (2010) 127:685–90. doi: 10.1007/s00439-010-0815-6
- Lv X, Zhang Y, Rao S, Qiu J, Wang M, Luo X, et al. Joint effects of genetic variants in multiple loci on the risk of coronary artery disease in Chinese Han subjects. *Circ J.* (2012) 76:1987–92. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-12-0156
- Huang T, Sun J, Chen Y, Xie H, Xu D, Huang J, et al. Genetic variants in desaturase gene, erythrocyte fatty acids, and risk for type 2 diabetes in Chinese Hans. *Nutrition*. (2014) 30:897–902. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014. 01.006
- Ball K, Crawford D. Socioeconomic status and weight change in adults: a review. Soc Sci Med. (2005) 60:1987– 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.056
- Wardle J, Chida Y, Gibson EL, Whitaker KL, Steptoe A. Stress and adiposity: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Obesity*. (2011) 19:771– 8. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.241
- Rod NH, Andersen I, Prescott E. Psychosocial risk factors and heart failure hospitalization: a prospective cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2011) 174:672– 80. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr144
- Hamer M, Molloy GJ, Stamatakis E. Psychological distress as a risk factor for cardiovascular events: pathophysiological and behavioral mechanisms. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2008) 52:2156–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.08.057
- Grosso G. Impact of nutritional risk factors on chronic noncommunicable diseases. *Eur J Public Health.* (2019) 29(Suppl. 4):185–97. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckz185.197
- 26. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the healthy eating index, the alternate healthy eating index, the dietary approaches to stop hypertension score, and health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:780– 800.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.12.009
- 27. Kourlaba G, Panagiotakos DB. Dietary quality indices and human health: a review. *Maturitas.* (2009) 62:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2008.11.021
- Mozaffarian D. Dietary and policy priorities for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and obesity: a comprehensive review. *Circulation.* (2016) 133:187– 225. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018585
- 29. Schwingshackl L, Bogensberger B, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the healthy eating index, alternate healthy eating index, dietary approaches to stop hypertension score, and health outcomes: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. (2018) 118:74– 100.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.08.024
- 30. Stefler D, Malyutina S, Kubinova R, Pajak A, Peasey A, Pikhart H, et al. Mediterranean diet score and total and cardiovascular mortality in Eastern Europe: the HAPIEE study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:421– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1092-x
- Abiemo EE, Alonso A, Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Bertoni AG, Jain A, et al. Relationships of the Mediterranean dietary pattern with insulin resistance and diabetes incidence in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). Br J Nutr. (2013) 109:1490–7. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512003339
- 32. Bertoia ML, Triche EW, Michaud DS, Baylin A, Hogan JW, Neuhouser ML, et al. Mediterranean and dietary approaches to stop hypertension dietary patterns and risk of sudden cardiac death in postmenopausal women. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 99:344–51. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.056135
- 33. Mirmiran P, Moslehi N, Mahmoudof H, Sadeghi M, Azizi F. A longitudinal study of adherence to the mediterranean dietary pattern and metabolic

syndrome in a non-mediterranean population. *Intern J Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 13:e26128. doi: 10.5812/ijem.26128v2

- 34. Jafari Nasab S, Bahrami A, Rafiee P, Hekmatdoust A, Ghanavati M, Rashidkhani B, et al. Healthy eating index-2010 and Mediterranean-style dietary pattern score and the risk of colorectal cancer and adenoma: a case-control study. *Nutr Can.* (2020) 72:1326–35. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2019.1683212
- Zadeh SH, Nadjarzadeh A, Mirzaei M, Salehi-Abargouei A, Hosseinzadeh M. Adherence to healthy eating index-2015 and metabolic syndrome in a large sample of Iranian adults. *Nutr Food Sci.* (2020) 28:146. doi: 10.1108/NFS-04-2020-0146
- Casazza K, Dulin-Keita A, Gower BA, Fernandez JR. Differential influence of diet and physical activity on components of metabolic syndrome in a multiethnic sample of children. J Am Diet Assoc. (2009) 109:236– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.10.054
- Willett W. Nutritional Epidemiology. 2nd ed. St. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1998) p. 321–46.
- Khodarahmi M, Azadbakht L, Daghaghzadeh H, Feinle-Bisset C, Keshteli AH, Afshar H, et al. Evaluation of the relationship between major dietary patterns and uninvestigated reflux among Iranian adults. *Nutrition*. (2016) 32:573–83. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.11.012
- Murray AE, McMorrow AM, O'Connor E, Kiely C, Mac Ananey O, O'Shea D, et al. Dietary quality in a sample of adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Ireland; a cross-sectional case control study. *Nutr J.* (2013) 12:110. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-110
- Executive summary of the third report of the national cholesterol education program (NCEP) Expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). *JAMA*. (2001) 285:2486–97. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.19.2486
- 41. Mirmiran P, Esfahani FH, Mehrabi Y, Hedayati M, Azizi F. Reliability and relative validity of an FFQ for nutrients in the Tehran lipid and glucose study. *Public Health Nutr.* (2010) 13:654–62. doi: 10.1017/S1368980009991698
- Esfahani FH, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Reproducibility and relative validity of food group intake in a food frequency questionnaire developed for the tehran lipid and glucose study. *J Epidemiol.* (2010) 20:150– 8. doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20090083
- Azar M, Sarkisian E. Food Composition Table of Iran. Tehran: National Nutrition and Food Research Institute, Shaheed Beheshti University (1980).
- 44. Khodarahmi M, Asghari-Jafarabadi M, Abbasalizad Farhangi M. A structural equation modeling approach for the association of a healthy eating index with metabolic syndrome and cardio-metabolic risk factors among obese individuals. (2019) 14:e0219193. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219193
- Fung TT, Chiuve SE, McCullough ML, Rexrode KM, Logroscino G, Hu FB. Adherence to a DASH-style diet and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women. *Archiv Int Med.* (2008) 168:713–20. doi: 10.1001/archinte.168.7.713
- Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. *N Engl J Med.* (2003) 348:2599–608. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa025039
- Booth M. Assessment of physical activity: an international perspective. Res Quart Exerc Sport. (2000) 71(Suppl. 2):114– 20. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2000.11082794
- Sahebi A, Asghari MJ, Salari RS. Validation of depression anxiety and stress scale (DASS-21) for an Iranian population. *Iran Psychol.* (2005) 4:299–313.
- Samani S, Joukar B. A study on the reliability and validity of the short form of the depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-21). J Soc Sci Humanit Shiraz Univ. (2007) 26:65–77.
- Lovibond S, Lovibond P. Manual for the depression anxiety stress scales. 2nd ed. Sydney, NSW: Psychology Foundation (1995). Available online at: http:// www7332.psy.unsw.edu.au/groups/dass
- Flint A, Raben A, Blundell JE, Astrup A. Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. *Intern J Obesity.* (2000) 24:38–48. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.08 01083
- Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem.* (1972) 18:499–502. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/18.6.499

- Wu TT, Gao Y, Zheng YY, Ma YT, Xie X. Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP): a novel predictive indicator for the coronary artery disease in postmenopausal women. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2018) 17:197. doi: 10.1186/s12944-018-0828-z
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*. (1985) 28:412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883
- Katz A, Nambi SS, Mather K, Baron AD, Follmann DA, Sullivan G, et al. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Meta. (2000) 85:2402–10. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.7.6661
- Das K. A brief review of tests for normality. Am J Theor Appl Stat. (2016) 5:5. doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.12
- Rahmani A, Sayehmiri K, Asadollahi K, Sarokhani D, Islami F, Sarokhani M. Investigation of the prevalence of obesity in iran: a systematic review and meta-analysis study. *Acta Med Iran.* (2015) 53:596–607.
- Huang MC, Chang WT, Chang HY, Chung HF, Chen FP, Huang YF, et al. FADS gene polymorphisms, fatty acid desaturase activities, and HDL-C in Type 2 diabetes. Intern J Environ Res Public Health. (2017) 14:572. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14060572
- Fuente-Martín E, Argente-Arizón P, Ros P, Argente J, Chowen JA. Sex differences in adipose tissue: it is not only a question of quantity and distribution. *Adipocyte*. (2013) 2:128–34. doi: 10.4161/adip.24075
- Park S, Kim DS, Kang S. Carrying minor allele of FADS1 and haplotype of FADS1 and FADS2 increased the risk of metabolic syndrome and moderate but not low fat diets lowered the risk in two Korean cohorts. *Euro J Nutr.* (2019) 58:831–42. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1719-9
- Hellstrand S, Sonestedt E, Ericson U, Gullberg B, Wirfält E, Hedblad B, et al. Intake levels of dietary long-chain PUFAs modify the association between genetic variation in FADS and LDL-C. J Lipid Res. (2012) 53:1183– 9. doi: 10.1194/jlr.P023721
- Merino DM, Ma DW, Mutch DM. Genetic variation in lipid desaturases and its impact on the development of human disease. *Lip Health Dis.* (2010) 9:63. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-9-63
- Warensjö E, Ohrvall M, Vessby B. Fatty acid composition and estimated desaturase activities are associated with obesity and lifestyle variables in men and women. *Nutr Meta Cardiov Dis.* (2006) 16:128–36. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2005.06.001
- 64. Warensjö E, Sundström J, Vessby B, Cederholm T, Risérus U. Markers of dietary fat quality and fatty acid desaturation as predictors of total and cardiovascular mortality: a population-based prospective study. Am J Clin Nutr. (2008) 88:203–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.1.203
- 65. Bokor S, Dumont J, Spinneker A, Gonzalez-Gross M, Nova E, Widhalm K, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the FADS gene cluster are associated with delta-5 and delta-6 desaturase activities estimated by serum fatty acid ratios. *J Lip Res.* (2010) 51:2325–33. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M006205
- 66. Martinelli N, Girelli D, Malerba G, Guarini P, Illig T, Trabetti E, et al. FADS genotypes and desaturase activity estimated by the ratio of arachidonic acid to linoleic acid are associated with inflammation and coronary artery disease. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 88:941–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.4.941
- Saraf-Bank S, Haghighatdoost F, Esmaillzadeh A, Larijani B, Azadbakht L. Adherence to healthy eating index-2010 is inversely associated with metabolic syndrome and its features among Iranian adult women. *Euro J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 71:425–30. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2016.173
- Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Babio N, Martínez-González M, Ibarrola-Jurado N, Basora J, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with the Mediterranean diet: results of the PREDIMED-Reus nutrition intervention randomized trial. *Diab Care.* (2011) 34:14–9. doi: 10.2337/dc 10-1288
- Esmaillzadeh A, Kimiagar M, Mehrabi Y, Azadbakht L, Hu FB, Willett WC. Fruit and vegetable intakes, C-reactive protein, and the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 84:1489–97. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/84.6.1489
- Soltani S, Shirani F, Chitsazi MJ, Salehi-Abargouei A. The effect of dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet on weight and body composition in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Obes Rev.* (2016) 17:442–54. doi: 10.1111/obr. 12391

- Siervo M, Lara J, Chowdhury S, Ashor A, Oggioni C, Mathers JC. Effects of the dietary approach to stop hypertension (DASH) diet on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Nutr.* (2015) 113:1– 15. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514003341
- 72. Maddock J, Ziauddeen N, Ambrosini GL, Wong A, Hardy R, Ray S. Adherence to a dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH)-type diet over the life course and associated vascular function: a study based on the MRC 1946 British birth cohort. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 119:581–9. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517003877
- Kwan MW, Wong MC, Wang HH, Liu KQ, Lee CL, Yan BP, et al. Compliance with the dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet: a systematic review. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e78412. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078412
- 74. Fisher JO, Johnson RK, Lindquist C, Birch LL, Goran MI. Influence of body composition on the accuracy of reported energy

intake in children. Obes Res. (2000) 8:597–603. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2000.77

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Khodarahmi, Nikniaz and Abbasalizad Farhangi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Polyphenol-Rich *Aronia melanocarpa* Juice Consumption Affects *LINE-1* DNA Methylation in Peripheral Blood Leukocytes in Dyslipidemic Women

Ljiljana Stojković^{1*}, Manja Zec^{2,3}, Maja Zivkovic¹, Maja Bundalo^{1,4}, Maja Bošković¹, Marija Glibetić² and Aleksandra Stankovic¹

¹ Laboratory for Radiobiology and Molecular Genetics, Department of Health and Environmental Research, "Vinča" Institute of Nuclear Sciences—National Institute of the Republic of Serbia, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, Institute for Medical Research—National Institute of the Republic of Serbia, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Department of Nutritional Sciences, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ⁴ Institute of Experimental Biomedicine, University Hospital Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rosita Gabbianelli, University of Camerino, Italy

Reviewed by:

Fabio Caradonna, University of Palermo, Italy Nenad Naumovski, University of Canberra, Australia

> *Correspondence: Ljiljana Stojković ljiljanas@vin.bg.ac.rs

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 26 May 2021 Published: 17 June 2021

Citation:

Stojković L, Zec M, Zivkovic M, Bundalo M, Bošković M, Glibetić M and Stankovic A (2021) Polyphenol-Rich Aronia melanocarpa Juice Consumption Affects LINE-1 DNA Methylation in Peripheral Blood Leukocytes in Dyslipidemic Women. Front. Nutr. 8:689055. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.689055

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is associated with alterations in DNA methylation and polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) profile, both modulated by dietary polyphenols. The present parallel, placebo-controlled study (part of the original clinical study registered as NCT02800967 at www.clinicaltrials.gov) aimed to determine the impact of 4-week daily consumption of polyphenol-rich Aronia melanocarpa juice (AMJ) treatment on Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element-1 (LINE-1) methylation in peripheral blood leukocytes and on plasma PUFAs, in subjects (n = 54, age range of 40.2 \pm 6.7 years) at moderate CVD risk, including an increased body mass index, central obesity, high normal blood pressure, and/or dyslipidemia. The goal was also to examine whether factors known to affect DNA methylation (folate intake levels, MTHFR C677T gene variant, anthropometric and metabolic parameters) modulated the LINE-1 methylation levels upon the consumption of polyphenol-rich aronia juice. Experimental analysis of LINE-1 methylation was done by MethyLight method. MTHFR C677T genotypes were determined by the polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism method, and folate intake was assessed by processing the data from the food frequency questionnaire. PUFAs were measured by gas-liquid chromatography, and serum lipid profile was determined by using Roche Diagnostics kits. The statistical analyses were performed using Statistica software package. In the comparison after vs. before the treatment period, in dyslipidemic women (n = 22), we observed significant decreases in *LINE-1* methylation levels (97.54 \pm 1.50 vs. 98.39 \pm 0.86%, respectively; *P* = 0.01) and arachidonic acid/eicosapentaenoic acid ratio [29.17 \pm 15.21 vs. 38.42 (25.96-89.58), respectively; P = 0.02]. The change (after vs. before treatment) in LINE-1 methylation directly correlated with the presence of MTHFR 677T allele, average daily folate intake, and the change in serum low-density lipoprotein cholesterol but inversely correlated with the change in serum triacylglycerols (R = 0.72, $R^2 = 0.52$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.36$, P = 0.03).

The current results imply potential cardioprotective effects of habitual polyphenol-rich aronia juice consumption achieved through the modifications of DNA methylation pattern and PUFAs in subjects at CVD risk, which should be further confirmed. Hence, the precision nutrition-driven modulations of both DNA methylation and PUFA profile may become targets for new approaches in the prevention of CVD.

Keywords: Aronia melanocarpa, polyphenols, polyunsaturated fatty acids, LINE-1, methylation, peripheral blood leukocytes, cardiovascular risk

INTRODUCTION

Pathogenesis of human chronic diseases, such as cancer and cardiovascular disease (CVD), is related to aberrant global and locus-specific DNA methylation patterns (1, 2). Methylation of DNA, catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), is one of the main epigenetic processes, which most commonly occurs at cytosine-guanine (CpG) dinucleotide clusters and results in downregulation of gene expression (3).

Various exogenous and endogenous factors modulate DNA methylation. Folate (vitamin B9) is found in a variety of plant foods and participates in one-carbon metabolism, resulting in the formation of S-adenosyl-methionine (SAM) that acts as a methyl group donor (4). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) activation catalyzes the conversion of homocysteine to methionine, which is a direct precursor of SAM. The presence of T allele at a common C677T (Ala222Val) *MTHFR* gene polymorphic site is associated with a decreased activity of the enzyme, thus reducing the methyl group bioavailability and subsequently inhibiting the methylation of DNA (5).

Methylation of Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element-1 (LINE-1), the largest member of the LINE retrotransposon family of DNA repeat elements (comprising about 17% of the human genome) (6), is considered a surrogate marker of global DNA methylation (7, 8). Methylation status of LINE-1 in peripheral blood leukocytes is associated with metabolic parameters, such as blood glucose and lipid profiles (9, 10), and global DNA methylation in these cells has been found to depend on demographic and lifestyle factors: age, gender, blood pressure, body mass index (BMI), and dietary habits, including polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) supplementation (9, 11–14). In addition, the studies have reported that the inhibition of DNA methylation may prevent the progression of cancer and CVD (1, 2, 15). Hence, the methylation status of *LINE-1* in peripheral blood leukocytes represents a potential CVD biomarker, and certain lifestyle factors, like diet, may modulate cardiovascular risk by influencing alterations in DNA methylation patterns, thus emphasizing the importance of precision nutrition strategies in the prevention of CVD.

Regular consumption of Aronia melanocarpa juice is associated with CVD beneficial effects in human studies (16-18) and animal models (19). Aronia is rich in bioactive polyphenols (20) and, compared with other berry fruits, contains higher levels of polyphenolic compounds (21). Of note, dietary polyphenols are reported to favorably modulate DNA methylation status by inhibiting DNMT activity (22). In addition, aronia polyphenols affected the composition of plasma PUFAs in individuals at CVD risk (23). To the best of our knowledge, no study has examined the relation between polyphenols contained in aronia berry and DNA methylation status. Therefore, the present parallel, placebo-controlled, 4-week study aimed to investigate the interconnection between daily consumption of polyphenolrich aronia juice and LINE-1 methylation in peripheral blood leukocytes and plasma fatty acids, in subjects at moderate CVD risk. We also examined whether folate intake and MTHFR C677T gene variant, as well as the anthropometric and metabolic parameters, modulated the LINE-1 methylation levels upon the consumption of polyphenol-rich aronia juice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design, Study Subjects, and Intervention Treatments

The current research represents a parallel, placebo-controlled, 4-week nutritional intervention. The research is designed as a substudy, forming part of the original clinical study that lasted 6 months, and is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov as NCT02800967. The original study included nonsmoking adults at moderate CVD risk, defined as the presence of at least one of the following: increased BMI (25-30 kg/m²), central obesity (waist circumference \geq 80 cm for women and \geq 94 cm for men), and high normal blood pressure [systolic/diastolic blood pressure $(SBP/DBP) > 120/80, \le 139/89 \text{ mm Hg}]$. Exclusion criteria were the presence of chronic disease, self-reported allergy to polyphenols, pregnancy, lactation, blood donation 16 weeks before the start of the study, and parallel participation in another clinical trial. During the course of the study, the participants were asked to follow their habitual diet, including study treatments as part of it, and to do their usual physical activity. They were also asked to strictly refrain from berries and berry products and to avoid excess amounts of polyphenol-rich food, inclusive of olive oil, green tea, and nuts.

Abbreviations: AA, arachidonic acid; BMI, body mass index; COMT, catechol-O-methyltransferase; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; DNMTs, DNA methyltransferases; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; Glu, glucose; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; *LINE-1*, *Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element-1*; MTHFR, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SAH, S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine; SAM, S-adenosylmethionine; SBP, systolic blood pressure; SFA, saturated fatty acid; TAG, triacylglycerols; TC, total cholesterol; WC, waist circumference.

For purposes of the current substudy, additional *a posteriori* inclusion criterion was the presence of dyslipidemia defined as either elevated serum total cholesterol (\geq 5.2 mmol/l), elevated low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (\geq 3.4 mmol/l), or elevated serum triacylglycerols (\geq 1.7 mmol/l). In order to address the objectives of the substudy, 54 subjects were included, whose *LINE-1* methylation status in peripheral blood leukocytes and *MTHFR* C677T gene variant were additionally analyzed. They received either original polyphenol-rich *A. melanocarpa* juice (assigned as AMJ treatment, N = 34 subjects) or polyphenol-free placebo beverage (assigned as PLB treatment, N = 20 subjects). The research flow diagram is shown in **Figure 1**.

The original polyphenol-rich aronia juice used in the study was registered at the Serbian Ministry of Health as a dietary supplement and was donated from "Nutrika" LTD (Belgrade, Serbia). The placebo drink was made to match the appearance, taste, and nutritional composition of the original aronia juice, but without bioactive polyphenols. It was previously reported that the daily amount of 100 ml of the placebo was safe for human consumption (24). Total polyphenols in the original aronia juice were determined using a modified Folin-Ciocalteu method (25), and it was found that the consumed daily amount of 100 ml of the juice contained 1,177.11 mg of gallic acid equivalents of polyphenols. Proanthocyanidins were highly represented among the contained polyphenols, as demonstrated in the analysis of the composition of herein used aronia juice (24). The study compliance was assessed according to returned empty bottles of intervention drinks and self-reports.

The study protocol adhered to the regulations of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by Clinical Hospital Centre Zemun, Belgrade, Serbia, Ethics Committee Approval, No: 2125, 2013. The written informed consent was given by all participants before the commencement of the study.

Sample Collection

Study participants were instructed for overnight fasting, and venous blood was collected the next morning between 8 and 9 AM into the sample tubes for serum and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)-evacuated tubes. The sample collection was done at two time points, before and after the corresponding 4-week treatments (AMJ and PLB).

Assessment of Study Variables

For the assessment of baseline dietary intake, trained staff conducted structured interviews with study subjects and collected data by using the food frequency questionnaire and repeated 24-h dietary recalls. The subjects were assisted with 125-item photo-booklet containing simple foods and composite dishes (26). Data from dietary recalls were analyzed using the nutritional platform for comprehensive diet evaluation (26, 27).

Bio-impedance analyzer TANITA UM072 balance (TANITA Health Equipment H.K. Ltd, Hong Kong, China) was used for the determination of body weight. Total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), LDL-C, triacylglycerols, and glucose from serum were determined by Roche Diagnostics Kits, using the chemistry analyzer (Cobas c111, Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland).

The procedure of determination of plasma phospholipid fatty acids composition was previously described in detail by Pokimica et al. (23). Briefly, plasma lipids were extracted using a 2:1 chloroform-methanol mixture with 2,6-di-tertbutyl-4-methylphenol (10 mg/100 ml) added as an antioxidant. Phospholipids were separated from other lipid subclasses on a thin-layer chromatography silica plate using a mixture of petroleum ether, diethyl ether, and acetic acid (87:12:1). The methyl esters of fatty acids were obtained by transmethylation with 2M sodium hydroxide in methanol, at 85°C for 1h, and with 1M sulfuric acid in methanol, at 85°C for 2h. The mixture was cooled down to room temperature and centrifuged at 1,860 \times g for 15 min, and the upper phase was dried up using a stream of nitrogen. The fatty acid methyl esters were recovered in hexane and separated by using RTX 2330 capillary column (60 m \times 0.25 mm \times 0.2 μ m; Restek, Bellefonte, PA, United States), on Shimadzu GC-2014 gas chromatograph (Kyoto, Japan) with flame ionization detector. The flow of air, hydrogen, and helium (carrier gas) was 320, 30, and 5 ml/min, respectively. The temperature of the detector was 260°C and of the injection port 220°C. The initial column temperature of 140°C was maintained for 5 min and then increased to 220°C at a rate of 3°C/min, and 220°C was kept for 20 min. Fatty acids were identified by comparing peak retention times with calibration mixtures (PUFA-2, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, United States, and 37 FAMEs mix, Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, United States). The amounts of individual fatty acids in plasma phospholipids were presented as the relative area percentage of the total pool of detected fatty acids.

Analysis of LINE-1 Methylation

The fasting peripheral blood samples of each participant, collected with EDTA before and after the corresponding treatments, were used for the total leukocyte genomic DNA isolation, by a phenol-chloroform extraction-based method (28). The quantity of DNA was estimated with BioSpecnano spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Biotech, Kyoto, Japan).

Five hundred (500) ng of each sample genomic DNA was used for sodium bisulfite conversion with EpiTect[®] Bisulfite kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Bisulfite-converted DNA was then used for the quantification of *LINE-1* methylation by MethyLight real-time PCR. To normalize DNA input, an Alu sequence-based real-time PCR control reaction was performed in parallel with each *LINE-1* reaction. The method was previously developed and validated, its precision and reproducibility were confirmed (8, 29), and the currently used protocol was described in detail by Božović et al. (29).

MTHFR Genotyping

The genotypes of *MTHFR* C677T variant were determined from the total leukocyte genomic DNA samples, by PCR–restriction fragment length polymorphism method reported in Coppedè et al. (30), in all subjects included in the methylation analysis.


FIGURE 1 | Study flow diagram. N, number of subjects; AMJ, polyphenol-rich Aronia melanocarpa juice treatment; PLB, polyphenol-free beverage; placebo, treatment.

Statistical Analyses

The comparisons of *MTHFR* C677T genotype frequencies between groups and estimation of deviations from Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium were done with Fisher's exact test and the χ^2 test. Due to a small number of the TT genotype carriers (N < 3) in at least one of the analyzed groups, we applied the dominant genotype model, CT + TT vs. CC, instead of the additive. Depending on the distribution of continuous variables (age, average daily energy intake, average daily folate intake, SBP, DBP, waist circumference, BMI, serum glucose, triacylglycerols, total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, plasma fatty acids, and *LINE-1* methylation levels), tested by the Shapiro-Wilks test, the appropriate parametric or non-parametric tests were performed. Between-group comparisons were done using a *t*-test or the Mann–Whitney U-test, while within-group comparisons (after vs. before each treatment) were done by *t*-test for dependent samples or the Wilcoxon matched-pairs test, for normally and non-normally distributed data, respectively. The treatment effects were investigated in the complete sample and in women and men, separately. The relationship between *LINE-1* methylation and the anthropometric and metabolic parameters (age, average daily folate intake, average daily energy intake, SBP,

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the study participants.

	AMJ	PLB	Р
No. of subjects	34	20	
Age (years)	41.1 ± 6.6	38.5 ± 6.8	0.17
Average daily energy intake (kCal)	2075 ± 555	1745 (1168–3385)#	0.29
Average daily folate intake (μ g) 239.7 ± 75.2		203.3 (98.2–461.5)#	0.54
SBP (mmHg)	118.3 ± 13.4	120.6 ± 16.2	0.57
DBP (mmHg)	73.2 ± 10.0	74.0 ± 13.7	0.82
Waist circumference (cm)	89.8 ± 10.9	92.2 ± 15.7	0.51
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.4 ± 3.5	27.8 ± 6.2	0.78
Glucose (mmol/l)	4.8 (3.8–7.2)#	5.1 ± 0.8	0.27
TAG (mmol/l)	0.9 (0.4–4.1)#	0.9 (0.5–5.0)#	0.72
TC (mmol/l)	5.5 ± 1.1	5.2 ± 1.0	0.27
HDL-C (mmol/l)	1.5 (0.8–2.9) #	1.6 ± 0.4	0.54
LDL-C (mmol/l)	3.5 ± 0.9	3.3 ± 1.0	0.56
[†] MTHFR C677T genotype, No. (%)			
CC	15 (44.1)	7 (35.0)	
CT + TT	19 (55.9)	13 (65.0)	0.58

Continuous variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation; [#]continuous variables with a non-normal distribution are presented as median (minimum-maximum); P-values related to the between-treatment difference in the variable distribution, significant difference at P < 0.05.

[†] The observed MTHFR C677T genotype frequencies are consistent with Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium, in each analyzed group (χ^2 test, P > 0.05).

AMJ, polyphenol-rich Aronia melanocarpa juice treatment; PLB, polyphenol-free beverage, placebo treatment; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; TAG, triacylglycerols; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

DBP, waist circumference, BMI, serum glucose, triacylglycerols, total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, and plasma fatty acids) was investigated by regression analyses. T-test/Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used to examine the association between *LINE-1* methylation and *MTHFR* genotypes, by a genotype model, CT+TT vs. CC. In the statistical tests, P < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The statistical analyses were performed using Statistica 8.0 software package (StatSoft, Inc. 1984-2007).

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics of the Study Subjects and Effects of Polyphenol-Rich Aronia Juice Consumption on Cardiometabolic Parameters

Baseline characteristics, determined before each of the two treatments, with polyphenol-rich aronia juice (AMJ) and polyphenol-free beverage (placebo, PLB), for the whole treated study groups are shown in **Table 1**. For the treated groups separated by gender, the baseline characteristics are shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. There were no significant differences in the baseline parameters (AMJ vs. PLB) within any of the groups (whole sample, women and men), except for serum total cholesterol in men [AMJ vs. PLB = 5.9 ± 1.0 vs. 4.9 ± 1.2 mmol/l; P (*t*-test) = 0.04] (**Table 1** and **Supplementary Table 1**).

Within-group comparisons of treatment effects (after vs. before treatment) toward anthropometric and metabolic parameters are presented in **Supplementary Table 2**. Even though significant differences were found for DBP, waist circumference, glucose, and HDL-C [P (*t*-test for

dependent samples/Wilcoxon matched pairs test) < 0.05] (**Supplementary Table 2**), only values for waist circumference dropped out of the clinical ranges.

Effects of Polyphenol-Rich Aronia Juice Consumption on *LINE-1* Methylation

The comparisons of *LINE-1* methylation levels after vs. before polyphenol-rich AMJ treatment and polyphenol-free beverage (placebo) treatment (PLB) are presented in **Figure 2**. Although the AMJ treatment tended to decrease *LINE-1* methylation levels, there was no significant difference in the whole study group [after vs. before treatment = 97.93 (93.58–99.84)% vs. 98.16 (93.58–99.91)%; P (Wilcoxon matched pairs test) = 0.14] (**Figure 2A**). We found a significant decrease in *LINE-1* methylation after the AMJ treatment in women (after vs. before treatment = 97.54 ± 1.50 vs. 98.39 ± 0.86%; P (*t*-test for dependent samples) = 0.01) (**Figure 2C**).

In women, where we demonstrated that polyphenol-rich AMJ treatment significantly changed *LINE-1* methylation, the multiple regression model showed significant effects of average daily folate intake, *MTHFR* C677T genotypes (model CT+TT vs. CC), change (Δ , after vs. before treatment) in triacylglycerols, and change (Δ) in LDL-C on the change (Δ) in *LINE-1* methylation levels, while controlling for age (R = 0.72, $R^2 = 0.52$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.36$, P = 0.03) (**Table 2**).

Impact of Polyphenol-Rich AMJ Treatment on the Profile of Plasma Fatty Acids

Composition of plasma phospholipids fatty acids was analyzed in women who consumed polyphenol-rich aronia juice, as,





Predictor variable	β	Std. error of β	Р
Age (years)	-0.40	0.21	0.08
Average daily folate intake (µg)	0.49	0.19	0.02
MTHFR C677T genotypes (model CT + TT vs. CC)	0.50	0.19	0.02
Δ Triacylglycerols (mmol/l)	-0.53	0.20	0.02
Δ Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.46	0.19	0.03

TABLE 2 | Multiple regression analysis for the change (Δ) in *LINE-1* methylation levels (%) in women who consumed polyphenol-rich *Aronia melanocarpa* juice (AMJ treatment, N = 22).

Regression summary: R = 0.72, $R^2 = 0.52$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.36$, P = 0.03.

 Δ : change, after treatment value—before treatment value; significant difference at P < 0.05 (bolded text).

only in these subjects, aronia juice consumption was associated with a significant change in LINE-1 methylation levels. Profiled fatty acids are shown for 15 women treated with aronia juice (Supplementary Table 3), whose plasma samples were available for the analysis, representing a part of previously published data (23). Overall baseline plasma phospholipid fatty acids comprised \sim 48% SFAs, \sim 11% MUFAs, and \sim 41% PUFAs. Among the most abundant fatty acids were palmitic acid (~30.5%) > linoleic acid (\sim 23%) > stearic acid (\sim 17.5%) > arachidonic acid (AA) $(\sim 11\%)$, while least quantitatively represented fatty acids were eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and adrenic acid (~0.3-0.4%). Within PUFAs, the proportion of omega-6 was \sim 10-fold higher than that of omega-3 (\sim 37.4 vs. \sim 3.6%). Comparisons of fatty acid levels after vs. before the AMJ treatment in female subjects revealed a significant decrease in AA/EPA ratio (29.17 \pm 15.21 vs. 38.42 (25.96-89.58), respectively; Wilcoxon matched pairs test, P = 0.02), as AA levels significantly decreased (10.18) \pm 2.16 vs. 11.16 \pm 2.61 %, respectively; *t*-test for dependent samples, P = 0.01) and EPA levels significantly increased (0.43) \pm 0.20 vs. 0.28 \pm 0.12 %, respectively; *t*-test for dependent samples, P = 0.04) (Supplementary Table 3). Along with AA, dihomo-y linolenic acid also decreased following the treatment in women [2.34 (1.59–4.33)% vs. 2.89 \pm 1.04%, respectively; Wilcoxon matched pairs test, P = 0.02]. The same type of change was observed for adrenic acid [0.34 \pm 0.12% vs. 0.40 (0.23– 0.98)%, respectively; Wilcoxon matched pairs test, P = 0.003] (Supplementary Table 3).

The changes (Δ , after vs. before treatment) in levels of individual fatty acids did not significantly correlate with a change (Δ) in *LINE-1* methylation levels, with the exception of adrenic acid ($R = 0.60, R^2 = 0.36$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.31, P = 0.02$). Multiple regression models revealed no significant relations between a change (Δ) in *LINE-1* methylation levels and changes (Δ) in levels of each class of fatty acids: SFAs ($R = 0.53, R^2 = 0.28$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.17, P = 0.13$), MUFAs ($R = 0.43, R^2 = 0.18$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.04, P = 0.51$), and PUFAs ($R = 0.86, R^2 =$ 0.74, adjusted $R^2 = 0.49, P = 0.09$).

DISCUSSION

The main finding of this study is that the 4-week daily consumption of *A. melanocarpa* juice decreased the *LINE-1* methylation levels in peripheral blood leukocytes in women

with CVD risk factors, including overweight and dyslipidemia. Daily treatment with Aronia melanocarpa juice, assigned as AMJ treatment, contained 1.18 g of total polyphenols. This amount corresponds to an estimated average daily intake of about 1 g of total polyphenols from the dietary sources (31), provided that, in the composition of aronia polyphenols, the most abundant are anthocyanins, proanthocyanidins, hydroxycinnamic acids, and flavonols (32), which is in compliance with the findings of a previous study that characterized the composition of aronia juice used in the current research (24). Confirmation that the currently demonstrated significant reduction in LINE-1 methylation is due to the impact of polyphenols, rather than of other bioactive components of aronia juice, lies in the fact that placebo treatment exerted no significant effects on LINE-1 methylation. In line with this study, global DNA methylation levels in peripheral leukocytes were significantly reduced after 2-week-long consumption of polyphenol-rich cocoa product, in individuals at cardiovascular risk (13).

Herein observed decreased DNA methylation levels after the consumption of polyphenol-rich aronia juice may be attributed to the role of polyphenols as natural DNMT inhibitors (22). Namely, catechins and their metabolites, which belong to one of the main aronia polyphenol classes-proanthocyanidins (32), can increase the production of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine (SAH), a potent inhibitor of DNMTs and a participant of the folate-methionine cycle, through the inhibition of catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT)-mediated O-methylation of catechol substrates (33, 34). Among the main endogenous substrates for both liver and leukocyte, COMT is a catechol estrogen (33, 35), potentially explaining the finding of the present methylation analysis exclusively in women. In addition, catechins suppress MTHFR activity, hence blocking the folate-methionine cycle and reducing the methyl group bioavailability (36). The antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of polyphenol-rich aronia products, by which they contribute to cardiovascular protection (17, 37), might be attributed to the role of polyphenols as DNMT inhibitors. By reducing the activity of DNMTs, the prevalent aronia flavonol, quercetin, decreases the promoter methylation levels and activates the expression of target genes, such as a transcription regulator nuclear factor erythroid 2related factor 2 (38), which is involved in the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms in vascular cells and macrophages (38-40). Moreover, aronia polyphenols may be involved in the

inflammatory response by affecting the activity/production of DNMTs *via* cytokines, since it has been demonstrated that aronia anthocyanins affected the production of inflammatory mediators (37), and under the influence of IL-1, there have been changes in DNMT expression and genomic methylation in human cells *in vitro* (41).

With regard to our results, the proposed mechanisms of polyphenol-induced inhibition of DNA methylation (33, 34, 36) would depend on daily folate intake and MTHFR C677T gene variant. We found that the change (after vs. before the AMJ treatment) in LINE-1 methylation levels in women correlated directly with average daily folate intake, and this is consistent with previously defined effects of folate on the modulation of DNA methylation (4). Concerning the effects of MTHFR C677T gene variant, our finding is in line with the study of Nojima et al. (42), which showed that the global methylation levels in peripheral blood leukocytes were significantly increased in carriers of the 677T allele. This was obtained when the MTHFR variant was analyzed in interaction with another factor that affected the methylation of DNA-an inflammatory marker blood concentration (42). Similarly, except with folate intake, our regression model denoted an interaction of the MTHFR variant with circulating LDL-C and triacylglycerol levels, as metabolic factors have been associated with LINE-1 methylation (9, 10, 43). Namely, the current change in LINE-1 methylation in women correlated positively with the change in LDL-C and negatively with the change in triacylglycerols, which should be pointed out along with the fact that our female subjects are dyslipidemic. So far, few studies have investigated the relationship between LINE-1 methylation and lipid profile and yielded conflicting results (9, 10, 43), emphasizing the need for further research. The present positive correlation of peripheral blood leukocyte LINE-1 methylation with circulating LDL-C levels is in line with two studies, which have investigated middle-aged subjects with cardiovascular risk factors and no evidence of CVD (10, 43). Since we have established this positive correlation between changes in LINE-1 methylation and circulating LDL-C levels in subjects whose *LINE-1* methylation was significantly decreased, following the consumption of aronia juice, our finding may support the currently proposed cardioprotective action of polyphenol-rich aronia products attributed to the role of polyphenols as DNMT inhibitors. Accordingly, the same type of correlation would be expected between changes in LINE-1 methylation and serum triacylglycerols levels, but we found them to correlate inversely. Still, findings regarding the link of LINE-1 methylation with serum triacylglycerols are rather inconsistent, as one of the mentioned studies reported a positive correlation (10), while in the other there was no significant relation (43). With respect to pathogenesis of CVD and the proposed explanation, LDL-C was shown to cause vascular endothelial dysfunction in part by changing the DNMT activity and thus altering the DNA methylation, given that, in endothelial cells, LDL-C inhibited the transcription of a gene important in maintaining the endothelial function, KLF2, through the activation of DNMT1 (44).

Along with the investigated classical lipid parameters (circulating cholesterol and triacylglycerols), we examined

plasma fatty acids profile in women who consumed polyphenolrich aronia juice, since the treatment significantly changed the LINE-1 methylation levels only in these individuals, and this change in LINE-1 methylation was found to correlate with the changes in lipid parameters. We observed a significant reduction of the AA/EPA ratio due to a significant decrease in plasma AA and a significant increase in EPA levels, in target dyslipidemic female subjects who underwent AMJ treatment. Similarly, in a larger group of study participants at cardiovascular risk, from which our substudy group was sorted out, there had also been a significant AA/EPA reduction in aronia polyphenols consumers, noting that this reduction had been due to a significant decrease in AA, while EPA had not increased significantly (23). Furthermore, in a recent study that has investigated the link between FADS2 gene variants, fatty acid metabolism, and aronia polyphenol intake in the overweight, there was a trend of AA/EPA reduction in individuals who consumed aronia juice, compared to placebo consumers (45). There has been evidence for an association between total plasma AA and ischemic stroke (46), and the increase in circulating EPA levels has been shown to have beneficial effects on cardiovascular health (47). Both findings (46, 47) are expected because the ratio of AA to EPA reflects regulatory mechanisms of the inflammatory process, as these two PUFAs compete for the conversion to two classes of bioactive eicosanoids: pro- and anti-inflammatory (48, 49). Hence, in addition to the well-known markers, such as circulating total cholesterol, LDL-C, and triacylglycerols, the AA/EPA ratio has recently been identified as a sensitive marker of cardiovascular risk, given that a lower AA/EPA ratio was associated with a decreased risk of coronary artery disease, acute coronary syndrome, myocardial infarction, stroke, chronic heart failure, and peripheral artery disease [reviewed in Davinelli et al. (50)]. Our female study subjects who consumed aronia juice had high baseline AA/EPA levels, indicating a chronic low-grade inflammation and an increased risk of cardiovascular events. Thus, a significant decrease in AA/EPA ratio following the AMJ treatment is in line with proposed anti-inflammatory and cardioprotective effects of aronia juice polyphenols, also supporting a suggested relation of these effects with the currently observed decrease in LINE-1 methylation levels in women.

The findings of the present study should be interpreted in light of limiting factors, primarily a sample size. Nevertheless, the study design has strength regarding the measurement of LINE-1 methylation levels both before and after each applied treatment, together with the corresponding anthropometric and metabolic parameters, allowing the accurate determination of treatmentdependent changes in parameter values. Another strength of the study is the use of a reliable food frequency questionnaire for the baseline dietary intake assessment with the subsequent analysis of data collected from 24-h dietary recalls, performed by using a validated nutritional platform for comprehensive diet evaluation. This allowed balancing of baseline dietary intake of the study subjects across each of the two interventional treatments, assuming that dietary intake did not change within the 4-week treatment period. Still, the possible confounding effects of temporal changes in dietary habits may not be excluded and represent a limiting factor of the study design. Another limiting factor is a possible interindividual variability in response to polyphenol treatment, related to polyphenol bioavailability and other factors that fell beyond the scope of this study.

In conclusion, the main novelty brought by the present study is a change in *LINE-1* methylation levels after the 4-week habitual consumption of polyphenol-rich aronia juice, which indicates an impact of aronia polyphenols on DNA methylation. The current results suggest cardioprotective effects of aronia polyphenols in subjects at CVD risk, achieved through the modifications of *LINE-1* DNA methylation pattern and AA/EPA ratio. Our findings merit further investigation, particularly in view of the fact that the precision nutrition-driven modulations of both DNA methylation and PUFA profile may become pertinent targets for new approaches in the prevention and treatment of CVD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Clinical Hospital Centre Zemun, Belgrade, Serbia. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS performed the epigenetic, genetic and statistical analyses, interpreted the results, and wrote the manuscript. MZe was involved in the assessments of dietary intake, anthropometric and metabolic parameters, and the analysis of plasma fatty acids composition. AS, MZi, MZe, and LS designed the study. MZe, MZi, and AS revised the manuscript. MBu assisted with the epigenetic analysis. MBo was involved in laboratory work and sample collection. MG contributed to the conceptualization of the study. All authors read and agreed to the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by funding from the EU Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007–2013), under Agreement No 2312090 (BACCHUS), and the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, under the contract numbers 451-03-9/2021-14/200017 and 451-03-9/2021-14/200015.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Nevena Vidović and Aleksandra Konić-Ristić (Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism/CENM, Institute for Medical Research, Belgrade) for assistance in study design, sample collection, and biochemical assessments; Marina Nikolić (CENM, Institute for Medical Research, Belgrade) for the assessment of the dietary intake data; Biljana Pokimica (CENM, Institute for Medical Research, Belgrade) for participation in the analysis of fatty acids; Ana Kolaković and M. S. Ivana Kolić (Laboratory for Radiobiology and Molecular Genetics, Vinča Institute of Nuclear Sciences, Belgrade) for assistance in processing DNA samples; and Filip Stojanović (CENM, Institute for Medical Research, Belgrade) for technical assistance. The authors are also thankful to Nutrika d.o.o., Belgrade, Serbia, for the provision of study treatments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 689055/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Khan MI, Rath S, Adhami VM, Mukhtar H. Targeting epigenome with dietary nutrients in cancer: current advances and future challenges. *Pharmacol Res.* (2018) 129:375–87. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.12.008
- Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. Treatment of cardiovascular pathology with epigenetically active agents: focus on natural and synthetic inhibitors of DNA methylation and histone deacetylation. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 227:66–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.11.204
- Yokochi T, Robertson KD. Preferential methylation of unmethylated DNA by mammalian *de novo* DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:11735–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M106590200
- Mandaviya PR, Stolk L, Heil SG. Homocysteine and DNA methylation: a review of animal and human literature. *Mol Genet Metab.* (2014) 113:243–52. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2014.10.006
- Weiner AS, Boyarskikh UA, Voronina EN, Mishukova OV, Filipenko ML. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and methionine synthase A2756G polymorphisms influence on leukocyte genomic DNA methylation level. *Gene.* (2014) 533:168–72. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.09.098

- Kazazian HH Jr. Mobile elements: drivers of genome evolution. Science. (2004) 303:1626–32. doi: 10.1126/science.1089670
- Yang AS, Estecio MR, Doshi K, Kondo Y, Tajara EH, Issa JPJ. A simple method for estimating global DNA methylation using bisulfite PCR of repetitive DNA elements. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2004) 32:e38. doi: 10.1093/nar/gnh032
- Weisenberger DJ, Campan M, Long TI, Kim M, Woods C, Fiala E, et al. Analysis of repetitive element DNA methylation by MethyLight. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2005) 33:6823–36. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki987
- Cash HL, McGarvey ST, Houseman EA, Marsit CJ, Hawley NL, Lambert-Messerlian GM, et al. Cardiovascular disease risk factors and DNA methylation at the *LINE-1* repeat region in peripheral blood from Samoan Islanders. *Epigenetics*. (2011) 6:1257–64. doi: 10.4161/epi.6.10. 17728
- Pearce MS, McConnell JC, Potter C, Barrett LM, Parker L, Mathers JC, et al. Global *LINE-1* DNA methylation is associated with blood glycaemic and lipid profiles. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2012) 41:210–7. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys020
- Zhu ZZ, Hou L, Bollati V, Tarantini L, Marinelli B, Cantone L, et al. Predictors of global methylation levels in blood DNA of healthy subjects: a combined analysis. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2012) 41:126–39. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq154

- Alexeeff SE, Baccarelli AA, Halonen J, Coull BA, Wright RO, Tarantini L, et al. Association between blood pressure and DNA methylation of retrotransposons and pro-inflammatory genes. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:270–80. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys220
- Crescenti A, Solà R, Valls RM, Caimari A, Del Bas JM, Anguera A, et al. Cocoa consumption alters the global DNA methylation of peripheral leukocytes in humans with cardiovascular disease risk factors: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e65744. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 65744
- Tremblay BL, Guénard F, Rudkowska I, Lemieux S, Couture P, Vohl MC. Epigenetic changes in blood leukocytes following an omega-3 fatty acid supplementation. *Clin Epigenetics*. (2017) 9:43. doi: 10.1186/s13148-017-0345-3
- Fernández-Bedmar Z, Anter J, Alonso-Moraga A, Martín de Las Mulas J, Millán-Ruiz Y, Guil-Luna S. Demethylating and anti-hepatocarcinogenic potential of hesperidin, a natural polyphenol of Citrus juices. *Mol Carcinog.* (2017) 56:1653–62. doi: 10.1002/mc.22621
- Skoczyńska A, Jedrychowska I, Poreba R, Affelska-Jercha A, Turczyn B, Wojakowska A, et al. Influence of chokeberry juice on arterial blood pressure and lipid parameters in men with mild hypercholesterolemia. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2007) 59:177–82.
- Kardum N, Petrović-Oggiano G, Takic M, Glibetić N, Zec M, Debeljak-Martacic J, et al. Effects of glucomannan-enriched, aronia juice-based supplement on cellular antioxidant enzymes and membrane lipid status in subjects with abdominal obesity. *Sci World J.* (2014) 2014:869250. doi: 10.1155/2014/869250
- Kardum N, Milovanović B, Šavikin K, Zdunić G, Mutavdžin S, Gligorijević T, et al. Beneficial effects of polyphenol-rich chokeberry juice consumption on blood pressure level and lipid status in hypertensive subjects. *J Med Food*. (2015) 18:1231–8. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2014.0171
- Zec M, Debeljak-Martačić J, Ranković S, Pokimica B, Tomić M, Ignjatović D, et al. Effects of *Aronia melanocarpa* juice on plasma and liver phospholipid fatty acid composition in Wistar rats. *Acta Vet Beograd*. (2017) 67:107–20. doi: 10.1515/acve-2017-0010
- Borowska S, Brzóska MM. Chokeberries (Aronia melanocarpa) and their products as a possible means for the prevention and treatment of noncommunicable diseases and unfavorable health effects due to exposure to xenobiotics. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf. (2016) 15:982–1017. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337.12221
- Jakobek L, Šeruga M, Medvidović-Kosanović M, Novak I. Antioxidant activity and polyphenols of *Aronia* in comparison to other berry species. *Agric Consp Sci.* (2007) 72:301–6.
- Lee WJ, Shim JY, Zhu BT. Mechanisms for the inhibition of DNA methyltransferases by tea catechins and bioflavonoids. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2005) 68:1018–30. doi: 10.1124/mol.104.008367
- Pokimica B, García-Conesa MT, Zec M, Debeljak-Martačić J, Ranković S, Vidović N, et al. Chokeberry juice containing polyphenols does not affect cholesterol or blood pressure but modifies the composition of plasma phospholipids fatty acids in individuals at cardiovascular risk. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:850. doi: 10.3390/nu11040850
- 24. Kardum N, Konic Ristic A, Zec M, Kojadinovic M, Petrovic-Oggiano G, Zekovic M, et al. Design, formulation and sensory evaluation of a polyphenolrich food placebo: an example of aronia juice for food intervention studies. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2017) 68:742–9. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2017.1283682
- Wolfe K, Wu X, Liu RH. Antioxidant activity of apple peels. J Agr Food Chem. (2003) 51:609–14. doi: 10.1021/jf020782a
- 26. Gurinović M, Milešević J, Kadvan A, Nikolić M, Zeković M, Djekić-Ivanković M, et al. Development, features and application of DIET ASSESS & PLAN (DAP) software in supporting public health nutrition research in Central Eastern European Countries (CEEC). *Food Chem.* (2018) 238:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.114
- 27. Gurinović M, Milešević J, Novaković R, Kadvan A, Djekić-Ivanković M, Šatalić Z, et al. Improving nutrition surveillance and public health research in Central and Eastern Europe/Balkan Countries using the Balkan Food Platform and dietary tools. *Food Chem.* (2016) 193:173–80. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.03.103
- Kunkel LM, Smith KD, Boyer SH, Borgaonkar DS, Wachtel SS, Miller OJ, et al. Analysis of human Y-chromosome-specific reiterated DNA

in chromosome variants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (1977) 74:1245-9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.3.1245

- Božović IB, Stanković A, Živković M, Vraneković J, Kapović M, Brajenović-Milić B. Altered *LINE-1* methylation in mothers of children with Down syndrome. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0127423. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127423
- Coppedè F, Marini G, Bargagna S, Stuppia L, Minichilli F, Fontana I, et al. Folate gene polymorphisms and the risk of Down syndrome pregnancies in young Italian women. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2006) 140:1083–91. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.31217
- Scalbert A, Williamson G. Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. J Nutr. (2000) 130(8S Suppl):2073S-85S. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.8.2073S
- 32. Taheri R. *Polyphenol composition of underutilized aronia berries and changes in aronia berry polyphenol content through ripening* (master's thesis). University of Connecticut, Mansfield, Connecticut (2013).
- Nagai M, Conney AH, Zhu BT. Strong inhibitory effects of common tea catechins and bioflavonoids on the O-methylation of catechol estrogens catalyzed by human liver cytosolic catechol-O-methyltransferase. *Drug Metab Dispos.* (2004) 32:497–504. doi: 10.1124/dmd.32.5.497
- 34. Chen D, Wang CY, Lambert JD, Ai N, Welsh WJ, Yang CS. Inhibition of human liver catechol-O-methyltransferase by tea catechins and their metabolites: structure-activity relationship and molecular-modeling studies. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2005) 69:1523–31. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2005.01.024
- 35. Martínez-Ramírez OC, Pérez-Morales R, Petrosyan P, Castro-Hernández C, Gonsebatt ME, Rubio J. Differences in 4-hydroxyestradiol levels in leukocytes are related to CYP1A1(*)2C, CYP1B1(*)3 and COMT Val158Met allelic variants. Steroids. (2015) 102:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2015.06.014
- 36. Sánchez-del-Campo L, Otón F, Tárraga A, Cabezas-Herrera J, Chazarra S, Rodríguez-López JN. Synthesis and biological activity of a 3,4,5-trimethoxybenzoyl ester analogue of epicatechin-3-gallate. J Med Chem. (2008) 51:2018–26. doi: 10.1021/jm701346h
- Parzonko A, Naruszewicz M. Cardioprotective effects of Aronia melanocarpa anthocynanins. From laboratory experiments to clinical practice. Curr Pharm Des. (2016) 22:174–9. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666151112152143
- Liu CM, Ma JQ, Xie WR, Liu SS, Feng ZJ, Zheng GH, et al. Quercetin protects mouse liver against nickel-induced DNA methylation and inflammation associated with the Nrf2/HO-1 and p38/STAT1/NF-κB pathway. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (2015) 82:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2015.05.001
- Zakkar M, Van der Heiden K, Luong le A, Chaudhury H, Cuhlmann S, Hamdulay SS, et al. Activation of Nrf2 in endothelial cells protects arteries from exhibiting a proinflammatory state. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1851–7. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.193375
- Ishii T, Itoh K, Ruiz E, Leake DS, Unoki H, Yamamoto M, et al. Role of Nrf2 in the regulation of CD36 and stress protein expression in murine macrophages: activation by oxidatively modified LDL and 4-hydroxynonenal. *Circ Res.* (2004) 94:609–16. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000119171.44657.45
- Caradonna F, Cruciata I, Schifano I, La Rosa C, Naselli F, Chiarelli R, et al. Methylation of cytokines gene promoters in IL-1β-treated human intestinal epithelial cells. *Inflamm Res.* (2018) 67:327–37. doi: 10.1007/s00011-017-1124-5
- Nojima M, Iwasaki M, Kasuga Y, Yokoyama S, Onuma H, Nishimura H, et al. Correlation between global methylation level of peripheral blood leukocytes and serum C reactive protein level modified by *MTHFR* polymorphism: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Cancer.* (2018) 18:184. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4089-z
- Tsuboi Y, Yamada H, Munetsuna E, Yamazaki M, Mizuno G, Murase Y, et al. Relationship between *Long Interspersed Nuclear Element-1* DNA methylation in leukocytes and dyslipidemia in the Japanese general population. J Atheroscler Thromb. (2018) 25:1231–9. doi: 10.5551/jat.43570
- 44. Kumar A, Kumar S, Vikram A, Hoffman TA, Naqvi A, Lewarchik CM, et al. Histone and DNA methylation-mediated epigenetic downregulation of endothelial Kruppel-like factor 2 by low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2013) 33:1936–42. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301765
- 45. Zec MM, Krga I, Stojković L, Živković M, Pokimica B, Stanković A, et al. Is There a FADS2-modulated link between long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in plasma phospholipids and polyphenol intake in adult subjects who are overweight? *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:296. doi: 10.3390/nu13020296

- 46. Marklund M, Wu JHY, Imamura F, Del Gobbo LC, Fretts A, de Goede J, et al. (Cohorts for heart and aging research in genomic epidemiology (charge) fatty acids and outcomes research consortium (FORCE)) biomarkers of dietary omega-6 fatty acids and incident cardiovascular disease and mortality. *Circulation*. (2019) 139:2422–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.038908
- Nelson JR, Raskin S. The eicosapentaenoic acid:arachidonic acid ratio and its clinical utility in cardiovascular disease. *Postgrad Med.* (2019) 131:268–77. doi: 10.1080/00325481.2019.1607414
- Wada M, DeLong CJ, Hong YH, Rieke CJ, Song I, Sidhu RS, et al. Enzymes and receptors of prostaglandin pathways with arachidonic acid-derived versus eicosapentaenoic acid-derived substrates and products. J Biol Chem. (2007) 282:22254–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703169200
- Calder PC. Eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acid derived specialised pro-resolving mediators: Concentrations in humans and the effects of age, sex, disease and increased omega-3 fatty acid intake. *Biochimie*. (2020) 178:105–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2020.08.015
- 50. Davinelli S, Intrieri M, Corbi G, Scapagnini G. Metabolic indices of polyunsaturated fatty acids: current evidence. research controversies, and clinical utility. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. (2021) 61:259-74. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.17 24871

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Stojković, Zec, Zivkovic, Bundalo, Bošković, Glibetić and Stankovic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterization of Genetic Variants in the SLC5A5 Gene and Associations With Breast Milk Iodine Concentration in Lactating Women of African Descent: The NUPED Study

Sicelosethu S. Siro¹, Jeannine Baumgartner^{1,2}, Maryke Schoonen¹, Jennifer Ngounda³, Linda Malan¹, Elizabeth A. Symington⁴, Cornelius M. Smuts¹ and Lizelle Zandberg^{1*}

¹ Centre of Excellence for Nutrition, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa, ² Human Nutrition Laboratory, Department of Health Sciences and Technology, Institute of Food, Nutrition and Health, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, South Africa, ⁴ Department of Life and Consumer Sciences, University of South Africa, Johannesburg, South Africa

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

L. Joseph Su, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, United States

Reviewed by:

Bibiana Garcia-Bailo, University of Toronto, Canada Wimal Pathmasiri, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States

*Correspondence:

Lizelle Zandberg Lizelle.Zandberg@nwu.ac.za

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 08 April 2021 Accepted: 22 June 2021 Published: 23 July 2021

Citation:

Siro SS, Baumgartner J, Schoonen M, Ngounda J, Malan L, Symington EA, Smuts CM and Zandberg L (2021) Characterization of Genetic Variants in the SLC5A5 Gene and Associations With Breast Milk Iodine Concentration in Lactating Women of African Descent: The NUPED Study. Front. Nutr. 8:692504. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.692504 **Background:** The sodium iodide symporter is responsible for the transfer of iodine into breast milk and is encoded for by the *SLC5A5* gene. The role of genetic variants in the *SLC5A5* gene locus in relation to the transfer of iodine from plasma into breast milk in healthy lactating individuals has, to our knowledge, not been explored.

Objective: To identify and characterize possible genetic variants of the SLC5A5 gene in women of African descent living in urban South Africa, and to study associations with breast milk iodine concentrations (BMIC) in lactating women.

Methods: This study is affiliated to the Nutrition during Pregnancy and Early Development (NuPED) cohort study (n = 250 enrolled pregnant women). In a randomly selected sub-sample of 32 women, the *SLC5A5* gene was sequenced to identify known and novel variants. Of the identified variants, genotyping of selected variants was performed in all pregnant women who gave consent for genetic analyses (n = 246), to determine the frequency of the variants in the study sample. Urinary iodine concentration (UIC) in spot urine samples and BMIC were measured to determine iodine status. Associations of SLC5A5 genetic variants with BMIC were studied in lactating women (n = 55).

Results: We identified 27 variants from sequencing of gene exomes and 10 variants were selected for further study. There was a significant difference in BMIC between the genotypes of the rs775249401 variant (P = 0.042), with the homozygous GG group having lower BMIC [86.8 (54.9–167.9) µg/L] compared to the (A) allele carriers rs775249401_(AG+AA) [143.9 (122.4–169.3) µg/L] (P = 0.042). Of the rs775249401_(GG), 49% had UIC <100 µg/L and 61% had BMIC <100 µg/L. On the other hand, 60% of the rs775249401_(AG+AA) carriers had UIC <100 µg/L, and none had a BMIC <100 µg/L.

44

Conclusion: Our results suggest that A-allele carriers of rs775249401_(AG+AA) are likely to have higher iodine transfer into breast milk compared to the homozygous GG counterparts. Thus, genetic variations in the SLC5A5 gene may play an important role in the transfer of iodine from plasma into breast milk and may partially explain inter-individual variability in BMIC.

Keywords: breast milk, iodine concentration, lactating women, SLC5A5 gene, sodium iodide symporter, urinary iodine concentration

INTRODUCTION

The sodium iodide symporter (NIS) is an intrinsic plasma membrane glycoprotein mediating iodide uptake into thyroid follicular cells. The NIS protein consisting of 643 amino acids is encoded by the *SLC5A5* gene, which is located on the forward strand of chromosome 19 (19: 17,982,754–18,005,983, GRCh37.p12) with an open reading frame consisting of 1929 nucleotides arranged as 14 introns and 15 exons (1). The NIS plays a crucial role in iodine metabolism and thyroid regulation (2). Besides thyroid hormone synthesis, the NIS is expressed in breast tissue during late pregnancy and lactation and is responsible for the transfer of iodine from plasma into mammary epithelial cells of lactating breasts (3).

Breast milk is a crucial source of iodine for the breastfeeding infant (4). Thus, adequate breast milk iodine concentration (BMIC) is important for meeting the iodine requirements of infants. Maternal iodine intake, estimated by measuring urinary iodine concentration (UIC), is known to greatly influence BMIC. Therefore, lactating women with insufficient iodine intake reportedly excrete insufficient breast milk iodine to meet the infants' needs (4-6). BMIC of 92 to 150 µg/L have been suggested to provide sufficient iodine to infants (6-8), but consensus on a BMIC threshold to define adequate iodine nutrition has not yet been reached. However, mean and median BMIC values were shown to vary widely between areas, with values typically ranging from $<50 \ \mu$ g/L in iodine-deficient areas (4) to 100–150 μ g/L in areas of iodine sufficiency (7) but being as high as 150-180 μ g/L in areas of adequate iodine supply (9, 10). In a previous cross-sectional study in a convenience sample of 100 lactating women living in a semi-urban area of South Africa, we observed a median BMIC of 179 (126-269) µg/L with large inter-individual variations (11).

Previous research has shown that there is a preferential fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk rather than urine among participants with poor iodine status living in iodine sufficient regions (12). Additionally, women from iodine-deficient regions showed a constant partitioning of iodine into breastmilk. As such, participants with suboptimal iodine status have been shown to present with adequate BMIC. This could be explained by a protective mechanism that allows for a steady supply of iodine to breastfed infants of lactating women with suboptimal iodine status (12, 13), and the NIS is likely to play a major role.

Since there are limited data available on the role of genetic variants in the *SLC5A5* gene in relation to breast milk iodine

concentration, we aimed to characterize genetic variants in the *SLC5A5* gene of women of African descent living in urban South Africa. Further, we investigated the relationship between selected variants with breast milk iodine concentration in lactating women.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Site

The NuPED study was a prospective cohort study conducted in Johannesburg, South Africa from March 2016 to July 2018. The study protocol has be previously published (14). In brief, pregnant women (n = 250) were enrolled if they were between 18 and 39 years of age, <18 weeks gestational age, born in South Africa or a neighboring country, have lived in Johannesburg for at least 12 months, were able to communicate effectively in one of the local languages, nonsmoking, and expecting a singleton. Pregnant women were excluded from participation if they reported use of illicit drugs, had a known non-communicable disease such as diabetes, renal disease, history of high blood cholesterol and hypertension, and had a known infectious disease such as tuberculosis or hepatitis, or known serious illness such as cancer, lupus or psychosis. HIV positive women were included in the study. Pregnant women were assessed at <18, 22, and 36 weeks gestation. Follow-up assessments in the women and their infants were performed at 6, 7.5, and 12 months after birth. Of the 250 enrolled women, a total of 98 mother-infant pairs participated in the 6-month follow-up.

In a randomly selected sub-sample of 32 women, the *SLC5A5* gene was sequenced to identify and characterize genetic variants. Of the identified variants, genotyping of selected variants was performed in all pregnant women enrolled in the NuPED study and who gave consent for genetic analyses (n = 246), to determine the frequency of the variants in the study sample.

This study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and all procedures involving human participants were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committees (HREC) of the North-West University (NWU-00186-15-A1 for the NuPED pregnancy phase, NWU-00049-16-A1 for the postnatal phase) and the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (M150968 and M161045). These studies were also reviewed by the Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital (RMMCH) research review committee, the Gauteng Department of Health, and the Johannesburg Health

District's District Research Committee. Further ethical approval was granted for this sub-study by the North-West University HREC (NWU-00455-19-S1 for this study). All participants gave written informed consent.

Blood Sample Collection and Genetic Analysis

Genomic DNA Isolation and Next-Generation Sequencing

A venous blood sample was collected into trace elementfree ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)-coated vacutainer tubes via venepuncture of the antecubital area of the arm. Blood samples were processed by centrifugation (at 2,000 rpm for 15 min) within 1 h after blood collection to separate plasma, red blood cells and buffy coat. The buffy coat was aliquoted and stored in a 1:1 vol: vol RNA*later* (Ambion, Thermo Fischer Scientific) on-site at -20° C for a maximum of seven days. The samples were then transported on dry ice to the Centre of Excellence for Nutrition (CEN) laboratories in Potchefstroom, South Africa and stored at -80° C for genomic DNA (gDNA) isolation.

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was isolated from buffy coat using the Maxwell[®] 16 instrument and Maxwell[®] 16 DNA Purification Kit (AS1010) (Promega Corporation) following the manufacturer's instructions. Quantification of gDNA was done using the NanoDrop[®] ND-1000 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fischer Scientific).

Massively parallel next-generation sequencing (NGS) was performed using the Ion Torrent platform on the subset of 32 randomly selected samples. A custom Ion Ampliseq panel was designed with the online Ampliseq designer (https://ampliseq. com/, last accessed July 2020). This customized panel included the SLC5A5 gene locus spanning a target region size of 20.83 kbp with 20 amplicons covering 100% of the targeted sequence. Library preparation was performed on the Ion Chef[®] as per the manufactures specifications. A total of 10 ng gDNA (0.67 ng/µl) was used as input volume for library preparation. Library and template preparation were done with the Ion AmpliSeqTM Kit for Chef DL8 for 32 reactions (Cat number: A29024,) and the Ion 510TM and Ion 520TM and Ion 530TM Kit—Chef (Cat number A34019), respectively. The entire coding region of each selected gene, including flanking regions of introns-exons was sequenced according to 200bp chemistry, using an Ion $530^{\rm TM}$ Chip Kit-4 Reactions (Cat number: A27763) and the Ion $S5^{TM}$ System (Cat number: A27212, ThermoFisher, MA, USA).

Data analysis of raw reads obtained from the Ion $S5^{TM}$ System was done with the Torrent Suite (v.5.8). The fastq files were uploaded to the sequence reads archive Bioproject PRJNA735618. The primary analysis included signal calling and base-calling. Quality control of the bases was filtered according to a Phred quality score of 20, depth > 10 and quality score of >500 frets were met. The sequence files were aligned against Genome Reference Consortium Human Build 37 (hg19), followed by coverage analysis and variant calling using the coverage analysis and variantCaller plugins from the Torrent Suite, respectively. Secondary data analyses of the variant caller files were annotated, filtered and mined following an in-house pipeline (15).

Variant Selection, Genotyping, and Quality Assessment

In the subset of 32 sequenced samples, variants that passed the quality control assessment were considered for validation in the entire sample set using the iPLEX[®] MassARRAY system from Agena BioscienceTM. IPLEX assays were designed and analyses were performed by the service provider Inqaba Biotech (Inqaba Biotechnology Pretoria South Africa). Assays were designed using the Assay Design Suite (ADS) software and dbSNP for metadata. gDNA was amplified in 96 microtiter plates using iPLEX reagent kits and a nano dispenser RS1000 was used to transfer samples from microtiter plates to a SpectroCHIP[®] array. Data were obtained from the SpectroCHIP® array using the MassARRAY[®] analyser. Reports were automatically generated by Typer (Company). Genotype calls were made in real-time during MALDI-TOF analysis and data was automatically saved to the MassARRAY database. Variants were assessed for quality, and tested for adherence to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) (16) by using Haploview and modified Pearson chi-square (χ^2) test. Adherence to HWE was set at P < 0.001.

Urine Sample Collection and Iodine Analysis

From the 98 women participating in the 6-month follow-up, we collected a midstream spot urine sample (10-40 ml) into clean polystyrene cups between 07:00 and 12:00 noon, and approximately 5 ml was decanted into iodine-free screw-capped cups. The research team ensured that the urine samples were not used for any routine assessments using dipsticks (potential contamination with iodine). Samples were aliquoted and stored on-site at -20° C for a maximum of 7 days. Thereafter, samples were transported on dry ice to the CEN laboratories, for storage at -80° C until analysis.

Urinary iodine concentration (UIC) in spot urine samples was measured in duplicate using the Pino modification of the Sandell-Kolthoff reaction with spectrophotometric detection at CEN laboratories (17, 18). All analyses were done using nanopure grade water and all laboratory glassware and plasticware were acid washed before use. Internal and external controls were used to ensure the quality of the analysis. Iodine concentrations in spot urine samples are expressed as median concentrations (μ g/L). A UIC cut-off of <100 μ g/L was used to indicate insufficient iodine intake in lactating women (19).

Breast Milk Sample Collection and Iodine Analysis

From 58 lactating women who participated in the 6-month follow-up, a breast milk (foremilk) sample (\approx 5 ml) was collected by manual expression into an iodine-free screw-capped cup before feeding the infant. Iodine concentrations in breast milk (in μ g/L) were measured using a multi-collector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer [MC-ICP-MS (Finnigan NEPTUNE, Thermo ScientificTM Waltham, MA, USA)] as described by Dold

et al. (10). A BMIC cut-off of <100 μ g/L was used to indicate inadequate maternal iodine intake (20).

Iodine Excretion Calculations

Individual UIC and BMIC measures were used to calculate the estimated daily iodine excretion through the urine and breast milk by assuming a total daily urine volume of 1.5 L (12, 21, 22) and breast milk volume of 0.78 L (12, 22). Estimated total daily iodine excretion was calculated as the iodine excretion in urine added to the iodine excretion in breast milk (12). Furthermore, fractional iodine excretion in urine and breast milk as percentages of estimated total daily iodine excretion were also calculated (12, 22).

Statistical Analyses

Raw data were captured in Microsoft Access and 20% of all data were randomly checked for correctness. All genetic, UIC and

BMIC, data were captured in Excel Windows XP (Microsoft, Seattle, WA, USA). Data processing and statistical analysis of data were performed using SPSS software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA).

Data were tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. UIC and BMIC data were log-transformed for further analysis. For UIC, values above the cut-off indicative of excessive iodine intake (UIC >500 μ g/L) were considered outliers. These UIC outliers (n = 2) were excluded from the analysis because high intakes of iodine have previously been reported to lead to improved BMIC in an individual that harbored a *SLC5A5* variant associated with the lower transfer of iodine into breast milk (23). Normally and nonnormally distributed data are expressed as means \pm standard deviation (SD) and medians (25th percentile, 75th percentile), respectively. Categorical data are expressed as frequencies and percentages.

	Reference ID	Location bp ^a	Reference allele ^a	Alternative allele ^a	Exon ^a	Variant type	Minor allele frequency (MAF)
Anno	tated variants						
1	rs371875541	17983314	G	Т	1/15 ^b	synonymous	0.031
2	rs775249401	17985454	G	A		intron	0.125
3	rs55910163	17994635	С	Т		intron	0.188
4	rs866765676	17982992	С	Т	1/15	5' UTR	0.031
5	rs73518702	17983105	С	A	1/15	5' UTR	0.188
6	rs575147988	17983038	С	Т	1/15	5' UTR	0.063
7	rs34850953	17983503	G	Т		intron	0.125
8	rs150814476	17988717	С	G		intron	0.125
9	rs116154266	17983093	С	Т	1/15	5 prime UTR	0.063
10	rs8103545	17986763	С	Т	5/15	Splice site	0.188
11	rs35209536	17988794	С	Т	7/15	synonymous	0.188
12	rs73520743	17994573	А	С	11/15	synonymous	0.313
13	rs112076606	17994594	А	G		intron	0.281
14	rs73520745	17994836	G	A	12/15	missense	0.188
15	rs4808708	18001686	G	A		intron	0.281
16	rs4808709	18001839	А	G		intron	0.438
17	rs112077649	17983075	С	Т	1/15	5' UTR	0.094
18	rs77947605	17994644	С	Т		intron	0.188
19	rs118133504	17983059	С	Т	1/15	5' UTR	0.031
20	rs113740966	17985371	AT	А		intron	0.031
21	rs369522814	17994641	С	G		intron	0.063
22	rs121909177	17999206	С	Т	13/15	synonymous	0.031
23	rs7255301	17984834	G	А		intron	0.313
24	rs200868271	17994619	А	С		intron	0.031
25	rs8108188	17988825	Т	G	7/15	missense	0.031
26	rs190567881	17988721	С	G		intron	0.031
Nove	l variants						
1		17983034	С	Tc	1/15	5' UTR	0.188
2		17999293	G	Cc		intron	0.031
3		17999295	Т	Ac		intron	0.031

^a Source: Ensembl release 96—April 2019, retrieved 03 April 2019 (24), ^b Exon number in which the single nucleotide is found out of the 15 exons of the SLC5A5 gene. ^c Alternative allele as observed in our population.

Participants were stratified according to UIC categories (UIC <100 µg/L and UIC \geq 100 µg/L) or BMIC categories (BMIC <100 µg/L and BMIC \geq 100 µg/L). The between-group analyses were performed using the Mann Whitney U test. Overlaid scatterplots were used to depict the relationship between total daily iodine excretion, fractional iodine excretion in breast milk and fractional iodine excretion in urine. Unadjusted general linear models were performed to compare UIC and BMIC between genetic variants with the recessive genetic model (GG vs. GA + AA) as categorical variables. For the significant models, effect sizes were calculated using Cohens' *d* and partial eta squared. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Characterization of the Genetic Variants in the SLC5A5 Gene Locus

Genomic DNA was isolated from 246 samples and the SLC5A5 gene of 32 randomly selected samples were sequenced following a targeted gene sequencing approach. Variants were quality controlled and 27 genetic variations passed the quality control assessment. Of the 27 variants, 26 had known annotation and one was novel located in the 5' untranslated region (UTR). Of the annotated variants, six were coding and 13 were in intronic regions, whereas the remaining seven variants were located in the 5' UTR (Table 1). Variants were inspected for possible functionality based on genomic position as well as association with regulatory sites and or available literature. Ten variants (rs121909177_(C/T), rs4808708_(G/A), rs7255301_(G/A), rs112076606_(A/G), rs73520745_(G/A), rs73520743_(A/C), $rs775249401_{(G/A)}$, $rs34850953_{(G/T)}$, $rs8103545_{(C/T)}$ and the novel variant) were validated in all 246 samples (see Table 2). All variants adhered to Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE). The minor allele frequencies (MAF) of the variants studied in the lactating women (n = 55) compared well with the MAF of the total group. In the total group of pregnant women (n =

246), none of the women were homozygous for the alternative alleles for rs121909177_(C/T), rs73520745_(G/A), rs73520743_(A/C), and rs8103545_(C/T). In addition, the lactating women had no homozygosity for the alternative alleles of rs7255301_(G/A) and rs34850953_(G/T) variants too. The total study sample (n = 246) was monomorphic for the CC genotype of the novel variant (19: 17983034) and the lactating women all harbored the CC genotype for rs121909177_(C/T) (**Table 2**).

Participant Characteristics

A total of 246 women from the NuPED study consented to participate in the genetic study of which 98 mothers and their infants were assessed at 6-months postpartum. Of these, 58 women indicated to breastfeed their infants and provided a breastmilk sample. Characteristics of the women who were lactating (n = 58) and non-lactating (n = 40) at 6 months postpartum are given in Table 3. The two groups were similar in age, height, weight, BMI, MUAC and UIC (Table 3). The median UIC of all women (n = 98) was 104.7 (66.2–154.0) µg/L, whereas the lactating and non-lactating women had a median UIC of 95 $(64-146) \ \mu g/L \text{ and } 122 \ (73-207) \ \mu g/L, \text{ respectively } (P = 0.259).$ The lactating women had a median BMIC of 99.4 (60.1-167.9) μ g/L. Of the lactating women, 53% had a UIC < 100 μ g/L and 51% had a median BMIC < 100 μ g/L. Lactating women had a total estimated iodine excretion of 227.2 (167.4–346.7) μ g/d, with 36% iodine excreted in breast milk and 64% in urine.

Associations of SLC5A5 Gene Variants With BMIC in Lactating Women

An unadjusted general linear model was applied to study the associations of BMIC and UIC in the subset of lactating women (n = 55) with the recessive genetic model for $rs4808708_{(G/A)}$, $rs7255301_{(G/A)}$, $rs73520743_{(A/C)}$, $rs112076606_{(A/G)}$, $rs73520745_{(G/A)}$, $rs775249401_{(G/A)}$; $rs34850953_{(G/T)}$ and $rs8103545_{(C/T)}$ (**Table 4**). There was a significant difference in UIC between the genotypes of the $rs4808708_{(G/A)}$ variant (P =

TABLE 2 | Molecular characteristics of SLC5A5 genetic variants among pregnant women (n = 264) and the subset of lactating women (n = 55).

	Location Chr:bp ^a				All wom	en (<i>n</i> = 2	246)		Sample	of lactati	ng wom	en (<i>n</i> = 5	55)
			Allele ^a	HWE P-value	MAF	F Genotype (n)		HWE	MAF	Genotype (n)			
			(M):(m)			ММ	Mm	mm	P-value	-	мм	Mm	mm
rs121909177	19:17888397	Exon	C:T	1.0	0.007	225	3	-	1.0	0	52	-	-
rs4808708	19:17890877	Intron	G:A	1.0	0.137	176	56	4	1.0	0.087	41	11	1
rs7255301	19:17874025	Intron	G:A	0.0023	0.194	126	76	1	0.2802	0.188	30	14	-
rs73520743	19:17883764	Exon	A:C	1.0	0.02	-	9	223	1.0	0.03	-	44	6
rs112076606	19:17883785	Intron	A:G	0.448	0.214	2	55	81	1.0	0.214	1	16	17
rs73520745	19:17884027	Exon	G:A	1.0	0.046	217	22	-	1.0	0.038	46	5	-
rs775249401	19:17874645	Intron	G:A	1.0	0.056	217	25	1	1.0	0.028	43	9	1
rs34850953	19:17872694	Intron	G:T	0.7938	0.077	202	33	2	1.0	0.038	45	7	-
rs8103545	19:17875954	Exon	C:T	1.0	0.05	217	24	-	1.0	0.087	46	7	-
Novel	19:17983034	5′ prime UTR	C:C	1.0	0.0	218	-	-	1.0	0	47	-	-

Chr, chromosome; bp, base pair; M, reference allele; m, alternative; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; MAF, minor allele frequency. ^aEnsembl release 96—April 2019, retrieved 03 April 2019 (24).

TABLE 3 | Participant characteristics.

Characteristics	All (n = 98)	Lactating women ($n = 58$)	Non-lactating women ($n = 40$)	*P-value
Age (years)	27.2 ± 4.8^{lpha}	28.1 ± 4.7	27.9 ± 5.0	0.750
Weight (kg)	69.4 (60.1–81.6) ^β	70.4 (59.4–81.5)	68.6 (61.2–79.7)	0.702
Height (m)	159.1 ± 6.3	159.4 ± 6.3	158.4 ± 5.7	0.634
MUAC (cm)	29.8 (27.0–33.5)	30.0 (27.0–33.6)	29.0 (27.0–33.5)	0.757
BMI (kg/m²)	27.5 (24.3–32.4)	28.1 (24.1–32.4)	26.2 (24.8–32.3)	0.831
Country of birth ($n = 95$) [$n(\%)$]				
South Africa	68 (69.4)	36 (64.3)	29 (82.9)	0.044
Zimbabwe	26 (26.5)	20 (35.7)	5 (14.3)	
Lesotho	1 (1.0)	-	1 (2.9)	
Years in South Africa ($n = 95$) [$n(\%)$]				
1–2 years	3 (3.1)	3 (5.4)	_	0.183
>2–5 years	6 (6.1)	5 (8.9)	1 (2.9)	
>5 years	86 (87.8)	48 (85.7)	34 (97.1)	
Ethnicity ($n = 97$) [$n(\%)$]				
Black	86 (88.6)	52 (89.7)	31 (88.6)	0.676
Colored	10 (10.2)	5 (8.6)	4 (11.4)	
Indian	1 (1.0)	1 (1.7)		
Education ($n = 97$) [$n(\%)$]				
None/primary	4 (4.1)	2 (3.4)	2 (5.7)	0.324
Grade 8-10	14 (14.3)	7 (12.1)	6 (17.1)	
Grade 11-12	55 (56.1)	31 (53.4)	22 (62.9)	
Tertiary	24 (24.5)	18 (31.0)	5 (14.3)	
Employment ($n = 97$) [$n(\%)$]	х ,			
Unemployed	44 (44.9)	28 (48.3)	15 (42.9)	0.640
Self-employed	5 (5.1)	3 (5.2)	2 (5.7)	
Wage earner	46 (46.9)	25 (43.1)	18 (51.4)	
Other	2 (2.0)	2 (3.4)	_	
Marital status ($n = 97$) [$n(\%)$]				
With partner	64 (66.0)	40 (69.0)	21 (60.0)	0.378
Without partner	33 (34.0)	18 (31.0)	14 (40.0)	
Grants $(n = 92) [n(\%)]$				
None	65 (66.3)	44 (81.5)	19 (55.9)	0.061
Child support	24 (24.5)	10 (18.5)	12 (35.3)	
Social relief	1 (1.0)	_	1 (1.0)	
Disability	1(1.0)	_	1 (1.0)	
Old age	1 (1.0)	_	1(1.0)	
LSM score [<i>n</i> (%)]			· · ·	
1–4 (Low)	3 (3.0)	2 (3.4)	1 (2.8)	0.250
5–7 (Medium)	62 (63.3)	32 (55.2)	26 (72.2)	
8–10 (High)	33 (33.7)	24 (41.4)	9 (25.0)	
HIV status	х ,			
HIV-infected [n (%)]	28 (28.6)	16 (44.4)	11 (19.0)	0.008
Median UIC (µg/L)	105 (66–154)	95 (64–145.5)	122 (73–207)	0.259
Median BMIC (μg/L)		104 (60–169)		
Estimated daily iodine excretion (µg/d)		. ,		
Urine ^y	157.0 (99.3–231.0)	142.4 (96.5–218.3)	178.4 (168.8–309.5)	0.259
Breast milk ^å	_	80.9 (46.8–132.1)	_	
Total daily estimated daily iodine excretion [®]	_	227.2 (167.4–346.7)	_	

MUAC, mid-upper arm circumference; BMI, body mass index; LSM, living standards measure; UIC, urinary iodine concentration; BMIC, breast milk iodine concentration, ^{α} Mean ± SD (all such values), ^{β} Median; 25th and 75th percentiles in parenthesis (all such values), ^{γ} Individual estimated iodine daily excretion in urine was calculated by multiplying UIC by an assumed total daily urine volume of 1.5L (12, 21, 22), ^{δ} Individual estimated iodine daily excretion in breast milk was calculated by multiplying individual BMIC by an assumed total daily breast milk volume of 0.78L (12, 22), ^{ε} Estimated total daily iodine excretion is the sum of iodine excretion in urine and iodine excretion in breast milk (12). *p-value for the Mann Whitney U test significance set at $p \le 0.05$.

TABLE 4 Association of SLC5A5 variants with breast milk iodine concentrations and urinary iodine concentrations (n = 55).

Genetic variant	(M):(m)	MM	Mm + mm	P-value ³
Breast milk iodine concer	itration (μg/L)			
rs4808708	G:A	108.1 (67.3–175.5)	107.9 (46.8–149.7)	0.612
rs7255301	G:A	112. 9 (72.5–155.0)	103.7 (44.1–150.1)	0.802
rs73520743	C:A	103.7 (57.7–168.9)	109.2 (83.4–191.1)	0.589
rs112076606	A:G	142.1 (69.4–201.0)	83.3 (39.4–143.4)	0.051
rs73520745	G:A	109.2 (63.0–172.2)	89.1 (68.0–148.4)	0.807
rs775249401	G:A	86.8 (54.9–167.9)	143.9 (122.4–169.3)	0.042
rs34850953	G:T	97.6 (60.5–147.1)	142.1 (41.5–219.4)	0.792
rs8103545	C:T	108.4 (89.1–51.1)	127.1 (89.1–51.1)	0.561
Urinary lodine concentrat	ion (μg/L)			
rs4808708	G:A	111.4 (71.2–154.8)	70.1 (45.6–82.8)	0.050
rs7255301	G:A	108.0 (66.4–137.5)	82.4 (60.8–165.1)	0.967
rs73520743	C:A	103.2 (66.2–137.6)	91.1 (65.0–155.1)	0.267
rs112076606	A:G	133.0 (72.2–153.7)	81.4 (58.4–119.1)	0.081
rs73520745	G:A	91.1 (62.2–133.9)	137.7 (69.6–178.3)	0.409
rs775249401	G:A	102.0 (66.4–137.4)	81.1 (48.6–145.2)	0.912
rs34850953	G:T	102.0 (67.2–137.6)	66.1 (47.2–154.0)	0.739
rs8103545	C:T	91.1 (54.7–133.9)	137.7 (66.4–183.1)	0.345

M, reference allele in this study population; m, alternative allele in this study population, *p-value for the unadjusted general linear model, significance set at p < 0.05.

0.05). Homozygote rs4808708_(GG) had higher UIC compared to (A)-allele carriers rs4808708_(AG+AA) (P = 0.05), whereas BMIC were comparable between the two genotypes (P = 0.612) for the same variant. BMIC were different between the rs775249401_(G/A) genotypes, whereby the homozygous GG genotype had lower BMIC compared to the (A)-allele carriers rs775249401_(AG+AA) (P = 0.042). No difference in UIC were apparent for rs775249401_(G/A) genotypes. The variant rs112076606_(A/G) showed a trend toward a significant association with both BMIC and UIC (P = 0.051 and P = 0.081). The homozygotes AA genotype had higher median concentrations compared to the G-allele carriers rs112076606_(GA+GG).

Furthermore, the estimated breast milk iodine excretion for rs775249401(GG) was 67.7 (42.9-131.1) µg/d, while estimated breast milk iodine excretion of the (A)-allele carriers of rs775249401(AG+AA) was 112.2 (95.5-132.1) µg/d. All the (A)allele carriers (100%) of rs775249401 $_{(AG+AA)}$ had a BMIC above 100 μ g/L, whereas 39.5% the homozygous GG [rs775249401_(GG)] had a BMIC \geq 100 μ g/L. Figure 1 shows the associations between estimated total daily iodine excretion and fractional excretion in urine and breast milk for $rs775249401_{(G/A)}$. The homozygotes GG genotype had a higher fraction of iodine excreted in urine (63.2%) than in breast milk (36.8%) (Figure 1A). The fractional excretion of iodine in urine and breast milk remained constant across the range of estimated total daily iodine excretion. In the (A)-allele carriers rs775249401(AG+AA), fractional iodine excretion in urine and breast milk plotted against total daily iodine excretion (Figure 1B) shows that a higher fraction of iodine was excreted in breast milk than urine when estimated total daily iodine excretion was lower than 350 µg/day, while the fraction of iodine excreted in breast milk was lower than urine above this threshold.

Figure 2 shows the association between estimated total daily iodine excretion and fractional excretion in urine and breast milk in homozygotes GG (rs775249401(GG)) and in the (A)-allele carriers of rs775249401(AG+AA), stratified by UIC (UIC<100 μ g/L vs. UIC \geq 100 μ g/L). The fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk for rs775249401_(GG) with UIC <100 μ g/L was lower than in urine when estimated total daily iodine excretion was low, but higher with higher estimated total daily iodine excretion and exceeded the proportion of iodine excreted in urine (Figure 2A). In contrast, fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk of the(A)-allele carriers with UIC <100 μ g/L, was higher than in urine when the estimated total daily iodine excretion was low, but lower with a higher estimated total daily iodine excretion (Figure 2B). In both the rs775249401(GG) and rs775249401_(AG+AA) genotype groups with UIC \geq 100 µg/L, fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk was lower than fractional excretion of iodine into the urine (Figures 2C,D, respectively) and remained constant across estimated total daily iodine excretion. The association between $rs775249401_{(G/A)}$ and BMIC had a Cohens' d of 0.88 and a partial eta squared $\eta^2 = 0.078.$

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess the role of genetics in the transfer of iodine from plasma to breast milk in healthy lactating women of African descent using a targeted NGS approach. Genetic variants in the *SLC5A5* gene in women of African descent living in urban South Africa were characterized and studied in the context of iodine transfer from plasma to breast milk during lactation. Our results suggest rs775249401_(G/A) to be a candidate variant



FIGURE 1 Association between estimated daily iodine excretion and fractional iodine excretion in breast milk and urine for (A) the homozygous G group (n = 43) and (B) the (A) allele carriers (AA + AG) (n = 10). The open data points represent fractional excretion of iodine in urine and the filled data points, the fractional excretion in breast milk. The dotted line is the regression line for fractional excretion of iodine in urine. The solid line is the regression line for fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk.



FIGURE 2 Association between estimated daily iodine and fractional iodine excretion in breast milk and urine (**A**) the homozygous G group (rs775249401_(GG)) with UIC <100 μ g/L (n = 21), (**B**) the (A) allele carriers for the rs775249401_(AG+AA) with UIC <100 μ g/L (n = 6), (**C**) the homozygous G group (rs775249401_(GG)) with UIC $\geq 100 \mu$ g/L (n = 22) and (**D**) the (A) allele carriers for the rs775249401_(AG+AA) with UIC $\geq 100 \mu$ g/L (n = 4). The open data points represent fractional excretion of iodine in urine and the filled data points, the fractional excretion in breast milk. The dotted line is the regression line for fractional excretion of iodine in urine. The solid line is the regression line for fractional excretion of iodine in breast milk.

for mediating the transfer of iodine from plasma into breast milk, specifically among lactating women with poor iodine

status. The function of the variant may not be observed when the iodine status is adequate, suggesting that adequate

iodine intake may counter the low iodine transfer associated with $rs775249401_{(GG)}$.

We observed in individuals that harboring the rs775249401(GG) genotype fractional excretion of iodine into the breast milk was lower than fractional excretion of iodine into urine with low iodine status, while in the $rs775249401_{(AG+AA)}$ group fractional excretion of iodine into the breast milk was higher even when iodine status was low. Thus, lactating women carrying an (A) allele for rs775249401(AG+AA) (19%; 10/53) had an adaptive advantage to maintain optimal levels of BMIC despite suboptimal iodine status. Our findings suggest a positive genetic drift from the ancestral rs775249401(GG) to the alternative allele to rs775249401(AG+AA), which leads to preferential excretion of iodine into the breast milk when iodine status is low. This preferential excretion of iodine in breast milk rather than in urine is likely a result of an increased expression of the NIS in the lactating breast and further supports the plausibility of a regulatory potential by the rs775249401 $_{(G/A)}$.

The rs775249401(G/A) variant is located in a promoter region between exon 4 and 5 (24), which is responsible for transcriptional control. It is speculated that the variant interferes with the affinity of transcription factors (TFs) to bind to their idyllic binding sites (25), thus altering affinity to transcription factors (25). The adaptation observed in our study suggests a physiological benefit for the infant, in that it ensures sufficient iodine in breast milk, especially during periods of low iodine intakes. Furthermore, the rs775249401(G/A) variant is mainly present in African and not in Caucasian populations according to the Genome Aggregation Database (26). The variant rs775249401_(G/A) has a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.028 in this study population, which is higher than reported in the genome-wide association study for Africa populations (0.015) (24). A total of 14 missense and non-sense mutations in the SLC5A5 gene have been previously described in association with iodide transport defects in the thyroid (27). However, a better understanding of the impact that genetic variations in the *SLC5A5* gene have on BMIC is as important.

Out of the 10 variants explored in our study, only rs775249401 was significantly associated with BMIC. One other variant, rs4808708_(G/A), was associated with UIC but not BMIC. The variant rs112076606_(A/G) showed a trend toward significance with both BMIC and UIC, whereby participants with the genotype rs112076606_(AA) had a higher BMIC and UIC compared to rs112076606_(AG) carriers, suggesting AA homozygotes to have a higher overall iodine excretion compared to their G allele carrier counterparts.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess the role of genetics in the transfer of iodine from plasma to breast milk in healthy lactating women. Furthermore, our participants were healthy participants with no known history of thyroid disease. However, a major limitation of this study is the small sample size; based on an *a posteriori* sample size calculation, our study was only powered to determine associations of medium to large effect sizes. Thus, exploring the relationship of variants in the SLC5A5 gene locus in other studies with larger sample sizes is highly recommended.

CONCLUSION

Our results indicate that genetics may play an important role in the transfer of iodine into breast milk. The *SLC5A5* gene variant rs775249401_(G/A) seems to be a candidate variant for further investigation. The A-allele carriers of rs775249401_(AG+AA) are likely to have higher iodine transfer into breast milk when in an iodine-deficient state compared to the homozygous GG group. Our results suggest that genetic variations in the SLC5A5 gene may play an important role in the transfer of iodine from plasma into breast milk and may partially explain variability in BMIC independent of maternal iodine intake. Therefore, these findings could contribute toward the body of evidence to improve precision nutrition strategies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data generated for the study are deposited in the sequence read archive (SRA), bioproject number (PRJNA735618), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/PRJNA735618.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki, and all procedures involving research study participants were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the North-West University and the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. Permission to perform the NuPED study was given by the CEO of RMMCH, the RMMCH research review committee, the Gauteng Department of Health and the Johannesburg Health District's District Research Committee. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before enrolment. Consent for genetic testing were obtained.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LZ, JB, JN, and SS conceptualized and designed the study and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SS, JB, LZ, EAS, LM, and CMS executed the study and collected data. LZ, MS, JB, and SS performed biochemical and statistical analyses. All authors critically evaluate the manuscript.

FUNDING

The NuPED study was supported in part by the National Research Foundation of South Africa, Unique Grant No. 99374 (EAS) (https://www.nrf.ac.za/) and the South African Medical Research Council under a Self-Initiated Research Grant (CMS) (http://www.mrc.ac.za/). The NuPED study has received further financial support from the University of South Africa's Research Department for the grant Academic Qualification Improvement Programme (EAS) (www.unisa.ac.za). This sub-study was funded by the South Africa Sugar Association (Project 254) and ETH, Zurich.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Amy Wise, Prof. A. Coovadia, Prof. H. Lombaard, Dr. E. Loock, Dr. R. Adams, Dr. R. Strehlau, Prof. M. Faber, Dr. O. Sotunde, Dr. M. Rothman, Dr. L. Siziba, and Mrs. C. Cooke, the sonographers and

REFERENCES

- Smanik PA, Liu Q, Furminger TL, Ryu K, Xing S, Mazzaferri EL, et al. Cloning of the human sodium iodide symporter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1996) 226:339–45. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1996.1358
- Darrouzet E, Lindenthal S, Marcellin D, Pellequer J-L, Pourcher T. The sodium/iodide symporter: state of the art of its molecular characterization. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2014) 1838:244– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.08.013
- Tazebay UH, Wapnir IL, Levy O, Dohan O, Zuckier LS, Zhao QH, et al. The mammary gland iodide transporter is expressed during lactation and in breast cancer. Nat. Med. (2000) 6:871–8. doi: 10.1038/78630
- Mulrine HM, Skeaff SA, Ferguson EL, Gray AR, Valeix P. Breast-milk iodine concentration declines over the first 6 mo postpartum in iodine-deficient women. Am J Clin Nutr. (2010) 92:849–56. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29630
- Bouhouch RR, Bouhouch S, Cherkaoui M, Aboussad A, Stinca S, Haldimann M, et al. Direct iodine supplementation of infants versus supplementation of their breastfeeding mothers: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrino*. (2014) 2:197–209. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70155-4
- Dold S, Zimmermann MB, Baumgartner J, Davaz T, Galetti V, Braegger C, et al. A dose-response crossover iodine balance study to determine iodine requirements in early infancy. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 104:620– 8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.134049
- Azizi F, Smyth P. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant iodine nutrition. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2009) 70:803–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03442.x
- Dror DK, Allen LH. Iodine in human milk: a systematic review. Adv Nutr. (2018) 9:347S-57S. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmy020
- Semba RD, Delange F. Iodine in human milk: perspectives for infant health. Nutr Rev. (2001) 59:269–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2001.tb0 5512.x
- Dold S, Baumgartner J, Zeder C, Krzystek A, Osei J, Haldimann M, et al. Optimization of a new mass spectrometry method for measurement of breast milk iodine concentrations (BMIC) and an assessment of the effect of analytic method and timing of within-feed sample collection on BMIC. *Thyroid.* (2015) 26:287–95. doi: 10.1089/thy.2015.0317
- Osei J, Andersson M, Van Der Reijden O, Dold S, Smuts C, Baumgartner J. Breast milk iodine concentrations, iodine status and thyroid function of breastfed infants aged 2-4 months and their mothers residing in a South African township. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2016) 8:381– 91. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.2720
- Dold S, Zimmermann MB, Aboussad A, Cherkaoui M, Jia Q, Jukic T, et al. Breast milk iodine concentration is a more accurate biomarker of iodine status than urinary iodine concentration in exclusively breastfeeding women, 2. J Nutr. (2017) 147:528–37. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.242560
- Nazeri P, Dalili H, Mehrabi Y, Hedayati M, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Breast milk iodine concentration rather than maternal urinary iodine is a reliable indicator for monitoring iodine status of breastfed neonates. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2018) 185:71–7. doi: 10.1007/s12011-018-1246-9
- 14. Symington EA, Baumgartner J, Malan L, Zandberg L, Ricci C, Smuts CM. Nutrition during pregnancy and early development (NuPED) in urban South Africa: a study protocol for a prospective cohort. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. (2018) 18:308. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1943-6
- Schoonen M, Seyffert A, Van Der Westhuizen FH, Smuts I. A bioinformatics pipeline for rare genetic diseases in South African patients. S Afr J Sci. (2019) 115:1–3. doi: 10.17159/sajs.2019/4876

nurses of Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital, the nurses at the primary healthcare clinics, the fieldworkers, and the study participants. We like to thank Prof. F. H. van der Westhuizen and Prof. A. A. van Dijk for the use of the IonTorrent sequencing facility, Biochemistry, North-West University.

- Hardy GH. Mendelian proportions in a mixed population. Science. (1908) 28:49–50. doi: 10.1126/science.28.706.49
- Pino S, Fang SL, Braverman LE. Ammonium persulfate: a safe alternative oxidizing reagent for measuring urinary iodine. *Clin Chem.* (1996) 42:239– 43. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/42.2.239
- Jooste PL, Strydom E. Methods for determination of iodine in urine and salt. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2010) 24:77–88. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2009.08.006
- WHO (World Health Organization). Urinary iodine concentrations for determining iodine status in populations. Geneva: World Health Organization (2013).
- Jorgensen A, O'leary P, James I, Skeaff S, Sherriff J. Assessment of breast milk iodine concentrations in lactating women in Western Australia. *Nutrients.* (2016) 8:699. doi: 10.3390/nu8110699
- Kirk AB, Kroll M, Dyke JV, Ohira S, Dias RA, Dasgupta PK. Perchlorate, iodine supplements, iodized salt and breast milk iodine content. *Sci Total Environ.* (2012) 420:73–8. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.01.045
- 22. IOM (Institute of Medicine). *Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium and zinc.* Washington DC: National Academy Press (2001).
- Mizokami T, Fukata S, Hishinuma A, Kogai T, Hamada K, Maruta T, et al. Iodide transport defect and breast milk iodine. *Eur Thyroid J.* (2016) 5:145– 8. doi: 10.1159/000446496
- 24. Cunningham F, Achuthan P, Akanni W, Allen J, Amode MR, Armean IM, et al. Ensembl 2019. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2019) 47:D745–51.
- Suzuki Y, Tsunoda T, Sese J, Taira H, Mizushima-Sugano J, Hata H, et al. Identification and characterization of the potential promoter regions of 1031 kinds of human genes. *Genome Res.* (2001) 11:677– 84. doi: 10.1101/gr.GR-1640R
- Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, Cummings BB, Alföldi J, Wang Q, et al. Variation across 141,456 human exomes and genomes reveals the spectrum of loss-of-function intolerance across human protein-coding genes. *Nature*. (2020) 581:434–43. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2308-7
- Ravera S, Reyna-Neyra A, Ferrandino G, Amzel LM, Carrasco N. The sodium/iodide symporter (NIS): molecular physiology and preclinical and clinical applications. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* (2017) 79:261–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034125

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Siro, Baumgartner, Schoonen, Ngounda, Malan, Symington, Smuts and Zandberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Plant Extracts Rich in Polyphenols as Potent Modulators in the Growth of Probiotic and Pathogenic Intestinal Microorganisms

Milica Milutinović*, Suzana Dimitrijević-Branković and Mirjana Rajilić-Stojanović

Department of Biochemical Engineering and Biotechnology, Faculty of Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lizelle Zandberg, North-West University, South Africa

Reviewed by: Dragan Milenkovic,

University of California, Davis, University of California, Davis, United States Neda Anicic, University of Belgrade, Serbia Annelies Geirnaert, ETH Zurich, Switzerland

*Correspondence: Milica Milutinović mmilutinovic@tmf.bg.ac.rs

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 06 July 2021 Published: 30 July 2021

Citation:

Milutinović M, Dimitrijević-Branković S and Rajilić-Stojanović M (2021) Plant Extracts Rich in Polyphenols as Potent Modulators in the Growth of Probiotic and Pathogenic Intestinal Microorganisms. Front. Nutr. 8:688843. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.688843 Medicinal plants and their extracts contain substantial quantities of polyphenols. As metabolically active plant metabolites, polyphenols are food components with a wide range of biological activities. Given their poor absorbability in the digestive tract their activity toward the human host is typically mediated through interaction with intestinal microbes. As a result, polyphenols comprise a novel group of prebiotics. In this study, we tested the effect of five polyphenol-rich extracts from four medicinal herbs on the growth of probiotic and pathogenic microbes. The studied medicinal herbs were Gentiana asclepiadea L. (willow gentian), Hypericum perforatum L. (St. John's wort), Satureja montana L. (winter savory), and Achillea millefolium L. (yarrow). All these plants are traditionally used for the treatment of digestive problems. Extracts were prepared using safe solvent combinations. We tested the impact of addition of plant extracts on the growth of three probiotic lactobacilli and probiotic yeast Saccharomyces boulardii. The effect of addition of plant extracts to liquid media (concentration range 0.25-10 mg/mL) on the growth of probiotics, was tested in vitro. The antimicrobial activity of the extracts was tested against several opportunistic bacteria and yeast. St. John's wort, winter savory, and willow gentian extracts showed a stimulative effect on probiotic yeast growth, while the highest growth-stimulating effect was achieved when microwave-assisted yarrow extract was used in the concentration of 0.5 mg/mL. Under these conditions growth of S. boulardii was increased 130-fold. In addition, the yarrow extract stimulated the growth of Lactiplantibacillus plantarum 299v. The growth of two Lacticasibacillus rhamnosus strains was not stimulated by the addition of any extracts. Our results show that plant polyphenol-rich extracts can influence the growth of microorganisms that are typical members of the intestinal microbiota. For the first time we demonstrate that probiotic yeast growth can be stimulated by extracts of medicinal herbs, which when accompanied by suppression of Candida yeasts suggests a potential benefit of the treatment in diseases that are associated with fungal dysbiosis.

Keywords: prebiotics, medicinal herbs, polyphenols, antimicrobial activity, Gentiana asclepiadea L., Hypericum perforatum L., Satureja montana L., Achillea millefolium L.

INTRODUCTION

An individualized approach toward nutrition and medication is becoming increasingly important. While genetic and epigenetic host-factors contribute significantly to the individualized response to any compound that is taken up from the environment, another important factor of variation is human microbiota. The human microbiota is a complex ecosystem of microbes that inhabit various niches of the human body, with highest densities being on the skin, the oral cavity, and gastrointestinal tract. Of particular importance is colonic microbiota. It has been suggested that this anatomic part of the human body could be considered as a bioreactor in which an extremely dense microbial consortium is performing various functions that are important for systemic health (1). Gut microbiota is comprised of members of all three domains of life-Bacteria, Archaea and Eukarva; however, large individual differences hamper the complete description of the ecosystem (2). Despite its complexity and variability, recent research has clearly shown that interaction between gut microbiota and undigested food components, as well as medicaments, can yield various metabolites that could promote or jeopardize human health (3). Different types of studies contribute to resolving the puzzle between gut microbiota/food/health interactions, including in vitro tests, animal studies, and clinical trials. This is particularly important since many diseases, including obesity, diabetes, inflammatory bowel diseases, and colorectal cancer, have been associated with an imbalance in gut microbial composition, i.e., dysbiosis. Dysbiosis can occur due to decrease in the number of beneficial bacteria, overgrowth in detrimental species, and loss in microbial diversity (4, 5). One of the strategies promoting gut health is diet modification. Given that it has been shown that polyphenols and their metabolites have a positive impact on gut health (6), in this study, we aim to assess the impact of selected polyphenol-rich medicinal plant extracts on the growth of pathogenic and probiotic microorganisms, which in turn contributes to the modification of gut microbiota.

Polyphenols are plant metabolites, present in vegetables, fruits, spices, and medicinal plants with a wide range of biological activities, such as antioxidant, antimicrobial, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory (7, 8). Their dietary intake has been related to the prevention of some chronic and degenerative diseases, such as some types of cancers, inflammatory, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, or neurodegenerative disorders like Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. However, the exact mechanisms of polyphenol beneficial activity still remain to be defined (7-10). It has been estimated that <5-10% of the ingested polyphenols are resorbed in the small intestine, while the remaining compounds reach the large intestine where they are metabolized by the gut microbiota (8). Given their poor absorption in the digestive tract, their activity toward the human host is typically mediated through interaction with intestinal microbes, such that polyphenols comprise a novel group of prebiotics (11). In vitro studies suggest that polyphenols may exert a doubly positive effect, simultaneous inhibition of pathogens, and stimulation of beneficial bacteria (12). Beneficial species belonging to genera *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* are often reported to thrive in the presence of polyphenols, whereas the growth of detrimental species is inhibited (13). Species of *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* are usually used as probiotics, but some *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus* strains, and the yeast *Saccharomyces boulardii* are used as well (14). *S. boulardii* is an extremely potent probiotic that is effective in preventing antibiotic-induced diarrhea, as well as in protecting the intestine from *Clostridium difficile* and cholera toxins (15). Additionally, the World Gastroenterology Organization recommends *S. boulardii* for the treatment of nine different intestinal diseases (14). The impact of polyphenol-rich medicinal plant extracts on the growth of probiotic or pathogenic microbes has not been assessed yet, while no previous study has assessed the effect of polyphenols on *S. boulardii* growth.

Many medicinal herbs have been used in folk medicine for treatment of gastrointestinal disorders (16). In this study, we evaluated the effect of different extracts of four medicinal plants that are traditionally used to treat digestive problems. Achillea millefolium L., commonly known as yarrow, has been used in traditional medicine for inflammatory and spasmodic gastrointestinal disorders, as an appetite-enhancing drug, for wound healing and diabetes (17, 18). Hypericum perforatum L., commonly known as St. John's Wort, has been used for poor appetite, difficulty sleeping, nervousness, the treatment of burns, skin ulcers, and cuts (19). Satureja montana L., commonly known as winter savory, is used for digestive complaints, such as diarrhea, and colic (20). Lastly, Gentiana asclepiadea L., commonly known as willow gentian, is traditionally used for improving appetite, digestive problems, and hepatitis infections (21). All listed medicinal plants have proven antimicrobial, antioxidant, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory properties (18, 19, 22-25). The major active compounds in the St. John's wort are flavonoids (quercetin, biapigenin, hyperoside, rutin, quercitrin, and isoquercitrin), phenolic acids (chlorogenic, caffeic, p-coumaric, and ferulic acid), naphthodianthrones (hypericin and pseudohypericin), and phloroglucinols (hyperforin and adhyperforin) (19, 22, 26). In the yarrow, predominant bioactive compounds are phenolic acids (chlorogenic, and 1,5-, 3,4-, 3,5- and 4,5-dicaffeoylquinic acids) and flavonoids (apigenin, luteolin, luteolin-7-O-glucoside, hyperoside, and rutin), tannins and sesquiterpene lactones (achillin and achillicin) (17, 18, 27). Winter savory has a diverse composition of secondary metabolites, such as phenolic monoterpene (carvacrol and thymol), phenolic acids (protocatechuic, syringic, vanillic acids caffeic, sagerinic, salvianolic, p-coumaric, ferulic, and rosmarinic acid), and flavonoids (luteolin, quercetin, rutin, epicatechin, catechin, and epicatechin) (24, 28-30). In the willow gentian, the major active compounds are secoiridoids (gentiopicrine, sweroside, and swertiamarine), flavonoids (isovitexin and homoorientin), phenolic acids, xanthone-C-glycosides (mangiferin), and alkaloids (25). Currently, forty-four medicinal plants are recommended in the European Union for treatment of gastrointestinal disorders, including the varrow that can be used in mild, spasmodic gastro-intestinal complaints, and bloating (16). In this study, we assessed the effect of five

extracts obtained from four medicinal plants on the growth of four selected probiotics, two strains of *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* [previously *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (31)], one *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* [previously *Lactobacillus plantarum* (31)], and yeasts *S. boulardii*. The effect of plant extracts on the growth of opportunistic pathogens, *Enterococcus faecalis, Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Candida albicans* was also tested.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Material and Chemicals

The St. John's wort, winter savory, and yarrow were obtained from the Institute of Medicinal Plant Research "Dr Josif Pancic," Pančevo, Serbia, while the willow gentian was obtained from "Bilje Borča," Belgrade, Serbia.

A growth medium Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB), MRS broth, agar, and yeast extract were obtained from the Institute of Immunology and Virology, Torlak, Belgrade, Serbia. Resazurin was purchased from Acros Organics, Geel, Belgium, and ethanol was obtained from Zorka Pharma-Hemija d.o.o., Šabac, Serbia.

Bacterial Strains and Culture Conditions

The following strains of bacteria and yeast were used: Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 29812, Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 25923, Escherichia coli ATCC 25922, Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 27833, Listeria monocytogenes IM2002 (Institute of Meat Hygiene and Technology, Belgrade), Lacticasibacillus rhamnosus ATCC 7469, Lacticasibacillus rhamnosus GG (ATCC 53103), Lactiplantibacillus plantarum 299v, Candida albicans ATCC 10259, and Saccharomyces boulardii (Saccharomyces cerevisiae var. boulardii HANSEN CBS 5926), from the collection of the Department of Biochemical Engineering and Biotechnology of the Faculty of Technology and Metallurgy, Belgrade. Lactobacilli were grown overnight at 37°C in MRS broth in CO₂ enriched conditions, while all other microorganisms were grown in TSB, supplemented with 0.6% w/v yeast extract at 37°C.

Extraction of Polyphenols From Medicinal Plants

A total of five extracts were prepared from four medicinal plants, including yarrow, winter savory, St. John's wort, and willow gentian. The extracts were prepared either using standard procedures of the European Medicines Agency (EMA) or under optimized conditions for microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) that yields extracts with the highest polyphenol content. The optimization of the MAE extraction parameters was previously published for yarrow (32), while for the other used medicinal plants the manuscripts describing the optimization process are submitted/prepared for publication elsewhere.

Two extracts were prepared from St. John's wort. The first one was prepared using the optimized MAE procedure, in which three grams of St. John's wort was extracted for 40 s, with 150 mL of 30% ethanol at 170 W of microwave power. The second extract was prepared following the EMA procedure according to which ten grams of St. John's wort's waste powder was extracted with 100 mL of 50% ethanol in the dark at room temperature for 72 h (33). The yarrow extract was prepared using the optimized MAE under the following conditions 33 s of extraction time, 70% of ethanol concentration, 40 mL/g of liquid/solid ratio, and 170 W of microwave power (32).

The winter savory extract was prepared using the optimized MAE procedure for obtaining the extract with the highest polyphenol content in which three grams of plant powder were mixed with 60 mL of 55% ethanol and extracted for 80 s at 170 W of microwave power.

The willow gentian extract was prepared following the optimized procedure for obtaining an extract with the highest polyphenol content in which two grams of plant powder were extracted with 60 mL of 25% ethanol, in the dark, for 72 h.

After extractions, solids were separated from liquids using vacuum filtration and the ethanol was evaporated from all the extracts on a rotary evaporator (Büchi, Switzerland) at 150 mm Hg pressure and 60° C. The percentage of dry matter in the extract was measured on a moisture analyzer (Kern MLS-A, Balingen, Germany), and the extracts were stored at 4° C.

Determination of Total Polyphenol Content

Total polyphenol content in the extracts was determined following the previously described method (32). The results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE)/g extract dry matter, using the gallic acid calibration curve. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

Antimicrobial Activity

Antimicrobial activity of the extracts was determined using a broth microbial method and resazurin as an indicator of microbial growth (34). For all pathogenic microorganism [three Gram-positive bacteria (*E. faecalis, L. monocytogenes,* and *S. aureus*), two Gram-negative bacteria (*E. coli,* and *P. aeruginosa*), and yeast *C. albicans*], and for all probiotic microorganisms (two strains of *L. rhamnosus, L plantarum,* and *S. boulardii*) the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) was determined.

In brief, 100 µL of TSB or MRS broth for lactobacilli was pipetted in all the wells of 96 well-microtiter plate. Afterward, 100 µL of plant extract stock solution (40 mg/mL) was pipetted in the first row and 2-fold serial dilution throughout the column was achieved by transferring 100 µL of the extract and nutrient broth mixture to the next row, so that the final volume in each well was 100 µL. The concentration of the plant extracts varied in the range from 0.016 to 20 mg/mL. Subsequently, 10 µL of microbial suspension was added to each well to achieve a final concentration of 5 \times 10⁶ CFU/mL. Lastly, 10 µL of the resazurin solution (32.7 mM) was pipetted into all wells. Every plate contained a negative and a positive control. The negative control contained 10 µL of nutrient broth instead of the microbial suspension, while the positive control was prepared by mixing all solutions except the plant extract. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 h, and MIC values were determined visually based on color change. In the presence of growing cells purple resazurin is reduced to pink resorufin. The lowest concentration at which no color change occurred was considered as MIC. All tests were run in biological triplicate.

Prebiotic Activity

The prebiotic activity of five plant extracts was tested in terms of growth stimulation potential. Liquid cultures using the plate count method were applied (35) and two L. rhamnosus strains, L plantarum 299v, and S. boulardii were tested. In short, fresh TSB or MRS (2 mL) were inoculated with an overnight growth culture of S. boulardii or lactobacilli (0.1 mL) to achieve a final concentration of 5 \times 10⁶ CFU/mL. Plant extracts were added to the culture media to obtain a final concentration of dry matter in the range from 0.25 to 10 mg extract dry matter/mL, which are concentrations of extracts expected to be found under physiological conditions (33, 36). One control sample remained without any plant extract. After incubation (37°C for 24h), the samples were diluted with sterile normal saline and plated on TSA or MRS agar medium and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. The effect of plant extracts on lactobacilli species and S. boulardii was determined by comparing the number of colony-forming units (CFU) in the samples containing plant extracts and appropriate controls. All tests were run in biological triplicate.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the total polyphenol content in the extracts was performed in the program Origin Pro 8. All data were reported as mean \pm standard deviation of three independent measurements. Significant differences between data were analyzed using analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) and the Tukey test, with the criterion of p < 0.05.

Significant differences between the number of CFU on the plates with the plant extracts and the control were analyzed using a paired *t*-test with cut off value of p < 0.05 for significant difference. Previously, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the data follows normal distribution, for which a paired *t*-test is a suitable tool for analysis.

RESULTS

Total Polyphenol Content

Total polyphenol content in the tested extracts is presented in **Table 1**. Among all tested plants, the highest polyphenol content was identified in winter savory and the lowest content was determined in willow gentian. Comparing two St. John's wort extracts obtained using the MAE and EMA procedures, the total polyphenol content was higher in the MAE extract by 11.58%.

Antimicrobial Activity

Antimicrobial activity of all extracts was determined for three Gram-positive opportunistic pathogens (*E. faecalis, S. aureus,* and *L. monocytogenes*), two Gram-negative strains (*P. aeruginosa,* and *E. coli*) and yeast *C. albicans.* Antimicrobial activity was determined for probiotics as well, two *L. rhamnosus* strains, *L plantarum,* and *S. boulardii* (**Table 2**). Generally, Gram-positive bacteria were more sensitive to the plant extracts compared to Gram-negative. The most sensitive pathogen to the tested plant extracts was *L. monocytogenes,* as indicated by the lowest MIC value of 0.16 mg/mL. Only *S. aureus* and *L. monocytogenes* were inhibited by all the extracts. *E. coli* and *C. albicans* were sensitive only to winter savory and willow gentian, with MIC values of 5 and 20 mg/mL for *E. coli,* and 20 and 5 mg/mL for *C. albicans,* respectively.

Interestingly, the plant extracts showed higher inhibition to pathogens than to probiotics. Two St. John's wort extracts showed

TABLE 2 | Antimicrobial activity of plant extracts.

	Yarrow	St. John's wort ^a	St. John's wort ^b	Winter savory	Willow gentian		
Microorganism	MIC, mg/mL						
S. aureus	5	10	10	5	10		
L. monocytogenes	1.25	2.5	2.5	0.16	20		
E. faecalis	5	5	5	1.25	-		
E. coli	-	-	-	5	20		
P. aeruginosa	2.5	5	5	0.63	-		
C. albicans	-	-	-	20	5		
<i>L. rhamnosus</i> ATCC 7469	-	-	20	10	-		
L. rhamnosus GG	-	-	10	10	-		
L. plantarum	-	-	-	-	-		
S. boulardii	-	-	-	20	20		

^aSt. John's wort extract obtained using the MAE procedure.
 ^bSt. John's wort extract obtained using the EMA procedure.
 All tests were run in biological triplicate.

TABLE 1 | Total polyphenol content in tested medicinal plant extracts.

		Extract								
	Yarrow	St. John's wort ^a	St. John's wort ^b	Winter savory	Willow gentian					
TPC, mg GAE/g	204.61 ± 5.49*	282.01 ± 6.20*	$252.75 \pm 3.92^{*}$	$386.75 \pm 2.58^{*}$	19.21 ± 0.13*					

TPC, Total polyphenol content; GAE, gallic acid equivalent.

^aSt. John's wort extract obtained using the MAE procedure.

^bSt. John's wort extract obtained using the EMA procedure.

*Mean comparison was used to evaluate the significant difference among total polyphenol content in different plant extracts with the criterion of p < 0.05.



the same inhibition against pathogenic microorganisms, while the inhibition of probiotics growth was different. The MAE extract did not inhibit the growth of the tested probiotics, while the EMA extract inhibited the growth of two *L. rhamnosus* strains, with different MIC values (**Table 2**). This result suggested different chemical compositions of the two St. John's wort extracts.

Willow gentian suppressed the growth of *S. aureus, L. monocytogenes, E. coli*, and *C. albicans*, with MIC values ranging from 5 to 20 mg/mL, while it did not affect the growth of Grampositive probiotics. It suppressed the growth of both yeasts, however, the MIC value for the *C. albicans* was 4-fold lower than the MIC value for *S. boulardii*.

The winter savory inhibited the growth of *L. rhamnosus* ATCC 7469 and *L. rhamnosus* GG, with equal MIC values. Antimicrobial activity toward the tested pathogens was stronger compared to the probiotic bacteria. The MIC values for pathogens varied in the range from 0.16 to 5 mg/mL, while it was 10 mg/mL for the two probiotics.

Prebiotic Activity

The prebiotic potential of five plant extracts obtained from four medicinal plants was tested in terms of their ability to stimulate the growth of selected probiotics. The concentration of extracts in the growth medium was varied, and optimal concentration for growth stimulation of each extract-probiotic

pair was identified. Among all tested probiotics, the yeast S. boulardii was the most stimulated by the addition of the varrow MAE extract (Figure 1). The highest growth-stimulating effect was achieved when the MAE yarrow extract was added in the final concentration of 0.5 mg extract dry matter/mL of the growth medium. Under these conditions, the growth of S. boulardii was increased 130-fold. A significant 2-fold stimulation was also observed when the willow gentian or winter savory extracts were added to the growth medium in the final concentration of 0.5 or 0.25 mg/mL. However, both extracts inhibited the growth of S. boulardii when added in a concentration higher than 20 mg/mL. At this point, it should be noted that the growth performance of the control differed considerably when testing the winter savory and all other extracts. The tests were not performed in the same period, and for the winter savory a new lot of the same S. boulardii, strain was used. The strain from the new lot grew better in the control nutrient broth.

Among lactobacilli, the growth of *L. plantarum* was stimulated with the addition of the yarrow extract, and the St. John's wort MAE extract (**Figure 2**). Growth stimulation was achieved when the concentration of yarrow MAE and St. John's wort MAE extracts was in the range 0.25–2.5 and 0.25–0.5 mg/mL, respectively. When the concentrations of the extracts further increased, the cell count significantly decreased compared to the control. The growth of two *L. rhamnosus* strains was not



stimulated by the addition of any of the five plant extracts in the tested concentrations (**Figures 3**, **4**).

DISCUSSION

The present study provides new findings on the impact of yarrow, St. John's wort, winter savory, and willow gentian extracts on the growth of selected pathogens and probiotics. We demonstrate that these medicinal plants, which are traditionally used for the treatment of digestive problems, could suppress the growth of pathogens, while the presence of the same concentration could stimulate the growth of probiotics. Hence, one potential mechanism of the beneficial effect of medicinal plants could be modulation of the gut microbiota composition and/or activity.

It is important to emphasize that in this study the growth stimulation of probiotics and antimicrobial activity against pathogens was achieved with a concentration of medicinal plant extracts that can be expected to be found under physiological conditions. We could evaluate the intake only for St. John's extract prepared according to EMA procedure, as only for this extract, official recommendations exist from among all tested extracts (33). Daily recommended intake of St. John's extract is 10 ml. Based on extract concentration, this would require intake of \sim 180 mg of extract dry matter. Given that the exact dilution factor under physiological conditions can be only estimated, it is important to perform *in vivo* human intervention studies. Nevertheless, we would like to

note that an estimated dilution of the maximal dose of St. John's EMA extract in 200 mL would facilitate the maximal concentration tested in our growth stimulation experiments. Furthermore, one intervention on healthy subjects, showed that intake of cocoa-derived flavanols in a dosage similar to that achieved following EMA recommended daily intake of St. John's extract, was sufficient to induce changes in gut microbiota (36).

The selected medicinal plants have proven antioxidant, antimicrobial, and anti-inflammatory properties, among others, due to the presence of bioactive compounds, such as polyphenols. It is known that the concentration of polyphenols in plants depends on the species of plant, environmental conditions, rainfall and ultraviolet radiation, geographical origin, and storage conditions (37). Further, the total polyphenol content in the extract depends on the extraction technique and solvent used in the process. Ethanol and water mixtures were used in the preparation of all five extracts. Ethanol has GRAS (generally regarded as safe) status and can be used for preparation of extracts that are safe for human consumption (38). Of the four tested plants, winter savory is the richest in polyphenolic compounds, followed by St. John's wort, yarrow, and willow gentian. These findings are consistent with literature data (21, 29, 39, 40). Comparing the extracts obtained from the same plant material, but with different extraction techniques, it can be concluded that MAE was more efficient than the maceration. Using modern extraction



techniques, such as MAE, the yield of polyphenols can be increased, while extraction time and solvent usage are reduced (41). Additionally, polyphenol composition may differ when two extraction techniques are used (41). This was most likely the case for the two St. John's wort extracts, as indicated by their different biological activity.

Of the four tested plants, winter savory contained the highest concentration of polyphenols and this extract had the highest antimicrobial effect on all six tested pathogens. The highest antimicrobial activity was against L. monocytogenes, while the lowest was against C. albicans (Table 2). The two St. John's wort extracts inhibited the growth of four pathogens with equal MIC values, while the effect on probiotics was different. While the EMA extract inhibited the growth of two L. rhamnosus strains, the MAE extract stimulated the growth of S. boulardii and L. plantarum, indicating that there is a difference in the composition of polyphenols in the two extracts. All five extracts showed stronger antibacterial activity against Gram-positive bacteria than against Gram-negative ones (Table 2). Generally, the antibacterial effect of plant extracts was usually more effective against Gram-positive than Gram-negative bacteria (13). The exact mechanism of action of polyphenols as antimicrobial agents is not yet fully understood. Polyphenols could react with the cell membrane, inactivate essential cellular enzymes, while lipophilic flavonoids could disrupt microbial membranes and cause the loss of cell's macromolecules and subsequent cell death (42-44). Also, a synergistic effect of polyphenolic compounds present in the plant extract contributes to higher antimicrobial activity compared to a single compound's reaction, which may be due to the different mechanisms of action of each of the active components (45). Among all tested extracts, the willow gentian showed the highest antimicrobial activity toward C. albicans (Table 2), while the concentration of polyphenols in this plant extract is lower than in all other plant extracts. Besides polyphenols, the major compounds in willow gentian are secoiridoids (gentiopicrin), and it has been reported that the gentiopicrin inhibited the growth of Gram-negative, Gram-positive pathogen bacteria, as well as yeast C. albicans (46). Additionally, the predominant constituents of St. John's wort besides polyphenols are naphthodianthrones (hypericin and pseudohypericin) and phloroglucinols (hyperforin and adhyperforin) (26). It has been reported that hypericin and hyperforin are components responsible for the antimicrobial activity of the St. John's wort extract (26). Antimicrobial activities of all four medicinal plants have been previously published (47-54). However, in most of the studies, different and often toxic solvents were used for the preparation of extracts. As stated above all five extracts analyzed in this study were prepared using GRAS solvents (ethanol and water mixtures), which makes the extracts safe for human consumption (38). Compared to our results, only Mekinić and colleagues (47) reported higher antimicrobial activity of ethanol yarrow extract,



with the MIC values for L. monocytogenes and S. aureus. Moreira et al. (29) reported lower antimicrobial activity of winter savory extract compared to our results. Their extract inhibited the growth of S. aureus and L. monocytogenes with MIC values of 20 mg/mL, which are 4 and 125 times higher than the MIC values obtained in this study, respectively. Since the total polyphenol content obtained in this study is only slightly higher than in Moreira et al. (24.62 \pm 0.16 vs. 23.43 \pm 4.33 mg GAE/g plant dry weight), it can be expected that the MAE enhanced the extraction of more potent antimicrobial compounds. In addition, the MAE winter savory extract inhibited the growth of E. coli, which is in contrast to previous reports (20, 29). Moreover, the antimicrobial activity of medicinal plants depends on the date of plant collection. Borchardt et al. showed that a St. John's wort plant sample collected in August inhibited the growth of some pathogens, while the sample collected in July had no antimicrobial activity (55). This indicates that polyphenol content of medicinal plant extracts and consequent biological activity is affected by numerous factors.

The prebiotic effect of polyphenols from medicinal plants has not been assessed previously, but the influence of some plant extracts rich in polyphenols on the growth of pathogen and probiotic bacteria has been studied (35, 56–58). In our study, among all tested extracts, the highest growth-stimulating

effect showed yarrow MAE extract on the yeast S. boulardii. With the dosage of 0.5 mg/mL in the growth medium, the maximal 130-fold stimulation of S. boulardii was achieved. The addition of St. John's wort MAE, willow gentian, and winter savory extracts caused an increase of S. boulardii growth, but not as strong as yarrow MAE extract. The exact mechanism by which polyphenols increase the growth of probiotics is not known. Most of the published papers discuss the effect of the plant extract on the pathogens and probiotic species of Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium. To the best of our knowledge, the influence of plant extracts, or polyphenol compounds, on the growth of S. boulardii was not previously studied. Both winter savory and willow gentian stimulated the growth of S. boulardii ~2-fold; however, the concentration of polyphenols between these two extracts was significantly different, indicating that other bioactive compounds from willow gentian could stimulate the growth of the probiotics. As reported before, the major compounds in willow gentian extracts are secoiridoids (gentiopicrin), besides polyphenols; however, there is no data in the literature on their influence on the growth of probiotic bacteria or yeast (21). It has been reported that some species of lactobacillus are able to metabolize gentiopicrin by the action of their β -glucosidase, producing aglycon and sugar moiety (59). Given the impact that the tested plant extracts showed on the pathogenic yeast C. albicans, it can be concluded that consumption of the selected plants could have a beneficial effect on the *Candida/Saccharomyces* ratio, which could be relevant for treatment of fungal dysbiosis that was reported for inflammatory bowel disease and the diarrhea predominant irritable bowel syndrome (60, 61). Therefore, our data indicates that tested medicinal plant extracts could be used in precise nutrition/medical treatment of conditions affected by fungal dysbiosis. However, it should be noted that particular impact on the gut microbiota can be determined only in clinical trials.

Of all tested probiotic bacteria, only L. plantarum was stimulated by the addition of two plant extracts. The highest stimulation, 1.5-fold was achieved by the addition of St. John's wort extract in the final concentration of 0.25 mg/mL, followed by the yarrow MAE extract. Additionally, the yarrow MAE extract induced much higher, 6-fold growth stimulation of one more strain of L. rhamnosus, L. rhamnosus A71, with a concentration of 2.5 mg/mL in the growth medium (62), while it suppresses the growth of three Gram-positive and one Gram-negative bacteria, with the MIC values from 1.25 to 5 mg/mL. This suggested a potential use of the yarrow MAE extract as a dietary supplement that could initiate the change of the gut microbiota ecosystem in the direction of dysbiosis repair, contributing to increase in the relative abundance of probiotics and decrease in the relative abundance of opportunistic pathogens. Similar results could be expected for other extracts, such as winter savory, which showed the lowest growth-stimulation on tested probiotics among all four plants. It also inhibited the growth of L. rhamnosus ATCC 7469 and L. rhamnosus GG with equal MIC values, which was higher than the MIC values for pathogenic microorganisms. While our data is promising, it should be emphasized that the exact impact on the gut microbiota ecosystem can be assessed properly only in clinical trials. Based on published data on the effect of polyphenols on the growth of probiotic bacteria, one possible explanation for the stimulation of growth is that probiotics could metabolize polyphenols during growth (63, 64). Some microorganisms can hydrolyze O-glycosylated polyphenols to aglycone and glucose, which they can use for their growth, as a sole source of energy and carbon (65-67). Also, L. plantarum can degrade p-coumaric, caffeic, ferulic, coumaric, gallic and protocatechuic acid to obtain energy (13, 68, 69). For example, Duda-Chodac reported that the aglycons naringenin and quercetin inhibited the growth of Lactobacillus sp., while rutin showed slight stimulation on the growth (70). Rutin, pcoumaric, and chlorogenic acids are found in the St. John's wort and yarrow extracts which could explain their stimulatory role on the L. plantarum growth. Even though the bioactivity of the plant is related to its major components, the combined effect of all components in the plant can be more important for the effect of the herbal products than the activity of specific compounds (24). Therefore, the prebiotic activity could be due to the combined effect of all compounds present in the extract (24). Moreover, polyphenols in extracts could reduce oxidative stress in the medium caused by metabolic activities, thus providing better conditions for the growth of probiotic microorganisms (35).

CONCLUSIONS

The present work provides new findings on the influence of extracts from four medicinal plants-yarrow, winter savory, St. John's wort, and willow gentian-on the growth of probiotic and pathogenic microorganisms. For the first time, it was shown that polyphenol-rich medicinal plants could stimulate the growth of S. boulardii while suppressing the growth of pathogenic Candida yeast. This opens the possibility for the application of these plants in the treatment of fungal dysbiosis which could be particularly relevant for patients suffering from conditions in which the Candida/Saccharomyces disturbed ratio has been reported. Among all tested plants, the strongest antimicrobial activity was shown for the winter savory extract, which inhibited the growth of all tested pathogens. Interestingly, all tested plant extracts showed the ability to promote the growth of some of the tested probiotics and suppress the growth of some of the tested pathogens. Based on the provided data it can be speculated that medicinal plants, and particularly their polyphenol-rich extracts, could have the ability to modulate gut microbiota in vivo. Given that gut microbiota shows tremendous interindividual variation, and that polyphenol effects on microbial species might even be strain-dependent (65), it can be expected that the effect of medicinal herbs on microbiota will be highly individualized. This could potentially explain the high variability in response to the plant bioactive compounds, which is well-documented (71). Our results provide the first hint of the important interaction between medicinal herbs polyphenols and fungal and bacterial constituents of gut microbiota. Further studies, primarily ones based on clinical trials, will elucidate their role in microbiotadependent personalized nutrition and medical treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR-S created the main conceptual ideas. MM performed the experimental work and statistical analysis. MM, SD-B, and MR-S contributed to the organization and writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the manuscript for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Contract No. 451-03-68/2020-14/200135).

REFERENCES

- Swidsinski A, Loening-Baucke V, Schulz S, Manowsky J, Verstraelen H, Swidsinski S. Functional anatomy of the colonic bioreactor: impact of antibiotics and *Saccharomyces boulardii* on bacterial composition in human fecal cylinders. *Syst Appl Microbiol.* (2016) 39:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.syapm.2015.11.002
- Hsieh SY, Lian YZ, Lin IH, Yang YC, Tinkov AA, Skalny AV, et al. Combined Lycium babarum polysaccharides and C-phycocyanin increase gastric Bifidobacterium relative abundance and protect against gastric ulcer caused by aspirin in rats. Nutr Metab. (2021) 18:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-00538-9
- Koh A, Bäckhed F. From association to causality: the role of the gut microbiota and its functional products on host metabolism. *Mol Cell.* (2020) 78:584– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.03.005
- Anhê FF, Varin TV, Le Barz M, Desjardins Y, Levy E, Roy D, et al. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in obesity-linked metabolic diseases and prebiotic potential of polyphenol-rich extracts. *Curr Obes Rep.* (2015) 4:389– 400. doi: 10.1007/s13679-015-0172-9
- Kumar Singh A, Cabral C, Kumar R, Ganguly R, Kumar Rana H, Gupta A, et al. Beneficial effects of dietary polyphenols on gut microbiota and strategies to improve delivery efficiency. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2216. doi: 10.3390/nu11092216
- Catalkaya G, Venema K, Lucini L, Rocchetti G, Delmas D, Daglia M, et al. Interaction of dietary polyphenols and gut microbiota: microbial metabolism of polyphenols, influence on the gut microbiota, and implications on host health. *Food Front.* (2020) 1:109–33. doi: 10.1002/fft2.25
- Cory H, Passarelli S, Szeto J, Tamez M, Mattei J. The role of polyphenols in human health and food systems: a mini-review. *Front Nutr.* (2018) 5:87. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00087
- Santos-Buelga C, González-Paramás AM, Oludemi T, Ayuda-Durán B, González-Manzano S. Plant phenolics as functional food ingredients. *Adv Food Nutr Res.* (2019) 90:183–257. doi: 10.1016/bs.afnr.2019.02.012
- Corrêa TAF, Rogero MM, Hassimotto NMA, Lajolo FM. The two-way polyphenols-microbiota interactions and their effects on obesity and related metabolic diseases. *Front Nutr.* (2019) 6:188. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00188
- Ruskovska T, Maksimova V, Milenkovic D. Polyphenols in human nutrition: from the in vitro antioxidant capacity to the beneficial effects on cardiometabolic health and related inter-individual variability-an overview and perspective. *Br J Nutr.* (2020) 123:1–36. doi: 10.1017/S0007114519002733
- Thilakarathna WW, Langille MG, Rupasinghe HV. Polyphenol-based prebiotics and synbiotics: potential for cancer chemoprevention. *Curr Opin Food Sci.* (2018) 20:51–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cofs.2018.02.011
- Ozdal T, Sela DA, Xiao J, Boyacioglu D, Chen F, Capanoglu E. The reciprocal interactions between polyphenols and gut microbiota and effects on bioaccessibility. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:78. doi: 10.3390/nu8020078
- Hervert-Hernandez D, Goñi I. Dietary polyphenols and human gut microbiota: a review. *Food Rev Int.* (2011) 27:154– 69. doi: 10.1080/87559129.2010.535233
- 14. WGO. Probiotics and Prebiotics 2017 [March 8, 2021].
- Guslandi M, Mezzi G, Sorghi M, Testoni PA. Saccharomyces boulardii in maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease. Digest Dis Sci. (2000) 45:1462– 4. doi: 10.1023/A:1005588911207
- Thumann TA, Pferschy-Wenzig E-M, Moissl-Eichinger C, Bauer R. The role of gut microbiota for the activity of medicinal plants traditionally used in the European Union for gastrointestinal disorders. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2019) 245:112153. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2019.112153
- Benedek B, Kopp B. Achillea millefolium L. sl revisited: recent findings confirm the traditional use. Wien Med Wochenschr. (2007) 157:312– 4. doi: 10.1007/s10354-007-0431-9
- Dias MI, Barros L, Dueñas M, Pereira E, Carvalho AM, Alves RC, et al. Chemical composition of wild and commercial *Achillea millefolium* L. and bioactivity of the methanolic extract, infusion and decoction. *Food Chem.* (2013) 141:4152–60. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.07.018
- Belwal T, Devkota HP, Singh MK, Sharma R, Upadhayay S, Joshi C, et al. *St. John's Wort (Hypericum perforatum)*. Nonvitamin and Nonmineral Nutritional Supplements. Elsevier. (2019). p. 415–32.
- 20. Cetković GS, Canadanović-Brunet JM, Djilas SM, Tumbas VT, Markov SL, Cvetković DD. Antioxidant potential, lipid peroxidation inhibition and

antimicrobial activities of *Satureja montana* L. subsp. *kitaibelii* extracts. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2007) 8:1013–27. doi: 10.3390/i8101013

- Mihailovic V, Matic S, Mišic D, Solujic S, Stanic S, Katanic J, et al. Chemical composition, antioxidant and antigenotoxic activities of different fractions of *Gentiana asclepiadea* L. roots extract. *Excli J*. (2013) 12:807–23. doi: 10.17877/DE290R-7482
- Tusevski O, Krstikj M, Petreska Stanoeva J, Stefova M, Gadzovska Simic S. Phenolic compounds composition of *Hypericum perforatum* L. wild-growing plants from the Republic of Macedonia. *Agricul Conspect Sci.* (2019) 84:67–75.
- Vidović S, Zeković Z, Marošanović B, Todorović MP, Vladić J. Influence of pre-treatments on yield, chemical composition and antioxidant activity of *Satureja montana* extracts obtained by supercritical carbon dioxide. *J Supercrit Fluid.* (2014) 95:468–73. doi: 10.1016/j.supflu.2014.10.019
- Vladić J, Cebović T, Vidović S, Jokić S. Evaluation of anticancer activity of Satureja montana supercritical and spray-dried extracts on ehrlich's ascites carcinoma bearing mice. *Plants.* (2020) 9:1532. doi: 10.3390/plants9111532
- Stefanović O, Ličina B, Vasić S, Radojević I, Comić L. Bioactive extracts of *Gentiana asclepiadea*: antioxidant, antimicrobial, antibiofilm activity. *Bot Serbica*. (2018) 42:223–9. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1468319
- Saddiqe Z, Naeem I, Maimoona A. A review of the antibacterial activity of *Hypericum perforatum* L. J Ethnopharmacol. (2010) 131:511– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2010.07.034
- Lakshmi T, Geetha R, Roy A, Kumar SA. Yarrow (*Achillea millefolium* linn). A herbal medicinal plant with broad therapeutic use-a review. *Int J Pharm Sci Rev Res.* (2011) 9:136–41.
- Simunovic K, Bucar F, Klancnik A, Pompei F, Paparella A, Mozina SS. In vitro effect of the common culinary herb winter savory (Satureja montana) against the infamous food pathogen Campylobacter jejuni. Foods. (2020) 9:537. doi: 10.3390/foods9040537
- Moreira SA, Silva S, Costa E, Pinto S, Sarmento B, Saraiva JA, et al. Effect of high hydrostatic pressure extraction on biological activities and phenolics composition of winter savory leaf extracts. *Antioxidants*. (2020) 9:841. doi: 10.3390/antiox9090841
- Cetković GS, Mandić AI, Canadanović-Brunet JM, Djilas SM, Tumbas VT. HPLC screening of phenolic compounds in winter savory (*Satureja* montana L.) extracts. J Liq Chromatogr Relat Technol. (2007) 30:293– 306. doi: 10.1080/10826070601063559
- 31. Zheng J, Wittouck S, Salvetti E, Franz CM, Harris HM, Mattarelli P, et al. A taxonomic note on the genus Lactobacillus: description of 23 novel genera, emended description of the genus *Lactobacillus* Beijerinck 1901, and union of Lactobacillaceae and Leuconostocaceae. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol.* (2020) 70:2782–858. doi: 10.1099/ijsem.0.004107
- Milutinović M, Radovanović N, Corović M, Šiler-Marinković S, Rajilić-Stojanović M, Dimitrijević-Branković S. Optimisation of microwave-assisted extraction parameters for antioxidants from waste *Achillea millefolium* dust. *Ind Crops Prod.* (2015) 77:333–41. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2015. 09.007
- EMA/HMPC. Community Herbal Monograph on *Hypericum perforatum* L., Herba (Traditional Use) (2009).
- Gahlaut A, Chhillar AK. Evaluation of antibacterial potential of plant extracts using resazurin based microtiter dilution assay. *Int J Pharm Sci.* (2013) 5:372–
- Molan AL, Lila MA, Mawson J, De S. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of the prebiotic activity of water-soluble blueberry extracts. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. (2009) 25:1243–9. doi: 10.1007/s11274-009-0011-9
- Tzounis X, Rodriguez-Mateos A, Vulevic J, Gibson GR, Kwik-Uribe C, Spencer JP. Prebiotic evaluation of cocoa-derived flavanols in healthy humans by using a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 93:62–72. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.000075
- 37. BoŽin B, Kladar N, Grujić N, Anačkov G, Samojlik I, Gavarić N, et al. Impact of origin and biological source on chemical composition, anticholinesterase and antioxidant properties of some St. John's wort species (*Hypericum spp.*, Hypericaceae) from the Central Balkans. *Molecules*. (2013) 18:11733– 50. doi: 10.3390/molecules181011733
- FDA (2021). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/food/food-additivespetitions/food-additive-status-list#ftnE (accessed 6 March, 2021).
- Vladić J, Jakovljević M, Molnar M, Vidović S, Tomić M, Drinić Z, et al. Valorization of Yarrow (Achillea millefolium L.) by-product

through application of subcritical water extraction. *Molecules*. (2020) 25:1878. doi: 10.3390/molecules25081878

- Silva BA, Malva JO, Dias AC. St. John's Wort (*Hypericum perforatum*) extracts and isolated phenolic compounds are effective antioxidants in several *in vitro* models of oxidative stress. *Food Chem.* (2008) 110:611– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.02.047
- Taamalli A, Arráez-Román D, Barrajón-Catalán E, Ruiz-Torres V, Pérez-Sánchez A, Herrero M, et al. Use of advanced techniques for the extraction of phenolic compounds from Tunisian olive leaves: Phenolic composition and cytotoxicity against human breast cancer cells. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (2012) 50:1817–25. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2012.02.090
- Cowan MM. Plant products as antimicrobial agents. Clin Microbiol Rev. (1999) 12:564–82. doi: 10.1128/CMR.12.4.564
- Gyawali R, Ibrahim SA. Impact of plant derivatives on the growth of foodborne pathogens and the functionality of probiotics. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2012) 95:29–45. doi: 10.1007/s00253-012-4117-x
- Kumar S, Pandey AK. Chemistry and biological activities of flavonoids: an overview. Sci World J. (2013) 2013:162750. doi: 10.1155/2013/162750
- Hayek SA, Gyawali R, Ibrahim SA. Antimicrobial Natural Products. In: Méndez-Vilas A, editor. *Microbial Pathogens and Strategies for Combating Them: Science, Technology and Education*. Badajoz: Formatex Research Center (2013).
- Šavikin K, Menković N, Zdunić G, Stević T, Radanović D, Janković T. Antimicrobial activity of *Gentiana lutea L. extracts. Z Naturforsch 64 C.* (2009). p. 339–42.
- Mekinić IG, Skroza D, Ljubenkov I, Krstulović L, MoŽina SS, Katalinić V. Phenolic acids profile, antioxidant and antibacterial activity of chamomile, common yarrow and immortelle (Asteraceae). *Nat Prod Commun.* (2014) 9:1745–8. doi: 10.1177/1934578X1400901222
- Stojanović G, Radulović N, Hashimoto T, Palić R. In vitro antimicrobial activity of extracts of four Achillea species: the composition of Achillea clavennae L.(Asteraceae) extract. J Ethnopharmacol. (2005) 101:185–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2005.04.026
- 49. Candan F, Unlu M, Tepe B, Daferera D, Polissiou M, Sökmen A, et al. Antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of the essential oil and methanol extracts of *Achillea millefolium* subsp. millefolium Afan.(Asteraceae). J Ethnopharmacol. (2003) 87:215–20. doi: 10.1016/S0378-8741(03)00149-1
- Mazandarani M, Yassaghi S, Rezaei M, Mansourian A, Ghaemi E. Ethnobotany and antibacterial activities of two endemic species of Hypericum in North-East of Iran. Asian J Plant Sci. (2007) 6:354– 8. doi: 10.3923/ajps.2007.354.358
- 51. Meral GE, Karabay N. *In vitro* antibacterial activities of three *Hypericum* species from West Anatolia. *Turk Electron J Biotechnol.* (2002) 6–10.
- Radulović N, Stankov-Jovanović V, Stojanović G, Šmelcerović A, Spiteller M, Asakawa Y. Screening of *in vitro* antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of nine Hypericum species from the Balkans. *Food Chem.* (2007) 103:15– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.05.062
- Süntar I, Oyardi O, Akkol EK, Ozçelik B. Antimicrobial effect of the extracts from *Hypericum perforatum* against oral bacteria and biofilm formation. *Pharm Biol.* (2016) 54:1065–70. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2015. 1102948
- Suciu M, Gruia AT, Barbu-Tudoran L, Muntean V, Ardelean A. Preliminary results on study of the hepatoptotective and antimicrobial effects of *Gentiana* asclepiadea ethanolic extract. Ann Romanian Soc Cell Biol. (2012) 17:207–12.
- Borchardt JR, Wyse DL, Sheaffer CC, Kauppi KL, Ehlke RGFNJ, Biesboer DD, et al. Antimicrobial activity of native and naturalized plants of Minnesota and Wisconsin. J Med Plants Res. (2008) 2:098–110. doi: 10.5897/JMPR. 9000165
- Molan A, Flanagan J, Wei W, Moughan P. Selenium-containing green tea has higher antioxidant and prebiotic activities than regular green tea. *Food Chem.* (2009) 114:829–35. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.10.028
- Coman MM, Oancea AM, Verdenelli MC, Cecchini C, Bahrim GE, Orpianesi C, et al. Polyphenol content and *in vitro* evaluation of antioxidant, antimicrobial and prebiotic properties of red fruit extracts. *Eur Food Res Technol.* (2018) 244:735–45. doi: 10.1007/s00217-017-2997-9
- Babu KN, Hemalatha R, Satyanarayana U, Shujauddin M, Himaja N, Bhaskarachary K, et al. Phytochemicals, polyphenols, prebiotic effect of Ocimum sanctum, Zingiber officinale, Piper nigrum extracts. J Herb Med. (2018) 13:42–51. doi: 10.1016/j.hermed.2018.05.001

- El-Sedawy AI, Hattori M, Kobashi K, Namba T. Metabolism of gentiopicroside (gentiopicrin) by human intestinal bacteria. *Chem Pharm Bull.* (1989) 37:2435–7. doi: 10.1248/cpb.37.2435
- Chehoud C, Dryga A, Hwang Y, Nagy-Szakal D, Hollister EB, Luna RA, et al. Transfer of viral communities between human individuals during fecal microbiota transplantation. *mBio.* (2016) 7:e00322. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00322-16
- Hong G, Li Y, Yang M, Li G, Qian W, Xiong H, et al. Gut fungal dysbiosis and altered bacterial-fungal interaction in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome: an explorative study. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2020) 32:e13891. doi: 10.1111/nmo.13891
- Milutinović MM. Iskoričćenje otpada iz prerade jagorčevine (*Primula veris*), rastavića (*Equisetum arvense*) i hajdučke trave (*Achillea millefolium*) za dobijanje biološki aktivnih polifenola [Disertation]. [Belgrade] University of Belgrade (2017).
- Rodríguez H, Curiel JA, Landete JM, de las Rivas B, de Felipe FL, Gómez-Cordovés C, et al. Food phenolics and lactic acid bacteria. *Int J Food Microbiol.* (2009) 132:79–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.03.025
- 64. China R, Mukherjee S, Sen S, Bose S, Datta S, Koley H, et al. Antimicrobial activity of *Sesbania grandiflora* flower polyphenol extracts on some pathogenic bacteria and growth stimulatory effect on the probiotic organism *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. *Microbiol Res.* (2012) 167:500– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2012.04.003
- Bouarab-Chibane L, Forquet V, Lantéri P, Clément Y, Léonard-Akkari L, Oulahal N, et al. Antibacterial properties of polyphenols: characterization and QSAR (Quantitative structure-activity relationship) models. *Front Microbiol.* (2019) 10:829. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00829
- Alves-Santos AM, Sugizaki CSA, Lima GC, Naves MMV. Prebiotic effect of dietary polyphenols: a systematic review. J Funct Foods. (2020) 74:104169. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2020.104169
- 67. da Silva-Maia JK, Batista ÂG, Cazarin CBB, Soares ES, Bogusz Junior S, Leal RF, et al. Aqueous extract of Brazilian berry (*Myrciaria jaboticaba*) peel improves inflammatory parameters and modulates *Lactobacillus* and Bifidobacterium in rats with induced-colitis. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2776. doi: 10.3390/nu11112776
- 68. Wu Y, Li S, Tao Y, Li D, Han Y, Show PL, et al. Fermentation of blueberry and blackberry juices using *Lactobacillus plantarum*, *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *Bifidobacterium bifidum*: growth of probiotics, metabolism of phenolics, antioxidant capacity *in vitro* and sensory evaluation. *Food Chem*. (2021) 348:129083. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.129083
- Rodríguez H, Landete JM, de las Rivas B, Muñoz R. Metabolism of food phenolic acids by *Lactobacillus plantarum* CECT 748T. *Food Chem.* (2008) 107:1393–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.09.067
- Duda-Chodak A. The inhibitory effect of polyphenols on human gut microbiota. J Physiol Pharmacol. (2012) 63:497–503.
- Manach C, Milenkovic D, Van de Wiele T, Rodriguez-Mateos A, de Roos B, Garcia-Conesa MT, et al. Addressing the inter-individual variation in response to consumption of plant food bioactives: towards a better understanding of their role in healthy aging and cardiometabolic risk reduction. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1600557. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201600557

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Milutinović, Dimitrijević-Branković and Rajilić-Stojanović. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Zinc as a Biomarker of Cardiovascular Health

Marija Knez* and Maria Glibetic

Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, National Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

The importance of zinc (Zn) for cardiovascular health continuously gains recognition. As shown earlier, compromised Zn homeostasis and prolonged inflammation are common features in various cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Similarly, Zn biochemistry alters several vascular processes, and Zn status is an important feature of cardiovascular health. Zn deficiency contributes to the development of CVDs; thus, Zn manipulations, including Zn supplementation, are beneficial for preventing and treating numerous cardiovascular (CV) disorders. Finally, additional long-term, well-designed studies, performed in various population groups, should be pursued to further clarify significant relationships between Zn and CVDs.

Keywords: zinc, cardiovascular diseases, zinc deficiency, zinc supplementation, obesity, hypertension, cardiovascular health

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Manja Zec, University of Arizona, United States

Reviewed by:

Wimal Pathmasiri, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States Robert Fred Clark, RTI International, United States

> *Correspondence: Marija Knez marijaknez186@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 26 March 2021 Accepted: 25 June 2021 Published: 30 July 2021

Citation:

Knez M and Glibetic M (2021) Zinc as a Biomarker of Cardiovascular Health. Front. Nutr. 8:686078. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.686078 INTRODUCTION

Zinc (Zn) is one of the most essential micronutrients involved in numerous crucial biological functions, i.e., cell differentiation and proliferation, cellular transport, DNA synthesis, endocrine, immune, and central nervous system functioning, reproduction, gene expression, and homeostasis (1). With the capacity to bind more than 300 enzymes and over 2,000 transcriptional factors, it is often regarded as a multipurpose trace element (2). Zn is a major antioxidant mineral responsible for inhibiting expansion and negative effects of free radicals and regulating the oxidant-antioxidant balance of cells (3). Zn deficiency significantly affects the functioning of biological systems, creates dysfunctions in humoral and cell-mediated immunity, consequently, increases the vulnerability to infections—predisposing people to disturbances in gut microbiota activity, increases the incidence of bacterial, viral, and fungal infections, and leads to the progression of chronic and degenerative diseases, i.e., type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), and cancers (3). CVDs are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, and 17.9 million people died from CVDs in 2016, representing 31% of global deaths (4). CVD-related deaths are projected to reach 23.6 million annually by 2030 (1). Three-quarters of these deaths occur in low-income and middle-income countries (4). The deficiency of Zn affects 17% of the global population, up to 35% in low-income populations, i.e., South Asia and Africa (1). An association between Zn intake and Zn status with the pathogenesis of CVDs is demonstrated by several experimental and clinical studies (5, 6). Imbalances in Zn homeostasis contribute significantly to the development of CVDs, such as coronary heart disease (CHD), congestive heart failure (HF), ischemic cardiomyopathy (CM), myocardial infarction (MI), sudden cardiac death (SCD), and CVD mortality, in general (5). Antioxidant and prooxidant functions of Zn may have various positive effects on CV health and could prevent the development of CVDs (6).

65

This study provides a concise and thorough overview of the relationship between Zn homeostasis and CVDs. The importance and potential suitability of Zn status as a biomarker of CV health are discussed, highlighting present controversies and research gaps that entail further research studies.

ZINC DEFICIENCY—A CONTRIBUTING FACTOR FOR DEVELOPING CVDs

Zinc is a major component of numerous enzymes within the human body. It controls the functioning of metalloenzymes, angiotensin-converting transcription factors, enzymes, desaturases, superoxide dismutases, and many others (1). Consequently, deficiency of Zn leads to apoptosis, inflammation, and oxidative stress, all well-acknowledged risk factors for the development of CVDs (7). Perturbations in Zn homeostasis affect the vascular endothelium (8). Zn deficiency weakens vascular health, impairs appropriate fatty acid and carbohydrate metabolism, and negatively impacts the cell structure of the aorta (9). Impaired Zn homeostasis is associated with common genomic and proteomic modifications that relate to CVDs (10). Zn controls the arteriosclerotic process, and inadequate Zn intake leads to increased oxidative stress, disrupted nitric oxide (NO), and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B-cell (NF-kB) signaling and contributes considerably to endothelial damage and development of arteriosclerosis (ARS) (6). The rate of ARS, ischemic injuries, ischemic CM, and ischemic HF amplifies in line with decreasing plasma Zn levels (11, 12). Likewise, dietary Zn intake and Zn deficiency are adversely linked to subclinical ARS as demonstrated through carotid intima-media thickness (13, 14). Heart development is sensitive to Zn deficiency, and maternal Zn deficiency is linked to a high incidence of fetal heart abnormalities (15). Furthermore, Zn inadequacy prevents adequate development of cardiac tissues and increases blood pressure in fetuses and infants (16). Excessive embryonic cell death occurs after episodes of Zn deficiency (15). Proatherogenic factors, released during Zn deficiency, increase the incidence of arrhythmias, strokes, CM, and many other CV system pathologies (5, 17). There is an inverse relation between the serum Zn concentrations and the risk of CVDs in high-risk populations (18). Besides, lower serum Zn levels are associated with a higher risk of CVDs, with the greatest relations reported in most vulnerable populations, i.e., patients with diabetes and coronary angiography (18). Stimulated expression of inflammatory cytokines, i.e., interleukin 6 (IL-6), interleukin 2 (IL-2), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1β), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and increased oxidative stress are aggravated under Zn deficiency conditions (19). Similarly, cytokines can upregulate or downregulate the expression of particular cellular Zn transporters (20). Twenty-four Zn transporters are found within the human heart muscle tissue, so disturbances in Zn homeostasis may lead to CVDs (21). Turbulences in Zn homeostasis contribute to the development of hypertension (HT) (22). Through the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, Zn regulates arterial pressure and plays an important role in the etiopathogenesis of arterial HT (23).

Adequate Zn levels are a critical component in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor signaling during atherosclerosis (ATS) (23). Furthermore, patients with coronary heart disease have poor Zn status (17). Zn deficiency contributes to the thickening of the vascular wall due to enhanced proliferation and hypertrophy (24). Low serum Zn levels are measured in people with HF (25, 26). Zn also has a role in redox signaling pathways, and it improves antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant activities (27). Deficiency of Zn can degenerate essential proteins like protein creatine kinase (C kinase), stimulate the production of inflammatory cytokines and Creactive proteins, and may trap constituents in monocytes and macrophages (19). Serum Zn levels are considerably diminished in patients with left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), and a significant inverse relation is seen between Zn status and LVH (5). Patients with ischemic stroke have lower serum Zn levels than healthy subjects (13). Similarly, lower serum Zn levels are seen in patients with HF and patients with left ventricular diastolic function (28). Besides, serum Zn levels are inversely associated with diminished glucose homeostasis and insulin resistance (29). Low serum Zn concentration predicts mortality in patients that need coronary angiography (30). What is more, serum Zn levels could be a valid diagnostic indicator for acute MI (31). According to the meta-analysis data, an increased prevalence of coronary artery disease (CAD) is linked to a lower dietary Zn intake, with a direct association between Zn status and MI (31).

ZINC INTERVENTIONS ALLEVIATE RISK FACTORS FOR CVDs

Cohort studies, randomized trials, and meta-analyses of these studies propose that higher consumption of dietary Zn is linked to reduced risk of CVDs. Administration of Zn stimulates myocardial healing and improves arrhythmias (32). Besides, Zn is a wound-healing agent that supports cardiac steam cell survival, a critical element of cardiac healing (12). Zn supplementation has an atheroprotective effect (20) and contributes to a higher concentration of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and apoproteins, and lower total cholesterol (TC) levels (33). Higher serum Zn concentrations are associated with a decline in relative risk of death of CVDs (12). Reduced prevalence of CAD and T2DM is correlated with higher dietary Zn intakes (34, 35). Additionally, higher plasma Zn concentration is associated with a diminished risk of mortality of vascular disease (VD) (30, 36). Zn supplementation could potentially increase the effectiveness of currently used therapeutic drugs for managing CVDs (37). Finally, recently presented data of a systematic review and meta-analysis point out that low-dose and long-duration Zn interventions are of identical or in some instances of even larger magnitude and with even more beneficial effects compared to high-dose and short-duration interventions. Long-duration Zn studies, for 12 weeks or longer, alleviated risk factors for T2DM and CVDs, such as blood glucose, total fats, triglycerides (TGs), and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), while the longer duration of low Zn doses affected a larger number of risk factors (38).

LIMITED KNOWLEDGE ON VASCULAR ROLES OF ZINC TRANSPORTER PROTEINS

Twenty-four Zip transporters are present within human heart muscle tissues, so disturbances in Zn homeostasis are strongly related to CVDs (21). Zrt, Irt-like protein2 (Zip2), Zip12, Zip14, and Zn transporter1 (ZnT1) and ZnT2 are linked to the vascular biology of CVDs (37).

For example, Zip2 has a beneficial role in the postconditioning cardioprotective process (32). Zip2 polymorphism is associated with human carotid artery disease in the elderly (39). In addition, Zip12 is involved in the uptake of Zn into the vascular wall (22). Yet, limited information is available on vascular roles of Zip14, ZnT1, and ZnT4 (37).

Furthermore, ZnT1 is involved in cardiac electrophysiological effects of Zn and increased ZnT1 expression is seen in patients with atrial fibrillation (40, 41). Zn has a central role in the generation of NO and actions that have multiple implications for vascular endothelial and smooth muscle functions, i.e., vascular smooth muscle relaxation, antiplatelet properties, and protection of vascular endothelium against oxidative damage (42). The availability and function of NO are disturbed in Zn deficiency (37). The action of NO is controlled by both Zn and metallothionein (MT), so an insufficient supply of endothelial Zn will make NO ineffective as a CVD therapeutic agent (37).

Investigation of the genetic polymorphism of Zn transporters gains more and more attention. The polymorphism of Zn transporters confers a predisposition to various chronic and agerelated diseases, such as chronic CVDs (43, 44). A common polymorphism in the ZnT8 gene, on the C allele, is associated with a higher risk of developing T2DM and metabolic syndrome (45, 46). Several single-nucleotide polymorphisms modulate Zn intake and status (47). There is an interaction between certain dietary components (i.e., omega three fatty acid intake) with Zn transporters in relation to the risk factors for CVD development (48). MT polymorphisms, MT1A, MT1B, MT2, and MT4, are often associated with dietetic neuropathy, blood pressure, inflammatory cytokine levels, DM, and CVDs (49-51). Similarly, there is an indirect involvement of uncoupling proteins in the MT-dependent reduction in the free radicalinduced cardiac toxicity (52). Finally, ZnT1, ZnT4, ZnT5, ZnT6, ZnT7, and ZnT9 polymorphisms are linked to T2DM, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance, all well-known CVD risk factors (53, 54).

ZINC AND INDEPENDENT RISK FACTORS OF CVDs

Several risk factors (i.e., T2DM, obesity, and HT) that predispose to VD are linked to irregularities in Zn homeostasis in individual organs or the whole body (55). A direct association between serum Zn and metabolic risk factors for the development of CVD, i.e., serum lipids, T2DM, and obesity, is shown (35, 55, 56). Zn plays an important role in insulin synthesis, crystallization, storage, and secretion in the pancreatic β -cells (57). Oxidative stress, a key risk factor in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus (DM), is aggravated under Zn deficiency states (58). Zn has insulin-mimicking properties, stimulates glucose uptake in insulin-dependent tissues, and regulates gluconeogenic enzymes (59).

ZnT8, located on dense core vesicles in β -cells, has a central role in the transportation of Zn into insulin secretory granules of β -cells and is identified as a novel therapeutic target in patients with diabetes (18, 60). Diabetes is often accompanied by hypozincemia and hyperzincuria (33, 61). Furthermore, Zn stimulates insulin binding to hepatocyte membranes and low Zn status considerably decreases the reaction of tissues to insulin (62). There is an inverse correlation between femur Zn and serum glucose concentrations (63).

Interestingly, a moderately high Zn intake could reduce the risk of diabetes by 13%, up to 40% in people living in rural areas (64). Zn supplementation improves glycemic control and reduces hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels in patients with T2DM (63, 65). Besides, Zn improves glucose metabolism and contributes to glucose uptake into the relevant tissues (66). By inhibiting the activation of cytokines, Zn deficiency contributes to apoptosis and insulin resistance of β -pancreatic cells (57). The highest amount of Zn within the human body is stored in the pancreatic β -cells, so Zn ameliorates the consequences of immune-mediated free radicals in pancreatic islet cells (67). In addition, Zn stimulates phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates and improves insulin sensitivity (68). Insulin resistance of adipocytes increases the release of fatty acids into the circulation and consequently improves fatty acid flux to the liver leading to hypertriglyceridemia (63). Similarly, Zn affects lipid metabolism directly. Zn maintains adipose tissue functioning via the activity of Zn finger proteins involved in the regulation of lipid metabolism (69). Zn- α 2-glycoprotein inactivates hormone-sensitive lipase and accordingly reduces lipogenesis and increases lipolysis in adipose tissues (66). Zn modulates postprandial lipemia, and Zn deficiency markedly reduces the absorption rate of TGs, brings compositional alterations of chylomicrons, and reduces their production rates and uptake by the liver (70). Thus, Zn deficiency is often linked to obesity, due to chronic inflammation and oxidative stress. Zn levels in obese subjects are lower than in controls (71-73), and supplementation of Zn reduces plasma insulin resistance, leptin, and inflammatory biomarkers in obese individuals (74, 75).

ZINC HOMEOSTASIS AND CVDs-THE EXISTING CONTROVERSIES

The link between HT and Zn status is not decisive, and contradictory findings are reported over the years. Some studies demonstrate an inverse association (76, 77), while others found

a direct positive link between serum Zn levels and blood pressure (57, 78). There are also data signifying no association between the two variables (74–81). Similarly, discrepancies in findings are reported for the risk of developing ARS in relation to serum Zn levels, and certain data reveal a direct link (6, 82), while others show no association between the serum Zn concentrations and ARS (83). The first randomized controlled trial (RCT) in humans shows adverse effects of Zn supplementation on HDL-C in healthy subjects (20). However, opposite findings exist, and a positive relation between serum Zn and HDL-C and LDL-C concentrations is observed (79). Lower consumption of dietary Zn is related to low HDL-C levels (31).

In addition, Zn supplementation has a beneficial effect on plasma lipid parameters, and it noticeably reduces TC, LDL-C, and TG levels in healthy individuals (10, 33). The benefits of Zn supplementation are more evident in nonhealthy population groups. The meta-analysis data show that Zn supplementation leads to a significant reduction in LDL-C, TC, and TG levels in non-healthy patients, while in healthy people a noteworthy decline in TC levels is seen (33). HDL-C levels increase under Zn supplementation (20, 33, 77). Large longitudinal prospective cohort studies provide inconsistent findings on the association between supplementary Zn intake and risk of T2DM, showing both a direct, beneficial (34, 49, 83, 84), an inverse (85), and no relation (86, 87).

Likewise, there are no definitive conclusions on the relationship between Zn status and T2DM: no association (88) and an inverse link are reported (89) but, lower serum Zn levels are generally associated with an increased risk of T2DM (43, 90).

Different health status of participants, dissimilarities in the design, assessed outcomes across studies and influence of confounding factors and their appropriate adjustments, (i.e., medication, duration of the disease, dietary habits, and physical activity), differences in Zn assessment methods, lack of distinction in dietary Zn sources, variations in dietary data collection, and the inconsistency in utilized statistical models may all be potential reasons for observed discrepancies in findings among studies.

RESEARCH GAPS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH STUDIES

The precise role of Zn deficiency mechanisms in the pathogenesis of CVDs is still not known. The biological properties of Zn, playing a role in the physiology and pathology of CVDs, should be examined further. Additional community-based observational cohort studies may be useful for obtaining more precise and evidence-based conclusions on the relation between Zn and CVDs. It is essential to clarify the instances when inadequate dietary Zn intake and low Zn status are a result rather than a cause of CVDs. Particular attention should be paid to exclude the negative effects of medications of CVDs, i.e., diuretic furosemide, angiotensin receptor blockers, and angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors, on Zn status. Larger, welldesigned randomized clinical trials are necessary to thoroughly examine the effect of Zn intake on CV health. Potential interactions with other dietary factors and micronutrients that could modulate Zn intake should be considered. Benefits, clinical applications, risks, and contraindications of dietary and supplemental Zn intake on main CV events should be examined further. The impact of the baseline Zn status on the efficacy of Zn interventions on CVD risk factors is of great importance and should be appropriately assessed and reported. Risk factors related to CVDs should be examined as primary outcomes of these interventions, and they should aim to examine the development and progression of these conditions. Further research studies should investigate the interaction between Zn intake and Zn status data with present preventative schemes and currently employed treatment methods that could help in the prevention and management of many ensuing CVDs.

As Zn status is affected by various factors, a careful selection of confounders should be made. Zn deficiency may not only be caused by an inappropriate dietary intake and/or bioavailability but also by factors such as age, physical activity, and alcohol or drug addictions. Further research studies should explore molecular mechanisms that support the sensing and distribution of Zn in various tissues. The interaction between Zn and inflammation deserves further research studies. The limitations of biomarkers of Zn status should be taken into consideration. Circulating plasma/serum Zn concentrations are affected by inflammation, time of the last meal, infections, and some other factors. All these elements have to be suitably deliberated. Newly proposed biomarkers of Zn status should be taken into consideration and investigated to CVD-related factors.

The mechanisms of action of Zn transporter proteins require additional research studies. Detailed and careful analysis of the activities of these transporters is required to improve our knowledge on the pathogenesis of CVDs. The transfer of information from Zn intake/status to cellular functions needs further extrapolation. New studies are needed to provide a more thorough understanding of MT and ZnT roles and the effects of their common genetic variations. Additional studies are required to explain the interactions between specific genetic profiles and zinc status. Further research studies should clarify gene-nutrient interactions and their relationship with Zn status and CVDs. It would be beneficial to develop suitable methods for measuring endothelial Zn as a biomarker of vascular Zn deficiency. The interplay between Zn and NO levels should be further investigated. The expression and functions/dysfunctions of Zn transporters in vascular tissues and genetic risk factors associated with Zn transporters should be additionally tested. Zn homeostasis is altered early in CVDs, so an intervention with Zn-related therapy could provide significant benefits. Preventative CVD actions should include programmed Zn nutrition approaches. The possibility of therapeutic manipulations of CVDs by Zn-based treatments exists; however, further low-dose short- and/or long-duration well-designed studies, across a variety of populations, are needed. The role of Zn supplementation in the process of recovery from CVDs should be more intensively investigated to find safe and desirable levels of Zn supplementation and, additionally, to determine the dose and duration that would be most beneficial primarily for the prevention of and, if need be, for the treatment of various ensuing CVD-related pathologies. Appropriate dietary recommendations, food fortification, and agronomic biofortification strategies should all be investigated and employed so that majority of people, both in developing and developed countries, can attain sufficient levels of dietary Zn in daily diets and potentially diminish the risk of developing CVDs.

REFERENCES

- Maxfield L, Crane JS. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK493231/ (accessed March 20, 2021).
- Chasapis CT, Loutsidou AC, Spiliopoulou CA, Stefanidou ME. Zinc and human health: an update. Arch. Toxicol. (2012) 86:521–34. doi: 10.1007/s00204-011-0775-1
- 3. Pae M, Meydani SN, Wu D. The role of nutrition in enhancing immunity in aging. *Aging Dis.* (2012) 3:91–129.
- WHO. Available Online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds) (accessed February 18, 2021).
- Huang L, Teng T, Bian B, Yao W, Yu X, Wang Z, et al. Zinc levels in left ventricular hypertrophy. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2017) 176:48–55. doi: 10.1007/s12011-016-0808-y
- Choi S, Liu X, Pan Z. Zinc deficiency and cellular oxidative stress: prognostic implications in cardiovascular diseases. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2018) 39:1120-32. doi: 10.1038/aps.2018.25
- Jurowski K, Szewczyk B, Nowak G, Piekoszewski W. Biological consequences of zinc deficiency in the pathomechanisms of selected diseases. J Biol Inorg Chem. (2014) 9:1069–79. doi: 10.1007/s00775-014-1139-0
- Beattie JH, Gordon M-J, Duthie SJ, McNeil CJ, Horgan GW, Nixon GF, et al. Suboptimal dietary zinc intake promotes vascular inflammation and atherogenesis in a mouse model of atherosclerosis. *Molec Nutr. Food Res.* (2012) 56:1097–105. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201100776
- Beattie JH, Gordon MJ, Rucklidge GJ, Reid MD, Duncan GJ, Horgan GW, et al. Aorta protein networks in marginal and acute zinc deficiency. *Proteomics*. (2008) 8:2126–35. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200700784
- Foster M, Petocz P, Samman S. Effects of zinc on plasma lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations in humans: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Atherosclerosis.* (2010) 210:344–52. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.11.038
- Shokrzadeh M, Ghaemian A, Salehifar E, Aliakbari S, Saravi SSS, Ebrahimi P. Serum zinc and copper levels in ischemic cardiomyopathy. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2009) 127:116–23. doi: 10.1007/s12011-008-8237-1
- 12. Little PJ, Bhattacharya R, Moreyra AE, Korichneva IL. Zinc and cardiovascular disease. *Nutrition*. (2010) 26:1050–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.03.007
- Munshi A, Babu S, Kaul S, Shafi G, Rajeshwar K, Alladi S, et al. Depletion of serum zinc in ischemic stroke patients. *Method Finding Exp Clin Pharm.* (2010) 32:433. doi: 10.1358/mf.2010.32.6.1487084
- Masley SC, Roetzheim R, Masley LV, McNamara T, Schocken DD. Emerging risk factors as markers for carotid intima media thickness scores. J Am Coll Nutr. (2015) 34:100–7. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2014. 916238
- Lopez V, Keen CL, Lanoue L. Prenatal zinc deficiency: influence on heart morphology and distribution of key heart proteins in a rat model. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2008) 122:238–55. doi: 10.1007/s12011-007-8079-2
- Tomat AL, Costa MdlÁ, Arranz CT. Zinc restriction during different periods of life: influence in renal and cardiovascular diseases. *Nutrition*. (2011) 27:392–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.09.010

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK conceptualized and wrote the manuscript and prepared the manuscript for submission. MG revised the final version of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, Contract 451-03-9/2021-14/200015.

- Hashemian M, Poustchi H, Mohammadi-Nasrabadi F, Hekmatdoost A. Systematic review of zinc biochemical indicators and risk of coronary heart disease. ARYA Arther. (2015) 11:357–65.
- Chu A, Foster M, Samman S. Zinc status and risk of cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes mellitus-A systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:707. doi: 10.3390/nu8110707
- Bao B, Prasad AS, Beck FW, Fitzgerald JT, Snell D, Bao GW, et al. Zinc decreases C-reactive protein, lipid peroxidation, and inflammatory cytokines in elderly subjects: a potential implication of zinc as an atheroprotective agent. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 91:1634–41. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28836
- Foster M, Samman S. Zinc and regulation of inflammatory cytokines: implications for cardiometabolic disease. *Nutrients.* (2012) 4:676–94. doi: 10.3390/nu4070676
- Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Oksvold P, Kampf C, Djureinovic D, Odeberg J, et al. Analysis of the human tissue-specific expression by genome-wide integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based proteomics. *Mol Cell proteomics*. (2014) 13:397-406. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M113.035600
- Zhao L, Oliver E, Maratou K, Atanur SS, Dubois OD, Cotroneo E, et al. The zinc transporter ZIP12 regulates the pulmonary vascular response to chronic hypoxia. *Nature*. (2015) 524:356–60. doi: 10.1038/nature14620
- Reiterer G, MacDonald R, Browning JD, Morrow J, Matveev SV, Daugherty A, et al. Zinc deficiency increases plasma lipids and atherosclerotic markers in LDL-receptor-deficient mice. J Nutr. (2005) 135:2114–8. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.9.2114
- Alcantara EH, Shin MY, Feldmann J, Nixon GF, Beattie JH, Kwun IS. Longterm zinc deprivation accelerates rat vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation involving the down-regulation of JNK1/2 expression in MAPK signaling. *Atherosclerosis.* (2013) 228:46–52. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.01.030
- Cohen N, Golik A. Zinc balance and medications commonly used in the management of heart failure. *Heart Fail Rev.* (2006) 11:19–24. doi: 10.1007/s10741-006-9189-1
- Yu X, Huang L, Zhao J, Wang Z, Yao W, Wu X, et al. The relationship between serum zinc level and heart failure: a meta-analysis. *Bio Med Res Int.* (2018) 2018:2739014. doi: 10.1155/2018/2739014
- Mohammadifard N, Humphries KH, Gotay C, Mena-Sanchez G, Salas-Salvado J, Esmaillzadeh A, et al. Trace minerals intake: risks and benefits for cardiovascular health. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:1334–46. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.1406332
- Alexanian I, Parissis J, Farmakis D, Athanaselis S, Pappas L, Gavrielatos G, et al. Clinical and echocardiographic correlates of serum copper and zinc in acute and chronic heart failure. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2014) 103:938–49. doi: 10.1007/s00392-014-0735-x
- Giannoglou GD, Konstantinou DM, Kovatsi L, Chatzizisis YS, Mikhailidis DP. Association of reduced zinc status with angiographically severe coronary atherosclerosis: a pilot study. *Angiology.* (2010) 61:449–55. doi: 10.1177/0003319710366702
- Pilz S, Dobnig H, Winklhofer-Roob BM, Renner W, Seelhorst U, Wellnitz B, et al. Low serum zinc concentrations predict mortality in patients referred to coronary angiography. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101:1534–40. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508084079

- Liu B, Cai Z-Q, Zhou Y-M. Deficient zinc levels and myocardial infarction. Biol Trace Elem Res. (2015) 165:41–50. doi: 10.1007/s12011-015-0244-4
- 32. Karagulova G, Yue Y, Moreyra A, Boutjdir M, Korichneva I. Protective role of intracellular zinc in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion is associated with preservation of protein kinase C isoforms. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (2007) 321:517–25. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.119644
- 33. Ranasinghe P, Wathurapatha W, Ishara M, Jayawardana R, Galappatthy P, Katulanda P, et al. Effects of zinc supplementation on serum lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Metab.* (2015) 12:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12986-015-0023-4
- Sun Q, Van Dam RM, Willett WC, Hu FB. Prospective study of zinc intake and risk of type 2 diabetes in women. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:629–34. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1913
- Vashum KP, McEvoy M, Shi Z, Milton AH, Islam MR, Sibbritt D, et al. Is dietary zinc protective for type 2 diabetes? Results from the Australian longitudinal study on women's health. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2013) 13:40. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-13-40
- Bates CJ, Hamer M, Mishra GD. Redox-modulatory vitamins and minerals that prospectively predict mortality in older British people: the National Diet and Nutrition Survey of people aged 65 years and over. *Br J Nutr.* (2011) 105:123–32. doi: 10.1017/S0007114510003053
- Zalewski PD, Beltrame JF, Wawer AA, Abdo AI, Murgia C. Roles for endothelial zinc homeostasis in vascular physiology and coronary artery disease. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. (2019) 59:3511–25. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1495614
- Pompano LM, Boy E. Effects of dose and duration of zinc interventions on risk factors for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Adv Nutr. (2020) 12:141–60. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmab052
- Giacconi R, Muti E, Malavolta M, Cardelli M, Pierpaoli S, Cipriano C, et al. A novel Zip2 Gln/Arg/Leu codon 2 polymorphism is associated with carotid artery disease in aging. *Rejuvenation Res.* (2008) 11:297–300. doi: 10.1089/rej.2008.0671
- Etzion Y, Ganiel A, Beharier O, Shalev A, Novack V, Volvich L, et al. Correlation between atrial ZnT-1 expression and atrial fibrillation in humans: a pilot study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. (2008) 19:157–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2007.01008.x
- Mor M, Beharier O, Levy S, Kahn J, Dror S, Blumenthal D, et al. ZnT-1 enhances the activity and surface expression of T-type calcium channels through activation of Ras-ERK signaling. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* (2012) 303:C192–203. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00427.2011
- Shimokawa H. 2014 Williams Harvey Lecture: importance of coronary vasomotion abnormalities—from bench to bedside. *Eur Heart J.* (2014) 35:3180–93. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu427
- Mocchegiani E, Malavolta M. Zinc-gene interaction related to inflammatory/immune response in ageing. *Genes Nutr.* (2008) 3:61–75. doi: 10.1007/s12263-008-0085-2
- 44. Virgili F, Ambra R, McCormack J, Simpson EEA, Ciarapica D, Barnaba L, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and zinc status: implications for supplementation in metabolic diseases. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2018) 24:4131–43. doi: 10.2174/1381612824666181016155903
- Cheng L, Zhang D, Zhou L, Zhao J, Chen B. Association between SLC30A8 rs13266634 polymorphism and type 2 diabetes risk: a meta-analysis. *Med Sci Monit*. (2015) 21:2178–89. doi: 10.12659/MSM.894052
- 46. DeMenna J, Puppala S, Chittoor G, Schneider J, Kim JY, Shaibi GQ, et al. Association of common genetic variants with diabetes and metabolic syndrome related traits in the Arizona insulin resistance registry: a focus on Mexican American families in the Southwest. *Hum Hered.* (2014) 7:47–58. doi: 10.1159/000363411
- 47. Costarelli L, Muti E, Malavolta M, Cipriano C, Giacconi R, Tesei S, et al. Distinctive modulation of inflammatory and metabolic parameters in relation to zinc nutritional status in adult overweight/obese subjects. J Nutr Biochem. (2010) 21:432–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2009. 02.001
- Hosseini-Esfahani F, Mirmiran P, Koochakpoor G, Daneshpour MS, Guity K, Azizi F. Some dietary factors can modulate the effect of the zinc transporters 8 polymorphism on the risk of metabolic syndrome. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1649. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01762-9

- Adams JN, Martelle SE, Raffield LM, Freedman BI, Langefeld CD, Hsu F-C, et al. Analysis of advanced glycation end products in the DHS Mind Study. J Diabetes Complicat. (2016) 30:262–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.11.025
- Yang L, Li H, Yu T, Zhao H, Cherian MG, Cai L, et al. Polymorphisms in metallothionein-1 and-2 genes associated with the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2008) 294:E987-92. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90234.2008
- Kozarova R, Postadzhiyan A, Finkov B, Apostolova M. Association of copy number variations and single nucleotide polymorphisms in metallothionein genes with pathogenesis of diabetes and coronary artery disease. *Atheroscl Suppl.* (2011) 12:107. doi: 10.1016/S1567-5688(11)70504-9
- Jing L, Yang M, Li Y, Yu Y, Liang B, Cao L, et al. Metallothionein prevents doxorubicin cardiac toxicity by indirectly regulating the uncoupling proteins 2. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (2017) 110:204–13. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2017.10.035
- Xiang J, Li XY, Xu M, Hong J, Huang Y, Tan J-R, et al. Zinc transporter-8 gene (SLC30A8) is associated with type 2 diabetes in Chinese. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 93:410712. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0161
- 54. Gomes KFB, Semzezem C, Batista R, Fukui RT, Santos AS, Correia MR, et al. Importance of zinc transporter 8 autoantibody in the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes in Latin Americans. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:2017. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00307-4
- 55. Yary T, Virtanen JK, Ruusunen A, Tuomainen T-P, Voutilainen S. Serum zinc and risk of type 2 diabetes incidence in men: the Kuopio ischaemic heart disease risk factor study. J Trace Elem Med Biol. (2016) 33:120–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2015.11.001
- Ahn B-I, Kim MJ, Koo HS, Seo N, Joo N-S, Kim Y-S. Serum zinc concentration is inversely associated with insulin resistance but not related with metabolic syndrome in nondiabetic Korean adults. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2014) 160:169-75. doi: 10.1007/s12011-014-0045-1
- Ruz M, Carrasco F, Rojas P, Basfi-fer K, Hernández MC, Pérez A. Nutritional effects of zinc on metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: mechanisms and main findings in human studies. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2019) 188:177–88. doi: 10.1007/s12011-018-1611-8
- Prasad AS, Bao B. Molecular mechanisms of zinc as a pro-antioxidant mediator: clinical therapeutic implications. *Antioxidants*. (2019) 8:164. doi: 10.3390/antiox8060164
- Chabosseau P, Rutter GA. Zinc and diabetes. Arch Biochem Biophys. (2016) 611:79-85. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2016.05.022
- Shan Z, Bao W, Zhang Y, Rong Y, Wang X, Jin Y, et al. Interactions between zinc transporter-8 gene and plasma zinc concentrations for impaired glucose regulation and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. (2014) 63:1796–803. doi: 10.2337/db13-0606
- Barman S, Srinivasan K. Diabetes and zinc dyshomeostasis: can zinc supplementation mitigate diabetic complications? *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2020). doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.1833178. [Epub ahead of print].
- Praveeena S, Pasula S, Sameera K. Trace elements in diabetes mellitus. J Clin Diagn Res. (2013) 7:1863–5. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/5464.3335
- Capdor J, Foster M, Petocz P, Samman S. Zinc and glycemic control: a metaanalysis of randomised placebo controlled supplementation trials in humans. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2013) 27:137–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2012.08.001
- Fernández-Cao JC, Warthon-Medina M, H Moran V, Arija V, Doepking C, Serra-Majem L, et al. Zinc intake and status and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1027. doi: 10.3390/nu11051027
- de Carvalho GB, Brandão-Lima PN, Maia CS, Barbosa KB, Pires LV. Zinc's role in the glycemic control of patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Biometals.* (2017) 30:15–62. doi: 10.1007/s10534-017-9996-y
- Olechnowicz J, Tinkov A, Skalny A, Suliburska J. Zinc status is associated with inflammation, oxidative stress, lipid, and glucose metabolism. *J Physiol Sci.* (2018) 681:19–31. doi: 10.1007/s12576-017-0571-7
- Maret W. Zinc in pancreatic islet biology, insulin sensitivity, and diabetes. *Prev Nutr Food Sci.* (2017) 22:1–8. doi: 10.3746/pnf.2017.22.1.1
- Mocchegiani E, Giacconi R, Malavolta M. Zinc signalling and subcellular distribution: emerging targets in type 2 diabetes. *Trends Mol Med.* (2008) 14:419-28. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2008.08.002
- Fukunaka A, Fujitani Y. Role of zinc homeostasis in the pathogenesis of diabetes and obesity. Int J Mol Sci. (2018) 19:476. doi: 10.3390/ijms19020476

- Desmarchelier C, Borel P, Lairon D, Maraninchi M, Valero R. Effect of nutrient and micronutrient intake on chylomicron production and postprandial lipemia. Nutrients. (2019) 11:6. doi: 10.3390/nu11061299
- Virdis A, Neves MF, Duranti E, Bernini G, Taddei S. Microvascular endothelial dysfunction in obesity and hypertension. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2013) 19:2382-9. doi: 10.2174/1381612811319130006
- 72. Knez M, Nikolic M, Zekovic M, Stangoulis JCR, Gurinovic M, Glibetic M. The influence of food consumption and socio-economic factors on the relationship between zinc and iron intake and status in a healthy population. *Public Health Nutr.* (2017) 20:2486-98. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017001240
- 73. Knez M, Pantovic A, Zekovic M, Pavlovic Z, Glibetic M, Zec M. Is there a link between zinc intake and status with plasma fatty acid profile and desaturase activities in dyslipidemic subjects? *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:93. doi: 10.3390/nu12010093
- 74. Kelishadi R, Hashemipour M, Adeli K, Tavakoli N, Movahedian-Attar A, Shapouri J, et al. Effect of zinc supplementation on markers of insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and inflammation among prepubescent children with metabolic syndrome. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord.* (2010) 8:505–10. doi: 10.1089/met.2010.0020
- Gunasekara P, Hettiarachchi M, Liyanage C, Lekamwasam S. Effects of zinc and multimineral vitamin supplementation on glycemic and lipid control in adult diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes.* (2011) 4:53–60. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S16691
- 76. Afridi HI, Kazi TG, Kazi N, Talpur FN, Arain SS, Brahman KD, et al. Distribution of copper, iron, and zinc in biological samples of Pakistani hypertensive patients and referent subjects of different age groups. *Clin Labor*. (2013) 59:9-10:959-67. doi: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2012.120704
- 77. Kim J. Dietary zinc intake is inversely associated with systolic blood pressure in young obese women. Nutr Res Pract. (2013) 7:380. doi: 10.4162/nrp.2013.7.5.380
- Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Shapouri-Moghaddam A, Azimi-Nezhad M, Esmaeili H, Parizadeh S, Safarian M, et al. The relationship between established coronary risk factors and serum copper and zinc concentrations in a large Persian cohort. J Trace Elem Med Biol. (2009) 23:167–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2009.03.006
- Tsuboi A, Terazawa M, Kazumi T, Fukuo K. Serum copper, zinc and risk factors for cardiovascular disease in community-living Japanese elderly women. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. (2014) 23:239–45. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.2.04
- Lutfi MF, Elhakeem RF, Khogaly RSKS, Abdrabo AA, Ali AB, Gasim GI, et al. Zinc and copper levels are not correlated with angiographically-defined coronary artery disease in sudanese patients. *Front Physiol.* (2015) 6:191. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00191
- Kunutsor SK, Laukkanen JA. Serum zinc concentrations and incident hypertension: new findings from a population-based cohort study. J Hypertens. (2016) 34:1055–61. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000923
- Islamoglu Y, Evliyaoglu O, Tekbas E, Cil H, Elbey MA, Atilgan Z, et al. The relationship between serum levels of Zn and Cu and severity of coronary atherosclerosis. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2011) 144:436–44. doi: 10.1007/s12011-011-9123-9
- 83. De Paula RC, Aneni EC, Costa APR, Figueiredo VN, Moura FA, Freitas WM, et al. Low zinc levels is associated with increased inflammatory activity but

not with atherosclerosis, arteriosclerosis or endothelial dysfunction among the very elderly. *BBA Clin.* (2014) 2:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbacli.2014.07.002

- Drake I, Hindy G, Ericson U, Orho-Melander M. A prospective study of dietary and supplemental zinc intake and risk of type 2 diabetes depending on genetic variation in SLC30A8. *Genes Nutr.* (2017) 12:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0586-y
- de Oliveira Otto MC, Alonso A, Lee DH, Delclos GL, Bertoni AG, et al. Dietary intakes of zinc and heme iron from red meat, but not from other sources, are associated with greater risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:526–33. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.149781
- Park JS, Xun P, Li J, Morris SJ, Jacobs DR, Liu K, et al. Longitudinal association between toenail zinc levels and the incidence of diabetes among American young adults: the CARDIA. *Trace Elem Study Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–6. doi: 10.1038/srep23155
- Simić A, Hansen AF, Åsvold BO, Romundstad PR, Midthjell K, Syversen T, et al. Trace element status in patients with type 2 diabetes in Norway: the HUNT3 Survey. J Trace Elem Med Biol. (2017) 41:91–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2017.03.001
- Skalnaya MG, Skalny AV, Yurasov VV, Demidov VA, Grabeklis AR, Radysh IV, et al. Serum trace elements and electrolytes are associated with fasting plasma glucose and HbA 1c in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2017) 177:25–32. doi: 10.1007/s12011-016-0 868-z
- Hansen AF, Simić A, Åsvold BO, Romundstad PR, Midthjell K, Syversen T, et al. Trace elements in early phase type 2 diabetes mellitus-A populationbased study. The HUNT study in Norway. J Trace Elem Med Biol. (2017) 40:46–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2016.12.008
- Ranasinghe P, Wathurapatha WS, Galappatthy P, Katulanda P, Jayawardena R, Constantine GR. Zinc supplementation in prediabetes: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Diabetes. (2018) 10:386–97. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12621

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor disclosed a past co-authorship with the authors MG and MK.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Knez and Glibetic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Memorable Food: Fighting Age-Related Neurodegeneration by Precision Nutrition

Maja Milošević¹, Aleksandra Arsić², Zorica Cvetković^{3,4} and Vesna Vučić^{2*}

¹ Department of Neuroendocrinology, Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Department of Nutritional Biochemistry and Dietology, Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Department of Hematology, Clinical Hospital Center Zemun, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁴ Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

Healthcare systems worldwide are seriously challenged by a rising prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases (NDDs), which mostly, but not exclusively, affect the ever-growing population of the elderly. The most known neurodegenerative diseases are Alzheimer's (AD) and Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, but some viral infections of the brain and traumatic brain injury may also cause NDD. Typical for NDD are the malfunctioning of neurons and their irreversible loss, which often progress irreversibly to dementia and ultimately to death. Numerous factors are involved in the pathogenesis of NDD: genetic variability, epigenetic changes, extent of oxidative/nitrosative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and DNA damage. The complex interplay of all the above-mentioned factors may be a fingerprint of neurodegeneration, with different diseases being affected to different extents by particular factors. There is a voluminous body of evidence showing the benefits of regular exercise to brain health and cognitive functions. Moreover, the importance of a healthy diet, balanced in macro- and micro-nutrients, in preventing neurodegeneration and slowing down a progression to full-blown disease is evident. Individuals affected by NDD almost inevitably have low-grade inflammation and anomalies in lipid metabolism. Metabolic and lipid profiles in NDD can be improved by the Mediterranean diet. Many studies have associated the Mediterranean diet with a decreased risk of dementia and AD, but a cause-and-effect relationship has not been deduced. Studies with caloric restriction showed neuroprotective effects in animal models, but the results in humans are inconsistent. The pathologies of NDD are complex and there is a great inter-individual (epi)genetic variance within any population. Furthermore, the gut microbiome, being deeply involved in nutrient uptake and lipid metabolism, also represents a pillar of the gut microbiome-brain axis and is linked with the pathogenesis of NDD. Numerous studies on the role of different micronutrients (omega-3 fatty acids, bioactive polyphenols from fruit and medicinal plants) in the prevention, prediction, and treatment of NDD have been conducted, but we are still far away from a personalized diet plan for individual NDD patients. For this to be realized, large-scale cohorts that would include the precise monitoring of food intake, mapping of genetic variants, epigenetic data, microbiome studies, and metabolome, lipidome, and transcriptome data are needed.

Keywords: neurodegenerative diseases (MeSH), epigenetics (DNA methylation, histone modifications), gut microbiota, aging, precise nutrition

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lizelle Zandberg, North-West University, South Africa

Reviewed by:

Daniela Caporossi, Foro Italico University of Rome, Italy Andrea Stoccoro, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Vesna Vučić vesna.vucic@imi.bg.ac.rs

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 30 March 2021 Accepted: 13 July 2021 Published: 05 August 2021

Citation:

Milošević M, Arsić A, Cvetković Z and Vučić V (2021) Memorable Food: Fighting Age-Related Neurodegeneration by Precision Nutrition. Front. Nutr. 8:688086. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.688086

72

Because of increasing life expectancy and decreasing birth rates, the world's population aged 60 years and older is expected to total 2 billion by the year 2050, and 80% of the elderly will be living in low- and middle-income countries, according to a World Health Organization report (1). Healthcare systems all over the world are seriously challenged by a rising prevalence of disabling chronic diseases, including cancer, cardiovascular disease and neurodegenerative disease (NDD), which affect mostly, but not exclusively, the ever-growing population of the elderly. Gradual and progressive severe damage in neuronal cells lead to severe memory and behavioral impairment (dementia) and loss of movement control (ataxia and paralysis) making NDD the major cause of disability and morbidity among older people worldwide. The most common NDDs are Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), multiple sclerosis (MS), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), but some viral infections of the brain and traumatic brain injury may also cause NDD. Moreover, a significant proportion of the older population is affected by "agerelated cognitive decline," which is independent of dementia and has an incidence 70% higher than dementia alone (2). These patients experience increasing deficits in daily living activities, productivity losses, and subsequently need constant and long-term care, which is connected with overwhelming economic and societal cost (3, 4). Thus, healthy aging and the prevention of neurodegeneration is emerging as a global ultimate goal.

Several cellular and molecular determinants of aging have been identified so far, including loss of protein homeostasis (proteostasis), stem-cell exhaustion, mitochondrial dysfunction, genomic instability, epigenetic alterations, telomere attrition, cellular senescence (i.e., permanent proliferation arrest), deregulated nutrient sensing, altered intracellular signaling, and synaptic dysfunction (5– 7). The complex interplay of all the above-mentioned factors is a fingerprint of neurodegeneration, with different diseases being affected to different extents by specific factors.

The phenotypes of aging can be modified to increase longevity and to prevent or to delay the onset and/or to ameliorate the clinical course of neurodegeneration. Besides drugs approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), such as acetylcholine esterase and levodopa for PD, that ameliorate the symptoms and slow down the progression of NDD, many other medications, such as rapamycin, senolytics, metformin, acarbose, spermidine, and NAD+ enhancers, may improve the quality of life by preserving functional capacity and decreasing disease burden in the elderly and are currently being intensively investigated (8). There is increasing evidence that regular exercise and healthier dietary patterns, balanced in macro- and micro-nutrients, can also have beneficial effects on brain health and cognitive functions by modifying the above-mentioned age-related molecular determinants.

ROLE OF DIET IN NEURODEGENERATION

The important role of deleterious dietary behavior (overfeeding, a high caloric/low dietary fiber diet, or the low consumption of antioxidant nutrients), environmental factors (smoking, alcohol, stress, drugs, and exposure to pesticides), and a sedentary lifestyle throughout the entire life span, including early life, in the development of neurodegeneration is now well-recognized (9). The unbalanced diet during pre-conception, pregnancy, and the first 2 years of life is associated with the inheritance of epigenetic alterations that promote neurodegeneration and are transmissible to offspring and to subsequent generations (10). In addition, an unhealthy diet may alter the gut microbiota, including the neonate's microbiota via breastfeeding as a result of the mother's diet, and promote the development of NDD (11). Generally, the consumption of diets rich in antioxidants and anti-inflammatory components and reduced caloric intake may lower age-related cognitive decline and the risk of NDD (12). Fruits, vegetables, beverages, green tea, coffee, spices, nuts, and cereal products are major sources of plant-derived antioxidantspolyphenols (phenolic acids, flavonoids, anthocyanins, lignans, and stilbenes), carotenoids (xanthophylls and carotenes), and vitamins (vitamins E and C)-and their beneficial effect in NDD has been previously reviewed (13). In vitro and in vivo studies have proposed the neuroprotective properties of vitamin D (14), B vitamins (B12, B6 and riboflavin) (15), vitamin K (16), and trace elements such as selenium, copper, magnesium, iron, lithium, and zinc (17) on neurocognitive disorders, mitochondrial dysfunction, immune dysfunction, inflammatory conditions, cognition, and memory. The neuroprotective role of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and their positive effect in prevention and treatment in NDD is documented in nutritional epidemiology studies, prospective population-based surveys and clinical trials (18, 19). Metabolic and lipid profiles in NDD can be improved by healthy dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean diet.

The traditional diet consumed in Mediterranean countries is characterized by a high intake of vegetables, legumes, fruits, nuts, and wholegrains, a moderate intake of fish, poultry, and red wine (with meals), and a low intake of red and processed meats, with olive oil used as the main fat source; as a whole the diet has a positive effect on diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and many other chronic conditions (20), as well as aging (5). The nutritional value of this diet implies the consumption of antioxidants, vitamins, trace elements, and PUFAs, in particular ω -3 PUFA. It has been reported that an increased adherence to the Mediterranean diet over a longer period (above 4–6 years) contributes to neuronal integrity (increases cortical thickness and brain volume, slows down the rate of hippocampal atrophy and amyloid accumulation, and improves structural connectivity), as well as cognition, memory, and executive function (21).

As such findings are fragmented and sometimes inconsistent, the optimal daily doses of particular macro- and micro-nutrients in preventing, slowing, and reversing neurodegeneration are still to be established in different population subgroups. Precision nutrition and precision medicine, based on the phenotype of aging, food preferences, clinical history, and lifestyle patterns, are becoming important issues with regard to neurodegeneration. The mechanisms by which neurodegeneration can be fought through "memorable" food, with a focus on epigenetic mediation, intervening in the gut microbiota's composition, the reversal of low-grade inflammation and anomalies in lipid metabolism, and caloric restriction, are further discussed.

EPIGENETICS IN NEURODEGENERATION

An increasing body of evidence suggests the role of epigenetic modifications in the development of NDD. Epigenetics encompasses a wide range of stable inheritable and reversible modifications that result in changes in gene expression and function, without affecting the DNA sequence (22). The epigenome constantly changes during the lifespan of an individual. Some of the epigenetic modifications are intrinsically programmed and essential for normal development, growth, and differentiation. The others result in inappropriate epigenetic reprogramming. Although epigenetic modifications are quite stable, they can be modulated by physiological and pathological conditions as well as by the environment (23).

These modifications typically arise owing to DNA methylation or hydroxymethylation, histone post-translational modifications, synthesis of microRNA (miRNAs) and long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), and changes in nucleosome positioning, thereby regulating patterns of gene expression. In normal cells these changes are well-balanced and affected by genetic factors (24), environmental factors (25), and stochastic (undetermined) factors. The influence of hereditary factors in epigenetic changes over time has been shown in studies of monozygotic twins (26), dizygotic twins (27), as well as by the familial clustering of DNA methylation found in longitudinal studies (28). In addition, the epigenetic process can also be affected by nutritional and environmental factors and thereby be dynamically changed during the lifespan of an organism (29, 30). Although methylation was originally thought to serve as a stable mark of gene silencing, nowadays it is known that these changes in DNA methylation can be both rapid and reversible (31). Several studies have shown that nutrition- and environment-induced epigenetic modifications can occur at any stage of life, from the in utero period throughout adult life and aging, and they can be maintained through multiple offspring generations (32). Epigenetic changes may lead to mutations, and, conversely, mutations are frequently observed in genes that modify the epigenome (33).

DNA METHYLATION

Among all epigenetics processes, the most common and investigated is the methylation of DNA.

As presented in **Figure 1**, the mechanism of DNA methylation implies the presence of S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) as the universal methyl donor for DNA and histone proteins. SAM donates the methyl group to the C5 atom of the

cytosine moieties followed by guanines, the so-called CpG dinucleotide. This conversion involves the action of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). In turn, SAM becomes Sadenosylhomocysteine (SAH), which acts as a competitive inhibitor of methyltransferases, including DNMTs (34) (Figure 1). The inhibition is limited as SAH is rapidly hydrolyzed to adenosine and homocysteine. The main role of DNA methylation is to reduce or impair the binding of transcription factors to the regulatory regions, i.e., promoters of genes. Moreover, DNA methylation results in the recruitment of methyl-binding proteins (MBPs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) at the methylated site of promoter regions, thereby repressing the expression of genes. In line with this, actively transcribed genes have hypomethylated promoters, whereas hypermethylated promoters are normally associated with silenced, non-expressed genes (35).

There is growing evidence that altered DNA methylation contributes to the occurrence of several diseases (36). Different types of cancers and allergic, immunological, and inflammatory diseases are closely associated with the epigenetic changes of DNA (37-39). Besides tumors, the main class of diseases associated with epigenetic modifications is neurodegenerative disease (40). The association between DNA methylation and NDD is confirmed in Parkinson's disease (41), Alzheimer's disease (42), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (43), and multiple sclerosis (44). In these diseases, some of the genes are hypermethylated while others are hypomethylated. Thus, in AD, several genes are hypermethylated (APOE, MTHFR, MAPT, SORB3), while others included in Aβ peptide production (*PSEN1*, APP, PP2A, CREB5, S100A2, BACE) are hypomethylated (45). Studies have indicated a positive effect of SAM donors on cognitive function and AD in animals and humans through downregulation of the PSEN1 gene (46, 47). Thus, in a few animal studies conducted in the mice model for AD, supplementation with SAM as the methyl donor modulates the methylation in PSEN1, which leads to not only restoring the methylation potential but also losing the symptoms linked with AD (48, 49).

Besides DNA methylation, histone acetylation is a reversible epigenetic modification controlled by histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases. The acetylation of lysine residues on histones decreases the electrostatic attraction between the histones and the DNA backbone and consequently increases transcription. In NDD, histone acetylation homeostasis is markedly impaired, shifting toward hypoacetylation. Enhanced histone acetylation, promoted by HDAC inhibitors, improves learning and memory and has a neuroprotective effect (50).

Many different environmental stressors, such as diet, pollutants, pesticides, chemical species, drugs, physical exercise, and stress, are known to be causative of epigenetic changes (35). They can switch on/off corresponding genes either by direct interaction with DNA, RNA, or chromatin receptors or indirectly using various enzymes or other epigenomic-associated pathways (51–53).



NUTRIEPIGENOMICS

Many nutrients from food interact with the DNA, and these interactions are studied by nutriepigenomics. Nutrients affect human health *via* epigenetics without alterations in the DNA sequence in two ways—by promoting epigenetic modifications and by reversing the previous or inherited changes. With regard to food, there are differences between synthetic xenobiotics (bisphenol and glyphosate), which are consumed with food and have an epigenomic effect, and diet and its many micro- and macro-nutrients that have also demonstrated epigenetic effects in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, as well as in clinical trials. Toxic xenobiotics may induce DNA methylation in different ways: directly *via* the inhibition of DNA methyltransferases, which leads to hypomethylation, or by subtracting methyl groups from the physiological reactions in which they are included (53).

On the other hand, some nutrients can not only prevent the hypermethylation of DNA but also promote demethylation and the reversal of genes silenced by previous DNA methylation. Thus, molecules such as B vitamins act as methyl donors and might avert the loss of DNA methylation induced by air pollution or some other cause (54). In addition, some bioactive compounds can reverse the epigenome dysregulation induced by bisphenol A (55), while dietary folic acid supplementation can prevent the adverse effects caused by heavy metals (56).

In general, vegetables and fruits and their active molecules have epigenetics potential, and they can modulate DNA

methylation. To date, many bioactive components, such as lycopene, hesperidin, phloretin, genistein, coumaric acid, caffeic acid, isothiocyanates, and epigallocatechin gallate, have been identified as those with strong epigenetic potential (Table 1). These molecules exert different effects on the levels of DNA methylation. While some of them show hypermethylating activity, there are those with hypomethylating effects. Thus, tea flavonoids, such as catechin, epicatechin, epicatechin 3gallate, epigallocatechin, and quercetin, or parsley's apigenin inhibit DNA methylation, leading to demethylation and the reactivation of genes previously silenced by methylation (57). Many of them inhibit DNA methylation in a direct manner by forming hydrogen bonds between different residues in the active site of DNMT (34) or indirectly by decreasing the level of SAM and increasing the levels of both SAH and homocysteine, which subsequently leads to the inhibition of DNA methylation (58). Similarly, resveratrol, found in grapes and red wine and also in peanuts, mulberries, and cranberries, modulates DNA methylation and histone modification via the inhibition of DNMTs and histone deacetylase activities (59). In addition, several studies indicate that caffeic acid, present in coffee and barley grain (60), and polyphenols from olive oil can induce the inhibition of DNA methylation (61). In addition, some bioactive molecules, such as curcumin, have both hyper- and hypomethylating effects on different genes in different cancers, with the same outcome on the tumor (62-64). They can activate some tumor suppressor genes and inactivate oncogenes. Although the protective effects of Ginkgo biloba extract and its flavonoid kaempferol ellagitannin have been widely investigated in AD, its role in the epigenetic alterations related to AD pathogenesis has not been fully finalized. Namely, the inhibition of HDAC activity by kaempferol is confirmed in human-derived hepatoma and colon cancer cells but not in NDD (65).

EPIGENETIC EFFECTS OF FATTY ACIDS

Apart from polyphenols, fatty acids may also be involved in epigenetics transformation. Dietary PUFAs play a significant role in regulating the epigenome, especially in modifying DNA methylation (66). On other hand, there is an opposite correlation, i.e., epigenetic processes can be involved in PUFA biosynthesis processes. However, like polyphenols, the epigenetics roles of PUFAs have been mostly investigated in tumor cells, but not in NDD. Thus, Huang et al. demonstrated that treatment with ω -3 PUFA induced decreased tumor incidence and tumor size in a colorectal cancer rat model (67). They showed that there was a close correlation between the anticancer effects of ω -3 PUFA and increased genomic DNA hydroxymethylation, leading to the silencing of some genes. On the other hand, Sarrabi et al. indicated that PUFA treatment caused the decreased methylation of different oncogenes and suggested that PUFAs can alter both DNA methylation and the expression of DNMTs in colorectal cancer cells (68). Similarly, Ceccarelli et al. showed that ω -3 PUFA directly regulates and demethylates DNA in hepatocarcinoma cell lines (69). Thus, dietary supplementation with bioactive compounds and PUFA may lead to better prognoses for diseases that are associated with epigenetics modulation, including NDD.

Epigenetics development and the identification of highly sensitive, specific, and easily accessible epigenetic biomarkers and applying them, along with genetic biomarkers, is a key step toward successful personalized treatment. Besides personal genetic and epigenetic information, other data, including gender, age, gut microbiota, and presence of diseases, should be taken into account for personalizing prevention and treatment (70). These differences among individuals result in different responses to similar treatments and suggest the need for a personalized approach.

MICROBIOTA AND GUT-BRAIN AXIS

Apart from (nutri)epigenetics, the latest research has shown that the gut microbiota affects the brain's physiological, behavioral, and cognitive functions, although the exact mechanisms have not been fully clarified. The intestinal microbiota represents about 10^{14} microbial cells including bacteria, archaea, viruses, fungi, and protozoa populating the gastrointestinal tract and maintaining a symbiotic relationship with the host. Most of the microbial species in the human gut belong to five phyla: *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* are dominant, whereas *Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria*, and *Verrucomicrobia* represent minor constituents. Dysbiosis, the imbalance in the composition and function of the gut microbiota, has been implicated in the development of chronic diseases, including gastrointestinal, autoimmune, metabolic, and neurodegenerative diseases (71).

Numerous factors may have harmful effects on the microbiome such as diet, food additives, pesticides, antibiotics, and stress. The balance of and symbioses with the gut microbiome that have been established during human evolution and the rapid change of diet in the last 100 years may outpace the time necessary for the adaptation of the digestive system, resulting in increased occurrence of chronic diseases. Ultra-processed food and excessive energy intake are dominating hallmarks of the Western diet. This diet, abundant in saturated fat and refined carbohydrates, negatively impacts on gut microbiome composition and consequently on the immune system and brain health (72). On the other hand, epidemiological data suggest that caloric restriction and dietary intervention using certain macronutrients (fish), micronutrients (B vitamins, vitamins C, E, and D, flavonoids, and omega-3 PUFA), probiotics, and prebiotics may prevent cognitive decline and/or delay age-related neurodegeneration (73). Such a type of diet is the Mediterranean diet.

The gut microbiota communicates with distant organs and the brain through a complex neuro-humoral connection called the gut-brain axis, which includes: the central nervous system (CNS), the autonomic nervous system, the enteric nervous system (ENS), the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and the immune system. The ENS is the largest part of the peripheral nervous system, consisting of ~200 million neurons and enteric glial cells (the digestive equivalent of brain astrocytes) located along the gastrointestinal tract and often referred to as the "second brain" due to its ability to control gut behavior with and without input from the CNS. Important players in the gut-brain axis are the enteroendocrine cells (EECs). They are specialized cells localized within the intestinal epithelium and represent the sensors of the gut microbiota and its metabolites. In response to luminal content, the EECs secrete hormones and cytokines that can act in a paracrine manner on the ENS or send information via the vagus nerve to the CNS (Figure 2). In addition, they are involved in the motility of the gastrointestinal tract, the gut barrier, and mucosal immunity. The vagus nerve, as the main component of the parasympathetic nervous system, establishes one of the connections between the gut, the brain, and inflammation and represents an important link between nutrition and diseases. The CNS affects digestion by regulating gut motility, secretion, and immunity via the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems. Neurotransmitters, hormones, and peptides released by the ENS and transported through the bloodstream cross the blood-brain barrier and can act synergistically with the signals sent "down" from the brain through the efferent vagus nerve to regulate food intake and appetite (74). The gut microbiota reacts to these changes by producing neurotransmitters and microbial metabolites, such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), secondary bile acids, and tryptophan- and polyphenol-derived products, which all affect the host's CNS. These processes and connections are schematically presented in Figure 2.

The major metabolites secreted by the colon microbiota, after anaerobic degradation of non-digestible carbohydrates



lipopolysaccharides; TMA, trimethylamine; TMAO, trimethylamine N-oxide. Created with BioRender.com.

(dietary fibers), are SCFAs: mainly butyric, propionic, and acetic acids (75). Acetate and propionate are produced by the *Bacteroidetes phylum*, while species of the *Firmicutes phylum* preferentially produce butyrate. Different sources of fibers, such as resistant starches (from whole grains and legumes) or fructo-oligosaccharides from bananas, onions, and asparagus, yield different levels of butyrate and other SCFAs. Some prebiotic fibers, such as inulin and fructo-oligosaccharides, promote the growth of commensal bacteria that produce high amounts of butyrate in the gut (76). SCFAs contribute to gut health by regulating the integrity of the intestinal barrier, mucus

production, and controlling inflammation by inducing Treg differentiation. Butyrate is used as an energy source by the colonocytes, while the liver clears the majority of propionate and butyrate from the portal circulation (77). However, a minor fraction of colon-derived SCFAs reaches the bloodstream and can be transported to the brain by passing through the bloodbrain barrier to exhibit a neuroprotective effect (78). SCFAs are involved in maintaining blood-brain barrier permeability and the CNS immune system by regulating microglial function. The epigenetic effects of butyrate have also been documented, as it is a well-known inhibitor of HDAC, affecting gene expression in the gut and associated immune tissue, as well as in the nervous system. Treatment with sodium butyrate in animal models of Parkinson's disease has been shown to prevent neuronal cell death, while in Alzheimer's disease and traumatic brain injury models memory and learning improved (79). However, chronic, slightly elevated blood propionate and concomitant increased ammonia levels in the circulation may play a role in cognitive impairment and dementia (80).

Gut microbiota species also produce other bioactive compounds, such as folate (vitamin B9), and neurotransmitters, such as serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT), dopamine, and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), as summarized in a recent review (81). The tryptophan microbial metabolite indole also represents an important link between the microbiota and the host, playing a role in the modulation of intestinal epithelial integrity and intestinal inflammation, and it positively correlates with longevity (82). A reduced level of the neurotransmitter serotonin, found in dysbiosis, is related to cognitive impairment (**Figure 2**).

DYSBIOSIS—A LINK BETWEEN DIET, AGING, AND NDD

Dysbiosis is a state of imbalanced abundance and composition in the gut microbiota with changes in microbial-derived products. It often leads to the overgrowth of otherwise low-abundance and/or harmful bacteria. A family of Gram-negative bacteria, Enterobacteriaceae, are the most commonly overgrown gut microbes in a wide range of pathologic conditions, including inflammation. Gut inflammation, on the other hand, causes damage to and the death of mucosal epithelium cells. This results in an increase in phospholipids from the membrane lipids of dead cells, which can be used as a source of carbon and/or nitrogen by a variety of species in the Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, and Proteobacteria phyla, as well as pathogenic species such as Salmonella and Pseudomonas. An inflamed gut favors the growth of anaerobic bacteria (such as E. coli) and mucin-degrading bacteria (Akkermansia musiniphila and B. acidifaciens), leading to a depletion of commensal bacteria (Bacteroidetes and Clostridia phyla) and favoring a growth of Enterobacteriaceae and pathogens such as S. Typhimurium and Clostridium difficile (83). Inflammation results in increased intestinal permeability, referred to as "leaky gut," allowing the translocation of microorganisms and/or their components and metabolites from the gut to the bloodstream. Endotoxins (lipopolysaccharides; LPSs), a major component of the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria, after entering the bloodstream and binding with LPS-binding protein (LBP) and CD14 receptor, launch the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. In this way LPSs induce neuroinflammation, which triggers and perpetuates the neurodegenerative process (Figure 2). Although small concentrations of LPSs are detectable in healthy individuals (endotoxemia), elevated postprandial LPS levels after fat-rich meals, referred to as "metabolic endotoxemia," have been proposed as a major cause of inflammation, including chronic low-grade inflammation (84). Several studies have demonstrated that chronic gastrointestinal syndromes, such as inflammatory bowel syndrome (85), small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (86), and celiac disease, are associated with neurological disease development (87). Dysbiosis has been implicated in worsened outcomes after traumatic brain injury, which has been considered as a non-genetic risk factor for several NDDs, including ALS, AD, and PD (88).

Aging is concomitant with changes in gut physiology, including lower levels of stomach acid and changes in gastric motility and in the ENS, that consequently affect the composition and function of the gut microbiota. The most prominent feature in the microbiota of elderly individuals is a reduced Firmicutes-to-Bacteroidetes ratio compared with young adults (89) and decreased beneficial Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium. Decreased microbial diversity in elderly individuals is associated with increased frailty, blood inflammatory markers, and decreased nutritional diversity. Perturbations in the gut microbiota, such as decreased abundance of bacteria involved in SCFA production and an enrichment of low-abundance pathobionts, further promote and sustain pro-inflammatory conditions (90). Low-grade chronic systemic inflammation accompanied with physiological aging is defined as "inflammaging." Altered, aged gut microbiota compositions have been proposed to contribute to this heightened pro-inflammatory status characterized with increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α), acute-phase reactants (C-reactive protein), and decreases in IL-10 (91). Inflammaging contributes to the development of age-related diseases: metabolic, cardiovascular, and neurodegenerative (92).

Some recent metabolomic investigations have shown that individual gut microbiomes become increasingly more unique with age, and uniqueness is positively associated with health and longevity. Although, healthy elderly individuals showed a decline in core taxa (dominant genera) and replacement by less common taxa, their gut microbiome continued to show a distinct composition (82). Metabolomic studies correlated three markers of longevity (phenylacetylglutamine-PAG; pcresol sulfate—PCS; 2-hydroxybenzoate--2-HB) from the urine of elderly individuals and centenarians with the gut microbiome. PAG and PCS are formed by the microbial catabolism of proteins (phenylalanine and tyrosine metabolites), while 2-HB originates from fruits and vegetables. PAG was positively correlated with Proteobacteria species, both PCS and PAG correlated to Vibrio et. rel., and 2-HB was found to be positively correlated with Proteus et. rel. (93).

Emerging evidence suggests that changes in the function and composition of the gut microbiota contribute to the pathogenesis of NDD by the induction of epigenetic modifications. Epigenetic changes associated with NDD mostly include DNA methylation and histone modifications, which are controlled by several enzymes, such as acetylases and methylases (94). These enzymes are regulated by the metabolites generated by the host's gut microbiota. Such metabolites are short-chain fatty acids, folates, biotin, and trimethylamine-N-oxide (11). The bidirectional interaction between the gut microbiota and epigenetics has been documented, although the nature and significance of this relationship has not been fully elucidated. They may act in

TABLE 1	Bioactive cor	npounds from	food with	effects on NDD.
	210000110 001	ipourido ironn	1000 11101	0110010 011110001

Food	Compound	Action	Role in NDD	References
Nuts	Ellagic acids	Inhibit HATs; Activate HDACs	Reverse brain atrophy in AD	(123, 124)
Fish oil	ω-3 PUFA	Activates or inhibits DNMTs in different cells	Prevents age-associated cognitive decline	(18, 68, 69)
Olive oil	Gallic acid	Inhibits HATs	Potential prevention of AD	(123, 125)
Ginkgo biloba extract	Kaempferol	Inhibits HDACs	Improves cognitive function in patients with mild dementia during long-term administration	(65, 126)
Red wine	Resveratrol	Activates HATs; Inhibits DNMTs and HDACs	Reduces the risk of AD	(59, 115, 127)
Berries	Gallic and ellagic acids	Inhibit HATs; Activate HDACs and DNMTs	Delay the development of age-related cognitive decline	(123, 128)
Tea	Epigallocatechin-3- gallate	Inhibits DNMTs and HATs	Low prevalence of AD	(57, 129, 130)
Turmeric	Curcumin	Activates HDACs; Inhibits HATs, DNMTs, and miRNA	Corrects the dysregulation of several pathways in NDD	(62–64, 131, 132)
		Alters the relative abundances of bacterial species	Gut microbiota produces neuroprotective metabolites from curcumin	(117)
Сосоа	Epicatechin	Inhibits HATs; Activates HDACs; Increases the presence of "healthy" bacteria	Decreases cerebral inflammation	(119, 133)
Pomegranate	Ellagitannins	Inhibits HATs	Protective effects against AD	(122, 123)
Morinda officinalis	Oligosaccharides	Not determined	Regulates the synthesis and secretion of neurotransmitters in rats	(120)
Algae	Oligomannate	Not determined	Inhibits AD progression in AD mouse models	(121)

AD, Alzheimer's disease; NDD, neurodegenerative disease; HATs, histone acetyltransferases; HDACs, histone deacetylases; HMTs, histone methyltransferases; miRNA, microRNA.

synchrony to modulate the pathogenesis and progression of NDD (94, 95). On the other hand, metabolites produced by the gut microbiota may also reverse some of the previously induced epigenetic modifications (96) and thereby prevent the development or progression of NDD.

MICROBIOTA IN DIFFERENT NDDS

Recent studies have shown decreased intestinal microbial diversity in AD patients, with increased abundance of the Bacteroides phylum and decreased abundance in Firmicutes (97). Such conditions favored the growth of pro-inflammatory Gram-negative bacteria, such as Escherichia coli, Shigella, Helicobacter, and Odoribacter, while reducing beneficial commensals such as Bifidobacterium and SCFA-producing bacteria (98). This state promotes the formation of amyloid plaques, typically found in AD patients. Another possible mechanism involves bacteria-derived amyloids, produced by E. coli, Salmonella spp., Pseudomonas fluorescens, Klebsiella pneumonia, Staphylococcus aureus, Bacillus subtilis, Streptomyces coelicolorcan, that can function as initiators to cross-seed and through molecular mimicry aggregate host amyloids (99). In addition, a chronic H. pylori infection could trigger the release of both inflammatory mediators and amyloids in AD patients (100), while the eradication of *H. pylori* has been shown to be associated with a decreased progression of AD symptoms (101). As $A\beta$ plaques have been detected in the intestinal mucosa of both AD animal models and human patients, it is hypothesized that endogenous $A\beta$ production starts in the gut and subsequently spreads to the CNS. Another possible mechanism that causes cognitive deterioration is a release of certain microbial-derived metabolites, such as trimethylamine N-oxide—a product of the metabolic transformation of dietary choline by the gut microbiota to trimethylamine, which is then oxidized by the host's liver (**Figure 2**) (102). Both trimethylamine and its oxide are involved in aging and neurodegeneration.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is characterized by a loss of movement control due to a decrease in brain dopamine production as a result of the degeneration of substantia nigra neurons. Non-motor symptoms are also present, such as constipation, which may precede the onset of motor deficits years or decades before. A hallmark of PD pathology is an aggregation of misfolded α -synuclein (α SYN), so-called Lewy bodies, in the brain; although it has been found that α SYN aggregates can be present in the ENS of clinically healthy individuals years before they develop PD. Misfolded α -synuclein has also been shown to spread from cell-tocell and, in a prion-like fashion, from the periphery to the

CNS via the vagus nerve (103, 104). A large number of studies have shown diversity and abundance in the microbial species present in the gut of PD patients (105). Moreover, a positive correlation between the increased abundance of Lactobacillaceae and Enterobacteraceae and disease severity has been shown. In PD, observed decreases in the fecal amounts of Prevotella spp. and Clostridium spp., major producers of SCFAs, folate (vitamin B9), and thiamine (vitamin B1), may have an impact on intestinal epithelial barrier permeability. Furthermore, studies indicate alterations of the bacteriophage community in people with PD (106). Epidemiological data indicate that PD is associated with a variety of enteral dysfunctions: inflammatory bowel disease, H. pylori infection, and constipation (105). Recent studies have revealed changes in the gut microbiome as a result of usual PD treatments (107). On the other hand, Enterococcous faecalis has been found to metabolize levodopa, a commonly used drug for PD, suggesting that the gut microbiome may reduce the peripheral availability of levodopa and thereby affect the efficacy of the PD

treatment (108, 109). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis affects the brain and spinal cord neurons, leading to paralysis, respiratory failure, and death. In ALS patients, reduced relative microbial abundances have been found in butyrate-producing Anaerostipes, Oscillibacter, and Lachnospira, while that of glucose-metabolizing Dorea has been found to be significantly increased. ALS patients also have elevated LPS levels in plasma (110), which support neuroinflammation through microglia activation. Multiple sclerosis is an autoimmune NDD, which also appears to be associated with an altered gut microbiota. An increased relative abundance of Akkermansia has been shown to be correlated with symptom expression. In addition, MS patients have been shown to exhibit decreased levels of Parabacteroides distasonis, a species associated with anti-inflammatory activity (111).

PRECISION NUTRITION IN NDD

Studies with caloric restriction have shown neuroprotective effects in animal models, but the results in humans are inconsistent. However, the Mediterranean diet (112) and the Mediterranean-ketogenic diet (113) improved cognitive function in older people by altering intestinal microbiota and their metabolites.

In addition to the effects on the gut microbiota, diets rich in olives, nuts, or ω -3 PUFA affected genes associated with infection and inflammation. The Mediterranean diet downregulates transcriptional repressor *NFIL3*, which is involved in the regulation of cytokine expression, the development of immune cells, and the circadian clock. Olive oil and nuts have been found to downregulate IL-8, a key mediator of inflammation, and a coagulation factor (SERPINB2) involved in adipose tissue development. Moreover, they downregulate the expression of *RGS1*, a regulator of the G-protein superfamily, which is linked to chronic inflammatory diseases such as celiac disease, MS, and AD. However, the supplementation of a diet with olives, nuts, or ω -3 PUFA dysregulated different genes in AD patients (114).

Numerous nutraceuticals such as curcumin, epigallocatechin-3-gallate, resveratrol, Ginkgo biloba extract, genistein, flavonoids from berries, and polyphenols from extra virgin olive oil and red wine are able to delay neurodegeneration (115). Besides their role in epigenetics, as discussed above, the health benefits of these nutraceuticals in the prevention and alleviation of NDD are due to their ability to change the gut microbiota. Moreover, the bioavailability of polyphenols, PUFAs, and antioxidants with neuroprotective effects depends on the colon microbiota. The differences in gut microbiota composition may explain the interindividual variability in the outcome of supplementation in clinical trials, emphasizing the need for precision nutrition.

The relationship between microbiota and nutraceuticals is bidirectional. This has been shown for curcumin (116). Curcumin was found to significantly alter the relative abundances of bacterial species, several of which have been associated with the development of AD, while the biotransformation of curcumin by gut bacteria produces neuroprotective metabolites (117). Further, turmeric and curcumin have been shown to exert potential to alter the gut microbiota but with significant variation over time and an individualized response to treatment (118). Flavanols from red wine and cocoa have a positive effect on the gut microbiota by increasing the presence of "healthy" bacteria, such as Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, which have been found decreased in cerebral inflammation (119). Probiotic and prebiotic supplementation have shown moderate beneficial effects in AD patients, although oligosaccharides from Morinda officinalis (120) and oligomannate from algae (121) exhibit promising effects on animal models of AD. On the other hand, gutmicrobiota-derived metabolites from plants may have protective effects against AD, e.g., urolithins, which are metabolites of ellagitannin in, for example, pomegranate fruit (122).

The reversible nature of epigenetic changes has pointed out the specific nutritional interventions aimed at reversing epigenetic modifications to prevent or treat NDD. Although diets rich in bioactive compounds have demonstrated beneficial effects in preventing and modifying NDD, the application of precision nutrition appears to be markedly more effective than the traditional approach. The pathologies of NDD can exert variable clinical characteristics in the patients with the same disease. A combination of genetic and epigenetic factors, lifestyle, and microbiome data could provide a full overview of an individual patient and enable the stratification of patients into specific nutritional groups in order to avoid non-responders to a specific diet and to get a maximum response from the precision nutrition for each patient.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, NDDs remains an important public health challenge because of the lack of effective prevention or treatment. The reasons for the slow progress in both prevention and therapy may lie in the fact that current recommendations are designed for the general population, without taking into account individual genetic, epigenetic, and lifestyle factors. However, NDDs have complex pathologies with great inter-individual (epi)genetic variance within the population. In addition, the gut microbiome is linked with the development and progression or alleviation of NDDs, through the gut microbiome-brain axis. The relationship between the gut microbiota and epigenetic modifications in NDD is bidirectional and markedly dependent on nutrition. These individual differences in both microbiota and epigenetic signatures suggest the need for personalized dietary plans for NDD patients. A possible target is the creation of personalized dietary interventions containing specific bioactive nutrients that can modify epigenetic changes and/or the gut microbiota. Although numerous studies on the role of different nutraceuticals in the prevention, prediction, and treatment of NDDs have been conducted, we are still far away from a personalized diet plan for individual NDD patients, which is undoubtedly the future of NDD therapy. To achieve this goal as soon as possible, large-scale cohort studies that would include the precise monitoring of food intake, mapping of genetic variants, epigenetic data, microbiome studies, and metabolome, lipidome, and transcriptome data are urgently needed.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health (accessed March 20, 2021).
- Juan SMA, Adlard PA. Ageing and cognition. Subcell Biochem. (2019) 91:107–22. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-3681-2_5
- Michalowsky B, Thyrian JR, Eichler T, Hertel J, Wucherer D, Flessa S, et al. Economic analysis of formal care, informal care, and productivity losses in primary care patients who screened positive for dementia in Germany. J Alzheimers Dis. (2016) 50:47–59. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150600
- Kalamägi J, Lavikainen P, Taipale H, Tanskanen A, Tiihonen J, Hartikainen S, et al. Predictors of high hospital care and medication costs and cost trajectories in community-dwellers with Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Med.* (2019) 51:294–305. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2019.1642507
- Shannon OM, Ashor AW, Scialo F, Saretzki G, Martin-Ruiz C, Lara J, et al. Mediterranean diet and the hallmarks of ageing. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2021). doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0 0841-x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Di Micco R, Krizhanovsky V, Baker D. d'Adda di Fagagna F. Cellular senescence in ageing: from mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2021) 22:75–95. doi: 10.1038/s41580-020-0 0314-w
- Hampel H, Vergallo A, Caraci F, Cuello AC, Lemercier P, Vellas B, et al. Future avenues for Alzheimer's disease detection and therapy: liquid biopsy, intracellular signaling modulation, systems pharmacology drug discovery. *Neuropharmacology*. (2021) 185:108081. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2020.108081
- Partridge L, Fuentealba M, Kennedy BK. The quest to slow ageing through drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2020) 19:513–32. doi: 10.1038/s41573-020-0067-7
- Vauzour D, Camprubi-Robles M, Miquel-Kergoat S, Andres-Lacueva C, Bánáti D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Nutrition for the ageing brain: towards evidence for an optimal diet. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2017) 35:222– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2016.09.010
- Gabbianelli R, Damiani E. Epigenetics and neurodegeneration: role of early-life nutrition. J Nutr Biochem. (2018) 57:1– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.01.014
- Sharma M, Li Y, Stoll ML, Tollefsbol TO. The epigenetic connection between the gut microbiome in obesity and diabetes. *Front Genet.* (2019) 10:1329. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2019.01329

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VV and MM designed the review. MM, AA, and performed the literature analysis ZC and wrote the critically revised the manuscript. VV text and gave substantial scientific contribution. All а authors have approved the final version of the manuscript for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Contract 451-03-9/2021-14/200015).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Romana Masnikosa (Vinča Institute of Nuclear Sciences, University of Belgrade) for helpful suggestions and discussions about the topic and the concept of this review.

- Joseph J, Cole G, Head E, Ingram D. Nutrition, brain aging, and neurodegeneration. J Neurosci. (2009) 29:12795– 801. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3520-09.2009
- Petrovic S, Arsic A, Ristic-Medic D, Cvetkovic Z, Vucic V. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant supplementation in neurodegenerative diseases: a review of human studies. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*. (2020) 9:128. doi: 10.3390/antiox9111128
- Hill TR, Granic A, Aspray TJ. Vitamin D and ageing. Subcell Biochem. (2018) 90:191–220. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-2835-0_8
- Mikkelsen K, Apostolopoulos V, B. vitamins and ageing. Subcell Biochem. (2018) 90:451–70. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-2835-0_15
- Simes DC, Viegas CSB, Araújo N, Marreiros C. Vitamin K as a powerful micronutrient in aging and age-related diseases: pros and cons from clinical studies. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:4150. doi: 10.3390/ijms20174150
- Bourre JM. Effects of nutrients (in food) on the structure and function of the nervous system: update on dietary requirements for brain. Part 1: micronutrients. J Nutr Health Aging. (2006) 10:377–85.
- Román GC, Jackson RE, Gadhia R, Román AN, Reis J. Mediterranean diet: The role of long-chain ω-3 fatty acids in fish; polyphenols in fruits, vegetables, cereals, coffee, tea, cacao and wine; probiotics and vitamins in prevention of stroke, age-related cognitive decline, and Alzheimer disease. *Rev Neurol (Paris).* (2019) 175:724–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2019.08.005
- Arsic A. Chapter 24 Oleic acid and implications for the Mediterranean diet. In: Preedy VR, editor. *Watson RRBT-TMD*. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press (2020). p. 267–74.
- Ristic-Medic D, Kovacic M, Takic M, Arsic A, Petrovic S, Paunovic M, et al. Calorie-restricted Mediterranean and low-fat diets affect fatty acid status in individuals with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Nutrients*. (2020) 13:15. doi: 10.3390/nu13010015
- McGrattan AM, McGuinness B, McKinley MC, Kee F, Passmore P, Woodside J V, et al. Diet and inflammation in cognitive ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Nutr Rep.* (2019) 8:53–65. doi: 10.1007/s13668-019-0271-4
- Handy DE, Castro R, Loscalzo J. Epigenetic modifications: basic mechanisms and role in cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. (2011) 123:2145–56. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.956839
- Calvanese V, Lara E, Kahn A, Fraga MF. The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2009) 8:268– 76. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2009.03.004
- 24. Bell JT, Pai AA, Pickrell JK, Gaffney DJ, Pique-Regi R, Degner JF, et al. DNA methylation patterns associate with genetic and gene

expression variation in HapMap cell lines. *Genome Biol.* (2011) 12:R10. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-1-r10

- Pogribny IP, Rusyn I. Environmental toxicants, epigenetics, and cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2013) 754:215–32. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-9967-2_11
- Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, Ropero S, Setien F, Ballestar ML, et al. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:10604–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500398102
- Kaminsky ZA, Tang T, Wang S-C, Ptak C, Oh GHT, Wong AHC, et al. DNA methylation profiles in monozygotic and dizygotic twins. *Nat Genet.* (2009) 41:240–5. doi: 10.1038/ng.286
- Bjornsson HT, Sigurdsson MI, Fallin MD, Irizarry RA, Aspelund T, Cui H, et al. Intra-individual change over time in DNA methylation with familial clustering. *JAMA*. (2008) 299:2877–83. doi: 10.1001/jama.299.24.2877
- Talens RP, Boomsma DI, Tobi EW, Kremer D, Jukema JW, Willemsen G, et al. Variation, patterns, and temporal stability of DNA methylation: considerations for epigenetic epidemiology. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:3135– 44. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-150490
- Ooi SKT, O'Donnell AH, Bestor TH. Mammalian cytosine methylation at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2009) 122:2787–91. doi: 10.1242/jcs.015123
- Giuliani C, Bacalini MG, Sazzini M, Pirazzini C, Franceschi C, Garagnani P, et al. The epigenetic side of human adaptation: hypotheses, evidences and theories. *Ann Hum Biol.* (2015) 42:1–9. doi: 10.3109/03014460.2014.961960
- Weyrich A, Jeschek M, Schrapers KT, Lenz D, Chung TH, Rübensam K, et al. Diet changes alter paternally inherited epigenetic pattern in male Wild guinea pigs. *Environ Epigen*. (2018) 4:dvy011. doi: 10.1093/eep/dvy011
- Baylin SB, Jones PA. Epigenetic determinants of cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2016) 8:ea019505. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a019505
- Kadayifci FZ, Zheng S, Pan Y-X. Molecular mechanisms underlying the link between diet and DNA methylation. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:4055. doi: 10.3390/ijms19124055
- Fuso A, Lucarelli M. CpG and Non-CpG Methylation in the dietepigenetics-neurodegeneration connection. *Curr Nutr Rep.* (2019) 8:74– 82. doi: 10.1007/s13668-019-0266-1
- Jin B, Robertson KD, DNA methyltransferases, DNA damage repair, and cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2013) 754:3– 29. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-9967-2_1
- Casalino L, Verde P. Multifaceted roles of DNA methylation in neoplastic transformation, from tumor suppressors to EMT and metastasis. *Genes* (*Basel*). (2020) 11:922. doi: 10.3390/genes11080922
- Martino D, Kesper DA, Amarasekera M, Harb H, Renz H, Prescott S. Epigenetics in immune development and in allergic and autoimmune diseases. J Reprod Immunol. (2014) 104-105:43– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2014.05.003
- Stylianou E. Epigenetics of chronic inflammatory diseases. J Inflamm Res. (2018) 12:1–14. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S129027
- Wen K-X, Miliç J, El-Khodor B, Dhana K, Nano J, Pulido T, et al. The role of DNA methylation and histone modifications in neurodegenerative diseases: a systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0167201. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167201
- Henderson-Smith A, Fisch KM, Hua J, Liu G, Ricciardelli E, Jepsen K, et al. DNA methylation changes associated with Parkinson's disease progression: outcomes from the first longitudinal genome-wide methylation analysis in blood. *Epigenetics*. (2019) 14:365–82. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2019.1588682
- Condliffe D, Wong A, Troakes C, Proitsi P, Patel Y, Chouliaras L, et al. Cross-region reduction in 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2014) 35:1850– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.02.002
- Dolinar A, Ravnik-Glavač M, Glavač D. Epigenetic mechanisms in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a short review. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2018) 174:103–10. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2018.03.005
- 44. Maltby VE, Lea RA, Graves MC, Sanders KA, Benton MC, Tajouri L, et al. Genome-wide DNA methylation changes in CD19+ B cells from relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:17418. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-35603-0
- Stoccoro A, Coppedè F. Role of epigenetics in Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Neurodegener Dis Manag.* (2018) 8:181– 93. doi: 10.2217/nmt-2018-0004

- 46. Erkinjuntti T, Kurz A, Gauthier S, Bullock R, Lilienfeld S, Damaraju CV. Efficacy of galantamine in probable vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease combined with cerebrovascular disease: a randomised trial. *Lancet (London, England)*. (2002) 359:1283–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08267-3
- 47. Chan A, Paskavitz J, Remington R, Rasmussen S, Shea TB. Efficacy of a vitamin/nutriceutical formulation for early-stage Alzheimer's disease: a 1-year, open-label pilot study with an 16month caregiver extension. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen. (2008) 23:571–85. doi: 10.1177/1533317508325093
- Fuso A, Nicolia V, Cavallaro RA, Scarpa S, DNA methylase and demethylase activities are modulated by one-carbon metabolism in Alzheimer's disease models. J Nutr Biochem. (2011) 22:242–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.01.010
- Fuso A, Nicolia V, Pasqualato A, Fiorenza MT, Cavallaro RA, Scarpa S. Changes in Presenilin 1 gene methylation pattern in diet-induced B vitamin deficiency. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2011) 32:187–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.02.013
- Shukla S, Tekwani BL. Histone deacetylases inhibitors in neurodegenerative diseases, neuroprotection and neuronal differentiation. *Front Pharmacol.* (2020) 11:537. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00537
- Watson RE, Goodman JI. Epigenetics and DNA methylation come of age in toxicology. *Toxicol Sci.* (2002) 67:11–6. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/67.1.11
- Ingelman-Sundberg M, Zhong X-B, Hankinson O, Beedanagari S, Yu A-M, Peng L, et al. Potential role of epigenetic mechanisms in the regulation of drug metabolism and transport. *Drug Metab Dispos*. (2013) 41:1725– 31. doi: 10.1124/dmd.113.053157
- Martin EM, Fry RC. Environmental influences on the epigenome: exposureassociated DNA methylation in human populations. *Annu Rev Public Health*. (2018) 39:309–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-014629
- 54. Zhong J, Karlsson O, Wang G, Li J, Guo Y, Lin X, et al. B vitamins attenuate the epigenetic effects of ambient fine particles in a pilot human intervention trial. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:3503– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1618545114
- Dolinoy DC, Huang D, Jirtle RL. Maternal nutrient supplementation counteracts bisphenol A-induced DNA hypomethylation in early development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:13056– 61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703739104
- Bae S, Kamynina E, Farinola AF, Caudill MA, Stover PJ, Cassano PA, et al. Provision of folic acid for reducing arsenic toxicity in arsenic-exposed children and adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 2017:CD012649. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012649
- Silva LBAR, Pinheiro-Castro N, Novaes GM, Pascoal G de FL, Ong TP. Bioactive food compounds, epigenetics and chronic disease prevention: Focus on early-life interventions with polyphenols. *Food Res Int.* (2019) 125:108646. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2019.108646
- Pop S, Enciu AM, Tarcomnicu I, Gille E, Tanase C. Phytochemicals in cancer prevention: modulating epigenetic alterations of DNA methylation. *Phytochem Rev.* (2019) 18:1005–24. doi: 10.1007/s11101-019-09627-x
- Izquierdo-Torres E, Hernández-Oliveras A, Meneses-Morales I, Rodríguez G, Fuentes-García G, Zarain-Herzberg Á. Resveratrol up-regulates ATP2A3 gene expression in breast cancer cell lines through epigenetic mechanisms. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2019) 113:37–47. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.05.020
- Lee WJ, Zhu BT. Inhibition of DNA methylation by caffeic acid and chlorogenic acid, two common catechol-containing coffee polyphenols. *Carcinogenesis*. (2006) 27:269–77. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgi206
- Rodríguez-Miguel C, Moral R, Escrich R, Vela E, Solanas M, Escrich E. The role of dietary extra virgin olive oil and corn oil on the alteration of epigenetic patterns in the rat DMBA-induced breast cancer model. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0138980. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138980
- Link A, Balaguer F, Shen Y, Lozano JJ, Leung H-CE, Boland CR, et al. Curcumin modulates DNA methylation in colorectal cancer cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e57709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057709
- Kumar U, Sharma U, Rathi G. Reversal of hypermethylation and reactivation of glutathione S-transferase pi 1 gene by curcumin in breast cancer cell line. *Tumour Biol J Int Soc Oncodevelopmental Biol Med.* (2017) 39:1010428317692258. doi: 10.1177/1010428317692258

- 64. Chen J, Ying Y, Zhu H, Zhu T, Qu C, Jiang J, et al. Curcumininduced promoter hypermethylation of the mammalian target of rapamycin gene in multiple myeloma cells. Oncol Lett. (2019) 17:1108–14. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.9662
- Berger A, Venturelli S, Kallnischkies M, Böcker A, Busch C, Weiland T, et al. Kaempferol, a new nutrition-derived paninhibitor of human histone deacetylases. J Nutr Biochem. (2013) 24:977–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.07.001
- Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA. Fatty acids and epigenetics. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. (2014) 17:156–61. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000023
- Huang Q, Mo M, Zhong Y, Yang Q, Zhang J, Ye X, et al. The anticancer role of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids was closely associated with the increase in genomic DNA hydroxymethylation. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem.* (2019) 19:330–6. doi: 10.2174/1871520618666181018143026
- Sarabi MM, Naghibalhossaini F. The impact of polyunsaturated fatty acids on DNA methylation and expression of DNMTs in human colorectal cancer cells. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2018) 101:94–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.02.077
- Ceccarelli V, Valentini V, Ronchetti S, Cannarile L, Billi M, Riccardi C, et al. Eicosapentaenoic acid induces DNA demethylation in carcinoma cells through a TET1-dependent mechanism. *FASEB J.* (2018) fj201800245R. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800245R. [Epub ahead of print].
- Peedicayil J. Pharmacoepigenetics and pharmacoepigenomics. *Pharmacogenomics*. (2008) 12:1785–6. doi: 10.2217/14622416.9.12.1785
- Wilkins LJ, Monga M, Miller AW. Defining dysbiosis for a cluster of chronic diseases. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:12918. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49452-y
- Zinöcker MK, Lindseth IA. The Western diet-microbiome-host interaction and its role in metabolic disease. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:365. doi: 10.3390/nu10030365
- Gillette-Guyonnet S, Secher M, Vellas B. Nutrition and neurodegeneration: epidemiological evidence and challenges for future research. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 75:738–55. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12058
- Breit S, Kupferberg A, Rogler G, Hasler G. Vagus nerve as modulator of the brain-gut axis in psychiatric and inflammatory disorders. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:44. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00044
- Wong JMW, de Souza R, Kendall CWC, Emam A, Jenkins DJA. Colonic health: fermentation and short chain fatty acids. J Clin Gastroenterol. (2006) 40:235–43. doi: 10.1097/00004836-200603000-00015
- Fu X, Liu Z, Zhu C, Mou H, Kong Q. Nondigestible carbohydrates, butyrate, and butyrate-producing bacteria. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:S130– 52. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1542587
- Bloemen JG, Olde Damink SWM, Venema K, Buurman WA, Jalan R, Dejong CHC. Short chain fatty acids exchange: Is the cirrhotic, dysfunctional liver still able to clear them? *Clin Nutr.* (2010) 29:365–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2009.10.002
- Dalile B, Van Oudenhove L, Vervliet B, Verbeke K. The role of short-chain fatty acids in microbiota-gut-brain communication. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 16:461–78. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0157-3
- Bourassa MW, Alim I, Bultman SJ, Ratan RR. Butyrate, neuroepigenetics and the gut microbiome: can a high fiber diet improve brain health? *Neurosci Lett.* (2016) 625:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.02.009
- Killingsworth J, Sawmiller D, Shytle RD. Propionate and Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci. (2020) 12:580001. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.580001
- Ceppa FA, Izzo L, Sardelli L, Raimondi I, Tunesi M, Albani D, et al. Human gut-microbiota interaction in neurodegenerative disorders and current engineered tools for its modeling. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2020) 10:297. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00297
- Wilmanski T, Diener C, Rappaport N, Patwardhan S, Wiedrick J, Lapidus J, et al. Gut microbiome pattern reflects healthy ageing and predicts survival in humans. *Nat Metab.* (2021) 3:274–86. doi: 10.1038/s42255-021-00348-0
- Zeng MY, Inohara N, Nuñez G. Mechanisms of inflammationdriven bacterial dysbiosis in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:18–26. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.75
- 84. André P, Laugerette F, Féart C. Metabolic endotoxemia: a potential underlying mechanism of the relationship between dietary fat intake and risk for cognitive impairments in humans? *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:887. doi: 10.3390/nu11081887

- Lam NC-Y, Yeung H-Y, Li W-K, Lo H-Y, Yuen C-F, Chang RC-C, et al. Cognitive impairment in Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS): a systematic review. *Brain Res.* (2019) 1719:274–84. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2019.05.036
- Losurdo G, Salvatore D'Abramo F, Indellicati G, Lillo C, Ierardi E, Di Leo A. The influence of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in digestive and extraintestinal disorders. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:3531. doi: 10.3390/ijms21103531
- Mohan M, Okeoma CM, Sestak K. Dietary gluten and neurodegeneration: a case for preclinical studies. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:407. doi: 10.3390/ijms21155407
- Celorrio M, Abellanas MA, Rhodes J, Goodwin V, Moritz J, Vadivelu S, et al. Gut microbial dysbiosis after traumatic brain injury modulates the immune response and impairs neurogenesis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2021) 9:40. doi: 10.1186/s40478-021-01137-2
- Mariat D, Firmesse O, Levenez F, Guimarăes V, Sokol H, Doré J, et al. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. *BMC Microbiol.* (2009) 9:123. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-123
- Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'Connor EM, Cusack S, et al. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. *Nature*. (2012) 488:178–84. doi: 10.1038/nature11319
- Thevaranjan N, Puchta A, Schulz C, Naidoo A, Szamosi JC, Verschoor CP, et al. Age-associated microbial dysbiosis promotes intestinal permeability, systemic inflammation, and macrophage dysfunction. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2017) 21:455–66.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.03.002
- Fulop T, Witkowski JM, Olivieri F, Larbi A. The integration of inflammaging in age-related diseases. *Semin Immunol.* (2018) 40:17– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2018.09.003
- Collino S, Montoliu I, Martin F-PJ, Scherer M, Mari D, Salvioli S, et al. Metabolic signatures of extreme longevity in northern Italian centenarians reveal a complex remodeling of lipids, amino acids, and gut microbiota metabolism. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e56564. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056564
- Nagu P, Parashar A, Behl T, Mehta V. Gut microbiota composition and epigenetic molecular changes connected to the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J Mol Neurosci. (2021) 71:1436–55. doi: 10.1007/s12031-021-01829-3
- Kaur H, Singh Y, Singh S, Singh RB. Gut microbiome-mediated epigenetic regulation of brain disorder and application of machine learning for multiomics data analysis. *Genome.* (2021) 64:355–71. doi: 10.1139/gen-2020-0136
- Maslowski KM, Mackay CR. Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses. Nat Immunol. (2011) 12:5–9. doi: 10.1038/ni0111-5
- Vogt NM, Kerby RL, Dill-McFarland KA, Harding SJ, Merluzzi AP, Johnson SC, et al. Gut microbiome alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:13537. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y
- Cattaneo A, Cattane N, Galluzzi S, Provasi S, Lopizzo N, Festari C, et al. Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2017) 49:60–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.08.019
- 99. Friedland RP, Chapman MR. The role of microbial PLoS Pathog. amvloid in neurodegeneration. (2017)13:e1006654. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006654
- Roubaud-Baudron C, Krolak-Salmon P, Quadrio I, Mégraud F, Salles N. Impact of chronic *Helicobacter pylori* infection on Alzheimer's disease: preliminary results. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2012) 33:1009.e11-9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.10.021
- 101. Chang Y-P, Chiu G-F, Kuo F-C, Lai C-L, Yang Y-H, Hu H-M, et al. Eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* is associated with the progression of dementia: a population-based study. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* (2013) 2013:175729. doi: 10.1155/2013/175729
- 102. Gao Q, Wang Y, Wang X, Fu S, Zhang X, Wang R-T, et al. Decreased levels of circulating trimethylamine N-oxide alleviate cognitive and pathological deterioration in transgenic mice: a potential therapeutic approach for Alzheimer's disease. *Aging (Albany NY)*. (2019) 11:8642– 63. doi: 10.18632/aging.102352
- 103. Killinger BA, Madaj Z, Sikora JW, Rey N, Haas AJ, Vepa Y, et al. The vermiform appendix impacts the risk of developing Parkinson's disease. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:5280. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aar5280
- 104. Svensson E, Horváth-Puhó E, Thomsen RW, Djurhuus JC, Pedersen L, Borghammer P, et al. Vagotomy and subsequent risk of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol. (2015) 78:522–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.24448

- 105. Sampson T. The impact of indigenous microbes on Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2020) 135:104426. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2019.03.014
- 106. Bedarf JR, Hildebrand F, Coelho LP, Sunagawa S, Bahram M, Goeser F, et al. Functional implications of microbial and viral gut metagenome changes in early stage L-DOPA-naïve Parkinson's disease patients. *Genome Med.* (2017) 9:39. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0451-z
- 107. Hill-Burns EM, Debelius JW, Morton JT, Wissemann WT, Lewis MR, Wallen ZD, et al. Parkinson's disease and Parkinson's disease medications have distinct signatures of the gut microbiome. *Mov Disord.* (2017) 32:739–49. doi: 10.1002/mds.26942
- Jameson KG, Hsiao EY, A. novel pathway for microbial metabolism of levodopa. Nat Med. (2019) 25:1195–7. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0544-x
- 109. van Kessel SP, Frye AK, El-Gendy AO, Castejon M, Keshavarzian A, van Dijk G, et al. Gut bacterial tyrosine decarboxylases restrict levels of levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:310. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08294-y
- 110. Zhang R, Miller RG, Gascon R, Champion S, Katz J, Lancero M, et al. Circulating endotoxin and systemic immune activation in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (sALS). J Neuroimmunol. (2009) 206:121– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.09.017
- 111. Chu F, Shi M, Lang Y, Shen D, Jin T, Zhu J, et al. Gut Microbiota in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: current applications and future perspectives. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2018) 2018:8168717. doi: 10.1155/2018/8168717
- 112. Ghosh TS, Rampelli S, Jeffery IB, Santoro A, Neto M, Capri M, et al. Mediterranean diet intervention alters the gut microbiome in older people reducing frailty and improving health status: the NU-AGE 1-year dietary intervention across five European countries. *Gut.* (2020) 69:1218–28. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319654
- 113. Nagpal R, Neth BJ, Wang S, Craft S, Yadav H. Modified Mediterranean-ketogenic diet modulates gut microbiome and shortchain fatty acids in association with Alzheimer's disease markers in subjects with mild cognitive impairment. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 47:529–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.08.032
- 114. Bottero V, Potashkin JA. A comparison of gene expression changes in the blood of individuals consuming diets supplemented with olives, nuts or longchain omega-3 fatty acids. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:765. doi: 10.3390/nu12123765
- 115. Fukutomi R, Ohishi T, Koyama Y, Pervin M, Nakamura Y, Isemura M. Beneficial effects of epigallocatechin-3-O-gallate, chlorogenic acid, resveratrol, and curcumin on neurodegenerative diseases. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:415. doi: 10.3390/molecules26020415
- 116. Scazzocchio B, Minghetti L, D'Archivio M. Interaction between gut microbiota and curcumin: a new key of understanding for the health effects of curcumin. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:2499. doi: 10.3390/nu12092499
- 117. Sun Z-Z, Li X-Y, Wang S, Shen L, Ji H-F. Bidirectional interactions between curcumin and gut microbiota in transgenic mice with Alzheimer's disease. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2020) 104:3507–15. doi: 10.1007/s00253-020-10461-x
- 118. Peterson CT, Vaughn AR, Sharma V, Chopra D, Mills PJ, Peterson SN, et al. Effects of turmeric and curcumin dietary supplementation on human gut microbiota: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study. J Evid Based Integr Med. (2018) 23:2515690X18790725. doi: 10.1177/2515690X18790725
- Atlante A, Amadoro G, Bobba A, Latina V. Functional foods: an approach to modulate molecular mechanisms of Alzheimer's disease. *Cells.* (2020) 9:2347. doi: 10.3390/cells9112347
- 120. Chen D, Yang X, Yang J, Lai G, Yong T, Tang X, et al. Prebiotic effect of fructooligosaccharides from *Morinda officinalis* on Alzheimer's disease in rodent models by targeting the microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:403. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017 .00403
- 121. Wang X, Sun G, Feng T, Zhang J, Huang X, Wang T, et al. Sodium oligomannate therapeutically remodels gut microbiota and suppresses gut bacterial amino acids-shaped neuroinflammation

to inhibit Alzheimer's disease progression. *Cell Res.* (2019) 29:787–803. doi: 10.1038/s41422-019-0216-x

- 122. Yuan T, Ma H, Liu W, Niesen DB, Shah N, Crews R, et al. Pomegranate's neuroprotective effects against Alzheimer's disease are mediated by urolithins, its ellagitannin-gut microbial derived metabolites. *ACS Chem Neurosci.* (2016) 7:26–33. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.5b00260
- 123. Kiss AK, Granica S, Stolarczyk M, Melzig MF. Epigenetic modulation of mechanisms involved in inflammation: Influence of selected polyphenolic substances on histone acetylation state. *Food Chem.* (2012) 131:1015– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.09.109
- 124. Gorji N, Moeini R, Memariani Z. Almond, hazelnut and walnut, three nuts for neuroprotection in Alzheimer's disease: a neuropharmacological review of their bioactive constituents. *Pharmacol Res.* (2018) 129:115– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.12.003
- Román GC, Jackson RE, Reis J, Román AN, Toledo JB, Toledo E. Extra-virgin olive oil for potential prevention of Alzheimer disease. *Rev Neurol (Paris)*. (2019) 175:705–23. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2019.07.017
- 126. Liu H, Ye M, Guo H. An updated review of randomized clinical trials testing the improvement of cognitive function of ginkgo biloba extract in healthy people and Alzheimer's patients. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:1688. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.01688
- 127. Fischer K, Melo van Lent D, Wolfsgruber S, Weinhold L, Kleineidam L, Bickel H, et al. Prospective associations between single foods, Alzheimer's dementia and memory decline in the elderly. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:70852. doi: 10.3390/nu10070852
- 128. Subash S, Essa MM, Al-Adawi S, Memon MA, Manivasagam T, Akbar M. Neuroprotective effects of berry fruits on neurodegenerative diseases. *Neural Regen Res.* (2014) 9:1557–66. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.139483
- 129. Choi K-C, Jung MG, Lee Y-H, Yoon JC, Kwon SH, Kang H-B, et al. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate, a histone acetyltransferase inhibitor, inhibits EBV-induced B lymphocyte transformation via suppression of RelA acetylation. Cancer Res. (2009) 69:583–92. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2442
- 130. Yang L, Jin X, Yan J, Jin Y, Yu W, Wu H, et al. Prevalence of dementia, cognitive status and associated risk factors among elderly of Zhejiang province, China in 2014. Age Ageing. (2016) 45:708– 12. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw088
- Marcu MG, Jung Y-J, Lee S, Chung E-J, Lee M-J, Trepel J, et al. Curcumin is an inhibitor of p300 histone acetylatransferase. *Med Chem.* (2006) 2:169– 74. doi: 10.2174/157340606776056133
- Bhat A, Mahalakshmi AM, Ray B, Tuladhar S, Hediyal TA, Manthiannem E, et al. Benefits of curcumin in brain disorders. *Biofactors*. (2019) 45:666– 89. doi: 10.1002/biof.1533
- Cordero-Herrera I, Chen X, Ramos S, Devaraj S. (-)-Epicatechin attenuates high-glucose-induced inflammation by epigenetic modulation in human monocytes. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:1369–73. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1136-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Milošević, Arsić, Cvetković and Vučić. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Certain Associations Between Iron Biomarkers and Total and γ ' Fibrinogen and Plasma Clot Properties Are Mediated by Fibrinogen Genotypes

Petro H. Rautenbach^{1†}, Cornelie Nienaber-Rousseau^{1,2*†}, Zelda de Lange-Loots^{1,2} and Marlien Pieters^{1,2}

¹ Center of Excellence for Nutrition, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa, ² Medical Research Council Unit for Hypertension and Cardiovascular Disease, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irena Krga, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Agnese Ozolina, Riga Stradinš University, Latvia Rita Marchi, Université de Genève, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Cornelie Nienaber-Rousseau cornelie.nienaber@nwu.ac.za

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 June 2021 Accepted: 15 July 2021 Published: 10 August 2021

Citation:

Rautenbach PH, Nienaber-Rousseau C, de Lange-Loots Z and Pieters M (2021) Certain Associations Between Iron Biomarkers and Total and γ' Fibrinogen and Plasma Clot Properties Are Mediated by Fibrinogen Genotypes. Front. Nutr. 8:720048. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.720048 **Introduction:** Evidence for the relationship between body iron and cardiovascular disease (CVD) is inconsistent and mechanisms involved remain poorly understood. Therefore, we first investigated whether there are linear or non-linear relationships between iron status and total and γ ' fibrinogen as well as plasma fibrin clot properties and, second, determined whether there are interactions with iron biomarkers and fibrinogen and *FXIII* single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in relation to fibrinogen concentration and functionality.

Methods: In this cross-sectional analysis of 2,010 apparently healthy Black South Africans we quantified total and γ ' fibrinogen, serum iron, ferritin and transferrin using standardized methods and calculated transferrin saturation (TS). Clot architecture and lysis were explored with a global analytical turbidity assay. The SNPs were determined through an Illumina BeadXpress[®] platform.

Total, but not $\%\gamma$ ', fibrinogen negatively correlated with serum iron **Results:** concentrations, although both decreased over iron tertiles. %y' fibrinogen correlated negatively with transferrin and decreased over the transferrin tertiles. A weak negative association between total fibrinogen and TS was detected with fibrinogen decreasing over the TS tertiles and categories based on TS. Lag time correlated positively with transferrin and increased over transferrin tertiles, when adjusting for fibrinogen. Before adjusting for fibrinogen, lag time was shorter in those with adequate iron status based on TS than other iron subcategories. Clot lysis time (CLT) negatively correlated with ferritin and was longer in the first than in the third ferritin tertile. Among iron status categories based on ferritin, only CLT differed and was longer in those with adequate iron than with iron-overload. CLT negatively correlated with TS, albeit weakly, shortened over the TS tertiles and was shorter in those with adequate iron based on TS categories. Interactions were observed between FGB SNPs and some of the markers of iron status investigated, in relation to the clot properties with the most prominent associations detected in homozygous carriers of the variant alleles for whom increased iron status

85

was more beneficial than for those harboring the wild-type alleles. Iron modulated the influence of the SNPs so that for the majority iron was beneficial in respect of clot properties, but even more so for a minority group harboring specific variant alleles.

Conclusion: This is the first large-scale epidemiological study to relate fibrinogen concentration and functionality to markers of iron status and to take genetic factors into consideration. We have detected a relationship between iron biomarkers and fibrinogen as well as clot characteristics that are influenced by the genetic make-up of an individual.

Keywords: coagulation, ferritin, fiber density, fibrinolysis, lag time, lateral aggregation, transferrin, turbidity

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) continues to soar on a trajectory that will cripple many health services (1), despite being preventable by appropriate lifestyle modification (2), including diet (3). Micronutrients (4) such as the dietary trace mineral, iron, may play a role in CVD (5, 6). In those with optimal iron status, iron has been shown to have a neutral effect, but CVD risk is modestly increased in those with a deficiency or in individuals with iron-overload (5, 7). The mechanisms for this association remain to be determined. However, plausible pathways include effects on fibrinogen concentration, blood clot structure and properties (8, 9), which have themselves been implicated in CVD (10-12). The circulating glycoprotein fibrinogen is, upon activation, converted to fibrin, which provides the matrices for blood clots. Furthermore, fibrinogen has a common splice variant, γ' fibrinogen, with a physiological range of 8–15% (13), known to influence fibrin clot structure and mechanics (14). Factor XIII (FXIII) is another constituent of blood, which crosslinks fibrin fibers to protect the clot against premature lysis to allow wound healing (15). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the fibrinogen α , β and γ chain genes (FGA, *FGB*, and *FGG*) influence total and γ ' fibrinogen concentrations (16, 17) and have also been demonstrated together with those of FXIII to influence clot properties (16, 17). Undesirable iron stores (due to either iron overload or iron deficiency) are associated with oxidative stress (18-21), which can lead to post-translational modifications, but have also been shown to direct binding of iron to the fibrinogen molecule, leading to conformational changes and thereby hypercoagulability (22-24).

There are various iron biomarkers, representing different components of iron status. The gold standard for measuring iron stores is to evaluate iron deposits in a bone marrow aspiration sample (25). However, this procedure, being invasive and expensive, is not feasible in epidemiology (5). Ferritin was asserted to be the most powerful indicator for simple iron deficiency in populations (26), being a storage protein which is proportional to total-body iron stores and decreases when the body needs more of this essential trace mineral. Transferrin is a transport protein, which increases when the body needs more iron to increase absorption. Concentrations of iron in serum represent the circulating iron bound to transferrin and ferritin. From the latter markers, transferrin saturation (TS) can be calculated to increase the accuracy of iron deficiency detection (27). TS signifies the total iron availability in the body (indicating deficiency, adequacy or overload) and the equilibrium between the release of iron from storage areas and its use by bone marrow for erythropoiesis (28). TS is deemed a good indicator of iron reserves in the bone marrow (29). We included both serum ferritin and TS in our investigation to provide the best possible assessment of iron status (27). Hemoglobin and hematocrit are late indicators of iron status (30) and dietary intake is inadequate as a sole indicator of depletion (31), therefore these criteria should be interpreted with caution.

The aim of this study was 2-fold: to increase our understanding of the manner in which iron stores associate with fibrinogen concentration and functionality (fibrin clot properties), and how these associations are influenced by specific variations within the fibrinogen and FXIII genes. To this end, we first determined linear and non-linear relationships between total fibrinogen and—to our knowledge for the first time—the γ ' splice variant of fibrinogen, and clot properties and iron markers, in a large population-based study. Second, because fibrinogen and FXIII SNPs might interact with iron status markers to modulate total or y' fibrinogen concentrations as well as the kinetics of clot formation, structural clot properties and fibrinolysis, we examined whether there were such interactions. This work could potentially contribute to personalized nutrition in which dietary recommendations are tailored to genetic makeup, to enhance the therapeutic success of diet-based lifestyle interventions on disorders contingent on hemostasis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design, Population Selection, and Demographic Characteristics

This cross-sectional research is nested within the South African arm of the *P*rospective *U*rban and *Rural Epidemiology* (PURE) study that forms part of a multinational investigation tracking risk factors for chronic non-communicable diseases (32). A three-stage sampling process was followed with sample size based on power calculations using a previous investigation (33). After obtaining gatekeeper permission from local authorities, 6,000 houses were randomly selected from urban and rural strata. From the households, 4,000 eligible individuals with no reported use of chronic medication (excluding that for blood pressure) or any self-reported acute illness were identified. During the baseline period (data reported in this paper), biological samples were collected from 1,006 rural and 1,004 urban, ostensibly healthy Black South African men and women, who provided written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the Health Research Ethics Committee of the authors' University (NWU-00016-10-A1 and NWU-00034-17-A1-02), honoring the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975 and revised in 2000.

Lifestyle Factor Assessment

Questionnaires were interviewer-based and conducted by trained fieldworkers in the participant's home language. Details regarding demographic and lifestyle factors, including tobacco and alcohol use, were obtained. These results were published previously (34).

Anthropometrical and Blood Pressure Assessment

Participants were weighed and their heights measured to calculate body mass index (BMI, kg/m²). Waist circumference was obtained at the narrowest point between the 10th rib and iliac crest via a measuring tape by level 1 anthropometrists. Blood pressure—systolic and diastolic—was measured with the OMRON HEM-757 apparatus (Omron Healthcare, Kyoto, Japan) with the cuff on the participant's left arm.

Blood Collection, Sampling, and Storage

Fasting blood samples were collected by registered nurses between 07:00 and 11:00 from participants' antebrachial vein branches and centrifuged at $2,000 \times g$ for 15 min. Sodium citratetreated tubes were used to collect samples for the determination of fibrinogen concentration and clot properties. For highsensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP), gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT) and lipids, tubes not containing anti-coagulants were used for blood collection. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) tubes were used for the quantification of serum ferritin, transferrin, iron and glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c). Following removal of serum and plasma from the blood collection tubes, the remaining buffy coat was removed for the purpose of DNA isolation. Samples were transferred to collection tubes (500 μ L), snap-frozen on dry ice and stored at -20° C for 2-4 days prior to transfer to the cryofreeze facilities at the NWU, where they remained at -80° C until analyzed.

Biochemical Analyses

Total fibrinogen concentrations were quantified using the modified Clauss method on the Dade Behring BCS coagulation analyzer (Multifibrin U-test Dade Behring, Deerfield, IL, USA). An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using a Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX, USA) 2.G2.H9 mouse monoclonal coating antibody against human γ ', and an Abcam (Cambridge, MA, USA) goat polyclonal horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated antibody against human fibrinogen, were used to determine fibrinogen γ ' concentrations. Fibrinogen γ ' is expressed as % of total fibrinogen for the purpose of this paper.

To obtain plasma fibrinolytic potential, turbidimetric analysis (A405 nm) (35) with modified tissue factor and tissue-plasminogen activator (tPA) concentrations was used to obtain clot lysis times (CLT) of between 60 and 100 min. Final concentrations were: tissue factor (125x diluted--an estimated final concentration of 59 pM; Dade Innovin, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Marburg, Germany), CaCl₂ (17 mmol/L), tPA (100 ng/mL; Actilvse, Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim, Germany) and phospholipid vesicles (10 µmol/L; Rossix, Mölndal, Sweden). Kinetics of clot formation (lag time and slope) and structural plasma fibrin clot properties (maximum absorbance) and CLT were calculated from the turbidity curves as described previously (36). Lag time represents the time required for fibrin fibers to attain a sufficient length to allow lateral aggregation and activation of the coagulation cascade. Slope reflects the rate of lateral aggregation and maximum absorbance indicates clot density.

Serum ferritin and transferrin concentrations were determined using an enzyme immunoassay procedure (Ramco Laboratories, Inc, Stafford, TX, USA) and serum iron, CRP and GGT were measured with a particle-enhanced immunoturbidimetric assay using a Sequential Multiple Analyzer Computer (SMAC) using the Konelab20iTM auto analyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Oy, Vantaa, Finland). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) was calculated using the Friedewald formula. HbA1c concentrations were quantified using the D-10 Hemoglobin testing system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Whole blood was used for the determination of HIV status, making use of the First Response rapid HIV card test (PMC Medical, India). If positive, the investigation was repeated with the Pareeshak card test (BHAT Bio-tech, India).

DNA Extraction, Sequencing, and Genotyping

Genomic DNA was extracted using FlexiGeneTM kits (QIAGEN, catalog number 51206). If insufficient yield was established, the Maxwell[®] 16 blood DNA purification kit was used for the second isolation attempt. *FGA* 2224G/A (rs2070011), *FGA* 6534A/G (rs6050), *FGB* 1038G/A (rs1800791), *FGB* Arg448Lys, G/A (rs4220), *FGB* -148C/T (rs1800787), *FGG* 10034C/T (rs2066865), and *FGG* 9340T/C (rs1049636), the *FXIII* His95Arg A/G (rs6003) and *FXIII* Val34Leu, C/A (rs5985) were genotyped. Details of the genotyping are described elsewhere (16).

Quality control included a check for individuals successfully genotyped (missingness), minor allele frequencies (MAF), conformance to Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) and a tally of Mendelian errors. Haploview version 4.2 software (37) was used to calculate the level of pairwise linkage-disequilibrium (LD) between the SNPs, as reported before (38). For this study population, three SNPs (rs7439150, rs1800787, and rs1800789) were in high, albeit not complete, LD. Therefore, we report the SNPs separately.

Statistical Analysis

The computer software package $Statistica^{\mathbb{R}}$ version 13.3 (TIBCO Software Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA) and R version

3.5.0 (39) were used for computation. TS was calculated as follows (Fe/transferrin \times 70.9 (40). A sensitivity analysis was included in which all statistical analyses were conducted before and after those with a CRP concentration \geq 15 mg/L were excluded (this cut-off was used because the tympanic temperature of all participants included was <37.0°C, to rule out acute infection and the population is known to have a high basal CRP due to genetics (41) and socioeconomic factors (42). However, because exclusion did not result in major differences, we opted to report the results for the whole population with adjustment for, rather than excluding, CRP.

The variables data were tested for normality using the Shapiro–Wilk W-test and the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and descriptive statistics were calculated. Because variables were non-normally distributed, data are reported as medians (lower and upper quartiles).

Spearman correlations were performed to test for statistical dependence between variables. LDL-C, age, HbA1c, GGT and BMI were identified as possible confounders. We adjusted for these as well as CRP in subsequent analyses including in the Spearman partial correlations.

Kruskal–Wallis ANOVA and Mann–Whitney *U*-tests were used to detect differences in hemostatic markers among the tobacco use and HIV status subgroups as well as between men and women. Differences in total and % γ ' fibrinogen and fibrin plasma clot properties (lag time, slope, maximum absorbance and CLT), among tertiles created for the iron biomarkers, ferritin categories (iron deficient <15 µg/L; adequate =15-≤200 µg/L; overload >200 µg/L) and TS categories (<20% iron deficient; ≥20% adequate) were analyzed using generalized linear models with adjustments and *post hoc* tests.

To investigate whether the biomarkers of iron status had interactive effects with the fibrinogen and FXIII SNPs in predicting total and γ' fibrinogen concentrations and clot properties, general linear models with adjustments and interactions were performed using the biomarkers as continuous variables. The low prevalence of homozygous carriers of the variant allele among the study participants did not allow further subdivision of the population into tertiles based on iron biomarkers within the interaction analyses. Interactions that remained after adjusting for multiple testing are reported in Table 4. The method of Benjamini-Hochberg (43) was used to account for multiple testing and false discovery rates in terms of the interactions. This procedure indicated that the statistical threshold for significance was $p < 0.0017 [1/16^*3^*3(0.25)]$ when the false discovery rate was set at 25%. The number of SNPs investigated was 16, the iron biomarkers-based on associations with one another-were regarded as three, whereas total and γ ' fibrinogen concentrations and fibrin clot properties were also regarded as three. To describe the interactions, rho values were determined through Spearman partial correlations adjusting for confounders including CRP and additionally for fibrinogen when the interaction was related to one of the clot properties.

 TABLE 1 | Specific characteristics of participants.

Median (interquartile range) or (n: n)						
			Whole group#			
Sex (m	en: women)*		747: 1,263			
Age (yr)		48.0 (41.0–56.0)			
Blood J	pressure (mmHg)					
Systolic			130 (116–147)			
Diastolio	D		87.0 (78.0–97.0)			
Tobacc	o use (%) [©]					
Never (*	1)		52.7			
Former	(2)		4.14			
Current	(3)		42.7			
BMI (kę	g/m²)		22.9 (19.3–28.6)			
	circumference (cm	ı)	77.5 (70.2–87.7)			
HIV sta	ntus [®]					
Unaffeo	cted: affected)		1,668: 326			
	Cardiovascular	and clot properties				
		TC (mmol/L)	4.82 (4.01–5.87)			
		LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.79 (2.08–3.65)			
		HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.42 (1.06–1.87)			
		Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.08 (0.82–1.55)			
		HbA1c (%)	5.50 (5.30–5.80)			
		CRP (mg/L)	3.29 (0.96–9.34)			
ers		Total fibrinogen (g/l)	2.90 (2.30-5.00)			
ark		Fibrinogen γ' (%)	10.2 (7.14–14.6)			
=		Lag time (min)	6.52 (5.10–7.78)			
biochemical markers		Slope (x10 ⁻³ AU/s)	8.90 (6.49–11.9)			
hen		Maximum absorbance (nm)	0.42 (0.33-0.52)			
200		CLT (min)	57.2 (50.9–63.8)			
ш	Iron status bion	narkers				
	Iron (µmol/L)	Whole	15.9 (10.8–23.9)			
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Tertile 1	9.30 (6.80–10.8)			
		Tertile 2	15.9 (14.3–17.7)			
		Tertile 3	28.5 (23.9–38.8)			
	Transferrin (g/L)	Whole	2.72 (2.33–3.27)			
		Tertile 1	2.18 (1.94–2.33)			
		Tertile 2	2.71 (2.58–2.83)			
		Tertile 3	3.56 (3.23–4.02)			
	Ferritin (µg/L)	Whole	93.9 (36.4–208)			
	r ciritari (µg/L)	Tertile 1	23.0 (11.5–36.4)			
		Tertile 2	93.9 (72.7–121)			
		Tertile 3	. ,			
			268 (208–445)			
	TS (%)	Whole	23.08 (15.6–34.9)			
		Tertile 1	13.0 (9.22–15.6)			
		Tertile 2	23.1 (20.6–26.2)			
		Tertile 3	34.9 (34.9–57.4)			

#Total sample was 2,010, but numbers are slightly different for several variables due to random missing data.

* Total fibrinogen, maximum absorbance and CLT differed between the sexes.

[@]CLT differed among the tobacco use subgroups.

 $^{{}^{\}textcircled{R}}$ Total fibrinogen, ${}^{\aleph}{}_{Y}{}'$ fibrinogen, slope and maximum absorbance differed between the HIV status groups.

BMI, body mass index; CLT, clot lysis time; CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin A1c; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; n, number of patients; TC, total cholesterol; TS, transferrin saturation.

Participant characteristics	Total fibrinogen	%γ'fibrinogen	Lag time	Slope	Maximum absorbance	CLT
Iron (µmol/L)	-0.22***	-0.04	0.03	-0.13***	-0.08**	-0.01***
	-0.12**	-0.03	-0.02	-0.08*	0.05	0.02
	-	-	-0.009	-0.05	0.08*	0.02
Transferrin (g/L)	0.06**	-0.09***	0.016	0.03	0.08***	0.12***
	0.03	-0.06	0.09*	-0.02	0.06	0.01
	-	-	0.09*	-0.02	0.05	0.01
Ferritin (µg/L)	0.06	-0.05	-0.02	0.008	-0.03	-0.1**
	0.09*	-0.07	-0.05	0.04	-0.03	-0.1**
	-	-	-0.06	0.02	-0.06	-0.1**
TS (%)	0.24***	-0.002	0.03	-0.13***	-0.11***	-0.15***
	-0.1**	0.02	-0.04	-0.06	0.03	0.01
	-	-	-0.02	-0.03	0.06	0.02

 $p < 0.05; p \le 0.01; p \le 0.01$

The first r-value is for Spearman correlation; second r-value for Spearman partial correlations of iron biomarkers with clot properties, adjusting for CRP, LDL-C, age, HbA1c and GGT; third r-value is for Spearman correlations of iron biomarkers with clot properties, adjusting for CRP, LDL-C, age, HbA1c and GGT as well as fibrinogen. CLT, clot lysis time: TS, transferrin saturation.

RESULTS

The demographic and clinical characteristics of participants are presented in **Table 1**. We observed ferritin concentrations of <15 μ g/L, indicative of iron deficiency (44) in 11.7% of the study population, and >200 μ g/L, indicative of a risk of iron overload (44) in 26.7% of the volunteers; 39.4% presented with a TS of <20%, also indicative of iron deficiency (25, 44, 45).

Spearman and partial Spearman correlations are presented in **Table 2**. Noteworthy correlations observed were a negative association of serum iron with total fibrinogen, and a positive association between TS and total fibrinogen. TS also correlated negatively with CLT. Most of the correlations observed between clot properties and markers of iron status disappeared after adjustment for fibrinogen. In **Table 3** we divided the iron biomarkers into tertiles to explore their relationship with fibrinogen and clot structure.

Total fibrinogen but not γ ' fibrinogen negatively correlated with serum iron concentrations, although both decreased over iron tertiles. $\%\gamma$ ' fibrinogen correlated negatively with transferrin and decreased over the transferrin tertiles. A weak negative association between fibrinogen and TS was detected, with total fibrinogen decreasing over the TS tertiles. Lag time correlated positively, albeit weakly, with transferrin and increased over transferrin tertiles after adjustment for fibrinogen. Despite lag time not being correlated with ferritin, we detected a difference therein among ferritin tertiles. The negative correlation between circulating iron and CLT was weak and the decrease in CLT over the serum iron tertiles disappeared after post hoc tests. CLT negatively correlated with ferritin and was longer in the first than in the third ferritin tertile. CLT negatively correlated with TS, albeit weakly, and shortened over the TS tertiles. However, because clinical guidelines regarding iron status based on ferritin and TS cut-offs exist, we also report the significant differences observed among and between these categories. Among iron status categories based on ferritin, fibrinogen concentrations tended to be higher in the iron-adequate and overload groups than in the deficient group (p = 0.057) and CLT was shorter in the iron overload group than in those with an adequate status (p = 0.017). Between iron status categories based on TS, total fibrinogen (p = 0.00003), maximum absorbance (p = 0.02; after additional adjustment for fibrinogen p = 0.09) and CLT (p =0.00008; after additional adjustment for fibrinogen p = 0.002) were lower in the iron-deficient than the iron-adequate group.

In **Table 4** only the significant interactions (p < 0.0017)between the SNPs and the biochemical markers of iron status are presented in relation to fibrinogen as well as plasma clot structure and function. Serum iron interacted with the FGB SNP at rs4463047 in relation to slope. Participants harboring the wild type at this locus displayed an inverse, albeit weak, correlation between the rate of lateral aggregation and concentrations of serum iron, whereas slope and iron did not correlate in carriers of the variant allele. Ferritin interacted with the FGB SNP at rs2227388 in relation to lag time. Among the different genotypes at this locus, only heterozygous individuals presented with a negative relationship between ferritin and lag time, with the homozygous individuals of the minor allele being underrepresented. A negative association, albeit weak, was seen with carriers of the wild-type genotype of the FGB SNP at rs4463047 between TS and slope, whereas there was none in individuals with the minor allele. The FGB SNP at rs1800787 was modulated by TS in relation to CLT. Negative associations between TS and CLT were seen in the major C allele carriers.

DISCUSSION

To date, limited information is available on the associations between iron and fibrinogen concentration, clot structure and properties (46). Furthermore, reports available on severe iron status abnormalities and their association with fibrinogen and blood clot data are scarce. However, based on the limited TABLE 3 | Iron biomarker tertiles in relationship to total and γ' fibrinogen as well as clot properties (i.e., lag time, slope, maximum absorbance, and CLT).

<12.4 (µmol/L)	12.4–20.45 (µmol/L)	00.45 (
		>20.45 (µmol/L)	<i>p</i> -value
3.94 (3.79–4.10)*#\$	3.70 (3.54–3.85)*#\$	3.41 (3.25–3.57)*#\$	0.00004
13.1 (12.4–3.83)*#	11.7 (11.1–2.43)*	11.5 (10.8–2.23)#	0.004
6.52 (6.36-6.68)	6.55 (6.40-6.70)	6.36 (6.21–6.52)	0.23
9.74 (9.39–10.1)	9.56 (9.22–9.90)	9.64 (9.29–10.0)	0.76
0.44 (0.42-0.45)	0.43 (0.42–0.45)	0.42 (0.41-0.44)	0.35
58.6 (57.7–9.52)	57.0 (56.1–57.9)	56.1 (55.2 -57.0)	0.001
6.45 (6.29–6.61)	6.46 (6.30-6.62)	6.36 (6.20-6.52)	0.66
9.57 (9.22–9.91)	9.50 (9.17–9.84)	9.81 (9.46–10.15)	0.45
0.43 (0.41–0.44)	0.43 (0.41–0.44)	0.43 (0.42-0.44)	0.97
58.6 (57.6–59.5)	57.3 (56.4–58.2)	56.3 (55.3–57.2)	0.004
<2.46 (g/L)	2.46-3.04 (g/L)	>3.04 (g/L)	
3.58 (3.39– 3.71)	3.67 (3.51–3.84)	3.74 (3.59–3.90)	0.20
13.3 (12.6–14.0)*#	11.8 (11.1–12.6)*	11.4 (10.8–12.1)#	0.0006
6.43 (6.30-6.60)	6.41 (6.25–6.58)	6.60 (6.44–6.75)	0.23
9.35 (9.00–9.70)	9.96 (9.60–10.3)	9.51 (9.17–9.85)	0.05
0.42 (0.41–0.43)	0.43 (0.42–0.45)	0.43 (0.42–0.44)	0.35
57.2 (56.2-8.09)	57.1 (56.1–8.02)	57.5 (56.6–8.35)	0.83
	,		
6.35 (6.19–6.52)*	6.31 (6.14-6.48)#	6.58 (6.43–6.74)*#	0.04
9.36 (9.01–9.72)	9.92 (9.57–10.3)	9.47 (9.15–9.80)	0.07
0.42 (0.40–0.43)	0.42 (0.41–0.44)	0.43 (0.42–0.44)	0.43
57.4 (56.4–58.4)	57.2 (56.3–58.2)	57.5 (56.6–58.4)	0.92
<54.9 (μg/L)	54.9–152.6 (μg/L)	>152.6 (μg/L)	0102
3.95 (3.73–4.16	3.91 (3.70–4.13)	3.78 (3.56–4.00)	0.54
13.1 (12.1–4.11)	12.1 (11.1–3.12)	12.5 (11.5–13.5)	0.37
6.53 (6.33–6.73)	6,20 (6.00–6.40)	6.44 (6.24–6.64)	0.03
			0.93
,			0.06
. ,			0.002
00.1 (00.0 01.2)	00.0 (01.4 00.1)	01.0 (00.0 00.1)	0.002
6 54 (6 33_6 75)	6 16 (5 95-6 36)	6 32 (6 11-6 53)	0.04
. ,			0.81
,			0.09
· · · · ·			0.005
, ,		. ,	0.005
			0.00001
, ,			0.00001
. ,			0.4
			0.64
			0.04
, ,			
0.1 (01.0-09.0)	JT.2 (JU.J-JO.U) **	JJ.U (J4.9-JU./) **	0.0009
6 41 (6 25 6 57)	6 46 (6 20 6 60)	6 10 (6 01 6 56)	0.86
. ,			0.9
, ,		()	0.41 0.002
	9.71 (9.25–10.2) 0.46 (0.44–0.47) 60.1 (58.9–61.2)* 6.54 (6.33–6.75) 9.68 (9.21–10.1) 0.45 (0.43–0.46) 60.2 (59.0–61.4)* <18.02 (%) 3.97 (3.82–4.13)* ^{#\$} 3.97 (3.82–4.13) 12.7 (12.0–13.4) 9.78 (9.44–10.1) 0.43 (0.42–0.45) 58.7 (57.8–59.6)* ^{#\$} 6.41 (6.25–6.57) 9.59 (9.26–9.93) 0.43 (0.42–0.44) 58.6 (57.6–59.5)* ^{#\$}	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.46 & (0.44-0.47) & 0.44 & (0.43-0.46) \\ 60.1 & (58.9-61.2)^{*} & 58.6 & (57.4-59.7) \\ \hline \\ 6.54 & (6.33-6.75) & 6.16 & (5.95-6.36) \\ 9.68 & (9.21-10.1) & 9.64 & (9.19-10.1) \\ 0.45 & (0.43-0.46) & 0.44 & (0.43-0.46) \\ 60.2 & (59.0-61.4)^{*} & 58.4 & (57.3-59.6) \\ \hline \\ \mathbf{<18.02} & (\%) & \mathbf{18.02-30.01} & (\%) \\ 3.97 & (3.82-4.13)^{*\#8} & 3.64 & (3.48-3.91)^{*\#8} \\ 3.97 & (3.82-4.13) & 3.64 & (3.48-3.79) \\ 12.7 & (12.0-13.4) & 11.6 & (10.9-12.3) \\ 9.78 & (9.44-10.1) & 9.57 & (9.23-9.91) \\ 0.43 & (0.42-0.45) & 0.44 & (0.42-0.45) \\ 58.7 & (57.8-59.6)^{*\#8} & 57.2 & (56.3-58.0)^{*\#8} \\ \hline \\ 6.41 & (6.25-6.57) & 6.46 & (6.30-6.62) \\ 9.59 & (9.26-9.93) & 9.57 & (9.24-9.90) \\ 0.43 & (0.42-0.44) & 0.43 & (0.42-0.44) \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 0.46 & (0.44-0.47) & 0.44 & (0.43-0.46) & 0.42 & (0.40-0.44) \\ 60.1 & (58.9-61.2)^{*} & 58.6 & (57.4-59.7) & 57.0 & (55.9-58.1)^{*} \\ \hline \\ 6.54 & (6.33-6.75) & 6.16 & (5.95-6.36) & 6.32 & (6.11-6.53) \\ 9.68 & (9.21-10.1) & 9.64 & (9.19-10.1) & 9.84 & (10.1-9.38) \\ 0.45 & (0.43-0.46) & 0.44 & (0.43-0.46) & 0.42 & (0.40-0.44) \\ 60.2 & (59.0-61.4)^{*} & 58.4 & (57.3-59.6) & 57.4 & (56.2-58.6)^{*} \\ \hline \\ <18.02 & (\%) & 18.02-30.01 & (\%) & >30.01 & (\%) \\ 3.97 & (3.82-4.13)^{*\#\$} & 3.64 & (3.48-3.91)^{*\#\$} & 3.42 & (3.26-3.58)^{*\#\$} \\ 3.97 & (3.82-4.13) & 3.64 & (3.48-3.79) & 3.42 & (3.26-3.58) \\ 12.7 & (12.0-13.4) & 11.6 & (10.9-12.3) & 12.1 & (11.4-12.8) \\ 9.78 & (9.44-10.1) & 9.57 & (9.23-9.91) & 9.58 & (9.23-9.93) \\ 0.43 & (0.42-0.45) & 0.44 & (0.42-0.45) & 0.42 & (0.41-0.43) \\ 58.7 & (57.8-59.6)^{*\#\$} & 57.2 & (56.3-58.0)^{*\#\$} & 55.8 & (54.9-56.7)^{*\#\$} \\ \hline \\ 6.41 & (6.25-6.57) & 6.46 & (6.30-6.62) & 6.40 & (6.24-6.56) \\ 9.59 & (9.26-9.93) & 9.57 & (9.24-9.90) & 9.69 & (9.34-10.0) \\ 0.43 & (0.42-0.44) & 0.43 & (0.42-0.44) & 0.42 & (0.41-0.43) \\ \hline \end{array}$

The first model for each iron biomarker is adjusted for age, LDL-C, BMI, HbA1c, GGT, and CRP, and the second additionally for fibrinogen. All tertiles contain ~670 individuals. Bonferroni post hoc test revealed significant differences between the categories indicated with symbols. Cl, confidence interval; CLT, clot lysis time; GLM, general linear models; TS, transferrin saturation.

Interaction	Interaction <i>p</i> -value	Genotype	r	<i>p</i> -value	r	<i>p</i> -value
Serum iron in relatio	n to slope					
FGB: rs4463047	0.001 (0.003)	Π	-0.08	0.01	-0.06	0.06
		TC	-0.07	0.23	0.08	0.21
		CC	0.12	*	0.40	*
Ferritin in relation to	lag time					
FGB: rs2227388	0.0009	GG	-0.03	0.50	0.03	0.50
	(0.001)	AG	-0.30	>0.05	-0.30	>0.05
		AA	-0.07	0.78	-0.20	0.50
TS in relation to slop	e					
FGB: rs4463047	0.0008	Π	-0.08	0.01	-0.06	0.06
	(0.0004)	TC	0.08	0.21	0.09	0.16
		CC	0.47	*	0.72	*
TS in relation to CLT						
FGB: rs1800787	0.001 (0.002)	CC	0.02	0.60	0.02	0.63
		CT	-0.08	0.55	-0.06	0.63
		Π	-0.25	*	-0.40	*

TABLE 4 | FGB, gene polymorphisms' interactions with biomarkers of iron status in relation to clot properties.

First, r and p-value are for a GLM interaction adjusted for age, LDL-C, HbA1c, GGT, and BMI; and the second with additional adjustment for fibrinogen. Key: A, adenine; C, cytosine; FGB, fibrinogen beta chain; G, guanine; rs, reference sequence; T, thymine; TS, transferrin saturation.

*Stratification resulted in too few individuals to perform analysis.

available literature, it seemed plausible that fibrinogen and clot properties are affected negatively in both iron deficiency and overload. Therefore, to complement the linear relationship detected by correlation analysis, we created tertiles of the iron status markers in addition to clinical cutoffs used for ferritin and compared the subgroups. In this study, we confirmed that inverse linear relationships exist between iron biomarkers and fibrinogen as well as clot characteristics and detected new linear relationships that have not been reported previously. Only fibrinogen concentrations tended to be higher in the ironadequate and overload groups than in the deficient group (based on the clinical cut-offs for ferritin values). We did not observe any other U- or J-shaped relationships. This work also contributes to the field in a novel way by considering genetics.

Total fibrinogen but not γ ' fibrinogen negatively correlated with serum iron concentrations, with total and γ' fibrinogen decreasing over the serum iron tertiles. The negative relationship between serum iron and total fibrinogen observed here is in agreement with the findings of others on Black South Africans (47, 48). Here, despite not detecting a correlation between ferritin and fibrinogen, fibrinogen tended to be higher (borderline significant) in the iron-adequate and overload groups than in the deficient group. Studies are conflicting regarding the relationship between ferritin and fibrinogen, with one finding no association (49) and others observing a positive association in healthy men and patients with stable angina, myocardial ischemia and unstable angina (50, 51). Reasons for this inconsistent relationship observed between ferritin and fibrinogen are unclear, but could be due to the different target populations that were investigated (apparently healthy vs. having CVD). A weak negative correlation between fibrinogen and TS was detected after post hoc correction for covariates. The inverse association was further supported with fibrinogen decreasing over the TS tertiles and being lower in the TS category corresponding to adequate iron status. The negative relationship of TS and total fibrinogen we report contrasts with data from a study involving patients with chronic kidney disease (52). Here we noted novel negative relationships between γ' fibrinogen and serum iron/transferrin. $\%\gamma'$ fibrinogen negatively correlated with transferrin, albeit weakly, and decreased over the transferrin tertiles.

Regarding the clot properties, lag time demonstrated a weak positive association with transferrin (after adjustment for fibrinogen). Additionally, lag time differed between TS iron status categories (before adjustment for fibrinogen), being lower in the iron-deficient group than those with adequate status. CLT correlated negatively with ferritin and was longer in the first than in the third ferritin tertile and shorter in the iron overload group than those with an adequate status based ferritin. CLT was shorter in those with adequate status based on TS cut-offs. In kidney disease patients, D-dimer, a fibrin degradation product indicating coagulation activation and fibrinolysis, seems to be augmented in those with anemia (53). In 2017, a case study reported elevated D-dimer in a patient presenting with anemia after iron sucrose infusion (54). Experimental studies have shown iron-mediated increased coagulation (8, 22, 24, 55). Hydroxyl free radicals are produced by poorly chelated iron ions accumulating in the circulation and converting soluble human fibrinogen into an insoluble and plasmin-resistant polymer. Fibrin clots of this polymer are resistant to enzymatic degradation (56). The proposed biological mechanism for iron-mediated hypercoagulability is not just via oxidative stress, but also involves direct binding of iron to fibrinogen, causing conformational changes in this glycoprotein (57). Lipinski et al. added iron ions

(ferrous chloride) to whole blood and observed enhanced fibrin fiber formation with thrombin, delayed fibrinolysis in a concentration-dependent manner and more densely matted fibrin deposits (23). The ferrous ions caused the appearance of dense deposits of matted fibrin, similar to those observed in the plasma of stroke patients (55). In iron overload, a decrease in the time of onset of coagulation was observed (22). These in vitro findings do not seem to apply to the epidemiological setting. Here, fibrinogen concentrations seemed to be higher and CLT shorter in those with iron-overload (as defined by ferritin and TS concentrations) than those with adequate status or in the first ferritin tertile than the third, whereas no other marker of clot properties differed after Bonferroni correction. Because we observed a negative association between serum iron and total and γ' fibrinogen and no relationship between ferritin and fibrinogen and the CLT relationship remained after adjusting for fibrinogen, we attribute the increased lysis rate to other factors that also influence fibrinolysis.

To our knowledge, we are the first to relate a unique set of variables reflecting fibrinogen functionality-that is, total fibrinogen or γ ' fibrinogen concentrations as well as the kinetics of clot formation, structural properties and fibrinolysis-with iron status biomarkers and to take the genetic make-up of individuals into account. Here we report that certain FGB genetic variants modified the association of iron biomarkers with fibrin clot characteristics. Iron biomarkers modulated the influence of the SNPs so that, for the majority of the study population, having adequate iron status was beneficial in respect of clot structure/properties. Optimal iron was evidently even more beneficial for a minority group harboring specific variant alleles. The interactions observed require further replication and functional validation for a mechanistic understanding. However, we know that iron status has the ability to perturb normal patterns of DNA methylation (58) and influence epigenetic regulatory mechanisms (59). We speculate that these methylation changes can translate into altering fibrinogen expression due to conformational changes at the FGB: rs4463047 (downstream), FGB: rs2227388 (5'upstream) and FGB: rs1800787 (5' upstream) loci, leading to the interaction we observed. However, after additional adjustment for fibrinogen the interactions remained. Therefore, future research should investigate the mechanisms behind the interactions observed per locus; here we simply demonstrate the nuanced relationships of iron biomarkers and clot structure/properties due to genetic factors and that they are probably not due to changes in fibrinogen concentration.

Overall, we observed increasing iron biomarkers to be beneficial in terms of fibrinogen and clot properties and did not detect iron-hypercoagulability as previous researchers did (8). However, we acknowledge certain limitations. It is possible that we did not have enough participants presenting with extreme iron deficiency or overload, because we included ostensibly healthy individuals who did not have pronounced iron status abnormalities. To interpret iron status, we accounted for the degree of inflammation by conducting a sensitivity analysis and by adjusting for inflammation; however, maintaining statistical power became problematic when dealing with the study population in terms of particular genotypes. Whereas, two FXIII SNPs were included in this study, we could not quantify FXIII levels to provide additional evidence for the association of FXIII levels with fibrin clot structure. Serum transferrin receptor (TfR) concentration and the ratio of serum TfR to serum ferritin may be another indicator of iron deficiency to consider in future (5). Even though hemoglobin is a late indicator of iron deficiency, because it is widely used in clinical settings, its inclusion may aid healthcare workers in giving medical advice. Additionally, viscoelastic testing complimentary to the already collected clot properties could be investigated in future research. We believe that, even with these limitations and the observational nature of the study design, these results still contribute usefully to current knowledge on this topic. Moreover, we have highlighted the idiosyncrasies that result from the genetic differences in how iron status modulates fibrinogen concentration and functionality by investigating blood clot structure and properties.

CONCLUSION

We show relationships between fibrinogen, fibrin formation and fibrinogen lysis and biomarkers of iron status that are modulated by certain fibrinogen SNPs. CVD and iron status have both been associated with increased mortality and morbidity. Fibrinogen and fibrinogen functionality may form part of the mechanisms linking these conditions. Therefore, in terms of overall health both iron insufficiency and overload should be detected and treated. Whether manipulation of dietary iron status to influence fibrinogen and fibrin blood clot formation in the presence of certain genetic characteristics can reduce CVD, still needs to be determined. Healthcare workers could potentially use these findings, when enough evidence such as we provide here has accumulated, to modify iron status of individuals to ultimately reduce CVD in the emerging field of personalized medicine.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The data that support the findings of this study are available upon reasonable request and with the permission of the Health Research Ethics Committee of North-West University and the principal investigator of the PURE-SA-NW study, at North-West University's Africa Unit for Transdisciplinary Health Research. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to lanthe.kruger@nwu.ac.za.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by North-West University Health Research Ethics Committee (NWU-00016-10-A1 and NWU-00034-17-A1-02). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PR: statistical analysis and interpretation of data, drafting and finalizing the manuscript, and final approval. CN-R: study concept, acquisition of data and analysis, drafting, finalizing and critical revision of the manuscript, final approval, and study supervision. ZL-L: data generation and interpretation, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval. MP: obtained funding, acquisition of data, interpretation of data, critical revision of the manuscript, final approval, and study supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This project was funded by a Self-Initiated Research grant from the South African Medical Research Council as well as

REFERENCES

- WHO. Fact Sheet on Cardiovascular Disease. (2017). Available online at: http://www.hoint/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-disease-(cvds) (accessed May 25, 2021)
- 2. Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, Albus C, Brotons C, Catapano AL, et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts) Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & amp Rehabilitation (EACPR). European Heart Journal. (2016) 37:2315–81. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Xu Z, Steffen LM, Selvin E, Rebholz CM. Diet quality, change in diet quality and risk of incident CVD and diabetes. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 23:329– 38. doi: 10.1017/S136898001900212X
- Targher G, Pichiri I, Lippi G. Vitamin D, Thrombosis, and Hemostasis: More Than Skin Deep. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis. New York, NY: Thieme Medical Publishers (2012). doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1300957
- Lapice E, Masulli M, Vaccaro O. Iron deficiency and cardiovascular disease: an updated review of the evidence. *Curr Atherosclerosis Rep.* (2013) 15:358. doi: 10.1007/s11883-013-0358-0
- Von Haehling S, Jankowska EA, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Ponikowski P, Anker SD. Iron deficiency and cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2015) 12:659. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio. 2015.109
- 7. Eftekhari MH, Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Shidfar F, Zamani A. Relation between body iron status and cardiovascular risk factors in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Int J Prevent Med.* (2013) 4:911.
- Lipinski B, Pretorius E. Hydroxyl radical-modified fibrinogen as a marker of thrombosis: the role of iron. *Hematology*. (2012) 17:241– 7. doi: 10.1179/1607845412Y.0000000004
- Schmaier AH. Transferrin: a blood coagulation modifier. *Cell Res.* (2020) 30:101–2. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0275-z
- Appiah D, Schreiner PJ, MacLehose RF, Folsom AR. Association of plasma γ′ fibrinogen with incident cardiovascular disease. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis Vasc Biol. (2015) 35:2700– 6. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306284
- Wang J, Tan G-J, Han L-N, Bai Y-Y, He M, Liu H-B. Novel biomarkers for cardiovascular risk prediction. J Geriatr Cardiol. (2017) 14:135.
- 12. Ariëns RAS. Fibrin(ogen) and thrombotic disease. J Thrombosis Haemostasis. (2013) 11:294–305. doi: 10.1111/jth.12229
- Chung DW, Davie EW. gamma. and. gamma.'chains of human fibrinogen are produced by alternative mRNA processing. *Biochemistry*. (1984) 23:4232– 6. doi: 10.1021/bi00313a033

an Academy of Medical Sciences UK-partnered, Newton Fund Advanced Fellowship (AMS-NAF1-Pieters) Grant to MP.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all supporting staff and the participants of the PURE study and in particular:

1. PURE-South Africa: The PURE-SA research team, field workers and office staff in the Africa Unit for Transdisciplinary Health Research (AUTHeR), Faculty of Health Sciences, North-West University, Potchefstroom Campus, South Africa.

2. PURE-International: Dr. S. Yusuf and the PURE study office staff at the Population Health Research Institute (PHRI), Hamilton Health Sciences and McMaster University. Ontario, Canada.

- Macrae FL, Domingues MM, Casini A, Ariens RA. *The (Patho) Physiology* of Fibrinogen γ[']. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis. New York, NY: Thieme Medical Publishers (2016). doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1572353
- Muszbek L, Adany R, Mikkola H. Novel aspects of blood coagulation factor XIII. I. Structure, distribution, activation, and function. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* (1996) 33:357–421. doi: 10.3109/10408369609084691
- Cronjé HT, Nienaber-Rousseau C, Zandberg L, Chikowore T, de Lange Z, van Zyl T, et al. Candidate gene analysis of the fibrinogen phenotype reveals the importance of polygenic co-regulation. *Matrix Biol.* (2017) 60:16– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2016.10.005
- Sabater-Lleal M, Huang J, Chasman D, Naitza S, Dehghan A, Johnson AD, et al. Multiethnic meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies in> 100,000 subjects identifies 23 fibrinogenassociated Loci but no strong evidence of a causal association between circulating fibrinogen and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation.* (2013) 128:1310–24. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002251
- Yoo JH, Maeng HY, Sun YK, Kim YA, Park DW, Park TS, et al. Oxidative status in iron-deficiency anemia. J Clin Lab Analysis. (2009) 23:319– 23. doi: 10.1002/jcla.20335
- Aslan M, Horoz M, Çelik H. Evaluation of oxidative status in iron deficiency anemia through total antioxidant capacity measured using an automated method/Demir eksikligi anemisinde otomatik bir yöntem kullanilarak total antioksidan kapasite ile oksidatif durumun degerlendirilmesi. *Turkish J Haematol.* (2011) 28:42. doi: 10.5152/tjh.2011.04
- Fibach E, Rachmilewitz EA. Iron overload in hematological disorders. La Presse Médi. (2017) 46:e296–305. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2017.10.007
- Abdalla MY, Fawzi M, Al-Maloul SR, El-Banna N, Tayyem RF, Ahmad IM. Increased oxidative stress and iron overload in Jordanian β-thalassemic children. *Hemoglobin*. (2011) 35:67–79. doi: 10.3109/03630269.2010.544624
- Nielsen VG, Pretorius E. Iron-enhanced coagulation is attenuated by chelation A thrombelastographic and ultrastructural analysis. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis.* (2014) 25:845–50. doi: 10.1097/MBC.0000000000 00160
- Lipinski B, Pretorius E, Oberholzer HM, Van Der Spuy WJ. Iron enhances generation of fibrin fibers in human blood: Implications for pathogenesis of stroke. *Microscopy Res Tech.* (2012) 75:1185–90. doi: 10.1002/jemt.22047
- Lipinski B, Pretorius E. Iron-induced fibrin in cardiovascular disease. Curr Neurovasc Res. (2013) 10:269–74. doi: 10.2174/15672026113109990016
- 25. Pasricha S-R, Tye-Din J, Muckenthaler MU, Swinkels DW. Iron deficiency. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:233–48. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32594-0
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Ali M, Willan A, McIlroy W, Patterson C. Laboratory diagnosis of iron-deficiency anemia. J Gene Internal Med. (1992) 7:145– 53. doi: 10.1007/BF02598003
- Cacoub P, Vandewalle C, Peoc'h K. Using transferrin saturation as a diagnostic criterion for iron deficiency: A systematic review. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* (2019) 56:526–32. doi: 10.1080/10408363.2019.1653820

- Mazza J, Barr R, McDonald J, Valberg L. Usefulness of the serum ferritin concentration in the detection of iron deficiency in a general hospital. *Canad Med Assoc J.* (1978) 119:884.
- Moliner P, Jankowska EA, van Veldhuisen DJ, Farre N, Rozentryt P, Enjuanes C, et al. Clinical correlates and prognostic impact of impaired iron storage versus impaired iron transport in an international cohort of 1821 patients with chronic heart failure. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 243:360– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.04.110
- Cdc A. Recommendations to prevent and control iron deficiency in the United States. MMWR Recomm Rep. (1998) 47:1–29.
- Mahan LK, Escott-Stump S. Krause's Food, Nutrition, & Diet Therapy. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders (2004).
- 32. Teo K, Chow CK, Vaz M, Rangarajan S, Yusuf S. The Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study: examining the impact of societal influences on chronic non-communicable diseases in low-, middle-, and high-income countries. *Am Heart J.* (2009) 158:1–7.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2009.04.019
- 33. Vorster HH, Venter CS, Wissing MP, Margetts BM. The nutrition and health transition in the North West Province of South Africa: a review of the THUSA (Transition and Health during Urbanisation of South Africans) study. *Public Health Nutr.* (2007) 8:480–90. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005784
- 34. Rautenbach PH, Nienaber-Rousseau C, Pieters M. The association of alcohol with circulating total fibrinogen and plasma clot density is mediated by fibrinogen and FXIII genotypes. *Thrombosis J.* (2020) 18:1– 11. doi: 10.1186/s12959-020-00249-4
- Lisman T, De Groot PG, Meijers JC, Rosendaal FR. Reduced plasma fibrinolytic potential is a risk factor for venous thrombosis. *Blood.* (2005) 105:1102–5. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3253
- 36. Pieters M, Kotze RC, Jerling JC, Kruger A, Ariëns RAS. Evidence that fibrinogen γ' regulates plasma clot structure and lysis and relationship to cardiovascular risk factors in black Africans. *Blood.* (2013) 121:3254–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-12-471482
- Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics*. (2005) 21:263–5. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bth457
- Cronje HT, Nienaber-Rousseau C, Zandberg L, De Lange Z, Green FR, Pieters M. Fibrinogen and clot-related phenotypes determined by fibrinogen polymorphisms: Independent and IL-6-interactive associations. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0187712. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187712
- 39. Team RC. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna (2017).
- Eleftheriadis T, Liakopoulos V, Antoniadi G, Stefanidis I. Which is the best way for estimating transferrin saturation? *Renal Failure*. (2010) 32:1022– 3. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2010.502609
- Nienaber-Rousseau C, Swanepoel B, Dolman RC, Pieters M, Conradie KR, Towers GW. Interactions between C-reactive protein genotypes with markers of nutritional status in relation to inflammation. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:5034– 50. doi: 10.3390/nu6115034
- 42. Liu RS, Aiello AE, Mensah FK, Gasser CE, Rueb K, Cordell B, et al. Socioeconomic status in childhood and C reactive protein in adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2017) 71:817–26. doi: 10.1136/jech-2016-208646
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stati Soc Series B. (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- 44. WHO. Guideline on Use of Ferritin Concentrations to Assess Iron Status in Individuals and Populations. Geneva: World Health Organization (2020).
- 45. Froessler B, Palm P, Weber I, Hodyl NA, Singh R, Murphy EM. The important role for intravenous iron in perioperative patient blood management in major abdominal surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Surg.* (2016) 264:41. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001646
- Pieters M, De Maat MP. Diet and haemostasis-a comprehensive overview. Blood Rev. (2015) 29:231–41. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.12.005

- James S, Vorster HH, Venter CS, Kruger HS, Nell TA, Veldman FJ, et al. Nutritional status influences plasma fibrinogen concentration: evidence from the THUSA survey. *Thrombosis Res.* (2000) 98:383–94. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(00)00197-3
- Vorster H, Jerling J, Steyn K, Badenhorst C, Slazus W, Venter C, et al. Plasma fibrinogen of black South Africans: the BRISK study. *Public Health Nutr.* (1998) 1:169–76. doi: 10.1079/PHN19980026
- Forouhi NG, Harding AH, Allison M, Sandhu MS, Welch A, Luben R, et al. Elevated serum ferritin levels predict new-onset type 2 diabetes: results from the EPIC-Norfolk prospective study. *Diabetologia*. (2007) 50:949– 56. doi: 10.1007/s00125-007-0604-5
- Oshaug A, Bugge KH, Bjønnes CH, Borch-Iohnsen B, Neslein IL. Associations between serum ferritin and cardiovascular risk factors in healthy young men. A cross sectional study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1995) 49:430–8.
- Paramonov AD, Moiseev SV, Fomin VV, Kopelëva MV, Stankevich LI, Martynov AI, et al. [Ferritin and other acute phase proteins in various forms of coronary heart disease]. *Klin Med (Mosk)*. (2005) 83:25–9.
- Łukaszyk E, Łukaszyk M, Koc-Zórawska E, Tobolczyk J, Bodzenta-Łukaszyk A, Małyszko J. Iron status and inflammation in early stages of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Blood Pressure Res.* (2015) 40:366–73. doi: 10.1159/0003 68512
- Lippi G, Bonfanti L, Saccenti C, Cervellin G. Causes of elevated D-dimer in patients admitted to a large urban emergency department. *Eur J Internal Med.* (2014) 25:45–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2013.07.012
- Martinson TI. Falsely elevated D-dimer level after iron sucrose infusion. *Am J Health-System Pharmacy.* (2017) 74:1942–4. doi: 10.2146/ajhp1 70246
- Pretorius E, Lipinski B. Differences in morphology of fibrin clots induced with thrombin and ferric ions and its pathophysiological consequences. *Heart Lung Circulation.* (2013) 22:447–9. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2012.10.010
- Lipinski B, Pretorius E. Novel pathway of ironinduced blood coagulation: implications for diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Pol Arch Med Wewn*. (2012) 122:115–22. doi: 10.20452/pamw.1201
- Orino K. Functional binding analysis of human fibrinogen as an iron-and heme-binding protein. *Biometals.* (2013) 26:789– 94. doi: 10.1007/s10534-013-9657-8
- Schachtschneider KM, Liu Y, Rund LA, Madsen O, Johnson RW, Groenen MA, et al. Impact of neonatal iron deficiency on hippocampal DNA methylation and gene transcription in a porcine biomedical model of cognitive development. *BMC Genomics*. (2016) 17:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s12864-016-3216-y
- Camarena V, Huff TC, Wang G. Epigenomic regulation by labile iron. Free Radic Biol Med. (2021) 170:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.01.26

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Rautenbach, Nienaber-Rousseau, de Lange-Loots and Pieters. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Vitamin D Status and Its Correlation With Anthropometric and Biochemical Indicators of Cardiometabolic Risk in Serbian Underground Coal Miners in 2016

Ivana Šarac^{1*}, Jovica Jovanović², Manja Zec¹, Zoran Pavlović³, Jasmina Debeljak-Martačić¹, Milica Zeković¹, Jelena Milešević¹, Mirjana Gurinović¹ and Maria Glibetić¹

¹ Laboratory for Public Health Nutrition, Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, Institute for Medical Research, National Institute of Republic of Serbia, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Faculty of Medicine, Department of Occupational Health, University of Niš, Niš, Serbia, ³ Department of Sanitary Chemistry and Ecotoxicology, Institute for Public Health Požarevac, Požarevac, Serbia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thea Magrone, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

Reviewed by: Majid Hajifaraji,

Najio Hajiraraji, National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute, Iran Sandhya Gupta, Siksha O Anusandhan University, India

> *Correspondence: Ivana Šarac ivanasarac@vahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 08 April 2021 Accepted: 19 July 2021 Published: 19 August 2021

Citation:

Šarac I, Jovanović J, Zec M, Pavlović Z, Debeljak-Martačić J, Zeković M, Milešević J, Gurinović M and Glibetić M (2021) Vitamin D Status and Its Correlation With Anthropometric and Biochemical Indicators of Cardiometabolic Risk in Serbian Underground Coal Miners in 2016. Front. Nutr. 8:689214. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.689214 The status of vitamin D in underground working coal miners and its association with their cardiometabolic health is rarely studied. This study aimed to examine vitamin D (VitD) status in Serbian underground coal miners and to correlate it with anthropometric and laboratory indicators of cardiometabolic risk. Nutritional data (food frequency questionnaire, FFQ, and two times repeated 24 h recall), anthropometric data (including segmental analysis by bio-impedance analyzer TANITA BC-545N), arterial tension, and biochemical and hematological data of 103 coal miners (aged 22-63 years) were correlated with their late summer (early September) serum 25 (OH)D levels (measured by HPLC). 68.9% of the studied coal miners were overweight/obese, and 48.5% had metabolic syndrome. Their mean VitD nutritional intakes were low: 5.3 \pm 3.8 μ g/day (FFQ) and 4.9 \pm 8 μ g/day (24 h recalls), but their mean serum 25 (OH)D levels were surprisingly high (143.7 \pm 41.4 nmol/L). Only 2.9% of the coal miners had 25(OH)D levels lower than 75 nmol/L (indicating an insufficient/deficient status), while 63.2% had values above 125 nmol/L (upper optimal limit), and even 10.7% had values above 200 nmol/L. There were no statistical differences in 25 (OH)D levels in the coal miners with or without metabolic syndrome (or overweight/obesity). Interestingly, 25(OH)D levels had significant positive correlations with body mass index (BMI), fat mass (FM), fat mass percentage (FM%), limbs FM%, serum triglycerides, GGT, AST, ALT, and ALT/AST ratio, and had significant negative correlations with serum HDL-cholesterol and age. All these correlations were lost after corrections for age, FM, FM%, and legs FM%. In Serbian coal miners, high levels of early September VitD levels were observed, indicating sufficient non-working-hour sun exposure during the summer period. Furthermore, the unexpected positive correlations of VitD levels with anthropometric and biochemical parameters indicative of obesity, metabolic syndrome, and fatty liver disease were found. More research is needed on the VitD status of coal miners (particularly in the winter period) and its relationship with their cardiometabolic status.

Keywords: coal miners, Vitamin D, physical activity, cardiometabolic health, metabolic syndrome, obesity, lipids

INTRODUCTION

The relationship between vitamin D (VitD) status and obesity, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases has gained scientific attention over the last decades. Low serum vitamin D levels have been associated with obesity, metabolic syndrome, and increased risk for diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (1-4). However, inconsistent findings exist, and cause/effect relationships still need to be confirmed (1-5).

On the other hand, in parallel with the increasing worldwide prevalence of obesity, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases (6-8), with the latter two being among the first four leading causes of death across the world, there is an increasing prevalence of VitD insufficiency/deficiency (9, 10). Some populations are at increased risk for low VitD levels (10-12). The modern lifestyle in big cities, with high buildings, air pollution, and low insolation of streets; everyday commuting by closed vehicles and predominantly indoor work and leisure activities (without enough outdoor activities and direct exposure to the sun), leads to an increased prevalence of VitD insufficiency/deficiency among populations (10, 13) where it was not expected to appear (e.g., in regions with low latitude and high insolation) (14, 15). Some professions and working conditions are more associated with low VitD levels. For example, shift work, night work, and working indoors, without direct sun exposure, are associated with lower VitD serum levels (16, 17). All of those are characteristics of underground mining work. Nevertheless, insufficient data exist on the serum levels of VitD in this population of workers (17-21), and the data do not show the lower levels compared with the general population or surface workers from the same geographic region (17-21). Therefore, more data are needed on this topic. Furthermore, there are insufficient data on the cardiometabolic status of coal miners, with only few recently published studies (22-26).

Given that, this study aimed to examine the following: (1) the levels of serum VitD among a sample of underground working coal miners in Serbia; (2) the anthropometric and biochemical indicators of cardiometabolic risk among them; (3) the association of VitD levels with indicators of cardiometabolic risk.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Study Design

This cross-sectional study included 103 male coal miners, aged 22–63 years, from the underground Brown Coal Mine "Rembas" (shaft "Vodna," Strmosten), in the Resavica coal mining basin in Serbia, who during the period May 9, 2016, to September 9, 2016, (late summer) underwent their periodic (annual) preventive systematic medical examinations, obliged by the law and performed by the Institute of Occupational Medicine Niš. The study was a joint project of the Institute of Medical Research of the University of Belgrade and the Institute of Occupational Medicine Nis and supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. The study was in accordance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institute of Occupational Health Niš Ethics Board.

According to official data (27), in 2016, in Serbia, there were 2,750 underground coal miners, working in shafts, and the vast majority of them were employed in the Resavica basin (76.4%). The required study sample size was 45 subjects, which was calculated according to the previously published data on summer Serbian general male population VitD levels (28) and the decided precision (margin of error) of \pm 5 nmol/L at 95% confidence level, and the formula: needed sample size = $(1.96)^2 * (SD)^2/(\text{decided precision})^2$ (29). Considering possible unfitness, dropout, and planned further correlation analyses, we decided to initially include (i.e., invite to participate in the study) all 140 employed miners in this coal mine who attended their preventive systematic medical examinations, which would represent about 5% of Serbian coal miners.

On the day of the examination, the coal miners attended the center for preventive medical checkups at 07:00, after fasting overnight for 12 h. Detailed examinations to obtain information on their health were performed by medical specialists (including specialists of occupational health and internal medicine), and incorporated, *inter alia*, blood pressure measurements and fasting blood, and urine sampling for laboratory biochemical analyses. Supplementary analyses for this study involved the following: (1) anthropometric measures (including, among others segmental body composition analysis by bioelectrical impedance, BIA); (2) dietary surveys [such as the two times repeated 24 h recall and FFQ, which was validated for VitD intake (30)], (3) and further analyses of the obtained biochemical serum samples to determine VitD status by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

From the 140 coal miners who attended the medical preventive checkups and were invited to participate in the study, a total of 103 agreed to participate in the study, signed written consent, and performed all the tests and analyses required for this study (i.e., the participants who did not manage to perform all of the required examinations, presented here, or fulfilled the exclusion criteria, were excluded from the study). The exclusion criteria were the following: the presence of serious medical conditions; established diagnosis of diabetes mellitus with regular use of glucose-lowering therapy; established diagnosis of hyperlipidemia with regular use of lipid lower drugs; a known liver disease with non-metabolic etiology, excluding non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD); taking any antihypertensive and glucose/lipid-lowering agents in the previous 24 h).

All the underground miners worked in three rotating shifts (2 days in first shift: 07:00–15:00; 2 days in second shift: 15:00–23:00; 2 days in third shift: 23:00–07:00; then, 2 days off) and always stayed underground, in the shaft during their shifts. They all performed heavy physical work (31), such as hewing coal, loading coal, and erecting roof supports.

Anthropometric Measurements and Measurement of Arterial Tension

Measurements of body height, body weight, fat mass (FM), fat mass percentage (FM%), fat-free mass (FFM), muscle mass, bone

Vitamin D in Serbian Coal-Miners

mass, waist circumference, and hip circumference were taken by a trained medical doctor, following standard techniques (32, 33). The subjects were measured fasted at 8 am, after emptying their bladder and bowels, wearing only underwear. Body height was measured to the nearest 0.01 m with a wall-mounted stadiometer. Bodyweight, FM, FM%, FFM, muscle mass, and bone mass were measured on a portable scale Tanita Inner Scan V BC-545N Segmental Body Composition Monitor (Tanita, Aerolit d.o.o., Belgrade, Serbia), by BIA. The body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg. The measurements were performed according to the recommendations provided by the manufacturer. Additional segmental analyses included muscle mass of trunk, arms, and legs; fat percentage of the trunk, arms, and legs; and visceral fat level (VFL), calculated according to the Tanita algorithm by the BIA segmental body analysis (34, 35). Body mass index (BMI: kg/m²) was calculated by dividing the weight (in kilograms) by the square of height (in meters), and according to their BMI, the coal miners were classified into three groups: normal weight (BMI: 18.5-24.9 kg/m²), overweight (BMI: 25-29.9 kg/m²), and obese (BMI 30 kg/m²) (36). Increased adiposity was defined according to %FM \geq 21–22 (depending on age) (37). Waist and hip circumferences were measured with a flexible, stretchresistant tape, to the nearest centimeter. Waist circumference was measured at the approximate midpoint between the lower margin of the last palpable rib and the top of the iliac crest, at minimum respiration. Hip circumference was measured at the widest points over the hip at the level of the greater trochanter, with the tape parallel to the floor (33). Abdominal obesity was defined by waist circumference $\geq 102 \text{ cm}$ (33). Supplementary calculations included waist to hip ratio (WHR), and WHR \geq 0.91 was considered as indicative of centripetal obesity, i.e., truncal fat distribution (33).

Arterial blood pressures were measured in the morning, after sitting for at least 10 min, on the left upper arm, with a calibrated mechanic sphygmomanometer and stethoscope (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States), and the average of two measurements was presented as the result. Hypertension was defined by systolic blood pressure \geq 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure \geq 90 mmHg, while pre-hypertension was defined by systolic blood pressure between 130 and 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure between 85 and 90 mmHg (38).

Laboratory Biochemical Analyses of Blood Samples

Fasting blood samples were collected between 07:00 and 08:00 in specific Vacutest Kima[®] blood collection tubes, available from Vacutest Kima[®] S.R.L., Italy (Yunycom d.o.o., Belgrade, Serbia), including the following: Vacutest[®] Kimased sodium citrate 3.8% 1.6 ml tubes (for erythrocyte sedimentation rate, tubes, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), analysis), Vacutest[®] K3EDTA 3 ml tubes (for blood cell count, hematocrit, and hemoglobin analysis), Vacutest[®] Serum Separator Clot Activator 6 ml tubes for analysis of serum glucose, total cholesterol, high-density lipoproteins (HDL)-cholesterol and low-density lipoproteins (LDL)-cholesterol, triglycerides, urea,

creatinine, total bilirubin, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT), and VitD.

Following the instructions of the manufacturer for processing and handling of the blood collection tubes, ESR analyses were performed with the Westergren's method at 18°C, using the Kimased ESR rack with scaling. One-hour Westergren values were determined by reading the distance (in mm) from the plasma meniscus to the top of the column of sedimented erythrocytes 30 min, immediately (maximum 1 h) after blood collection. Analyses of blood cell counts, hematocrit, and hemoglobin were performed on Phoenix NCCNCC-2310 (NeoMedica d.o.o., Nis, Serbia), and the serum coagulation tubes (after allowing them to clot for at least 30 min in an upright position at room temperature) were centrifuged at $3,000 \times g$ for 10 min at room temperature. Following centrifugation, standard photometric assays were performed using an ARCHITECT c8000 Abbott clinical chemistry analyzer (Abbott Laboratories S.A., Belgrade, Serbia), and commercially available kits (Abbott Laboratories S.A., Belgrade, Serbia). Intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CVs) for all measurements were <5%.

The criteria for the existence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose were set according to the American Diabetes Association (ADA) 2016 guidelines (39). The existence of dyslipidemia was established based on the National Cholesterol Education Program—Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP-ATP III) criteria from 2001 (40). The atherogenic risk was also calculated as the ratio of total cholesterol/HDL-cholesterol, the ratio of LDL-cholesterol, and the ratio of triglycerides/HDL-cholesterol, as all of these ratios have clinical implications (41, 42). Metabolic syndrome was defined according to the American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (AHA/NHLBI) 2005 criteria (43).

Serum VitD Analysis by HPLC Method

Serum total 25 (OH) vitamin D, calculated as a sum of 25 (OH) vitamin D2 and 25 (OH) vitamin D3, was determined using an Agilent 1100 series HPLC system equipped with a diode array detector (DAD) and the RECIPE's (RECIPE Chemicals + Instruments GmbH, Munich, Germany) ClinRep[®] HPLC Complete Kit for 25 (OH) VitD2/D3 in plasma and serum (containing a ClinTest[®] Test Solution, ClinCal[®] Serum Calibrators, ClinChek[®] Serum Controls, sample preparation vials, the precipitation agent, internal standard, mobile phase, and analytical column), according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

Immediately after the analyses with the ARCHITECT c8000 clinical chemistry analyzer were performed, 1.5 ml of serum was separated from the serum coagulation tubes in 2 ml Eppendorf microtubes and kept frozen at -80° C in a freezer until further VitD assays were performed.

After 24 months of storage at -80° C (which should not influence the results, since vitamin D is quite stable during prolonged storage at -80° C, up to 6–30 years) (44, 45), serum samples were defrosted and vortex-mixed and 0.4 ml of the samples were transferred to the sample preparation vials, filled with 0.5 ml of the precipitation agent. Afterward, 0.4 ml of internal standard was added (cooled at temperature -20° C), and the vials were vortex-mixed for 30s and centrifuged for 5 min at 10,000 \times g. After centrifugation, 50 μ l of the upper liquid phase of the supernatant was injected into the Aligent 1100 HPLC system, with a flow rate of 1 ml/min, and the column heater at 40°C. The sample components were separated on the analytical column, and the analytes, 25 (OH) VitD2 and 25 (OH) VitD3, were detected with the DAD detector at a wavelength of 264 nm, with retention times of 7.3 and 6.4 min, respectively. Quantification was performed comparing the peak areas of 25 (OH) VitD2 and 25 (OH) VitD3 with the peak area of the internal standard (its retention time was 8.3 min). In addition, the ClinChek[®] Serum Controls were used after running every 10 examined samples to perform quality control. The precision of measurement (expressed as CVs) for 25 (OH) VitD2 and 25 (OH) VitD3 was 6.5 and 6%, respectively.

Taking into consideration different cutoff values for defining VitD deficiency/insufficiency (9, 10, 46–48), the serum levels of 25 (OH) VitD below 50 nmol/L were defined as a deficient state, while those between 50 and 75 nmol/L were defined as an insufficient state (9). Deficiency below 50 nmol/L was defined as mild to moderate and below 30 nmol/L was defined as severe (10). The values above 175 nmol/L were defined as mildly increased, above 200 nmol/L was defined as moderately increased (the lowest literature-reported level associated with toxicity in subjects with normal renal function and without primary hyperparathyroidism), and above 250 nmol/L was defined as excessive (hypervitaminosis) (46). The values between 75 and 175 nmol/L were defined as VitD sufficiency ("normal range"), while the values between 75 and 125 nmol/L were defined as "optimal." (46, 49).

Assessment of Dietary Intakes

Dietary intake data were collected by a trained medical doctor using a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) (30) and the two times repeated 24 h recall method, in accordance with the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) EU Menu methodology (32, 50). The FFQ and the first 24h recall were performed on the day of physical examination and blood sampling, while the second 24 h recall was performed with a minimum of 7 days apart, by a telephone call. The average intakes of energy, macronutrients, and VitD were calculated with the DIET ASSESS & PLAN (DAP) software (51, 52), which was evaluated by the EFSA (32, 50) using the national validated Food Atlas for Portion Size Estimation (53) and Serbian Food Composition Database, developed in compliance with EuroFIR standards (54). Calculated data for VitD intakes were evaluated by comparison with the adequate intake (AI) defined by the EFSA in 2016 (i.e., minimum 15 μ g/day for adults) (48).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) statistical software. Data are presented as the mean \pm SD, along with minimum and maximum values. The normality of data distribution was tested by the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Differences in VitD levels between subjects with and without overweight/obesity

or metabolic syndrome were analyzed by the Mann–Whitney U-test. Correlation between VitD levels and biochemical data, anthropometric measurements, daily energy, and macronutrient/micronutrient nutrient intake was assessed by Pearson's correlation coefficient (for parametric data) and Spearman's correlation coefficient (for non-parametric data). Partial correlations were used when one or more controlling variables were included in the analyses. Linear stepwise regression models were made to explore the strength and independence of associations between VitD levels and characteristics of analyzed subjects. *P*-value was expressed as a number rounded up to three decimal places; statistical significance was assumed at a two-tailed P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics: Characteristics of the Studied Population of Coal Miners

Table 1 presents general, anthropometric, and blood pressuredata, Table 2 presents the data on biochemical analyses,and Table 3 gives the data on dietary intakes of energy,macronutrients, and VitD.

The mean age was 40.6 ± 9.6 years, but 10-year age categories were not represented equally, and only 11.7% of the participants were above 52-year-old (**Supplementary Figure 1**). More than half (53.5%) of the participants were smokers, and the huge majority (79.6%) lived in rural areas (the rest lived in semi-urban areas).

The average BMI belonged to the category of overweight $(27.2 \pm 4.5 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, and almost half of the participants (45.6%) were overweight, while about one-quarter (23.3%) were obese, with these two BMI categories making together above two-third of the studied population (68.9%). Less than one-third (28.2%) had normal weight, and only 2.9% were underweight. Almost half of the participants (45.6%) had increased adiposity, according to % FM $\geq 21-22$ (depending on age). According to waist circumference, almost half of the participants (45.6%) had abdominal obesity, even though the average waist circumference value was under the cutoff value for abdominal obesity (i.e., < 102 cm). Centripetal obesity/fat distribution according to WHR was present in 75.7% of the participants.

The average measured values of fasting serum glucose (**Table 2**) were above the ADA cutoff values for the diagnosis of impaired fasting glucose ("pre-diabetes"), and 63.1% of the participants had serum glucose values above this value (i.e., \geq 5.6 mmol/L), while at the same time 11.7% of the participants also met the criteria for diabetes (i.e., fasting serum glucose \geq 7 mmol/L). Also, the average blood lipid levels were above the ATP III cutoff values for triglycerides (i.e., \geq 1.69 mmol/L), total cholesterol (i.e., \geq 5.17 mmol/L), and LDL-cholesterol (i.e., \geq 3.34 mmol/L), while the average HDL-cholesterol levels were below the recommended values for men (i.e., <1.03 mmol/L) (**Table 2**). In total, 53.4, 62.1, and 45.6% of the participants had elevated triglycerides, total cholesterol, and LDL-cholesterol, respectively, while only 26.2% of the participants (81.6%) had

	Descriptives		otives	Correlation with vitamin D levels (non-adjusted)	Correlation with vitamin D levels (adjusted for age, FM, and FM%)	Correlation with vitamin D levels (adjusted for age, FM, FM%, and legs FM%)
	Mean	SD	(Min–Max)	r	r	r
Age (years)	40.6	9.6	(22.0–63.0)	-0.283**		
Body height (cm)§	177.4	6.5	(162.0–196.0)	0.014	-0.116	-0.124
Body weight (kg)	86.0	16.6	(49.4–126.3)	0.201*	0.068	0.034
BMI (kg/m²)	27.2	4.5	(16.5–38.1)	0.243*	0.205*	0.185
FM (kg)	18.0	8.9	(2.7–39.2)	0.210*		
FM% (%)	19.9	7.2	(5.0–36.2)	0.200*		
FFM (kg)	68.1	9.8	(40.6-88.8)	0.150	0.068	0.034
Muscle mass (kg)	64.7	9.4	(38.4-84.6)	0.151	0.070	0.036
Skeletal mass (kg)	3.4	0.5	2.1-4.3)	0.159	0.081	0.048
Segmental analysis						
Arms FM% (%)	18.1	5.9	(4.6–39.4)	0.162	-0.076	-0.137
Trunk FM% (%)	21.2	8.6	(5.0–35.9)	0.171	-0.163	0.148
Legs FM% (%)	18.4	6.4	(3.8-42.7)	0.250*	0.208*	
Arms muscle mass (kg)	7.8	1.4	(3.7-12.1)	0.194*	0.149	0.090
Trunk muscle mass (kg)	35.2	5.1	(21.6-48.8)	0.120	0.078	0.022
Legs muscle mass (kg)	21.7	3.2	(13.1–28.9)	0.182	0.007	0.046
VFL	8.0	4.2	(1.0–18.5)	0.077	0.046	0.167
Waist circumference (cm)	98.9	12.9	(69.0–129.0)	0.143	-0.032	-0.050
Hip circumference (cm)	104.4	8.3	(86.0–124.0)	0.211*	0.091	0.074
WHR	0.95	0.07	(0.78-1.11)	0.021	-0.098	-0.104
Systolic BP (mmHg)§	127.1	14.2	(100.0–160.0)	0.059	0.091	0.105
Diastolic BP (mmHg)§	83.1	8.0	(60.0-120.0)	-0.005	0.034	0.025

§Spearman's rank correlation coefficients—r_s (otherwise—data represent Pearson's correlation coefficients—r).

Bolded coefficients are statistically significant.

p < 0.05; correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).

 $^{**}p < 0.01$; correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).

BMI, body mass index; FM, fat mass; FM%, percentage of fat mass; FFM, fat-free mass; VFL, visceral fat level; WHR, waist to hip ratio; BP, blood pressure; SD, standard deviation; r, Pearson's correlation coefficients; r_s, Spearman's rank correlation coefficients; p, statistical significance of correlations.

dyslipidemia according to at least one of the ATP III criteria, while 11 participants (10.7%) fulfilled all the ATP III criteria for dyslipidemia (at the same time having increased triglycerides and LDL-cholesterol levels, and decreased HDL-cholesterol levels). The ratios of total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, and triglycerides to HDL-cholesterol were increased (i.e., respectively, \geq 5, \geq 3.3, and \geq 0.87) in 43.7, 34, and 73.8% of the participants, respectively.

The average systolic and diastolic pressures were in the normal range, but 51.5% of the participants met the criteria for prehypertension or hypertension.

Only three participants used lipid-lowering agents (but they did not use them regularly), while 11 participants used antihypertensive drugs. No other medicaments used were reported, and no medications were used on the morning of the examination.

According to the obtained data on glucose, triglycerides, HDL-cholesterol, blood pressure, and waist circumference (or regular use of relevant medicaments), 48.5% of the participants fulfilled the 2005 AHA criteria for the diagnosis of metabolic syndrome. The serum levels of ALT above 30 U/L, GGT above 30 U/L, and ALT/AST ratio higher than 1.25 [indicative for NAFLD (55–57)] had 36.9, 48.5, and 40.8% of the participants, respectively.

The average energy intake, according to the repeated 24 h recalls, was 3955.2 ± 1095.4 kcal/day, which is in accordance with existing recommendations (58), but there was a huge interindividual difference (individual intakes ranged from 1,600 to 7,200 kcal) (**Table 3**). On average, proteins, fats, carbohydrates, and alcohol provided 12.9 ± 2.1 , 46.8 ± 6.7 , 38.1 ± 7.1 , and $2.2 \pm 3.5\%$ of total daily energy intake, respectively. Daily alcohol intake (average for 2 days, according to 24 h recalls) varied from 0 g (in 54.4% of coal miners) to 126.7 g. Similarly, according to FFQs, only 58.3% of the coal miners reported alcohol intake.

The average intake of VitD was quite low and far below the recommended values by EFSA: $5.3 \pm 3.8 \,\mu$ g/day (according to FFQs) and $4.9 \pm 8 \,\mu$ g/day (according to 24 h recalls) (**Table 3**). Only two of the participants had an adequate nutritional intake of VitD, above 15 μ g/day. There was a statistically significant

TABLE 2 | Hematological and biochemical data of the studied coal miners (N = 103, men), and correlation with serum 25 (OH) vitamin D levels.

	Descriptives		Descriptives D levels (non-adjusted)		Correlation with vitamin D levels (adjusted for age, FM, and FM%)	Correlation with vitamin E levels (adjusted for age, FM, FM%, and legs FM%)	
	Mean	SD	(Min–Max)	r _s	rs	r _s	
ESR (mm/h)	6.8	3.5	(3.0–22.0)	-0.112	-0.037	-0.026	
WBC (× 10 ⁹ /L)	7.8	2.1	(3.8–14.4)	0.038	0.018	0.003	
RBC (× 10 ¹² /L)	5.0	0.5	(3.2-6.3)	0.208*	0.129	0.096	
HGB (g/L) §	155.1	10.1	(135.0–183.0)	0.142	0.073	0.047	
HCT (L/L)§	0.4	0.0	(0.3–0.5)	0.144	0.112	0.096	
MCV (fL)§	87.8	5.1	(69.3–102.4)	-0.169	-0.036	-0.013	
MCH (pg)	30.9	2.4	(23.0-41.2)	-0.108	-0.059	-0.058	
MCHC (g/L)	352.7	17.7	(324.0–430.0)	0.022	-0.065	-0.077	
PLT (× 10 ⁹ /L)	240.2	56.7	(131.0–427.0)	-0.028	0.001	-0.012	
Glucose (mmol/L)	6.0	1.2	(3.5–11.5)	-0.015	-0.030	-0.037	
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	2.0	1.0	(0.5-4.9)	0.249*	0.237*	0.190	
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.8	1.3	(3.5–9.8)	0.169	0.198*	0.135	
LDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.4	1.1	(1.1–7.5)	0.118	0.134	0.071	
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.3	0.4	(0.7-2.7)	-0.250*	-0.209*	-0.145	
TC/HDL	5.0	2.0	(1.5–11.5)	0.300**	0.293**	0.220*	
LDL/HDL	2.9	1.4	(0.4-7.4)	0.245*	0.235*	0.159	
TG/HDL	1.9	1.4	(0.2-7.1)	0.273**	0.251*	0.192	
AST (U/L)	24.5	7.5	(12.0-64.0)	0.235*	0.194	0.191	
ALT (U/L)	30.3	14.8	(11.0–93.0)	0.351**	0.254*	0.187	
ALT/AST	1.23	0.43	(0.58–2.44)	0.276*	0.170	0.089	
GGT (U/L)	37.3	31.0	(10.0–245.0)	0.203*	0.165	0.107	
ALP (U/L)	56.3	16.4	(14.0–99.0)	0.084	-0.002	0.007	
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	11.7	6.6	(3.7–35.4)	-0.169	-0.191	-0.198	
Urea (mmol/L)	4.9	1.0	(2.8-8.3)	0.036	0.097	0.089	
Creatinine (µmol/L)	72.8	10.1	(54.5–120.3)	0.244*	0.207*	0.157	

Pearson's correlation coefficients - r (otherwise - data represent Spearman's rank correlation coefficients - r_s).

Bolded coefficients are statistically significant.

 $^{*}p$ < 0.05; correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).

 $^{**}p < 0.01$; correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).

FM, fat mass; FM%, percentage of fat mass; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; WBC, white blood cell count; RBC, red blood cell count; HGB, hemoglobin; HCT, hematocrit; MCV, mean volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; PLT, platelet count; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high - density lipoprotein; TC/HDL, total cholesterol/HDL-cholesterol ratio; LDL/HDL, LDL-cholesterol/HDL-cholesterol ratio; TG/HDL, triglycerides/HDL-cholesterol ratio; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; GGT, gamma glutamyl transferase; SD, standard deviation; r_s, Spearman's rank correlation coefficients; r, Pearson's correlation coefficients; p, statistical significance of correlations.

correlation between VitD intakes by FFQs and 24 h recalls (Spearman's rho correlation coefficient 0.268, p = 0.04). Only four of the coal miners consumed supplements of VitD.

Vitamin D Status

The average value of serum 25(OH) vitamin D was way above the lower cutoff value for the sufficient state: 143.7 ± 41.4 nmol/L, ranging from 43.5 to even 247.5 nmol/L. Only three (2.9%) of the coal miners had levels of VitD lower than 75 nmol/L (indicating an insufficient/deficient status, with two subjects having mild deficiency), while 63.2% had values above 125 nmol/L (upper optimal limit). In total, 22.3% of the coal miners had 25(OH) VitD above 175 nmol/L (the upper limit for normal range), and

even 10.7% had values above 200 nmol/L (the lowest literaturereported level associated with toxicity). None of the coal miners had VitD values above 250 nmol/l (hypervitaminosis) (For graphical presentation, refer to **Supplementary Figure 2**.)

Most of the total serum 25 (OH) VitD was 25(OH) vitamin D3 (143.5 \pm 41.4 nmol/L, ranging from 43.5 to 247.5 nmol/L), while 25(OH) VitD2 made only a small part (0.2 \pm 1.6 nmol/L, ranging from 0 to 15 nmol/L).

The results on 25 (OH) VitD levels were not much different if the subjects who consumed supplements of VitD were excluded from the analysis (mean total serum 25 (OH) VitD was 144.1 \pm 42.1 nmol/L, again ranging from 43.5 to 247.5 nmol/L). Considering the four coal miners who consumed the

TABLE 3 Nutritional intakes data of the studied coal miners (N =103, men), and correlation with serum 25 (OH) vita
--

	Descriptives		iptives	Correlation with vitamin D levels (non-adjusted)	Correlation with vitamin D levels (adjusted for age, FM, and FM%)	Correlation with vitamin levels (adjusted for age, FM, FM%, and legs FM%)	
	Mean	SD	(Min–Max)	r _s	rs	rs	
Total caloric intake (kcal/d)	3955.2	1095.4	(1609.0–7170.2)	0.119	0.117	0.078	
Protein intake (kcal/d)	509.8	171.2	(186.2–1199.0)	0.056	0.050	0.022	
Fat intake (kcal/d)	1851.6	565.6	(864.0–3547.5)	0.018	0.045	0.019	
Carbohydrates intake (kcal/d)	1497.4	504.4	(492.4–2963.6)	0.167	0.144	0.106	
Alcohol intake (kcal/d)	96.4	157.6	(0.0-886.9)	0.158	0.123	0.088	
Total caloric intake (kcal/d)–day 1§	3957.8	1190.3	(2025.0-7284.4)	0.182	0.181	0.158	
Protein intake (kcal/d)-day 1§	510.4	181.3	(228.8–1036.3)	0.116	0.121	0.101	
Fat intake (kcal/d)—day 1§	1830.1	639.7	(514.8–3634.4)	0.080	0.081	0.072	
Carbohydrates intake (kcal/d) – day 1§	1533.1	568.0	(419.0–3288.0)	0.211*	0.186	0.162	
Alcohol intake (kcal/d) – day 1§	84.3	188.0	(0.0–1108.8)	0.225*	0.192	0.135	
Vitamin D intake (µg/d)	4.9	8.0	(1.1-65.2)	-0.089	-0.063	-0.079	
Vitamin D intake (µg/d) – day 1§	5.5	11.4	(0.9–98.0)	-0.040	-0.015	-0.033	
Vitamin D intake FFQ $(\mu g/d)^{\Upsilon}$	5.3	3.8	(1.2–18.5)	-0.007	-0.139	-0.170	

[§]Data referring only to the first 24 h recall, representing the day before sampling of blood (otherwise-data represent the mean of two recalls).

* Data derive from FFQ (otherwise—data derive from 24-h recalls, representing the mean of two recalls, or only referring to day 1, the day before sampling of blood).

Bolded coefficients are statistically significant.

p < 0.05; correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).

FM, fat mass; FM%, percentage of fat mass; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; SD, standard deviation; r_s, Spearman's rank correlation coefficients; p, statistical significance of correlations.

supplements, their VitD levels ranged from 105.5 to 149.5 nmol/L (in average 123.2 \pm 18.7 nmol/L), only nine subjects were sunbathing by the seaside during the summer, and the levels of VitD were statistically marginally higher in them: 172.3 \pm 46.5 vs. 141 \pm 40.1 nmol/L (Mann–Whitney test *p* = 0.05).

There was no statistically significant difference in VitD levels between those who lived in rural and semi-urban areas (141.6 \pm 42.2 vs. 152.1 \pm 37.6 nmol/L, respectively), or smokers and non-smokers 140.8 \pm 43.2 vs. 146.4 \pm 40.3 nmol/L, respectively).

There was no correlation between serum 25 (OH) VitD levels and VitD nutritional intake, according to both FFQs and 24 h recalls (**Table 3**).

When only nutritional data from the day before blood sampling were analyzed, VitD levels correlated with 24 h recall carbohydrates and alcohol intake the previous day (**Table 3**).

Association of VitD Levels With Cardiometabolic (Anthropometric and Biochemical) Parameters

There were no statistically significant difference in 25 (OH) VitD levels in the coal miners with or without metabolic syndrome, or with or without overweight/obesity (148.9 \pm 42.0 vs. 138.8 \pm 40.5 nmol/L, and 147 \pm 37.1 vs. 136.4 \pm 49.5 nmol/L, respectively, Mann–Whitney test *p* > 0.05), even though in subjects with those conditions VitD levels seemed somehow higher.

Tables 1, 2 show the correlation of VitD levels withcardiometabolic (anthropometric and biochemical) parameters.

Serum 25 (OH) vitamin D levels had significant negative correlations with age and HDL-cholesterol levels and had significant positive correlations with body weight, BMI, FM, FM%, limbs FM%, arms muscle mass, hip circumference, serum triglycerides, GGT, AST, ALT, total cholesterol/HDL-cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol/HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides/HDLcholesterol ratios, and ALT/AST ratio (Tables 1, 2). Leg FM% was the anthropometric parameter that correlated most with VitD levels. At the same time, the above-mentioned biochemical variables had significant positive inter-correlations with anthropometric parameters indicative of increased adiposity (FM and FM%) and, surprisingly, some of them more with indicators of peripheral (gluteo-femoral) rather than with indicators of centripetal (truncal) adiposity (e.g., lipid levels correlated more with hip circumference and leg FM%, than with waist circumference and trunk FM%, Supplementary Table 1). Serum 25 (OH) VitD levels also positively correlated with erythrocytes count and creatinine (Table 3), while creatinine also had a positive correlation with muscular mass (Supplementary Table 1).

To eliminate the possible confounding, we performed Pearson's and Spearman's rank partial correlations. The correlations with lipids, creatinine, and ALT remained after correcting significant even for age, FM, and FM%, but were lost after additional corrections for leg FM% (with exception of total cholesterol/HDLcholesterol which remained ratio, only significant additional correlation with VitD levels after this correction) (Table 3).

The stepwise linear regression analysis (which included age, and biochemical and anthropometric data as predictor variables), identified that the most significant predictors of VitD levels were age, leg FM%, and triglyceride levels (the models 1 and 2 have accounted for a statistically significant amount of VitD variance, and explained 23.8 and 23% of VitD variance, respectively) (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

This study is among the very rare ones that examined the levels of VitD in a population of underground coal miners. We found surprisingly high levels of late-summer serum 25 (OH) VitD, which were much higher compared with the same season VitD data on an urban-living, general male Serbian population from similar geographic latitude (28), and previously published values for coal miners from other geographic regions (18–21).

Apart from this, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first published study that examined the association of VitD levels in coal miners with their cardiometabolic status. Again, we have found unexpected positive correlations with anthropometric data and biochemical parameters indicative of obesity, metabolic syndrome, and fatty liver disease, which is in contrast with previously published data (28, 59).

Such unexpected findings require explanation and more exploration.

The high levels of serum 25 (OH) vitamin D can be explained by the late summer season (beginning of September) when the serum levels of VitD are expected to be highest, and by living in rural/semi-urban areas, with high isolation, where additional agricultural work is quite common in that period (leading to additional sun exposure during non-coal mining working hours). Therefore, it would be necessary to examine the winter/early spring levels of VitD in the same group, when there would be much less sun exposure. The nutritional intake of VitD in this study was quite low, and far below the current EFSA recommendations, and only four subjects consumed VitD supplements. Therefore, it could be expected to find much lower values during winter/early spring.

However, the higher vitamin D levels can be also a consequence of their heavy physical work, leading to increased lipolysis and release of VitD from fat and muscular depots (60-62). Studies indicate that serum VitD levels increase after intensive physical activity (60, 63-65) and remain increased even after 24 h (60, 63, 64). People who exercise regularly, even indoors, have higher VitD levels compared with sedentary people (60, 65-67). The data on increased VitD levels after weight loss (accompanied by increased lipolysis) also support this hypothesis (68). This can additionally explain the difference in VitD status with the urban-living Serbian general male population, not performing hard physical work, in which levels were almost three times lower (49.8 \pm 17.2 nmol/L), despite quite similar BMI ($28 \pm 6.3 \text{ kg/m}^2$), waist circumference ($98.5 \pm 18 \text{ cm}$), and slightly higher FM% (24.8 \pm 10.3%) (28). However, this cannot explain the difference in VitD status with other published data on summer VitD status in coal miners around the world (18-21). The main explanations for the difference with the Newcastle (UK) coal miners [where average values of 73.8 ± 73.4 nmol/L were found during the summer period (18), which were two times lower compared with these data] are geographic latitude and the lower level of insolation, apart from the earlier time of sampling (from May to July). In the study from India, samples were taken over a whole year, not specified if summer or winter (21), and in two other studies from UK and Turkey, the samples were from the winter/early spring period (19, 20). Nevertheless, the values in all those studies were much lower, particularly in Turkish workers (20).

However, there can be some additional explanations for the high vitamin D levels in the coal miners of this study.

In this study, vitD levels had a significant positive association with alcohol intake the previous day. Nevertheless, it is quite possible that the coal miners consciously withheld their alcohol consumption both in the 24 h recalls and FFQs (since it was an official medical checkup), and that their alcohol intake was much higher, since some data place this profession among the professions with highest alcohol consumption (21, 69, 70). Several cross-sectional studies showed positive associations of alcohol consumption with serum 25 (OH) VitD levels (66, 71-74). Even though these could be confounding findings, there can be a direct association between alcohol intake and VitD metabolism. It was shown in rats that chronic alcohol intake increases serum 25 (OH) VitD3, while it decreases serum 1, 25 (OH)₂ VitD3 (75). The effect is most probably conveyed by a direct inhibition of parathyroid hormone (PTH) secretion by alcohol (76, 77). PTH stimulates the 1-alpha hydroxylation of 25 (OH) VitD3 to 1,25 (OH)₂ VitD3. Nevertheless, only a small fraction of 25 (OH) VitD3 is converted to 1,25 (OH)₂ VitD3 (78), and it is less likely that the inhibited 1-alpha hydroxylation significantly contributed to the considerably increased 25 (OH) VitD3 levels in this study. In accordance, in one study, only about a 10 nmol/L increase in serum 25 (OH) VitD was noted 5 years after parathyroidectomy connected with significant decreases in PTH (79). However, we cannot exclude the effect of habitual alcohol consumption on VitD levels in this study, even though regression models did not identify alcohol consumption as a significant predictor of VitD levels.

Probably the most difficult is to explain the positive association of vitamin D with the level of adiposity, triglycerides, and liver enzymes indicative of fatty liver disease, and the negative association with HDL-cholesterol. Most literature data contrast with these findings and show the negative association with the level of adiposity (3), blood lipids (80, 81), and liver enzymes (82), even though there are also some conflicting findings (1-4, 83).

In line with this study findings of increased prevalence of obesity and metabolic disturbances among coal miners despite their heavy physical activity, in a recent NHANES study, only increased recreational physical activity was found to be associated with an improved metabolic profile, while occupational physical activity was not (84). In contrast, in a recent study of Chinese coal miners, the higher level of occupational physical activity was related to a decreased prevalence of metabolic syndrome among them (23). TABLE 4 | Linear (stepwise) regression models for assessing the impact of specific characteristics of coal miners (general, anthropometric, biochemical, and nutritional) on serum 25 (OH) vitamin D levels.

Model	R ²	Adjusted R ²	Coefficients	β	В	95% Cl for B
		Age	-0.364	-0.630	[-0.947, -0.312]**	
		Legs FM%	0.279	0.719	[0.216, 1.221]**	
		Triglycerides	0.204	3.263	[0.433, 6.093]*	
		ALT	0.136	0.152	[-0.056, 0.359]	
2	0.252	0.230	(Constant)		62.273	[48.292, 76.254]**
			Age	-0.390	-0.674	[-0.987, -0.361]**
			Legs FM%	0.325	0.839	[0.361, 1.316]**
			Triglycerides	0.220	3.529	[0.707, 6.351]*

p < 0.05; regression coefficients are significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).

**p < 0.01; regression coefficients are significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).

FM%, percentage of fat mass; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; R², coefficient of determination; β (beta), standardized linear regression coefficients; B, unstandardized linear regression coefficients; CI, confidence intervals; p, statistical significance.

Even though most (almost 70%) of the subjects were overweight and obese (according to BMI), only less than half of them had increased adiposity, centripetal obesity, or metabolic syndrome, which can be explained by the increased muscular mass related to their heavy physical work and the effect of physical activity on waist circumference and metabolic parameters (85-87). However, in this study, hyperglycemia was detected in more than 60%, while dyslipidemia (according to at least one lipid parameter) was detected in even more than 80% of the study subjects. In accordance with this study, in a study of Indian coal miners, serum triglycerides, total cholesterol, very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL)-cholesterol, and LDL- cholesterol levels were found to be increased, while HDL- cholesterol levels were found to be decreased, in the coal miners compared with other workers, irrespective of the level of adiposity, which suggests that some other factors (inappropriate diet or working conditions, e.g., shift work) additionally contribute to metabolic disturbances (22).

In this study, the most prevalent type of dyslipidemia was hypertriglyceridemia. However, the levels of HDL-cholesterol were not decreased in the same magnitude (only in one-quarter of the subjects were they decreased), which can be explained by the positive effect of heavy physical activity on HDL-cholesterol, which is more sensitive to physical activity compared with LDLcholesterol and triglycerides (87).

The positive association of serum 25 (OH) vitamin D levels with the levels of adiposity in this study can be explained by increased lipolysis and VitD release from adipose tissue depots during and after heavy physical work (60). Consistent with this, in the study of Sun et al. (64), increased 25 (OH) VitD levels after physical activity persisted for 24 h, and the strongest positive predictor of the incremental area under the curve was %FM, which is in agreement with the here presented findings. In this study, there were also positive correlations of VitD levels with limb muscle mass (although on the borderline statistical significance), which also confirms that muscular depots contribute to VitD status, although to a lesser extent (60-62).

In adipose tissue, most of the stored vitamin D is in its non-hydroxylated form (60). After the non-hydroxylated form of VitD is released from fat and muscular depots, it binds to a VitD binding protein, (DBP) and enters the liver where it is activated (25–hydroxylated) and, without delay, is released again into circulation, to be stored again in fat and muscular depots (and other target organs), with a half-life of \sim 2–3 weeks, which ensures that the circulating 25 (OH) VitD levels are quite stable and not significantly influenced by transient dietary intake and sun exposure changes (60). This is in accordance with the findings of this study that the previous day VitD intake did not correlate with the measured 25 (OH) VitD levels.

The negative correlation of vitamin D status with age in this study is in agreement with previously published data since older people produce less cutaneous VitD3 (46), and we have used age as a controlling factor to examine the association of VitD with other parameters. Since in this study both VitD status and different types of dyslipidemia had a positive association with the level of adiposity (but not centripetal obesity), we used adiposity parameters (FM and FM%) as additional controlling factors. In the adjusted analyses, the associations with TG, HDL, lipid ratios, ALT, and creatinine remained significant, as well with leg FM%. Only after additionally correcting for leg FM% was the significance of these associations with biochemical parameters lost, indicating that leg FM% was an additional factor affecting the association of VitD and biochemical parameters. Similarly, in the regression analysis, the only significant predictors of VitD status were age, leg FM%, and triglyceride levels.

The association with leg FM% can be explained by the fact that leg (femoral) fat depots represent an important resource of lipolysis during coal mining, even though the upper body subcutaneous fat generally contributes more to lipolysis in men during rest and exercise (88, 89). However, there are some conflicting data, indicating that in younger overweight men (in contrast to older overweight men) femoral fat depots respond more to exercise by lipolysis, compared with abdominal fat depots, which was related to the initial size of the depot (89, 90). In addition, even though leg fat is considered to have a more protective metabolic function and to be associated with a more beneficial metabolic profile (88), the findings from this study indicate the opposite. In this study, different types of dyslipidemia had a positive association with the level of adiposity, but, surprisingly, more with indicators of peripheral (gluteofemoral) rather than centripetal (truncal) adiposity (e.g., lipid levels more correlated with hip circumference and leg FM% than with waist circumference and trunk FM%).

Unfortunately, there are not enough data on the difference between distinct subcutaneous and visceral fat depots in the storage and release capacity for VitD, particularly on the difference between distinct subcutaneous depots (60, 91). In one study (91), the concentrations of the non-hydroxylated form of VitD in visceral fat depots were moderately higher compared with abdominal subcutaneous fat depots, in both obese and nonobese women (with no difference between them). Nevertheless, considering a significantly larger amount of subcutaneous fat depots (4–6-fold), these depots contribute the most to circulating VitD levels (60).

On the other hand, the association of vitD with adipose tissue is bidirectional, and vitD can influence fat accumulation and re-distribution: in one study (92), supplementation with VitD decreased truncal subcutaneous fat without changing total fat mass, and this effect can be attributed to the direct effects of VitD on adipose tissue (probably through adipose tissue VitD receptor actions, or through its effects on calcium metabolism) and lower PTH levels (93–96).

Since high 25 (OH) vitD3 levels have a reverse relationship with PTH levels (78), we suppose that in the population of coal miners (with high VitD levels), the levels of PTH were lower than in the general Serbian male population. PTH is known to simulate truncal fat distribution, thus centripetal obesity and related metabolic disturbances (i.e., metabolic syndrome) are often observed in primary hyperparathyroidism (79, 97-99). Therefore, lowering the levels of PTH can lead to a more favorable peripheral fat distribution and metabolic profile (79, 98, 99). Increased/decreased PTH secretion can be a possible explanation for commonly observed negative relationships of serum VitD with centripetal obesity and metabolic syndrome (28) and the in this study found positive association with peripheral fat accumulation (hip circumference and leg FM%). Unfortunately, we did not measure the levels of PTH in this study, as it was not originally planned in the study design to measure PTH, and even though (after measuring VitD) we had some leftovers of the serum samples of coal miners, with an adequate quantity for PTH measurements, the low stability of PTH in the serum samples during long-term storage (100) did not allow us to perform reliable measurements. Nevertheless, in this study, three-quarters of the coal miners had a centripetal body fat distribution (according to WHR), despite the very high levels of VitD (and probably low levels of PTH), and there was no association of VitD with WHR or waist circumference, which indicates that the role of VitD and PTH on body fat distribution was insignificant in the coal miners. This is in accordance with data on the imperceptible effects of VitD on obesity treatment (94, 101) and with data that show that in subjects with high levels of VitD, there is no effect of additional supplementation with VitD on body fat re-distribution (96, 101).

Particularly interesting is the finding of a positive association of serum 25 (OH) VitD levels with serum triglycerides levels. In general, most of the published data (but not all) indicate a negative association of VitD with triglyceride levels, and a positive association with HDL-cholesterol levels (80, 81). Triglycerides and HDL-cholesterol generally have an inverse association (102, 103), which we confirmed in this study (Spearman's coefficient of correlation = -0.615, p < 0.001), and the linear regression analysis identified only triglycerides as significant predictors of VitD levels. Interestingly, and in line with this study findings, some studies show that VitD supplementation increased the levels of triglycerides (104-106), even though both unchanged (107-109) and decreased (110) levels were found in other studies. Therefore, we hypothesize that the observed positive relationship of VitD with serum triglycerides reflects the effect of positive association with lipolysis after an enduring physical work (89). The increased lipolysis during prolonged physical work not only increases the release of VitD from adipose and muscular depots but also increases the supply of free fatty acids (FFAs), released from fat tissue, to the liver. In the liver, accumulated FFAs stimulate the production and secretion of VLDL, the main transporters of serum triglycerides, which are consequently cleared, mostly by muscle and adipose tissue (89, 111).

In general, under fasting and resting conditions, circulating triglycerides are in direct proportion with the rates of release and oxidation of FFAs (111). After physical activity, lipolysis is still increased, and this effect can last up to 24 to 42 h (89, 112, 113). The increased FFAs' release after physical activity increase the FFAs' supply to the liver. The increased supply of FFAs to the liver increases triglycerides secretion from the liver (in the form of VLDL) (111), but one could expect that triglycerides will be rapidly cleared from circulation by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), whose activity in a muscle is concomitantly increased during recovery after a physical activity (87), which would lead to a drop in triglycerides levels. However, quite the opposite, increases in triglyceride levels have also been described several hours after physical activity, indicating that their increased production can prevail over their increased clearance (87, 114). In accordance, the increased FFAs supply to muscle and fat tissue after physical activity can interfere with triglyceride clearance by LPL (111). Alcohol consumption additionally decreases LPL activity (115). Finally, studies show that total energy replacement after physical activity (what coal miners do after their work) diminishes/completely abolishes the beneficial effects of the physical activity on the next-day fasting and postprandial triglyceride and HDL-cholesterol levels (87, 114, 116, 117).

Nevertheless, these hypotheses need to be confirmed by further studies, and there can also be other mechanisms of the found associations of VitD levels with cardiometabolic parameters.

In accordance with the present study findings of high vitD values associated with worse metabolic profile among coal miners, some studies show a U-shaped association of VitD levels with cardiovascular mortality and risk, which requires further investigation (46).

Although not a primary aim of this study, the positive correlation of VitD with creatinine can be explained by the confounding effect of increased physical activity and release from muscular depots, since after a heavy physical activity the levels of creatinine also increase (118, 119), apart from the levels of VitD. Similarly, after heavy physical activity, the levels of ALT, AST, and GGT increase and can stay increased even after 24 h (118). The positive correlation with erythrocyte number could be explained by the direct effects of VitD on erythropoiesis and/or erythrocytes survival (120, 121), but can also be another confounding effect of physical activity (connected with increased erythrocyte release, due to splenic contraction, and hemoconcentration) (122).

This study has several limitations. The main limitation of this study is that only the late summer VitD levels are measured, without additional measurements of the winter/early spring VitD levels [which are expected to be much lower (19, 20)]. An additional limitation is the non-existence of a direct control group of non-coal miners from the same area, matched by sex, age, and anthropometric variables. However, we compared the data with recent literature findings for the Serbian general male population (urban-living and not working in physically demanding jobs but with similar age and anthropometric features), even though the method for VitD measurement (chemiluminescent immunoassay, CLIA) and the month and year of study sampling (July 2014) were not the same (28). Nevertheless, we had some serum samples from a small group of urban-living general population from the same latitude, from the beginning of September 2016 (the same as in the present study) and analyzed by HPLC at the same time with the samples from the coal miners, but that group was very small and mostly made of women (22 women and two men), and the data only served for HPLC method verification. The mean values in this group were 55.1 \pm 30.9 nmol/L, again almost three times lower than in the coal miners and similar to data in reference (28). Another limitation is that the sample of the miners was not randomly taken (as it was a part of systematic medical examinations of all employed coal miners from one coal mine/shaft in the Resavica basin) and was only from one region for coal mining in Serbia, but we think that also in other regions situation will be quite similar (since they are very near geographically), and the most of Serbian coal miners work in the sampled region (76.4%) (27). Furthermore, we performed HPLC, but liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) is the gold standard for VitD measurement (46, 78). We did not measure PTH levels, nor the free (i.e., bioavailable, not bound with DBP) VitD form, the active form of VitD (1,25 (OH)₂ VitD), other VitD metabolites or epimers (e.g., C-3 epimers), which could modify or more explain these results (63, 78). In addition, some data show that VACUETTE[®] tubes with a serum clot activator can interfere with immunoassays for 25 (OH) VitD measurements (123, 124), but there are no such data on the HPLC method with Vacutest Kima[®] tubes with a serum clot activator (125), and even though a bit higher values were observed in immunoassays with VACUETTE® tubes with a serum clot activator, they correlated well with the ones measured by LC-MS/MS (123, 124). Moreover, TANITA BIA segmental analysis is not that accurate and precise in assessing regional body composition as other methods (e.g., dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, DXA; computerized tomography, CT; magnetic resonance imaging, MRI), particularly in some populations (126). However, the mentioned techniques are costly and cannot be easily applied in field settings, and there is still a fairly good estimation with an eight-contact electrode BIA system, as confirmed by some validity studies (34). Finally, we did not directly measure or precisely estimate the level of individual physical activity, since it was not initially planned. Nevertheless, we controlled for physical activity in the questionnaire. All the coal miners were asked about their self-reported physical activity levels and the specific jobs they perform during coal mining. All of them were involved in hewing coal, loading coal, or (to a much lesser extent) erecting roof supports, and were placed in the heavy occupational work physical activity level (PAL) category (31). There are some publications which describe physical activities and directly measure physical activity and energy expenditures during coal mining (25, 127), and there was no huge difference between hewing coal and loading coal in energy expenditure. Nevertheless, it would be of interest to directly measure or at least precisely estimate the individual level of physical activity, and to relate it to individual VitD status in coal miners, to support the presented hypotheses.

Coal miners are a population of workers with specific nutritional needs due to their heavy physical work and unfavorable working conditions: working in shifts, working underground, and working with chronic occupational exposure to coal mine dust, which has pro-oxidative, pro-inflammatory, and pro-cancerogenic properties (128–130). Therefore, in the view of the science of precision nutrition, measuring the levels of VitD (which has the important metabolic, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities) is very important in this population of workers to achieve their optimal nutrition, to adjust their nutrition (and possible supplementation) and meet their specific nutritional needs (131).

Considering the unexpected findings of this study, which are not easy to explain, and the above-mentioned study limitations, more studies are warranted to confirm the results and further explore the topic of VitD status and cardiometabolic health among coal miners.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we have found surprisingly high levels of late summer serum 25 (OH) VitD in a population of Serbian coal miners, much higher compared with the same season VitD data from an urban-living Serbian general male population with similar anthropometric characteristics, and previously published data for coal miners from other countries. Furthermore, we have found unexpected positive correlations of serum 25 (OH) VitD levels with anthropometric and biochemical parameters indicative of obesity, metabolic syndrome, and fatty liver disease. The linear regression analysis identified that the most significant positive predictors of VitD levels were age, leg FM%, and triglyceride levels. Such unexpected findings require more exploration. Data on VitD levels in the population of coal miners are scarce, as well as data on their cardiometabolic health. More research is needed on the VitD status of coal miners (particularly in the winter period) and its relationship with their cardiometabolic status.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institute of Occupational Health Niš Ethics Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IS wrote the manuscript and performed anthropometric measurements, nutritional interviews, software exploration of nutritional data, biochemical analyses, and all the statistical analyses. JJ organized and performed preventive medical examinations, clinical assessments of coal miners,

REFERENCES

- Wimalawansa SJ. Associations of Vitamin D with insulin resistance, obesity, Type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* (2018) 175:177–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.09.017
- Durgarao Y, Manjrekar PA, Adhikari P, Chakrapani M, Rukmini MS. Comprehensive review on diabetes associated cardiovascular complications - the Vitamin D perspective. *Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets*. (2019) 19:139–53. doi: 10.2174/1871529X19666190114155302
- Vranić L, Mikolašević I, Milić S. Vitamin D deficiency: consequence or cause of obesity? *Medicina*. (2019) 55:541. doi: 10.3390/medicina55090541
- de la Guía-Galipienso F, Martínez-Ferran M, Vallecillo N, Lavie CJ, Sanchis-Gomar F, Pareja-Galeano H. Vitamin D and cardiovascular health. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 40:2946–57. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.12.025
- Chin K, Appel LJ, Michos ED. Vitamin D, calcium, and cardiovascular disease: a"D"vantageous or "D"etrimental? An era of uncertainty. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2017) 19:5. doi: 10.1007/s11883-017-0637-2
- 6. The Lancet. GBD 2017: a fragile world. *Lancet*. (2018) 392:1683. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32858-7
- GBD 2019 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global Burden of 87 Risk Factors in 204 Countries and Territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1223–49. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30752-2
- GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet*. (2020) 396:1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Cashman KD, Dowling KG, Škrabáková Z, Gonzalez-Gross M, Valtueña J, De Henauw S, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in europe: pandemic? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 103:1033–44. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.120873
- Amrein K, Scherkl M, Hoffmann M, Neuwersch-Sommeregger S, Köstenberger M, Tmava Berisha A, et al. Vitamin D deficiency 2.0: an update on the current status worldwide. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 74:1498–513. doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0558-y
- Palacios C, Gonzalez L. Is Vitamin D deficiency a major global public health problem? J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2014) 144:138– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.11.003

and biochemical analyses. MZec and ZP performed VitD measurements by HPLC. JD-M performed biochemical analyses. MZek and JM were involved in the dietary assessment. MGu and MGl led the project under which the study was conducted. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge the financial support from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, project number III41030 (2011–2017) and ongoing contract number: 451-03-9/2021-14/200015.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Dr. Agnes Kadvan for their involvement in dietary assessments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 689214/full#supplementary-material

- van Schoor N, Lips P. Global overview of Vitamin D status. *Endocrinol Metab* Clin North Am. (2017) 46:845–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2017.07.002
- Roth DE, Abrams SA, Aloia J, Bergeron G, Bourassa MW, Brown KH, et al. Global prevalence and disease burden of Vitamin D deficiency: a roadmap for action in low- and middle-income countries. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2018) 1430:44–79. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13968
- Kyriakaki A, Fragkoulis E. The Vitamin D paradox: high prevalence of deficiency in Sunny Athens (Greece). Ann Res Hosp. (2019) 3:13. doi: 10.21037/arh.2019.06.02
- Manios Y, Moschonis G, Hulshof T, Bourhis AS, Hull GLJ, Dowling KG, et al. Prevalence of Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency among schoolchildren in Greece: the role of sex, degree of urbanisation and seasonality. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 118:550–8. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517002422
- Coppeta L, Papa F, Magrini A. Are shiftwork and indoor work related to D3 vitamin deficiency? A systematic review of current evidences. J Environ Public Health. (2018) 2018:8468742. doi: 10.1155/2018/8468742
- Sowah D, Fan X, Dennett L, Hagtvedt R, Straube S. Vitamin D levels and deficiency with different occupations: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health.* (2017) 17:519. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4436-z
- Shuster S, Chadwick L, Afacan AS, Robertson MD. Serum 25-hydroxy Vitamin D in surface and underground coalminers. *Br Med J.* (1981) 283:106. doi: 10.1136/bmj.283.6284.106
- Shuster S, Chadwick L, Afacan AS, Robertson MD. Serum 25-hydroxy Vitamin D in coalworkers and surface workers in winter. *Br Med J.* (1982) 284:386. doi: 10.1136/bmj.284.6313.386
- Sarikaya S, Ozdolap S, Mungan AG, Gümüştaş S, Koç U, Güven B, et al. Effect of underground working on Vitamin D levels and bone mineral densities in coal miners: a controlled study. *J Int Med Res.* (2006) 34:362– 6. doi: 10.1177/147323000603400404
- Dash S, Gupta S, Epari V, Patra PY. Association of Vitamin D levels in coal miners: a case-control study. *Indian J Community Med.* (2020) 45:181– 3. doi: 10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_269_19
- Prasad SK, Bhattacharjee A, Bandyopadhyay P, Pal S, Syamal AK, Mukherjee S. Erythrocyte functional status and lipid profile of coal mine workers of West Bengal, India. *Prog Health Sci.* (2014) 4:14–21.
- 23. Liang J, Tian SS, Qiao N, Wang C, Huang JJ, Sun CM, et al. Relationship between physical activity patterns and metabolic syndrome among male coal

miners of Shanxi Province in China. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. (2017) 27:50–8. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2015-0320

- 24. Fan Y, Huang JJ, Sun CM, Qiao N, Zhang HX, Wang H, et al. Prevalence of dyslipidaemia and risk factors in Chinese coal miners: a cross-sectional survey study. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2017) 16:161. doi: 10.1186/s12944-017-0548-9
- Bilici S, Saglam F, Beyhan Y, Barut-Uyar B, Dikmen D, Goktas Z, et al. Energy expenditure and nutritional status of coal miners: a cross-sectional study. Arch Environ Occup Health. (2016) 71:293– 9. doi: 10.1080/19338244.2015.1095152
- Dos Santos M, Penteado JO, Soares MCF, Muccillo-Baisch AL, Da Silva-Júnior FMR. Association between DNA damage, dietary patterns, nutritional status, and non-communicable diseases in coal miners. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2019) 26:15600–7. doi: 10.1007/s11356-019-04922-8
- 27. The Public Company for Underground Coal Exploitation, Resavica. Program Poslovanja JP PEU Resavica za 2017 Godinu [Business Program of PE PEU Resavica for 2017]. (2017) Serbian. Available online at: https://www.jppeu.rs/ informator.html (accessed May 27, 2021).
- Pantovic A, Zec M, Zekovic M, Obrenovic R, Stankovic S, Glibetic M. Vitamin D is inversely related to obesity: cross-sectional study in a small cohort of serbian adults. J Am Coll Nutr. (2019) 38:405– 14. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2018.1538828
- Charan J, Biswas T. How to calculate sample size for different study designs in medical research? *Indian J Psychol Med.* (2013) 35:121– 6. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.116232
- 30. Djekic-Ivankovic M, Weiler HA, Nikolic M, Kadvan A, Gurinovic M, Mandic LM, et al. Validity of an FFQ assessing the Vitamin D intake of young serbian women living in a region without food fortification: the method of triads model. *Public Health Nutr.* (2016) 19:437– 45. doi: 10.1017/S136898001500138X
- Energy and Protein Requirements. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. (1985) 724:1–206.
- European Food Safety Authority. Guidance on the EU menu methodology. EFSA J. (2014) 12:3944. doi: 10.2903/i.efsa.2014.3944
- World Health Organization. Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio: Report of a WHO Expert Consultation; Dec 8–11, 2008; Geneva. Geneva: World Health Organization (2011). 39.p. Available online at: https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789241501491 (accessed March 30, 2021).
- Pietrobelli A, Rubiano F, St-Onge MP, Heymsfield SB. New bioimpedance analysis system: improved phenotyping with whole-body analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 58:1479–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601993
- 35. Heymsfield SB. Algorithm Development for Estimating Visceral Fat Rating. Tanita Institute Contract Study. New York, NY: Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons (2004).
- World Health Organization. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 894. Geneva: World Health Organization (1998). 252 p. Available online at: https://www.who.int/ nutrition/publications/obesity/WHO_TRS_894/en/ (accessed March 30, 2021).
- Gallagher D, Heymsfield SB, Heo M, Jebb SA, Murgatroyd PR, Sakamoto Y. Healthy percentage body fat ranges: an approach for developing guidelines based on body mass index. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 72:694– 701. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/72.3.694
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL Jr, et al. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*. (2003) 42:1206–52. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000107251.49515.c2
- American Diabetes Association. 2. classification and diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care. (2016) 39(Suppl. 1):S13–22. doi: 10.2337/dc16-S005
- 40. Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA. (2001) 285:2486–97. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.19.2486
- Wen J, Zhong Y, Kuang C, Liao J, Chen Z, Yang Q. lipoprotein ratios are better than conventional lipid parameters in predicting arterial stiffness in young men. J Clin Hypertens. (2017) 19:771–6. doi: 10.1111/jch.13038

- 42. Lou Y, Li X, Cao L, Qin P, Shi J, Zhang Y, et al. LDL-Cholesterol to HDL-cholesterol ratio discordance with lipid parameters and carotid intima-media thickness: a cohort study in China. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2020) 19:141. doi: 10.1186/s12944-020-01324-5
- 43. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. *Circulation*. (2005) 112:2735–52. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.169404
- Agborsangaya C, Toriola AT, Grankvist K, Surcel HM, Holl K, Parkkila S, et al. The effects of storage time and sampling season on the stability of serum 25-hydroxy Vitamin D and androstenedione. *Nutr Cancer.* (2010) 62:51–7. doi: 10.1080/01635580903191460
- Hollis BW. Measuring 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in a clinical environment: challenges and needs. Am J Clin Nutr. (2008) 88:507S-10S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.2.507S
- 46. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D Calcium; Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, Del Valle HB, (editors). *Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium Vitamin D*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US) (2011). 662 p.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of Vitamin D deficiency: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 96:1911–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition Allergies. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for Vitamin D. EFSA J. (2016) 14:4547. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4484
- 49. Rusińska A, Płudowski P, Walczak M, Borszewska-Kornacka MK, Bossowski A, Chlebna-Sokół D, et al. Vitamin D supplementation guidelines for general population and groups at risk of Vitamin D deficiency in poland-recommendations of the polish society of pediatric endocrinology and diabetes and the expert panel with participation of national specialist consultants and representatives of scientific societies-2018 update. *Front Endocrinol.* (2018) 9:246. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00246
- Gavrieli A, Naska A, Berry R, Roe M, Harvey L, Finglas P, et al. Dietary monitoring tools for risk assessment. *EFSA Support Public*. (2014) 11:287. doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2014.EN-607
- Gurinović M, Milešević J, Kadvan A, Nikolić M, Zeković M, Djekić-Ivanković M, et al. Development, features and application of DIET ASSESS & PLAN (DAP) software in supporting public health nutrition research in Central Eastern European Countries (CEEC). *Food Chem.* (2018) 238:186– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.114
- Gurinović M, Milešević J, Novaković R, Kadvan A, Djekić-Ivanković M, Šatalić Z, et al. Improving nutrition surveillance and public health research in Central and Eastern Europe/Balkan countries using the balkan food platform and dietary tools. *Food Chem.* (2016) 193:173– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.03.103
- Nikolić M, Milešević J, Zeković M, Gurinović M, Glibetić M. The development and validation of food atlas for portion size estimation in the Balkan region. *Front Nutr.* (2018) 5:78. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00078
- Gurinović M, Milešević J, Kadvan A, Djekić-Ivanković M, Debeljak-Martačić J, Takić M, et al. Establishment and advances in the online Serbian food and recipe data base harmonized with EuroFIRTM standards. *Food Chem.* (2016) 193:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.01.107
- Hadizadeh F, Faghihimani E, Adibi P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: diagnostic biomarkers. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. (2017) 8:11– 26. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v8.i2.11
- 56. Sanyal D, Mukherjee P, Raychaudhuri M, Ghosh S, Mukherjee S, Chowdhury S. Profile of liver enzymes in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with impaired glucose tolerance and newly detected untreated Type 2 diabetes. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 19:597– 601. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.163172
- Sattar N, Forrest E, Preiss D. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *BMJ.* (2014) 349:g4596. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g4596
- Vankhanen VV, Pivneva TI. [Physiologic Energy Requirements of Miners Working in Deep Coal Mines]. Vopr Pitan. (1991) 4:16–9.
- 59. Cimini FA, Barchetta I, Carotti S, Bertoccini L, Baroni MG, Vespasiani-Gentilucci U, et al. Relationship between adipose tissue dysfunction, Vitamin
D deficiency and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 23:3407–17. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i19.3407

- Hengist A, Perkin O, Gonzalez JT, Betts JA, Hewison M, Manolopoulos KN, et al. Mobilising Vitamin D from adipose tissue: the potential impact of exercise. *Nutr Bull.* (2019) 44:25–35. doi: 10.1111/nbu.12369
- Rybchyn MS, Abboud M, Puglisi DA, Gordon-Thomson C, Brennan-Speranza TC, Mason RS, et al. Skeletal muscle and the maintenance of Vitamin D status. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3270. doi: 10.3390/nu12113270
- Mason RS, Rybchyn MS, Abboud M, Brennan-Speranza TC, Fraser DR. The role of skeletal muscle in maintaining Vitamin D status in winter. *Curr Dev Nutr.* (2019) 3:nzz087. doi: 10.1093/cdn/nzz087
- Mieszkowski J, Stankiewicz B, Kochanowicz A, Niespodziński B, Kowalik T, Zmijewski M, et al. Ultra-marathon-induced increase in serum levels of Vitamin D metabolites: a double-blind randomized controlled trial. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3629. doi: 10.3390/nu12123629
- Sun X, Cao ZB, Taniguchi H, Tanisawa K, Higuchi M. Effect of an acute bout of endurance exercise on serum 25(OH)D concentrations in young adults. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 102:3937–44. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00146
- Sun X, Cao ZB, Tanisawa K, Taniguchi H, Kubo T, Higuchi M. Effects of chronic endurance exercise training on serum 25(OH)D concentrations in elderly Japanese men. *Endocrine*. (2018) 59:330– 7. doi: 10.1007/s12020-017-1478-z
- 66. Skaaby T, Husemoen LL, Thuesen BH, Pisinger C, Hannemann A, Jørgensen T, et al. Longitudinal associations between lifestyle and Vitamin D: a general population study with repeated Vitamin D measurements. *Endocrine.* (2016) 51:342–50. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0641-7
- Fernandes MR, Barreto WDR Junior. Association between physical activity and Vitamin D: a narrative literature review. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* (2017) 63:550–6. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.63.06.550
- Wamberg L, Christiansen T, Paulsen SK, Fisker S, Rask P, Rejnmark L, et al. Expression of Vitamin D-metabolizing enzymes in human adipose tissue – the effect of obesity and diet-induced weight loss. *Int J Obes.* (2013) 37:651–7. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.112
- Tynan RJ, Considine R, Wiggers J, Lewin TJ, James C, Inder K, et al. Alcohol consumption in the Australian coal mining industry. *Occup Environ Med.* (2017) 74:259–67. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2016-103602
- Bush DM, Lipari RN. Substance Use and Substance Use Disorder by Industry. The CBHSQ Report. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US). (2015) 18 p. Available online at: https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/substance-use-and-substance-usedisorder-industry (accessed March 30, 2021).
- Larose TL, Chen Y, Camargo CA Jr, Langhammer A, Romundstad P, Mai XM. Factors associated with Vitamin D Deficiency in a norwegian population: the HUNT study. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2014) 68:165–70. doi: 10.1136/jech-2013-202587
- Petrenya N, Lamberg-Allardt C, Melhus M, Broderstad AR, Brustad M. Vitamin D status in a multi-ethnic population of Northern Norway: the SAMINOR 2 clinical survey. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 23:1186– 200. doi: 10.1017/S1368980018003816
- Cougnard-Grégoire A, Merle BM, Korobelnik JF, Rougier MB, Delyfer MN, Féart C, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in community-dwelling elderly is not associated with age-related macular degeneration. J Nutr. (2015) 145:1865– 72. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.214387
- 74. Santos A, Amaral TF, Guerra RS, Sousa AS, Álvares L, Moreira P, et al. Vitamin D status and associated factors among Portuguese older adults: results from the nutrition UP 65 cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e016123. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016123
- Turner RT, Aloia RC, Segel LD, Hannon KS, Bell NH. Chronic alcohol treatment results in disturbed vitamin d metabolism and skeletal abnormalities in rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1988) 12:159– 62. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1988.tb00152.x
- 76. Laitinen K, Lamberg-Allardt C, Tunninen R, Karonen SL, Tähtelä R, Ylikahri R, et al. Transient hypoparathyroidism during acute alcohol intoxication. N Engl J Med. (1991) 324:721–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199103143241103
- Laitinen K, Tähtelä R, Välimäki M. The dose-dependency of alcohol-induced hypoparathyroidism, hypercalciuria, and hypermagnesuria. *Bone Miner*. (1992) 19:75–83. doi: 10.1016/0169-6009(92)90845-5
- Ramasamy I. Vitamin D metabolism and guidelines for Vitamin D supplementation. Clin Biochem Rev. (2020) 41:103– 26. doi: 10.33176/AACB-20-00006

- Godang K, Lundstam K, Mollerup C, Fougner F, Pernow Y, Nordenström J, et al. The SIPH study group. the effect of surgery on fat mass, lipid and glucose metabolism in mild primary hyperparathyroidism. *Endocr Connect.* (2018) 7:941–8. doi: 10.1530/EC-18-0259
- Jorde R, Grimnes G. Vitamin D and metabolic health with special reference to the effect of Vitamin D on serum lipids. *Prog Lipid Res.* (2011) 50:303– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2011.05.001
- Lupton JR, Faridi KF, Martin SS, Sharma S, Kulkarni K, Jones SR, et al. Deficient serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D is associated with an atherogenic lipid profile: the Very Large Database of Lipids (VLDL-3) study. J Clin Lipidol. (2016) 10:72–81.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2015.09.006
- Skaaby T, Husemoen LL, Borglykke A, Jørgensen T, Thuesen BH, Pisinger C, et al. Vitamin D status, liver enzymes, and incident liver disease and mortality: a general population study. *Endocrine*. (2014) 47:213–20. doi: 10.1007/s12020-013-0107-8
- Paschou SA, Kosmopoulos M, Nikas IP, Spartalis M, Kassi E, Goulis DG, et al. The impact of obesity on the association between Vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular disease. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2458. doi: 10.3390/nu11102458
- Pazmino L, Esparza W, Aladro-Gonzalvo AR, León E. Impact of work and recreational physical activity on prediabetes condition among U.S. adults: NHANES 2015-2016. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:1378. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18041378
- Figueiró TH, Arins GCB, Santos CESD, Cembranel F, Medeiros PA, d'Orsi E, et al. Association of objectively measured sedentary behavior and physical activity with cardiometabolic risk markers in older adults. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0210861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210861
- Huang JH, Li RH, Huang SL, Sia HK, Lee SS, Wang WH, et al. Relationships between different types of physical activity and metabolic syndrome among taiwanese workers. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:13735. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13872-5
- Wang Y, Xu D. Effects of aerobic exercise on lipids and lipoproteins. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2017) 16:132. doi: 10.1186/s12944-017-0515-5
- Manolopoulos KN, Karpe F, Frayn KN. Gluteofemoral body fat as a determinant of metabolic health. *Int J Obes.* (2010) 34:949–59. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2009.286
- Thompson D, Karpe F, Lafontan M, Frayn K. Physical activity and exercise in the regulation of human adipose tissue physiology. *Physiol Rev.* (2012) 92:157–91. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00012.2011
- Schwartz RS, Shuman WP, Larson V, Cain KC, Fellingham GW, Beard JC, et al. The effect of intensive endurance exercise training on body fat distribution in young and older men. *Metabolism.* (1991) 40:545– 51. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(91)90239-S
- Carrelli A, Bucovsky M, Horst R, Cremers S, Zhang C, Bessler M, et al. Vitamin D storage in adipose tissue of obese and normal weight women. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2017) 32:237–42. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2979
- 92. Bhatt SP, Misra A, Pandey RM, Upadhyay AD, Gulati S, Singh N. Vitamin D supplementation in overweight/obese Asian Indian women with prediabetes reduces glycemic measures and truncal subcutaneous fat: a 78 weeks randomized placebo-controlled trial (PREVENT-WIN Trial). Sci Rep. (2020) 10:220. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-56904-y
- vinh quốc Lu'o'ng K, Hoàng Nguyễn LT. The beneficial role of Vitamin d in obesity: possible genetic and cell signaling mechanisms. *Nutr J.* (2013) 12:89. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-89
- Nimitphong H, Park E, Lee MJ. Vitamin D regulation of adipogenesis and adipose tissue functions. *Nutr Res Pract.* (2020) 14:553–67. doi: 10.4162/nrp.2020.14.6.553
- Migliaccio S, Di Nisio A, Mele C, Scappaticcio L, Savastano S, Colao A; Obesity Programs of Nutrition, Education, Research and Assessment (OPERA) Group. Obesity and Hypovitaminosis D: causality or casuality? *Int J Obes Suppl.* (2019) 9:20–31. doi: 10.1038/s41367-019-0010-8
- Cipriani C, Pepe J, Piemonte S, Colangelo L, Cilli M, Minisola S. Vitamin D and its relationship with obesity and muscle. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2014) 2014:841248. doi: 10.1155/2014/841248
- George JA, Norris SA, Toman M, Snyman T, Crowther NJ. Visceral adiposity is a predictor of parathyroid hormone levels in healthy adults. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2016) 39:447–53. doi: 10.1007/s40618-015-0400-x
- 98. Norenstedt S, Pernow Y, Brismar K, Sääf M, Ekip A, Granath F, et al. Primary hyperparathyroidism and metabolic risk factors, impact of parathyroidectomy and Vitamin D supplementation, and results of a randomized double-blind study. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2013) 169:795–804. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0547

- 99. Nelson JA, Alsayed M, Milas M. The role of parathyroidectomy in treating hypertension and other cardiac manifestations of primary hyperparathyroidism. *Gland Surg.* (2020) 9:136– 41. doi: 10.21037/gs.2019.12.12
- 100. Hanon EA, Sturgeon CM, Lamb EJ. Sampling and storage conditions influencing the measurement of parathyroid hormone in blood samples: a systematic review. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2013) 51:1925–41. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2013-0315
- 101. Sneve M, Figenschau Y, Jorde R. Supplementation with cholecalciferol does not result in weight reduction in overweight and obese subjects. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2008) 159:675–84. doi: 10.1530/EJE-08-0339
- 102. Morrison A, Hokanson JE. The independent relationship between triglycerides and coronary heart disease. Vasc Health Risk Manag. (2009) 5:89–95. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S4311
- 103. Miller M, Langenberg P, Havas S. Impact of Lowering Triglycerides On Raising HDL-C in hypertriglyceridemic and non-hypertriglyceridemic subjects. *Int J Cardiol.* (2007) 119:192–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2006.07.132
- 104. Pilz S, Gaksch M, Kienreich K, Grübler M, Verheyen N, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Treiber G, et al. Effects of Vitamin D on blood pressure and cardiovascular risk factors: a randomized controlled trial. *Hypertension*. (2015) 65:1195– 201. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.05319
- Challoumas D. Vitamin D supplementation and lipid profile: what does the best available evidence show? *Atherosclerosis.* (2014) 235:130– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.04.024
- 106. AlAnouti F, Abboud M, Papandreou D, Mahboub N, Haidar S, Rizk R. Effects of Vitamin D supplementation on lipid profile in adults with the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3352. doi: 10.3390/nu12113352
- 107. Jorde R, Grimnes G. Vitamin D and lipids: do we really need more studies? *Circulation.* (2012) 126:252– 4. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.119693
- Wang H, Xia N, Yang Y, Peng DQ. Influence of Vitamin D supplementation on plasma lipid profiles: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2012) 11:42. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-11-42
- 109. Yin X, Yan L, Lu Y, Jiang Q, Pu Y, Sun Q. Correction of Hypovitaminosis D does not improve the metabolic syndrome risk profile in a chinese population: a randomized controlled trial for 1 year. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 25:71–7. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2016.25.1.06
- 110. Salekzamani S, Mehralizadeh H, Ghezel A, Salekzamani Y, Jafarabadi MA, Bavil AS, et al. Effect of high-dose Vitamin D supplementation on cardiometabolic risk factors in subjects with metabolic syndrome: a randomized controlled double-blind clinical trial. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2016) 39:1303–13. doi: 10.1007/s40618-016-0507-8
- 111. Sarac I. The Effect of Rimonabant and Gender on Lipid Kinetics in Obesity: Metabolic Studies "In Vivo" Using Stable Isotopes. Saarbrücken: LAP Lambert Academic Publishing. (2016) 392 p.
- 112. Magkos F, Mohammed BS, Patterson BW, Mittendorfer B. Free fatty acid kinetics in the late phase of postexercise recovery: importance of resting fatty acid metabolism and exercise-induced energy deficit. *Metabolism.* (2009) 58:1248–55. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009.03.023
- Lundsgaard AM, Fritzen AM, Kiens B. The importance of fatty acids as nutrients during post-exercise recovery. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:280. doi: 10.3390/nu12020280
- 114. Maraki MI, Sidossis LS. The latest on the effect of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia. Sports Med. (2013) 43:463– 81. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0046-9
- Zemánková K, Makoveichuk E, Vlasáková Z, Olivecrona G, Kovár J. Acute alcohol consumption downregulates lipoprotein lipase activity *in vivo*. *Metabolism*. (2015) 64:1592–6. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.08.016
- 116. Burton FL, Malkova D, Caslake MJ, Gill JM. Energy replacement attenuates the effects of prior moderate exercise on postprandial metabolism in overweight/obese men. *Int J Obes.* (2008) 32:481–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803754
- 117. Trombold JR, Christmas KM, Machin DR, Van Pelt DW, Chou TH, Kim IY, et al. Postexercise macronutrient intake and subsequent postprandial triglyceride metabolism. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2014) 46:2099– 106. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000333
- Sanchis-Gomar F, Lippi G. Physical activity an important preanalytical variable. *Biochem Med.* (2014) 24:68–79. doi: 10.11613/BM.2014.009

- 119. Baxmann AC, Ahmed MS, Marques NC, Menon VB, Pereira AB, Kirsztajn GM, et al. Influence of muscle mass and physical activity on serum and urinary creatinine and serum cystatin C. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2008) 3:348–54. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02870707
- 120. Alon DB, Chaimovitz C, Dvilansky A, Lugassy G, Douvdevani A, Shany S, et al. Novel role of 1,25(OH)(2)D(3) in induction of erythroid progenitor cell proliferation. *Exp Hematol.* (2002) 30:403–9. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00789-0
- 121. Lang E, Jilani K, Bissinger R, Rexhepaj R, Zelenak C, Lupescu A, et al. Vitamin D-rich diet in mice modulates erythrocyte survival. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2015) 40:403–12. doi: 10.1159/000368517
- 122. Konstam MA, Tu'meh S, Wynne J, Beck JR, Kozlowski J, Holman BL. Effect of exercise on erythrocyte count and blood activity concentration after Technetium-99m *in vivo* red blood cell labeling. *Circulation*. (1982) 66:638–42. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.66.3.638
- 123. Yu S, Cheng X, Fang H, Zhang R, Han J, Qin X, et al. 25OHD analogues and vacuum blood collection tubes dramatically affect the accuracy of automated immunoassays. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:14636. doi: 10.1038/srep 14636
- 124. Yu S, Zhou W, Cheng X, Fang H, Zhang R, Cheng Q, et al. Blood collection tubes and storage temperature should be evaluated when using the siemens ADVIA Centaur XP for measuring 25-Hydroxyvitamin D. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0166327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166327
- 125. Borai A, Bahijri S, Livingstone C, Nawajha M, Bawazeer A, Baarmah Z, et al. Assessment of becton dickinson plain and serum separator tubes in measurement of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 (25OHD3) by HPLC and immunoassay methods. *J Clin Lab Anal.* (2016) 30:32–5. doi: 10.1002/jcla.21805
- 126. Wang JG, Zhang Y, Chen HE, Li Y, Cheng XG, Xu L, et al. Comparison of two bioelectrical impedance analysis devices with dual energy X-ray absorptiometry and magnetic resonance imaging in the estimation of body composition. J Strength Cond Res. (2013) 27:236– 43. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31824f2040
- Humphreys PW, Lind AR. The energy expenditure of coalminers at work. Br J Ind Med. (1962) 19:264–75. doi: 10.1136/oem.19.4.264
- Donoghue AM. Occupational health hazards in mining: an overview. Occup Med. (2004) 54:283–9. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqh072
- 129. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Current Intelligence Bulletin 64: Coal Mine Dust Exposures and Associated Health Outcomes - A Review of Information Published Since 1995. DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2011–172 (2011). 56 p. Available online at: https://www.cdc. gov/niosh/docs/2011-172/ (accessed March 30, 2021).
- 130. León-Mejía G, Sosa MQ, Rohr P, Kvitko K, Henriques JAP, da Silva J. Occupational exposure to coal, genotoxicity, and cancer risk. In: Larramendy ML, Soloneski S, editors. *Environmental Health Risk - Hazardous Factors* to Living Species. London: IntechOpen (2016). p. 191–209. doi: 10.5772/ 62486
- 131. Rodgers GP, Collins FS. Precision nutrition—the answer to "What to Eat to Stay Healthy". *JAMA*. (2020) 324:735–6. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.13601

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Šarac, Jovanović, Zec, Pavlović, Debeljak-Martačić, Zeković, Milešević, Gurinović and Glibetić. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genetic Link Determining the Maternal-Fetal Circulation of Vitamin D

Aparna Sampathkumar¹, Karen M. Tan¹, Li Chen¹, Mary F. F. Chong^{1,2}, Fabian Yap^{3,4,5}, Keith M. Godfrey^{6,7}, Yap Seng Chong^{1,8}, Peter D. Gluckman^{1,9}, Adaikalavan Ramasamy^{1,10} and Neerja Karnani^{1,11,12*}

¹Singapore Institute for Clinical Sciences (SICS), Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore, Singapore, ²Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health (SSHPH), National University of Singapore (NUS), Singapore, Singapore, ³Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, KK Women's and Children's Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ⁴Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore, ⁵Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Singapore, Singapore, ⁶MRC Lifecourse Epidemiology Unit, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom, ⁷NIHR Southampton Biomedical Research Centre, University of Southampton and University Hospital, Southampton, United Kingdom, ⁸Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ⁹Liggins Institute, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand, ¹⁰Genome Institute of Singapore (GIS), Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore, Singapore, ¹¹Department of Biochemistry, National University of Singapore, (NUS), Singapore, Singapore, ¹²Bioinformatics Institute (BII), Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore, Singapore

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irena Krga, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Robert Fred Clark, RTI International, United States Guang Sun, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada

***Correspondence:** Neerja Karnani neerja_karnani@sics.a-star.edu.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics

Received: 07 June 2021 Accepted: 10 August 2021 Published: 21 September 2021

Citation:

Sampathkumar A, Tan KM, Chen L, Chong MFF, Yap F, Godfrey KM, Chong YS, Gluckman PD, Ramasamy A and Karnani N (2021) Genetic Link Determining the Maternal-Fetal Circulation of Vitamin D. Front. Genet. 12:721488. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.721488 Vitamin D is an essential micronutrient whose demand is heightened during pregnancy to support the growth of the fetus. Furthermore, the fetus does not produce vitamin D and hence relies exclusively on the supply of maternal vitamin D through the placenta. Vitamin D inadequacy is linked with pregnancy complications and adverse infant outcomes. Hence, early predictive markers of vitamin D inadequacy such as genetic vulnerability are important to both mother and offspring. In this multi-ethnic Asian birth cohort study, we report the first genome-wide association analysis (GWAS) of maternal and fetal vitamin D in circulation. For this, 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25OHD) was measured in the antenatal blood of mothers during mid gestation (n = 942), and the cord blood of their offspring at birth (n = 812). Around ~7 million single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were regressed against 25OHD concentrations to identify genetic risk variants. About 41% of mothers had inadequate 250HD (≤75 nmol/L) during pregnancy. Antenatal 250HD was associated with ethnicity [Malay (B = -22.32 nmol/L, $p = 2.3 \times 10^{-26}$); Indian (B = -21.85, $p = 3.1 \times 10^{-21}$); reference Chinese], age (B=0.47/year, p=0.0058), and supplement intake (B=16.47, $p = 2.4 \times 10^{-13}$). Cord blood 25OHD highly correlated with antenatal vitamin D (r = 0.75) and was associated with ethnicity [Malay (B = -4.44, $p = 2.2 \times 10^{-7}$); Indian (B = -1.99, p = 0.038); reference Chinese]. GWAS analysis identified rs4588, a missense variant in the group-specific component (GC) gene encoding vitamin D binding protein (VDBP), and its defining haplotype, as a risk factor for low antenatal (B = -8.56/T-allele, $p = 1.0 \times 10^{-9}$) and cord blood vitamin D (B = -3.22/T-allele, $p = 1.0 \times 10^{-8}$) in all three ethnicities. We also discovered a novel association in a SNP downstream of CYP2J2 (rs10789082), a gene involved in 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D, with vitamin D in pregnant women (B = -7.68/Gallele, $p = 1.5 \times 10^{-8}$), but not their offspring. As the prevention and early detection of suboptimal vitamin D levels are of profound importance to both mother and offspring's

health, the genetic risk variants identified in this study allow risk assessment and precision in early intervention of vitamin D deficiency.

Keywords: vitamin D, ethnicity, genome-wide association study, pregnancy, offspring, GUSTO

INTRODUCTION

Vitamin D is a steroid hormone that plays an important role in calcium homeostasis and metabolic pathways, and is hence linked with multiple human health outcomes (Theodoratou et al., 2014). The most abundant form of vitamin D is vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol), which is synthesized in the skin by exposure of 7-dehydrocholesterol to UV B radiation from sun. Alternatively, vitamin D, either as vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) or vitamin D3, can also be consumed through diet. Vitamin D obtained from solar radiation is often influenced by spatiotemporal factors (latitude, altitude, seasonality, time of day, and air pollution) and individual-specific factors (skin pigmentation and preference for outdoor activity, clothing, and sunscreen use; Wacker and Holick, 2013).

After synthesis in the skin or consumption through diet, vitamin D circulates in the bloodstream and is rapidly converted to 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25OHD) by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme in the liver. Subsequent 1-hydroxylation in the kidney converts 25-hydroxycholecalciferol to the active metabolite 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol [1,25(OH)2D]. Vitamin D binding protein (VDBP) is the principal transporter of vitamin D and its metabolites in the blood stream and helps mobilize them to their target tissues. Many tissues express the vitamin D receptor (VDR), which binds to 1,25(OH)2D and heterodimerises with the retinoic X receptor (RXR) to form a transcription factor. Since RXR is involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, and organogenesis, it plays a critical role in pregnancy and fetal development (Szanto et al., 2004).

Measurement of circulating 25OHD, the major form of vitamin D in the bloodstream, is recommended to evaluate the vitamin D status (Holick et al., 2011). However, there is no consensus on cut-offs for deficient and insufficient vitamin D concentrations for pregnant women and newborns and even for the non-pregnant adult population. For example, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) guideline (Ross et al., 2011) defines vitamin D status as severely deficient (<30 nmol/L), insufficient (30–49 nmol/L), and sufficient (>50 nmol/L), while the Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline (Holick et al., 2011) defines vitamin D status as deficient (<50 nmol/L), insufficient (50–75 nmol/L), and sufficient (>75 nmol/L). Various other thresholds are also used in practice (Nassar et al., 2011).

During pregnancy the maternal demand for calcium increases with calcification of the fetal skeleton, and this is corroborated with the increased circulation of maternal vitamin D and its metabolites. Furthermore, the fetus does not produce vitamin D and hence relies exclusively on the supply of maternal vitamin D through placenta. There is a strong correlation reported between infant cord blood and maternal 25(OH)D concentrations, especially toward late gestation and delivery (Sachan et al., 2005; Bodnar et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Parlak et al., 2015; Rodda et al., 2015). The antenatal blood levels of VDBP have also been reported to increase by 40–50% during pregnancy, suggesting that VDBP may play a role in vitamin D homeostasis during gestation (Zhang et al., 2014; Karras et al., 2018). Thus, the heightened demand for vitamin D in pregnant women elevates their risk of developing vitamin D deficiency and many studies have shown high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency during pregnancy worldwide and in Asia (Sachan et al., 2005; Bodnar et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007). The Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline recommends that pregnant women require at least 600 IU/day of vitamin D and may need 1,500–2,000 IU/day to maintain their circulating 250HD concentration of >75 nmol/L (Holick et al., 2011).

Insufficient vitamin D concentrations during pregnancy have been associated with gestational diabetes, pre-eclampsia, bacterial vaginosis, antenatal and postnatal depression, and small for gestational age/low birth weight infants (Christesen et al., 2012; Aghajafari et al., 2013, 2018; Theodoratou et al., 2014). In this study involving the Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) mother-offspring cohort (Soh et al., 2014), maternal vitamin D inadequacy was found to be associated with higher fasting glucose in Malays and increased risk of emergency cesarean section in Chinese and Indian women (Loy et al., 2015), as well as poor sleep quality and night-time eating during pregnancy (Cheng et al., 2017) and higher abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue volume in the infants (Tint et al., 2018). However, although maternal vitamin D supplementation was shown to prevent neonatal vitamin D deficiency (Rodda et al., 2015), no evidence of benefit for pregnancy or birth outcomes have been demonstrated from vitamin D supplementation (Roth et al., 2015, 2017).

Genetic variation has been shown to contribute to vitamin D metabolism and risk of vitamin D insufficiency. Previous genome-wide association studies (GWAS) to identify risk factors for vitamin D have focused primarily on vitamin D measurements obtained from adults (Benjamin et al., 2007; Ahn et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Moy et al., 2014; Manousaki et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2018) and children (\geq 4 years; Lasky-Su et al., 2012; Anderson et al., 2014) of European descent. Recently, two GWAS extended the investigations to include the African and Hispanic Americans populations (Hong et al., 2018; O'Brien et al., 2018). Only one GWAS has been conducted exclusively for vitamin D in an Asian population (Sapkota et al., 2016).

In this study, we measured vitamin D concentrations in the blood plasma of mothers of Chinese, Indian, and Malay descent in mid-pregnancy and in the cord blood of their offspring at birth. We investigate the epidemiological and genetic risk factors associated with antenatal and cord blood vitamin D concentrations. To our knowledge, this is the first GWAS investigating vitamin D concentrations of women during pregnancy, and their offspring at birth, and also in a multiethnic Asian cohort.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

Data were obtained from GUSTO, a mother-offspring prospective cohort study in Singapore (Soh et al., 2014). Briefly, 1,247 pregnant women with singleton pregnancies were recruited at 11-14 weeks of gestation from two hospitals in Singapore, KK Women's and Children's Hospital (KKH) and National University Hospital (NUH), from June 2009 to September 2010. The inclusion criteria included age range between 18 and 50 years, intention to reside in Singapore for the next 5 years, intention to deliver in KKH and NUH, and willingness to donate antenatal and cord blood. We included only Chinese, Malay, and Indian women whose parents and whose partner's parents were of the same ethnicity in the study. Informed written consent was obtained from all women. The study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from the Domain Specific Review Board of Singapore National Healthcare Group (reference D/09/021) and the Centralized Institutional Review Board of SingHealth (reference 2009/280/D).

Maternal Characteristics

Demographic data on ethnicity, maternal age, educational levels, and pre-pregnancy weight was self-reported by participants at recruitment visit. Height, weight, and gestational diabetes status was measured at the GUSTO visit at 26–28 weeks gestation. Briefly, women underwent a 75g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and gestational diabetes was defined using the WHO 1999 definition (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998; fasting glucose \geq 7.0 mmol/L or 2-h post-OGTT glucose \geq 7.8 mmol/L). Mothers reported dietary supplements that they were consuming during pregnancy and trained research nutritionists contemporaneously coded the nutrient information from supplements to determine presence of vitamin D in supplements. The ethnicity of the study population was verified using the genotype data with the 1000 Genomes as reference population and samples not matching the self-reported ethnicity were removed.

Infant Characteristics

Gestational age was assessed by ultrasonography in the first trimester in a standardized manner at both hospitals by trained ultrasonographers. Offspring sex and birthweight were obtained by trained research coordinators from birth records at the time of delivery.

Antenatal Vitamin D Measurement

As described previously (Ong et al., 2016), maternal blood was collected during the clinical visit at 26–28 weeks gestation (same time as OGTT) in EDTA tubes, centrifuged at 1,600*g* for 10 min at 4°C within 4h of collection and the plasma was frozen at -80° C until analysis. Plasma 25OHD and its metabolite concentrations was analyzed by isotope-dilution liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (ID-LC-MS/MS). The intra- and inter-assay CVs for 25OHD were \leq 10.3%, and the detection limit was <4nmol/L (Maunsell et al., 2005).

The contribution of 25(OH)D2 was negligible (detected in <1% of antenatal samples). Thus, we used only 25(OH)D3 for analysis throughout this paper.

Cord Blood Vitamin D Measurement

Cord blood was collected from infant umbilical cords either by directly dripping into EDTA tubes for normal deliveries, or extracted through a syringe for cords delivered through Cesarean section deliveries, then processed in the same way as maternal samples until analyses. Plasma 25OHD concentrations was analyzed in the laboratories of Bevital AS¹ using LC-MS/ MS (Midttun and Ueland, 2011). The intra- and inter-assay CVs for 25OHD were 4–5 and 7–8%, respectively, and the detection limit was 3.3 nmol/L (Midttun and Ueland, 2011). The contribution of 25(OH)D2 was again negligible (detected in 1.3% of cord blood samples) and hence the subsequent analysis was restricted to 25(OH)D3 only.

DNA Extraction, Genotyping, and Imputation

Mother's DNA was extracted from blood collected at mid-gestation and infant DNA from cord tissue or blood and father's DNA from buccal swabs. DNA extraction for mother and infants were as described previously (Lin et al., 2017). Isohelix DNA buccal swabs stored at -80° C were equilibrated to room temperature for 1 h and 1 ml of ATL lysis buffer (Qiagen) was added and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. About 100 µl of proteinase K (Qiagen) was then added and incubated at 60°C with shaking for 30 min to 1 h. DNA extraction from the lysates was performed using QIAsymphony DNA kits as per the manufacturer's instructions.

The extracted DNA was genotyped using Illumina OmniExpress plus Exome array. DNA hybridization arrays and scanning were performed by Expression Analysis, Inc. (Morrisville, NC). Data were processed using GenomeStudio Genotyping Module version 1.0 (Illumina, Inc.). Briefly, genotyping calls were made by the GenCall software and genotypes with a GenCall score less than 0.15 are not assigned genotypes. Samples with genotyping call rate <97%, not matching self-reported ethnicity or discrepant in sex or with incongruent offspring-parent relationship (expected $PI_HAT = 0.5$) were removed.

Genotype imputation was done for each ethnicity separately (for details and scripts²). Briefly, SNPs with minor allele frequency (MAF) <5%, call rate <95% or fail Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium at value of $p < 10^{-6}$ (all parameters was estimated using parents only) were excluded in each ethnicity using PLINK version 1.90 (Chang et al., 2015). The data were aligned to GRCh37 build and further processed using a published pipeline³ before haplotype phasing using SHAPEIT2 with duoHMM method (O'Connell et al., 2014), which incorporates the family structure for better accuracy. We imputed the phased haplotypes with

²https://bitbucket.org/sics-sb/gusto-imputation.git

¹www.bevital.no

³https://github.com/natacha-beck/imputePrepSanger

TABLE 1 Characteristics for antenatal vitamin D concentration.

			Multivari	ate model ^b
	<i>N</i> (%)/mean (SD)	Univariate model, p	В	p
N	942			
Antenatal 250HD concentration in nmol/L, mean (SD)	81.08 (27.16)			
Ethnicity, N (%)				
Chinese	520 (55.2)	ref	ref	ref
Indian	175 (18.6)	1.1×10 ⁻²¹	-21.85	3.1×10 ⁻²¹
Malay	247 (26.2)	3.3×10 ⁻²⁸	-22.32	2.3×10 ⁻²⁶
Age in years at recruitment, mean (SD)	30.48 (5.05)	1.2×10 ⁻⁷	0.47	0.0058
Highest level of education attained, N (%)		0.076°		
Primary and secondary	285 (30.2)			
Post-secondary	324 (34.4)			
University	320 (34.0)			
Not answered	13 (1.4)			
Monthly income of household SGD, N (%)		0.0017°		ns
<\$1,000	17 (1.8)			
\$1,000–1,999	121 (12.8)			
\$2,000–3,999	273 (29.0)			
\$4,000–5,999	220 (23.4)			
≥\$6,000	250 (26.5)			
Unknown or refused to answer	61 (6.5)			
Pre-pregnancy BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD) ^a	22.67 (4.29)	2.0×10 ⁻⁵		ns
Smoked or exposed to tobacco smoke during pregnancy, N (%) ^d	51 (5.4)	0.40		
Gestational weight gain in kg, mean (SD) ^a	8.62 (4.44)	0.59		
Gestational diabetes mellitus using WHO 1999, N (%) ^a	161 (17.7)	0.22		
Consumption of vitamin D containing supplements, N (%)				
Yes	700 (74.3)	ref	ref	ref
No	147 (15.6)	1.5×10 ⁻⁷	-16.47	2.4×10 ⁻¹³
Unknown	95 (10.1)			
Male offspring, N (%)	490 (52.1)	0.23		
With genotype data, N (%)	919 (97.6)			
With genotype data and information on supplements, N (%; i.e.,	827 (87.8)			
sample size for Figure 1A and antenatal GWAS)				

^aContains missing values: pre-pregnancy BMI (n = 78), gestational weight gain (n = 80), AND gestational diabetes mellitus (n = 34).

^bFor the multivariate model, we included all variables that was significant in an univariate test (p<0.05) followed backward elimination. Pre-pregnancy BMI and household income was not significant in the multivariate model and thus dropped in favor of a more parsimonious model (ns, not significant at p<0.05).

°Values of p shown is for the F-test from the ANOVA model.

^dWe considered a mother to be smoking during pregnancy if she self-reported to be smoking during pregnancy (n=29) or if the antenatal blood cotinine levels were >56.5 nmol/L (n=20). We considered a mother to be exposed to tobacco smoke if her cotinine levels were between 11 and 56.5 nmol/L (n=11).

PBWT (Durbin, 2014) using the Sanger Imputation Service (McCarthy et al., 2016) using the 1000 Genomes Phase 3 (1000 Genomes Project Consortium et al., 2015) as reference panel. We analyzed 6,978,879 SNPs that passed stringent quality control (MAF>5% and imputation INFO>0.50) in at least one ethnicity.

Statistical Analysis

25-hydroxyvitamin D was measured in 942 antenatal samples and 812 cord blood samples. While, we briefly report the proportion of women with sufficient concentrations (>75 nmol/L) based on recommendations by Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline (Holick et al., 2011), we analyze 25OHD concentrations as a continuous measure due to the lack of a well-established clinical cut-offs for insufficiency especially in pregnancy and for cord blood concentrations. Summary values are reported as mean \pm SD.

To identify significant covariates for the GWAS analysis, we first regressed the variable of interest with 250HD using

univariate linear regression models. Variables that were statistically significant (value of p < 0.05) were included in a multivariate model and the most parsimonious model was selected using backward elimination procedure, i.e., start with the saturated model and drop a term if the χ^2 value of p > 0.05 for the reduction in Akaike's information criteria.

Genome-wide association analysis for antenatal 25OHD was adjusted for ethnicity, consumption of vitamin D containing supplements and maternal age at recruitment. Similarly, GWAS for cord blood 25OHD was adjusting for antenatal 25OHD concentrations and ethnicity. SNPs were coded using the additive model of alleles. All analyses and plots were conducted in R version 3.3.2 unless stated otherwise. Associations reaching the genome-wide significance threshold (value of $p \le 5 \times 10^{-8}$) were considered statistically significant and regional association plots using LocusZoom (Pruim et al., 2010) and ethnicity-stratified boxplots were generated. We also used Haploview (Barrett et al., 2005) to investigate the genetic linkage for selected loci. We attempted to elucidate the

TABLE 2	Characteristics for cord blood vitamin D levels.	
---------	--	--

	N (%)/	Univariate	Multivar	iate model ^ь
	mean (SD)	model, p	В	p
N	812			
Cord blood 250HD levels in nmol/L,	34.05 (13.76)			
mean (SD) Antenatal 25OHD levels in nmol/L, mean (SD) ^a	79.00 (27.29)	2.0×10 ⁻¹²⁰	0.35	9.6×10 ⁻⁹⁹
Ethnicity, N (%	6)			
Chinese Indian Malay Gestational	399 (49.1) 166 (20.4) 247 (30.4) 38.75 (1.36)	ref 4.0×10 ⁻¹⁵ 8.3×10 ⁻²⁹ 0.69	ref -1.99 -4.44	<i>ref</i> 0.038 2.2×10 ⁻⁷
age in weeks, mean (SD) Birth Weight in	3.10 (0.44)	0.073		
kg, mean (SD) Male offspring, N (%)	432 (53.3)	0.88		
With genotype data, <i>N</i> (%)	777 (95.6)			
With genotype data and mother's antenatal 250HD measurement, N (%; i.e., sample size for Figure 1B and cord blood	656 (80.8)			

^aContains missing values: Antenatal vitamin D (n = 144).

^bFor the multivariate model, we included all variables that was significant in an univariate test (p < 0.05) followed backward elimination.

presence of second independent signals by including the selected SNP as a covariate in the model.

Data Statement

Clinical data are not publicly available due to ethical restrictions but can be obtained from the authors upon reasonable request and subject to appropriate approvals from the GUSTO cohort's Executive Committee.

RESULTS

Vitamin D Inadequacy Is Very Common in Pregnant Mothers Especially in Malays and Indians

Vitamin D was measured at mid-gestation in 942 women (**Supplementary Figure 1**) from three major Asian ethnicities (520 Chinese, 175 Indian, and 247 Malay). 25(OH)D3 was the predominant vitamin D metabolite detected, with mean

concentration of 81.08 ± 27.16 nmol/L (**Supplementary Figure 2**). Overall, 41% of the mothers had inadequate vitamin D (\leq 75 nmol/L). In a multivariate regression model (**Table 1**), low concentrations of antenatal vitamin D strongly associated with being Malay (B = -22.32 nmol/L, $p = 2.3 \times 10^{-26}$) or Indian (B = -21.85, $p = 3.1 \times 10^{-21}$) compared to Chinese mothers; not consuming supplements containing vitamin D (B = -16.47, $p = 2.4 \times 10^{-13}$) and being younger at recruitment (B = 0.47 per year, p = 0.0058). These covariates collectively explained 21.1% of variability in antenatal vitamin D.

Majority of the mothers (84.6%) reported consuming supplements containing vitamin D and despite this 36.8% of these mothers (59.6% in Malay, 53.5% in Indian, and 19.2% in Chinese mothers; **Figure 1A**) had inadequate antenatal vitamin D. As expected, the proportion of pregnant women with vitamin D inadequacy is much higher at 53.8% among those not consuming vitamin D containing supplements (81.8% in Malay, 73.1% in Indian, and 42.3% in Chinese mothers).

Cord Blood Vitamin D Is Highly Correlated With Maternal Antenatal Concentrations

Vitamin D was measured in cord blood from 812 infants (**Supplementary Figure 1**), and again the predominant vitamin D metabolite detected was 25(OH)D3, with a mean concentration of 34.05 ± 13.76 nmol/L (**Supplementary Figure 2**). In a multivariate regression model (**Table 2**), low concentration of cord blood vitamin D was strongly associated with being Malay (B = -4.44, $p = 2.2 \times 10^{-7}$) or Indian (B = -1.99, p = 0.038) compared to Chinese offspring. These covariates collectively explain 57.4% of variability in cord blood vitamin D. There was a high correlation between cord blood and maternal antenatal vitamin D with a Pearson correlation of 0.75 (**Figure 1B**) and this correlation persisted even when stratified by ethnicity (0.70 in Chinese, 0.69 in Indian, and 0.70 in Malay).

A Missense Variant (rs4588) in GC Is Associated With Decreased Concentrations of Vitamin D

We conducted GWAS for vitamin D concentrations measured in 827 pregnant women and 656 cord blood samples (**Supplementary Figures 1–4** for sample selection flow diagram, phenotype distribution, QQ, and Manhattan plots). The strongest signal for maternal antenatal and cord blood vitamin D (**Table 3**) was in the *GC* gene, which encodes the VDBP (**Figure 2**).

The antenatal vitamin D GWAS identified an intronic variant rs1352846 in *GC* as the most statistically significant association $(p=6.5 \times 10^{-10})$. However, this variant is in a very high linkage disequilibrium $(r^2=0.957)$ in Chinese, $r^2=0.983$ in Indian, and $r^2=0.985$ in Malay; **Supplementary Figure 5**) with rs4588 $(p=1.0 \times 10^{-9})$, which is a missense variant that has been previously reported to be associated for vitamin D in European, African American, and Hispanic descent populations (Lasky-Su et al., 2012; Anderson et al., 2014; Hong et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2018; O'Brien et al., 2018). rs4588 was also the most significant risk variant associated with cord blood vitamin D concentrations $(p=1.0 \times 10^{-8})$. Therefore, we postulate rs4588



FIGURE 1 (A) Maternal antenatal vitamin D concentration stratified by ethnicity and consumption of vitamin D containing supplements. (B) Cord blood vitamin D concentration is strongly correlated with maternal antenatal vitamin D across all ethnicities. The dashed horizontal line marks the level of sufficiency (>75 nmol/L) as recommended by the Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guidelines (ESCPG; Holick et al., 2011). For visualization purposes, the *y* axis in (A) is truncated at 160 nmol/L, which excludes two high values (187, 195) from Chinese mothers who consumed vitamin D containing supplements.

Gene	dbSNP	Chr	Position	Reference allele	Risk allele	Risk allele frequency	В	p	Source
Variants re	aching genome-wid	e significant	with antenatal v	itamin D conc	entration:				
CYP2J2	rs10789082	1	60,357,969	A	G	29.4%	-7.68	1.5×10 ⁻⁸	Typed
GC	rs17467825	4	72,605,517	А	G	24.9%	-8.53	3.3×10 ⁻⁹	Imputed
GC	rs2282680	4	72,608,364	С	Т	24.7%	-8.41	3.4×10 ⁻⁹	Imputed
GC	rs2282679	4	72,608,383	Т	G	24.7%	-8.36	3.2×10^{-9}	Typed
GC	rs3755967	4	72,609,398	С	Т	24.7%	-8.37	3.1×10 ⁻⁹	Imputed
GC	rs2298850	4	72,614,267	G	С	25.1%	-8.58	9.8×10^{-10}	Imputed
GC	rs11723621	4	72,615,362	А	G	25.1%	-8.58	9.9×10^{-10}	Imputed
GC	rs1352846	4	72,617,775	A	G	24.1%	-8.88	6.5×10 ⁻¹⁰	Imputed
GC	rs4588	4	72,618,323	G	Т	25.1%	-8.56	1.0×10 ⁻⁹	Typed
Variants re	eaching genome-wide	e significant	with cord blood	vitamin D con	centration:				
GC	rs2298850	4	72,614,267	G	С	25.0%	-3.18	1.5×10 ⁻⁸	Imputed
GC	rs11723621	4	72,615,362	А	G	25.0%	-3.18	1.5×10^{-8}	Imputed
GC	rs1352846	4	72,617,775	А	G	24.6%	-3.22	1.5×10^{-8}	Imputed
GC	rs4588	4	72,618,323	G	Т	25.0%	-3.22	1.0×10 ⁻⁸	Typed

TABLE 3	Variants	reaching	genome-wide	significance.
---------	----------	----------	-------------	---------------

is most likely the causal variant in GC. There was no secondary signal in GC gene after conditioning on rs4588. The T-allele is the risk allele for rs4588 and is associated with a reduction of 8.6 nmol/L per allele in antenatal vitamin D ($p=1.0 \times 10^{-9}$) and a reduction of 3.2 nmol/L per allele in cord blood vitamin D ($p=1.0 \times 10^{-8}$). This variant explains 3.3 and 2.0% of the variability in antenatal and cord blood vitamin D, respectively, after accounting for the factors included in multivariate models in **Tables 1** and **2**. The directionality of this association is consistent across ethnicities (**Figure 2**), while the risk allele frequency (RAF) varies from 29.9% in Chinese, 23.5% in Indian, and 15.7% in Malay mothers.

The missense variant rs4588 (p.Thr436Lys) and missense variant rs7041 (p.Glu432Asp) are frequently studied together as haplotype-tagging SNPs in *GC*. While rs7041 only had a modest

statistical association in our single-SNP GWAS ($p=2.8 \times 10^{-4}$ for antenatal and p=0.01 for cord blood), the results for haplotype association (**Table 4**) were highly significant (ANOVA $p=2.0 \times 10^{-7}$ for antenatal and $p=3.0 \times 10^{-6}$ for cord blood). We find that the vitamin D concentrations are highest in individuals with haplotypes 1s/1s or 1s/1f and lowest in those with haplotype 2/2, in agreement with the findings of a large study with 11,704 Norwegian adults (Jorde and Grimnes, 2015).

A Variant (rs10789082) Downstream of *CYP2J2* Is Associated With Decreased Antenatal Vitamin D

The second strongest genetic association was for the SNP rs10789082 (**Table 3**; **Figure 3**), which is located 1,011 bases downstream from the 3' end of the last exon (exon 9,



plot (left) is based on all individuals with complete data for analysis. The data presented as boxplots (right) has been adjusted for ethnicity-stratified levels for cord blood vitamin D. The regional association plot (left) is based on all individuals with complete data for analysis. The data presented as boxplots (right) has been adjusted for ethnicity-stratified levels for cord blood vitamin D. The regional association plot (left) is based on all individuals with complete data for analysis. The data presented as boxplots (right) has been adjusted for ethnicity and antenatal vitamin D levels.

Supplementary Figure 6) of the *CYP2J2* (*Cytochrome P450 Family 2 Subfamily J Member 2*) gene. The G-allele is the risk allele for rs10789082 and is associated with a reduction of 7.7 nmol/L per allele in antenatal vitamin D ($p=1.5\times10^{-8}$) but this SNP was not associated with cord blood vitamin D (p=0.65). This variant explains an additional 2.0% of the variability in antenatal vitamin D after accounting for the factors included in multivariate models in **Table 1**. We note that this SNP is not in high linkage disequilibrium with any of the SNPs in the region of the *CYP2J2* gene but this variant is a genotyped SNP with good separation of the allele signals for genotype calling (**Supplementary Figure 7**). Furthermore, the directionality of this association is consistent across ethnicities (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

In this mother-offspring study of three major Asian ethnicities (Chinese, Indian, and Malay), which represents 40% of the

global population, we measured the vitamin D concentrations in blood collected mid-pregnancy and from the umbilical cord of their offspring. First, we found that many pregnant women, particularly those of Malay and Indian descent, do not achieve the recommended concentrations of 75 nmol/L and above of vitamin D in pregnancy. We also observed a substantial level of vitamin D insufficiency despite majority of mothers reporting consumption of vitamin D containing supplements. This discrepancy may be due to the low amounts of vitamin D in the supplements consumed as there is a heightened demand for vitamin D during pregnancy and up to 1,500-2,000 IU/ day may be needed to maintain their circulating 25OHD concentration of >75 nmol/L (Holick et al., 2011). An additional reason could be the limitations of the self-reporting questionnaire to collect details of duration of supplement consumption and compliance to the recommended dosage. Next, we found that the vitamin D concentrations in cord blood are strongly correlated with the mothers' mid-pregnancy vitamin D concentrations across all three ethnicities. Mothers with

На	Haplotype and definition	efinition		Antenatal vitamin D ($N=827$) ^a	n D (N=827) ^a			Cord blood vitamin D ($N = 656$) ^b	in D (N=656)	٩	Published vi and Grin	Published values for Jorde and Grimnes (2015)
Haplotype	rs4588°	rs7041°	z	mean±SD	В	٩	2	mean±SD	В	ď	z	mean±SD
1s/1s	gg	00	114	86.7 ± 24.8	ref	ref	66	35.5±9.2	ref	ref	3,621	55.4±16.8
1s/1f	90	AC	210	86.5 ± 24.8	Ē	0.74	147	35.9 ± 8.4	0.43	0.72	2,456	53.3±17.2
1f/1f	90	AA	139	85.6 ± 24.9	-1.78	0.59	126	35.7 ± 9.1	0.23	0.85	510	52.2 ± 16.8
1s/2	GT	AC	150	80.1 ± 24.8	-7.45	0.015	113	33.2 ± 8.7	-2.36	0.052	3,315	50.3 ± 15.6
11/2	GT	AA	163	76.5 ± 20.4	-11.3	3.4×10^{-4}	127	32.6 ± 8.6	-2.97	0.016	1,104	50.5 ± 16.3
2/2	TT	AA	51	69.7 ± 20.9	-18.3	1.6×10^{-5}	44	28.9 ± 7.1	-6.67	3.7×10^{-5}	698	46.9 ± 15.1

Mutually adjusted for antenatal vitamin D levels and ethnicity. The mean ± SD column is after adjusting for these covariates. The B and value of p are from the estimates from the linear regression

All of the alleles are reported on the positive strand.

TABLE 4 | Analysis of GC haplotypes for the antenatal and cord blood vitamin D genome-wide association analysis (GWAS)

inadequate vitamin D concentrations and their offspring are at risk of pregnancy complications and early life adverse outcomes (Nassar et al., 2011; Christesen et al., 2012; Aghajafari et al., 2013, 2018; Theodoratou et al., 2014). To develop more insights into vitamin D insufficiency, we examined the genetic association with antenatal and cord blood vitamin D concentrations, which revealed two interesting loci.

Our GWAS identified rs4588, a missense variant in the gene GC of both mother and the offspring, as a significant risk factor for decreased vitamin D concentrations in antenatal and cord blood. The key haplotype-tagging SNP rs4588 has been previously reported as a risk factor for vitamin D in adult and non-pregnant populations of European, African American, and Hispanic descent (Manousaki et al., 2017; O'Brien et al., 2018). Several other variants in GC (rs2282679, rs3755967, and rs17467825) in high linkage disequilibrium with rs4588 have also been associated with vitamin D concentrations previously (Ahn et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Lasky-Su et al., 2012; Anderson et al., 2014; Hong et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2018). The GC gene encodes the VDBP, a protein that stores and transports both 25OHD and the active form of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)2D (Speeckaert et al., 2006), thus variants affecting VDBP activity would likely influence measured circulating 25OHD concentrations. Our findings augment the results of previous GWAS on vitamin D. The rs4588 and rs7041 haplotype GC 1F has been shown to affect VDBP binding to vitamin D (Arnaud and Constans, 1993), thus may affect the half-life of 25OHD and/or the bioavailability of free 25OHD. The majority of circulating 25OHD is bound to VDBP (Karras et al., 2018). Pregnant women have increased VDBP due to estrogen-dependent production and have increased 25OHD concentrations likely due to higher concentrations of VDBP and/or vitamin D supplementation (Karras et al., 2018). The effects of dysregulation of VDBP may play a role in the associations of vitamin D insufficiency and adverse pregnancy-related outcomes (Karras et al., 2018).

We also identified rs10789082 downstream of CYP2J2 to be associated with antenatal vitamin D. This is a novel association in humans and is consistent across all three ethnicities. It is interesting to find this association with antenatal vitamin D concentrations but not cord blood vitamin D concentrations. This may be because the fetus depends on the mother for 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D. 25OHD crosses the placenta and fetal vitamin D concentrations are dependent on maternal vitamin D concentrations (Salle et al., 2000; Hollis and Wagner, 2017). The fetus appears to obtain active 1,25OHD largely from fetal kidney activity but 1,250HD may also cross the placenta (Salle et al., 2000). SNPs in CYP2J2 have been reported to be associated with serum vitamin D status in beef cattle (Casas et al., 2013) but not in human. The gene CYP2J2 encodes the enzyme CYP, family 2, subfamily J, and polypeptide 2. The CYP superfamily of enzymes catalyze the oxidation of small organic compounds and are involved in drug metabolism and activation of steroid hormones such as vitamin D. The human CYP2J2 enzyme has been demonstrated to hydroxylate vitamin D2, vitamin D3, and 1*a*-hydroxyvitamin D3 (Aiba et al., 2006). SNPs in related genes CYP2R1 and CYP24A1 have been previously associated with vitamin D concentrations (Ahn et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Hong et al., 2018; Jiang



et al., 2018; O'Brien et al., 2018) but these reported associations were not significant in our cohort (p > 0.01). 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D is thought to primarily be due to CYP2R1 with CYP27A1, CYP2J2, and CYP3A4 also contributing and subsequent 1-alpha-hydroxylation by CYP27B140. Perhaps CYP2J2 plays a larger role in 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D during pregnancy or in Asian populations.

The present study has several strengths. To our knowledge, this is the first GWAS to investigate vitamin D in the context of antenatal blood, paired offspring cord blood and also in a multi-ethnic Asian cohort. Our cohort offers the unique opportunity to compare three major Asian ethnicities in a standardized manner as all participants live in a geographically small region with constant sunshine, little seasonal variation, and, where data was collected in a uniform manner. We used the LC-MS/MS method to quantify vitamin D concentrations, which is the proposed reference method for 25OHD measurement (Vogeser et al., 2004), as the competitive binding assays commonly used for measuring 25OHD may underestimate vitamin D concentrations due to differences in antibody affinity (Ong et al., 2012).

There are also some limitations to this study. One limitation is the single measurement of vitamin D in pregnancy, as it is known that pregnancy is marked by dynamic changes in physiology and vitamin D increases during the course of pregnancy. However, the time point chosen for this study is mid-gestation, which corroborates with the rise in antenatal vitamin D levels and fetal bone development (Moon et al., 2015). We have not measured the physiologically active form of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)2D, which has been shown to increase by 100% or more during pregnancy (Christesen et al., 2012); however, 25(OH)D reflects vitamin D stores and is the form of vitamin D recommended to evaluate vitamin D status (Holick et al., 2011). Second, we have not accounted for diet in our model, although, we anticipate sun exposure to have a greater role in determining vitamin D concentrations as the major vitamin D metabolite detected in plasma was 25(OH)D3. Third, we have also not accounted for individual-specific factors (skin pigmentation, preference for outdoor activity, and clothing preferences) in our models. We observe that the ethnicity specific effects are still present after accounting for the genetic associations identified here, suggesting that these factors may explain some of the difference in vitamin D concentrations between ethnic groups. Fourth, although, we adjusted for reported consumption of vitamin D containing supplements, we are unable to adjust for exact amounts consumed as we cannot ascertain the compliance and frequency of consuming the supplements with high degree of confidence. Fifth, we did not have weather data on amount of sunshine, although Singapore is a small island lying 1.5° north of the equator with sunshine throughout the year with no true distinct seasons. Therefore, we should anticipate very little impact due to the usual spatiotemporal factors that might affect the participants. Finally, the genotype association with rs10789082 downstream of CYP2J2 needs to be replicated in other studies, preferably in Asian ethnicities first.

In conclusion, we found high prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy in pregnant women in a country with predominantly Asian population receiving sunlight all year round. Both Malay and Indian ethnic groups had more vitamin D inadequacy compared to Chinese. Our genetic finding on VDBP, the primary transporter of vitamin D in circulation, augments the understanding of vitamin D deficiency in pregnancy and its downstream impact on the availability of vitamin D to the growing fetus when the demands for it are critical during gestation. We have also identified a new SNP downstream of CYP2J2, which may influence vitamin D concentrations in pregnancy. The association of these genetic risk factors are similar across all three Asian ethnic groups studied here. These results may help to identify individuals who are genetically predisposed to vitamin D insufficiency in Asian population and advise further studies of the impact of this genetic predisposition on the association between vitamin D and different pregnancy and child health outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Clinical data are not publicly available due to ethical restrictions but can be obtained from the authors upon reasonable request and subject to appropriate approvals from the GUSTO cohort's Executive Committee.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from the Domain Specific Review Board of Singapore National Healthcare Group (reference D/09/021) and the Centralized Institutional Review Board of SingHealth (reference 2009/280/D). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS, AR, and LC performed the statistical analysis and genomewide associations. AR, KT, and NK interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript. YC, PG, FY, KG, MC, and NK were responsible for data generation (clinical and genotyping data) in GUSTO cohort. NK conceptualized and supervised the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research is supported by the Singapore National Research Foundation under its Translational and Clinical Research (TCR) Flagship Program on Developmental Pathways to Metabolic Disease and administered by the Singapore Ministry of Health's National Medical Research Council (NMRC), Singapore-NMRC/ TCR/004-NUS/2008; NMRC/TCR/012-NUHS/2014. KMG is supported by the UK Medical Research Council (MC_ UU_12011/4), the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR Senior Investigator (NF-SI-0515-10042) and NIHR Southampton Biomedical Research Centre (IS-BRC-1215-20004)), the European Union (Erasmus+ Programme ImpENSA 598488-EPP-1-2018-1-DE-EPPKA2-CBHE-JP) and the British Heart Foundation (RG/15/17/3174, SP/F/21/150013). Additional funding is provided by the Singapore Institute for Clinical Sciences (SICS), Joint Council Office (JCO) Grant (JCO1431AFG110), and Strategic

REFERENCES

- 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, Auton, A., Brooks, L. D., Durbin, R. M., Garrison, E. P., and Kang, H. M., et al. (2015). A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature* 526, 68–74. doi:10.1038/nature 15393.
- Aghajafari, F., Letourneau, N., Mahinpey, N., Cosic, N., and Giesbrecht, G. (2018). Vitamin D deficiency and antenatal and postpartum depression: a systematic review. *Nutrients* 10:478. doi: 10.3390/nu10040478
- Aghajafari, F., Nagulesapillai, T., Ronksley, P. E., Tough, S. C., O'Beirne, M., and Rabi, D. M. (2013). Association between maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin

Positioning Fund (SPF) awarded to NK by the Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study acknowledges the contribution of the rest of the GUSTO study group, which includes Allan Sheppard, Amutha Chinnadurai, Anne Eng Neo Goh, Anne Rifkin-Graboi, Angi Qiu, Arijit Biswas, Bee Wah Lee, Birit F. P. Broekman, Boon Long Quah, Borys Shuter, Chai Kiat Chng, Cheryl Ngo, Choon Looi Bong, Christiani Jeyakumar Henry, Cornelia Yin Ing Chee, Yam Thiam Daniel Goh, Doris Fok, Fabian K.P. Yap, George Seow Heong Yeo, Helen Chen, Hugo P. S. van Bever, Iliana Magiati, Inez Bik Yun Wong, Ivy Yee-Man Lau, Jeevesh Kapur, Jenny L. Richmond, Jerry Kok Yen Chan, Joanna D. Holbrook, Johan Eriksson, Joshua J. Gooley, Keith M. Godfrey, Kenneth Kwek, Kok Hian Tan, Krishnamoorthy Niduvaje, Leher Singh, Lin Su, Lourdes Mary Daniel, Lynette P. Shek, Marielle V. Fortier, Mark Hanson, Mary Foong-Fong Chong, Mary Rauff, Mei Chien Chua, Michael Meaney, Mya Thway Tint, Neerja Karnani, Ngee Lek, Oon Hoe Teoh, P. C. Wong, Peter D. Gluckman, Pratibha Agarwal, Rob M. van Dam, Salome A. Rebello, Seang-Mei Saw, Shang Chee Chong, Shirong Cai, Shu-E Soh, Sok Bee Lim, Chin-Ying Stephen Hsu, Victor Samuel Rajadurai, Walter Stunkel, Wee Meng Han, Wei Pang, Yap-Seng Chong, Yin Bun Cheung, Yiong Huak Chan and Yung Seng Lee. We thank Sim Xueling, and Teo Yik Ying from the Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health for helpful discussions and advice related to genotype imputation. A preprint of an earlier version of this article can be found at http://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3463277. Sampathkumar, Aparna and Tan, Karen M. and Chen, Li and Chong, Mary Foong-Fong and Yap, Fabian and Godfrey, Keith M. and Chong, Yap-Seng and Gluckman, Peter D. and Ramasamy, Adaikalavan and Karnani, Neerja, Genetic Link Determining the Maternal-Fetal Circulation of Vitamin D (October 2, 2019). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3463277.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2021.721488/ full#supplementary-material

D level and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. *BMJ* 346:f1169. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f1169

- Ahn, J., Yu, K., Stolzenberg-Solomon, R., Simon, K. C., McCullough, M. L., Gallicchio, L., et al. (2010). Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D levels. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 2739–2745. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq155
- Aiba, I., Yamasaki, T., Shinki, T., Izumi, S., Yamamoto, K., Yamada, S., et al. (2006). Characterization of rat and human CYP2J enzymes as vitamin D 25-hydroxylases. *Steroids* 71, 849–856. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2006.04.009
- Alberti, K. G., and Zimmet, P. Z. (1998). Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet. Med.*

15, 539–553. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::AID-DIA668>3.0.CO;2-S

- Anderson, D., Holt, B. J., Pennell, C. E., Holt, P. G., Hart, P. H., and Blackwell, J. M. (2014). Genome-wide association study of vitamin D levels in children: replication in the Western Australian pregnancy cohort (Raine) study. *Genes Immun.* 15, 578–583. doi: 10.1038/gene.2014.52
- Arnaud, J., and Constans, J. (1993). Affinity differences for vitamin D metabolites associated with the genetic isoforms of the human serum carrier protein (DBP). *Hum Genet.* 92, 183–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00219689
- Barrett, J. C., Fry, B., Maller, J., and Daly, M. J. (2005). Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics* 21, 263–265. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bth457
- Benjamin, E. J., Dupuis, J., Larson, M. G., Lunetta, K. L., Booth, S. L., Govindaraju, D. R., et al. (2007). Genome-wide association with select biomarker traits in the Framingham heart study. *BMC Med. Genet.* 8:S11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-8-S1-S11
- Bodnar, L. M., Simhan, H. N., Powers, R. W., Frank, M. P., Cooperstein, E., and Roberts, J. M. (2007). High prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in black and white pregnant women residing in the northern United States and their neonates. J. Nutr. 137, 447–452. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.2.447
- Casas, E., Leach, R. J., Reinhardt, T. A., Thallman, R. M., Lippolis, J. D., Bennett, G. L., et al. (2013). A genomewide association study identified CYP2J2 as a gene controlling serum vitamin D status in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 3549–3456. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-6020
- Chang, C. C., Chow, C. C., Tellier, L. C., Vattikuti, S., Purcell, S. M., and Lee, J. J. (2015). Second-generation PLINK: rising to the challenge of larger and richer datasets. *Gigascience* 4:7. doi: 10.1186/s13742-015-0047-8
- Cheng, T. S., Loy, S. L., Cheung, Y. B., Cai, S., Colega, M. T., Godfrey, K. M., et al. (2017). Plasma vitamin D deficiency is associated with poor sleep quality and night-time eating at mid-pregnancy in Singapore. *Nutrients* 9:340. doi: 10.3390/nu9040340
- Christesen, H. T., Falkenberg, T., Lamont, R. F., and Jorgensen, J. S. (2012). The impact of vitamin D on pregnancy: a systematic review. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 91, 1357–1367. doi: 10.1111/aogs.12000
- Durbin, R. (2014). Efficient haplotype matching and storage using the positional burrows-Wheeler transform (PBWT). *Bioinformatics* 30, 1266–1272. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu014
- Holick, M. F., Binkley, N. C., Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Gordon, C. M., Hanley, D. A., Heaney, R. P., et al. (2011). Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96, 1911–1930. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- Hollis, B. W., and Wagner, C. L. (2017). New insights into the vitamin D requirements during pregnancy. *Bone Res.* 5:17030. doi: 10.1038/boneres. 2017.30
- Hong, J., Hatchell, K. E., Bradfield, J. P., Bjonnes, A., Chesi, A., Lai, C. Q., et al. (2018). Transethnic evaluation identifies low-frequency loci associated with 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 103, 1380–1392. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01802
- Jiang, X., O'Reilly, P. F., Aschard, H., Hsu, Y. H., Richards, J. B., Dupuis, J., et al. (2018). Genome-wide association study in 79,366 European-ancestry individuals informs the genetic architecture of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels. *Nat. Commun.* 9:260. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02662-2
- Jorde, R., and Grimnes, G. (2015). Vitamin D and health: the need for more randomized controlled trials. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 148, 269–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.01.021
- Karras, S. N., Koufakis, T., Fakhoury, H., and Kotsa, K. (2018). Deconvoluting the biological roles of vitamin d-binding protein during pregnancy: a both clinical and theoretical challenge. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:259. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2018.00259
- Lasky-Su, J., Lange, N., Brehm, J. M., Damask, A., Soto-Quiros, M., Avila, L., et al. (2012). Genome-wide association analysis of circulating vitamin D levels in children with asthma. *Hum. Genet.* 131, 1495–1505. doi: 10.1007/ s00439-012-1185-z
- Lee, J. M., Smith, J. R., Philipp, B. L., Chen, T. C., Mathieu, J., and Holick, M. F. (2007). Vitamin D deficiency in a healthy group of mothers and newborn infants. *Clin. Pediatr.* 46, 42–44. doi: 10.1177/0009922806289311
- Lin, X., Teh, A. L., Chen, L., Lim, I. Y., Tan, P. F., MacIsaac, J. L., et al. (2017). Choice of surrogate tissue influences neonatal EWAS findings. *BMC Med.* 15:211. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0970-x

- Loy, S. L., Lek, N., Yap, F., Soh, S. E., Padmapriya, N., Tan, K. H., et al. (2015). Association of maternal vitamin d status with glucose tolerance and caesarean section in a multi-ethnic Asian cohort: the Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes study. *PLoS One* 10:e0142239. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0142239
- Manousaki, D., Dudding, T., Haworth, S., Hsu, Y. H., Liu, C. T., Medina-Gomez, C., et al. (2017). Low-frequency synonymous coding variation in CYP2R1 has large effects on vitamin D levels and risk of multiple sclerosis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 101, 227–238. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.06.014
- Maunsell, Z., Wright, D. J., and Rainbow, S. J. (2005). Routine isotope-dilution liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry assay for simultaneous measurement of the 25-hydroxy metabolites of vitamins D2 and D3. *Clin. Chem.* 51, 1683–1690. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2005.052936
- McCarthy, S., Das, S., Kretzschmar, W., Delaneau, O., Wood, A. R., Teumer, A., et al. (2016). A reference panel of 64,976 haplotypes for genotype imputation. *Nat. Genet.* 48, 1279–1283. doi: 10.1038/ng.3643
- Midttun, O., and Ueland, P. M. (2011). Determination of vitamins A, D and E in a small volume of human plasma by a high-throughput method based on liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 25, 1942–1948. doi: 10.1002/rcm.5073
- Moon, R. J., Crozier, S. R., Dennison, E. M., Davies, J. H., Robinson, S. M., Inskip, H. M., et al. (2015). Tracking of 25-hydroxyvitamin D status during pregnancy: the importance of vitamin D supplementation. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 102, 1081–1087. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.115295
- Moy, K. A., Mondul, A. M., Zhang, H., Weinstein, S. J., Wheeler, W., Chung, C. C., et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D-binding protein. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 99, 1424–1431. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.080309
- Nassar, N., Halligan, G. H., Roberts, C. L., Morris, J. M., and Ashton, A. W. (2011). Systematic review of first-trimester vitamin D normative levels and outcomes of pregnancy. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 205, 208.e1–208.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.03.058
- O'Brien, K. M., Sandler, D. P., Shi, M., Harmon, Q. E., Taylor, J. A., and Weinberg, C. R. (2018). Genome-wide association study of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in US women. *Front. Genet.* 9:67. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2018.00067
- O'Connell, J., Gurdasani, D., Delaneau, O., Pirastu, N., Ulivi, S., Cocca, M., et al. (2014). A general approach for haplotype phasing across the full spectrum of relatedness. *PLoS Genet.* 10:e1004234. doi: 10.1371/journal. pgen.1004234
- Ong, Y. L., Quah, P. L., Tint, M. T., Aris, I. M., Chen, L. W., van Dam, R. M., et al. (2016). The association of maternal vitamin D status with infant birth outcomes, postnatal growth and adiposity in the first 2 years of life in a multi-ethnic Asian population: the Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) cohort study. *Br. J. Nutr.* 116, 621–631. doi: 10.1017/ S0007114516000623
- Ong, L., Saw, S., Sahabdeen, N. B., Tey, K. T., Ho, C. S., and Sethi, S. K. (2012). Current 25-hydroxyvitamin D assays: do they pass the test? *Clin. Chim. Acta* 413, 1127–1234. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2012.03.009
- Parlak, M., Kalay, S., Kalay, Z., Kirecci, A., Guney, O., and Koklu, E. (2015). Severe vitamin D deficiency among pregnant women and their newborns in Turkey. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 28, 548–551. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2014.924103
- Pruim, R. J., Welch, R. P., Sanna, S., Teslovich, T. M., Chines, P. S., Gliedt, T. P., et al. (2010). LocusZoom: regional visualization of genome-wide association scan results. *Bioinformatics* 26, 2336–2337. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btq419
- Rodda, C. P., Benson, J. E., Vincent, A. J., Whitehead, C. L., Polykov, A., and Vollenhoven, B. (2015). Maternal vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy prevents vitamin D deficiency in the newborn: an open-label randomized controlled trial. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 83, 363–368. doi: 10.1111/cen.12762
- Ross, A. C., Taylor, C. L., Yaktine, A. L., and Del Valle, H. B. (2011). Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D and Calcium. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US).
- Roth, D. E., Gernand, A. D., Morris, S. K., Pezzack, B., Islam, M. M., Dimitris, M. C., et al. (2015). Maternal vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy and lactation to promote infant growth in Dhaka, Bangladesh (MDIG trial): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 16:300. doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-0825-8

- Roth, D. E., Leung, M., Mesfin, E., Qamar, H., Watterworth, J., and Papp, E. (2017). Vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy: state of the evidence from a systematic review of randomised trials. *BMJ* 359:j5237. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.j5237
- Sachan, A., Gupta, R., Das, V., Agarwal, A., Awasthi, P. K., and Bhatia, V. (2005). High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among pregnant women and their newborns in northern India. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 81, 1060–1064. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/81.5.1060
- Salle, B. L., Delvin, E. E., Lapillonne, A., Bishop, N. J., and Glorieux, F. H. (2000). Perinatal metabolism of vitamin D. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 71, 1317S–1324S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1317s
- Sapkota, B. R., Hopkins, R., Bjonnes, A., Ralhan, S., Wander, G. S., Mehra, N. K., et al. (2016). Genome-wide association study of 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations in Punjabi Sikhs: results of the Asian Indian diabetic heart study. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 158, 149–156. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.12.014
- Soh, S. E., Tint, M. T., Gluckman, P. D., Godfrey, K. M., Rifkin-Graboi, A., Chan, Y. H., et al. (2014). Cohort profile: Growing up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) birth cohort study. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 43, 1401–1409. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt125
- Speeckaert, M., Huang, G., Delanghe, J. R., and Taes, Y. E. (2006). Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin) and its polymorphism. *Clin Chim Acta*. 372, 33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2006.03.011
- Szanto, A., Narkar, V., Shen, Q., Uray, I. P., Davies, P. J., and Nagy, L. (2004). Retinoid X receptors: X-ploring their (patho)physiological functions. *Cell Death Differ.* 11, S126–S143. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401533
- Theodoratou, E., Tzoulaki, I., Zgaga, L., and Ioannidis, J. P. (2014). Vitamin D and multiple health outcomes: umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies and randomised trials. *BMJ* 348:g2035. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g2035
- Tint, M. T., Chong, M. F., Aris, I. M., Godfrey, K. M., Quah, P. L., Kapur, J., et al. (2018). Association between maternal mid-gestation vitamin D status and neonatal abdominal adiposity. *Int. J. Obes.* 42, 1296–1305. doi: 10.1038/ s41366-018-0032-2
- Vogeser, M., Kyriatsoulis, A., Huber, E., and Kobold, U. (2004). Candidate reference method for the quantification of circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin

D3 by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Clin. Chem.* 50, 1415–1417. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2004.031831

- Wacker, M., and Holick, M. F. (2013). Sunlight and vitamin D: A global perspective for health. *Dermatoendocrinol.* 5, 51–108. doi: 10.4161/derm. 24494
- Wang, T. J., Zhang, F., Richards, J. B., Kestenbaum, B., van Meurs, J. B., Berry, D., et al. (2010). Common genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet* 376, 180–188. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)60588-0
- Zhang, J. Y., Lucey, A. J., Horgan, R., Kenny, L. C., and Kiely, M. (2014). Impact of pregnancy on vitamin D status: a longitudinal study. *Br. J. Nutr.* 112, 1081–1087. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514001883

Conflict of Interest: YC and KG have received reimbursement for speaking at conferences sponsored by companies selling nutritional products. YC, KG, and NK are part of an academic consortium that has received research funding from Abbott Nutrition, Nestec, Evolve Biosystems and Danone.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Sampathkumar, Tan, Chen, Chong, Yap, Godfrey, Chong, Gluckman, Ramasamy and Karnani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Zinc Deficiency, Plasma Fatty Acid Profile and Desaturase Activities in Hemodialysis Patients: Is Supplementation Necessary?

Marija Takic¹, Milica Zekovic¹, Brankica Terzic^{2,3}, Aleksandar Stojsavljevic⁴, Mirjana Mijuskovic^{2,3}, Slavica Radjen^{3,5†} and Danijela Ristic-Medic^{1,6*†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cornelius M. Smuts, North-West University, South Africa

Reviewed by:

Suresh Kumar Mohankumar, Swansea University Medical School, United Kingdom ASHIS SAHA, Central Institute of Freshwater Aquaculture (ICAR), India Samantha D. Pauls, University of Manitoba, Canada

> *Correspondence: Danijela Ristic-Medic dristicmedic@gmail.com; danijelar@imi.bg.ac.rs

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrigenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 26 April 2021 Accepted: 27 August 2021 Published: 23 September 2021

Citation:

Takic M, Zekovic M, Terzic B, Stojsavljevic A, Mijuskovic M, Radjen S and Ristic-Medic D (2021) Zinc Deficiency, Plasma Fatty Acid Profile and Desaturase Activities in Hemodialysis Patients: Is Supplementation Necessary? Front. Nutr. 8:700450. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.700450 **Background:** Desaturation and elongation are critical processes in endogenous metabolic fatty acid pathways. Zinc (Zn) is a cofactor for desaturases and elongases enzymes. There is limited evidence regarding the relationships between biomarkers of Zn status, nutritional intake, plasma phospholipid fatty acid profile and clinical outcomes among patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD).

¹ Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism, Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Clinic of Nephrology, Military Medical Academy, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Medical Faculty of the Military Medical Academy,

University of Defence in Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁴ Innovation Center of the Faculty of Chemistry, Department of Analytical

⁶ Department of Nutrition Biochemistry and Dietology, Institute for Medical Research, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

Chemistry, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁵ Institute of Hygiene, Military Medical Academy, Belgrade, Serbia,

Objective: To examine the relationships between dietary and serum levels of Zn and Cu/Zn ratio and to explore associations of these micronutrients with PUFA profile and estimated desaturase and elongase enzyme activities in serum phospholipids among HD patients.

Methods: This study included 40 adult patients undergoing hemodialysis treatment. Repeated 24-h recalls were applied for dietary intake assessment. Serum concentration of Zn and Cu were determined using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and fatty acid composition by gas-liquid chromatography. Desaturase and elongase activities were calculated from product-precursor fatty acid ratios.

Results: Inadequate dietary Zn intake was found in 55% of HD patients. They all had serum Zn concentration below the reference value of 60 μ g/dL (mean 38.8 \pm 7.72 μ g/dL). Adequate zinc intake was accompanied with significantly higher intake of energy, total fats, SFA, MUFA and proteins. There was no correlation between Zn serum status and Zn intake estimates. Serum Cu/Zn ratio was high, (2.76 \pm 0.68), directly and significantly associated with HD period, CRP, BMI, VFA, and inversely with Kt/V, albumin, iron, and iPTH. The n-6/n-3 ratio in plasma phospholipids was elevated (12.25 \pm 3.45) and patients with inadequate Zn intake had lower n-3 PUFA intake and status compared to those with adequate intake. Serum Zn concentrations were inversely correlated with linoleic/dihomo- γ -linolenic acid ratio (LA/DGLA) (p = 0.037), related to D6-desaturase activity (p = 0.033) and directly with DGLA relative abundances (p = 0.024). Cu status

was inversely associated with EPA level (p = 0.03) and estimates of elongase activity (p = 0.001). Furthermore, positive relationship was found between the Cu/Zn ratio and determined elongase value (p = 0.01).

Conclusion: Findings of this study underpin the high prevalence of Zn deficiency and inadequate n-3 PUFA intake and status among subjects undergoing HD. The results obtained indicate that the assessment of Zn status should be a standard parameter of nutritional status screening in HD patients while emphasizing the importance of Cu/Zn determination. Although further research is warranted, Zn and-n-3 PUFA supplementation in HD patients might be beneficial for the prevention and attenuation of adverse health outcomes

Keywords: zinc, fatty acid, Cu/Zn ratio, LA/DGLA, hemodialysis

INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney diseases (CKD) is recognized as a global public health concern with significant clinical, economic, and humanistic burdens. Patients on hemodialysis treatment have a high incidence of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) and an increased mortality rate (1). Risk factors such as dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, disturbances in fatty acid metabolism, increased oxidative stress, and inflammation are considered accountable for the endothelial impairment and cumulative alterations of vascular function in hemodialysis patients (2). Zinc is an essential micronutrient with numerous roles is fundamental biologic processes. Due to unique antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties and implications in enzyme activity, membrane stabilization and apoptosis inhibition, zinc is essential for endothelial integrity (3). Consequently, zinc deficiency could lead to severe endothelial damage and amplification of the detrimental impact of certain fatty acids such as linoleic acid, and inflammatory cytokines on vascular function (4). There is accumulating evidence that dysregulation of zinc metabolism and suboptimal status could be associated with the development of CVD (5). The risk of atherosclerosis in zinc-deficient patients with renal failure plays an important role in the progression and complications of CKD (6, 7). Lower zinc levels are related to end-stage renal disease (8).

Zinc deficiency increases oxidative stress and a cytokinemediated inflammatory process leading to atherosclerotic complications (3). Among patients with CKD, deterioration of kidney function causes impaired elimination of an array of uremic toxins. They have been shown to promote inflammatory state and aggravate the production of reactive oxygen species. The damaging effect of these processes is intensified by the hemodialysis procedure itself, and, in such circumstances, zinc exerts a significant role in antioxidant systems. Numerous studies underpinned Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase gradient as an effective oxidative stress marker for the evaluation of progressive renal damage (8). It has been proposed that the serum Cu/Zn ratio reflects the reciprocal reaction of Cu and Zn better than serum Cu or Zn concentrations separately (9, 10). Furthermore, it was found that the Cu/Zn-ratio significantly increases with aging (11). This biomarker, used also for the evaluation of oxidative stress burden, is associated with a higher risk of incident infection (10) and elevated cardiovascular mortality rate in the elderly population (12-14). Zinc, as an antioxidant and antiinflammatory mediator, regulates the function of lymphocytes, making the body's immune system less susceptible to various infections (15-17). Recently, the protective role of zinc in vulnerable groups for COVID-19 such as hemodialysis patients has been mentioned (18).

Several studies confirm a high prevalence of zinc deficiency in hemodialysis patients (5, 19–23). This could be caused by multiple factors such as: inadequate nutritional intake due to protein restriction, reduced gastrointestinal dietary absorption, increased zinc excretion or loss into the dialysate, altered cellular and tissue distribution, as well as phosphate-binder drugs interaction and oral iron supplementation (16, 24–26). The main inhibitor of intestinal zinc absorption is phytate, which is found in unrefined cereals, pulses, oilseeds, and nuts. The evidence indicates that zinc deficiency could lead to erythropoietinresistant anemia and increased susceptibility to renal damage in patients with diabetes (27, 28).

Previous studies, including ours, have reported disturbances in the proportion of serum fatty acids in hemodialysis patients particularly with lower n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) and higher monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) content compared to healthy subjects (29–32). Depending on stages of CKD severity, there is an increase of MUFA and a gradual progressive decrease in the content of n-3 and n-6 PUFA, which contributes to the occurrence of dyslipidemia in CKD patients (33). The mechanism by which disturbance in fatty acid profile such as decline of n-3 PUFA/arachidonic acid (AA) ratio in hemodialysis still remains unclear (34). Endogenous fatty acid

Abbreviations: AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alfa-linolenic acid; Alb, albumin; BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CRP, C-reactive protein; Cu, copper; CVD, cardiovascular disease; D5D, Δ -5-desaturase; D6D, Δ -6-desaturase; DGLA, dihomo- γ -linolenic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; ELO, elongase; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; HD, hemodialysis; Hg, hemoglobin; ICP-MS, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; LA, linoleic acid; MAC, mid arm circumference; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; Tg, Triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; VAI, visceral adiposity index; VFA, visceral fat area; WC, waist circumference; Zn, zinc.

metabolism is regulated by D5, D6, and D9 desaturase enzymes. Zinc is a cofactor for desaturases and elongases enzymes (35). Therefore, the alterations of zinc serum levels could affect the activities of these enzymes and consequently modulate the regulation of fatty acid metabolism. Recently, the linoleic (LA)/ dihomo- γ -linoleic acid (DGLA) ratio has been proposed as a novel biomarker of zinc status (36, 37). There is a scarcity in available scientific data regarding the interaction between zinc intake and status and PUFA fatty acid in CKD.

Thus, the aim of the present study was to examine the relationship between dietary zinc intake, its serum concentrations and Cu/Zn ratio and to explore associations of these micronutrients with PUFA profile in serum phospholipids and estimated desaturase and elongase enzyme activities in hemodialysis patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This was a cross-sectional study conducted at the Department of Hemodialysis, Clinic of Nephrology, Military Medical Academy, Belgrade, Serbia.

Study Population

We studied 40 patients undergoing hemodialysis treatments between February 2017 and January 2019. All patients were dialyzed three times per week for 4 h with high-permeability membranes. The blood flow was in the range of 250-300 mL/min with a dialysis rate flow of 500 mL/min. Oral iron supplementation, based on ferrous citrate or an iron containing phosphate binder was administered to all the participants. The exclusion criteria were heart failure (NYHA III or IV), acute myocardial infarction, and acute infectious disorders within three months of recruitment. Patients were not obese and had no severe malnutrition (BMI 20-30 kg/m²). After the initial eligibility screening, subjects consuming zinc-salts and omega 3 dietary supplements were excluded. Involved patients voluntarily provided the written informed consent to participate in this research. This study was conducted in accordance with standards and a principle stated in the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Board of the Military Medical Academy, Belgrade, Serbia (Approval Project No 8/15-17).

Analysis of Biochemical Parameters

All blood samples were obtained immediately before the midweek dialysis session after a 12-hour fast. The following serum parameters were considered: urea, creatinine, and potassium, C-reactive protein (CRP), hemoglobin (Hb), total cholesterol, HDL- and LDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, albumin, iron, vitamin D, and intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH). After the dialysis procedure serum urea, creatinine and potassium analyses were repeated. Concentrations of biochemical blood parameters were obtained spectrophotometrically using the Siemens Dimension Rxl Max analyzer. The value of CRP was calculated *via* enhanced turbidimetric-immunoassay (PETIA) using the Siemens Dimension RxlMax analyzer. The Kt/V value quantifying the hemodialysis efficiency was calculated using the formula proposed by Daugirdas and Blake (38). Aliquots of the remaining serum were made immediately, and these samples were stored at -80 °C for further analysis of trace metal profiles (zinc, copper) and fatty acids.

Anthropometric Measurements

Assessment of anthropometric parameters included height, weight, mid-arm circumference (MAC) and waist circumference (WC). Measurement was performed with individuals wearing light clothes, without shoes. Height was measured using wall-mounted stadiometer to the nearest 0.5 cm. Body weight and % of body fat was measured using a body composition analyzer InBody720 (Biospace Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). Visceral fat area (VFA) was measured at the level of the umbilicus with a dual bioelectrical impedance analyzer (DUALSCAN, Omron Healthcare Co, Kyoto, Japan). WC was measured from the midpoint between the lateral iliac crest and the lowest rib to the nearest 0.5 cm. The visceral adiposity index (VAI) was calculated using the formula by Amato et al. (39).

Assessment of Dietary PUFA, Zinc and Copper Intake

Dietary intake evaluation was based on participants' subjective retrospective report, using the repeated 24-h recalls as the assessment method. Complete consumption of food and beverages was recorded on three occasions (dialyses day, one non-dialyses weekday and one non-dialyses weekend day) for each individual. Data was collected within in-depth multiplepass direct structured interviews administered by skilled survey staff. Quantities of food consumed were estimated in reference to common household measures, natural units, and standard measuring kitchen tools as well as container size or packaging information for commercial products. Regionally specific, previously validated Food Atlas containing 135-items (simple foods and composite dishes) was applied as an additional twodimensional portion-size estimation aid (40). Questionnaires were processed and analyzed via Diet Assess & Plan, an advanced nutritional software tool (41). Conversion of food to nutrient intake was performed based on mean values for three recall replicates and all the listed food items were matched and coded using the national Serbian Food Composition Database (42) in the Institute for Medical Research. Estimates of zinc intake were compared against reference values proposed specifically for hemodialysis patients, i.e.10-15 mg for men and 8-12 mg for women (43, 44). Adequacy assessment for copper intake was based on European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommendations for general population (1.3 mg/day for women, 1.6 mg/day for men) (45).

Fatty Acid Determination and Estimation of Desaturase Activity

Total serum lipids were extracted according to the method of Folch (46). As previously described, plasma phospholipids were isolated by one-dimensional thin-layer chromatography (TLC) in neutral solvent system hexane-diethyl-ether acetic acid (87:12:1 v/v) using Silica Gel GF plates (C. Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)

and trans esterified to methyl fatty acid (47). Afterwards, phospholipids' fatty acid methyl ester samples were analyzed by gas-liquid chromatography on the Shimadzu chromatograph GC 2014 (Kyoto, Japan), equipped with a flame ionization detector on an Rt \times 2330 column (60 m \times 0.25 mm ID, film thickness of 0.2 µm; RESTEK, Bellefonte, PA, USA) with initial oven temperature 130 °C held for 10 min and then programmed to increase at 3 °C/min to a final oven temperature of 220 °C. Fatty acid methyl esters were identified by comparing peak retention times with retention times obtained for fatty acids components of standard mixtures PUFA-2 and/or 37 FAMEs mix (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA). The relative abundances of individual fatty acids were calculated and expressed as a percentage of total identified FAs. Activities of fatty acid desaturases (D) were estimated as ratios of their relative abundances as follows: 18:1n-9/18:0 for stearoil-CoA D18(SCD-18), 16:1n-7/16:0 stearoil-CoA D16 (SCD-16), 20:3n-6/18:2n-6 for delta-6D (D6D), 20:4n-6/20:3n-6 delta- (D5D) and 22:5n-3/20:5n-3 for elongase (ELO) (48).

Serum Zinc and Copper Determination

Serum samples were prepared according to Stojsavljević et al. (49). All chemicals used were of high grade and were supplied by Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Briefly, all samples for metal analysis were diluted ten times with an aqueous solution containing 0.05% nitric acid, 0.1% Triton X-100, and 3% 1-butanol. Copper and zinc were determined by inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) in the collision mode with internal standardization. Linearity of the calibration curve above 0.999 was obtained for both trace metals in the range from 1 to 250μ g/L. The accuracy of the method used, expressed as recovery and determined by analysis of standard reference material (SeronormTM Trace Elements Serum L-2), was from 95.2 to 103.3% for ⁶⁵Cu and from 96.2 to 102.7% for ⁶⁶Zn. Serum zinc concentration below 60 μ g/dL was defined as zinc deficient (50).

Statistical Analysis

Complete Statistical analysis was performed with IBM SPSS 23 software package (Chicago, IL, USA) and principal component analysis (PCA) in PLS ToolBox, v.6.2.1, Matlab 7.12.0 (R2011a) statistical package. The distribution of data was evaluated using Shapiro-Wilk's test and Grubbs' test-a and principal PCA to test outliers. Performed test showed that there were no outliers. The results obtained were presented as the mean value \pm standard deviation (SD) for normally distributed, and medians (interquartile range) for scattered variables. Mean values of normally distributed data were compared by unpaired Student's t-test and non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was performed on non-transformed scattered values data. A logarithmic transformation was performed for scattered variables prior to further analyses with Pearson's/Spearmen's test for correlation analysis. For all the analyses a p-value < 0.05 was considered indicative for statistical significance.

RESULTS

Dietary Zinc, Copper and PUFA Intake in Hemodialysis Patients

Forty participants with a mean age of 56 \pm 15 years were enrolled in the present study. The sample comprised thirtyone (78%) male and nine female (22%) hemodialysis (HD) patients. As it is shown in Table 1, 22 (55%) participants had inadequate dietary zinc intake compared to recommended values for HD patients (10-15 mg/day for men, 8-12 mg/day for women). Distribution of food groups of zinc dietary sources among study participants, based on 24 h recalls, is presented in Figure 1. Biomarker analyses revealed that all HD patients had zinc deficiency (i.e. serum zinc concentration below the 60 μ g/dL threshold) with a mean value of 38.8 \pm 7.8 µg/dL. Accordingly, patients' subdivision into categories based on zinc status was not possible. With a median value of 629 mg/day, copper intake was significantly below the recommended level for the general population (45). Serum copper concentration and the Cu/Zn ratio were 97.3 µg/dL and 2.8, respectively (Table 1).

Dietary intake data of HD patients is presented in **Table 1**. Considering the estimated dietary intake of PUFA, the nutritional n-6/n-3 ratio was notably high among HD patients. The median contribution of PUFA to total energy intake was $6.84 \pm 3.28\%$. Further data analyses indicated higher n-3 PUFA intake among HD patients with adequate zinc intake in comparison with those whose intake was below the recommendations: 0.69 (0.56–0.94) vs. 0.53 (0.39–0.69) g/day. This difference reach statistical significance (p = 0.028). There were no differences for n-6, n-6/n-3, total PUFA and copper intake comparing these groups (**Table 1**). Group comparison based on zinc intake adequacy revealed that HD patients with appropriate dietary zinc intake had higher caloric intake (p = 0.03), protein (p = 0.003), SFA (p = 0.005), and MUFA (p = 0.012).

To acknowledge the impact of diverse dietary sources on zinc bioavailability and subsequent status, the contribution of various food groups to total zinc intake is presented in Figure 1A. In this study, the main dietary source of zinc were food items belonging to meat and meat product group with mean contribution of 3.26 mg/day, representing 34.72% of the total estimated dietary intake of zinc, so we presented the distribution of zinc daily intake from foods from meat and meat products group in Figure 1B. In this food group, a dominant source was beef meat, followed by pork and chicken meat. Based on food consumption analysis, other major sources were grains and grain products, miscellaneous food products, as well as milk, milk products and substitutes with 14.03, 13.77 and 10.39% contribution, respectively. In the miscellaneous product group important zinc dietary sources were bakery yeast and seasonings such as powdered red paprika, dried parsley leaves, ground nutmeg, and powdered garlic. Only 2.66% of total zinc intake was attributed to seafood and related products.

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristic,	dietary intake data	zinc and conner statu	is in hemodialysis patients
TABLE I Dernographie characteristic,	alotary intance data	, 2110 010 000001 31010	is in nornoularysis patients.

Variable	All patients	Adequate Zn intake	Inadequate Zn intake
Age (years)	56 ± 15	56 ± 14	53 ± 15
Gender (M/F) n (%)	31/9 (78/22%)	15/3	16/6
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.49 ± 3.76	25.09 ± 4.12	24.62 ± 3.44
HD duration (years)	5 (2–11.5)	3.5 (2–5)	5 (2–11)
Smokers/non-smokers n (%)	17/23 (42/58%)	9/9	8/14
Dietary zinc intake (mg/day)	9.35 ± 3.38	12.13 ± 2.56	7.07 ± 1.95***
M (RDI in HD 10-15 mg/day)	12.63 ± 2.49		
F (RDI in HD 8-12 mg/day)	9.63 ± 2.10		
M < 10 mg/day n (%)	16/31 (52%)		
F< 8 mg/day n (%)	6/9 (67%)		
Dietary copper intake (μg/day)	629 (425–774)	664 (512–799)	525 (402–749)
Energy intake (kcal/day)	1,858 (1,687–2,177)	$2,093 \pm 420$	$1822 \pm 232^{*}$
Protein (g/day)	72.0 (59.0-87.7)	87.7 (78.9–99.8)	63.6 (55.8–72.8)**
Carbohydrate (g/day)	230 ± 45	233 ± 62	228 ± 26
Total fiber (g/day)	19.5± 5.9	19.18 ± 5.33	19.77 ± 6.44
Fats (g/day)	79.8 ± 24.1	89.1 ± 18.5	$70.9 \pm 22.9^{**}$
SFA (g/day)	30.77 ± 12.04	38.42 ± 10.71	27.72 ± 11.25**
MUFA (g/day)	24.84± 7.57	31.06 ± 6.67	$23.82 \pm 9.11^{*}$
Dietary PUFA intake (g/day)	15.53 (8.72–20.00)	16.60 (9.07–19.96)	15.20 (7.18–26.02)
n—3 PUFA (g/day)	0.581 (0.507–0.836)	0.687 (0.560–0.942)	0.528 (0.394–0.688)*
n-6 PUFA (g/day)	12.60 ± 6.88	12.85 ± 5.96	12.39 ± 7.68
n-6/n-3	17.86 (10.16–29.00)	19.12 (10.20–27.07)	16.70 (10.12–36.72)
Serum			
Zinc (µg/dL)	38.8 ± 7.72	35.2 ± 5.4	39.8 ± 9.3
Serum zinc deficiency			
(< 60 μg/dL) n (%)	40 (100 %)		
Correlation: Zn intake/status	r = -0.200		
	p = 0.211		
Copper (µg/dL)	973 (930–1,191)	1,037 (719–1,108)	980 (930–1,086)
Cu/Zn ratio	2.76 ± 0.68	2.85 ± 0.68	2.56 ± 0.51

Continuous variables are shown as means \pm SD for a normal distribution or medians (interquartile range) for a non-normal distribution. HD, hemodialysis; RDI, recommended daily intake; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; Cu, copper; Zn, zinc. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 inadequate Zn intake vs. adequate Zn intake.

Correlations of Biochemical and Anthropometric Parameters With Zinc Intake and Status

Group comparison based on zinc intake adequacy revealed that HD patients with appropriate dietary zinc intake had lower iPTH concentrations (p = 0.047), VAI values (p = 0.020) and higher MAC (p = 0.031) (Figures 2A–C). There were no other statistically significant differences in biochemical and anthropometric parameters between these two groups. Moreover, further analysis of obtained data showed that there are significant correlations between dietary zinc intake and iPTH, VAI and MAC values (Table 2). The only significant difference in the fatty acid profile in HD patients with inadequate zinc intake was a lower level of n-3 PUFA compared to HD patients with adequate zinc intake (Table 3). Nevertheless, low EPA+DHA values and high n-6/n-3 ratio were present in both groups.

Table 4 represents the associations of biochemical and anthropometrics parameters with dietary intake of zinc, serum zinc and copper status. Dietary zinc intake did not correlate with serum zinc concentration in HD patients (data not shown). The inverse associations were found between zinc intake estimates and LDL cholesterol (r = -0.332, p = 0.036) as well as iPTH levels (r = -0.317, p = 0.046) (Table 4). Dietary intake of zinc was directly associated with the anthropometric parameter MAC and inversely with VAI (p < 0.05, for both parameters). There were no significant correlations between the serum zinc concentrations and analyzed biochemical parameters. However, significant inverse correlations between the serum Cu/Zn ratio and serum albumin (r = -0.404, p = 0.009), iron (r = -0.351, p = 0.026), PTH (r = -0.332, p = 0.036) concentration and Kt/V (r = -0.317, p = 0.046) were noted. In addition, the serum Cu/Zn ratio was directly associated with HD period (r = 0.355, p = 0.023), CRP (r = 0.315, p = 0.048), BMI (r = 0.384, p = 0.014)







FIGURE 2 Differences in clinical and anthropometric parameters comparing groups with adequate and inadequate dietary Zn intake. (A) Median values for intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH) levels (1st-3rd interquartile for inadequate Zn intake = 36–75.9; 1st-3rd interquartile for adequate Zn intake = 19–47.3), (B) Median values for mid-arm circumference (MAC) (1st-3rd interquartile for inadequate Zn intake = 23.7–26.5; 1st-3rd interquartile for adequate Zn intake = 25.6–29.55), and (C) Mean \pm standard deviation for visceral adiposity index (VAI). * ρ < 0.05 for inadequate Zn intake vs adequate Zn intake.

and VFA (r = 0.327, p = 0.040). Serum copper concentration directly correlated with BMI (r = 0.384, p = 0.014) and VFA (r = 0.361, p = 0.023) and inversely correlated with serum albumin concentration ($r = -0.449 \ p = 0.004$).

Correlations of PUFA and Estimates of Desaturase Activity With Zinc Status

As shown in Table 5, no statistically significant correlations were observed between dietary zinc intake and plasma

TABLE 2 | Characteristic of the hemodialysis patients.

Variable	All patients	Adequate Zn intake	Inadequate Zn intake
Hg (g/L)	101.0 ± 15.2	102.8 ± 11.8	102.6 ± 18.3
Urea (mmol/L)	23.9 ± 4.8	24.1 ± 5.8	23.3 ± 4.7
Creatinine (µmol/L)	913 ± 147	967 ± 135	876 ± 161
Kt/V	1.47 ± 0.32	1.34 ± 0.27	1.49 ± 0.37
Protein (g/l)	67.5 (63–70)	68 (66.5–69)	67.5 (63–70)
Albumin (g/l)	37.5 (36–40)	37 (35–39)	38 (37–40)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.52 ± 0.92	4.73 ± 0.92	4.40 ± 1.35
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.09 ± 0.78	2.95 ± 0.82	3.19 ± 0.93
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	F: 0.995 (0.91–1.08)	F: 0.955 (0.91–1)	F: 1.41 (1.09–1.46)
	M: 1.065 (0.90-1.29)	M: 1.185 (0.98–1.4)	M: 0.9 (0.64–1.14)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.21 (1.025–1.575)	1.11 (1.02–1.51)	1.50 (1.00-1.93)
Tg/HDL	1.28 (0.91–1.69)	1.10 ± 0.48	1.52 ± 0.73
$CRP \leq 3 \text{ mg/L n (\%)}$	12 (42%)	6/12	6/16
CRP > 3 mg/L n (%)	28 (58%)		
WC (cm)	F: 82.1 ± 10.8	F: 78.5 ± 11.3	F: 87.1 ±8.8
	M: 95.6 \pm 11.4	M: 96.8 ±13.3	M: 94.5 ±9.5
% Body fat	$F: 30.6 \pm 10.8$	$F: 28.2 \pm 2.3$	F: 29.1 ±5.3
	$\textrm{M:}~25.5\pm8.4$	M: 23.7 ±9.4	M: 26.1 ± 8.0
MAC (cm)	25.6 ± 3.8	27.25 (25.6–29.55)	25.1 (23.7–26.5)*
VFA (cm ²)	96.2 ± 44.6	$93.2 \pm 55.$	102.7 ± 32.2
VAI	2.00 ± 1.01	1.58 ± 0.75	$2.44 \pm 1.09^{*}$
Iron (µmol/L)	14.8 ± 5.3	13.8 ± 4.4	15.2 ± 6.1
iPTH (pg/ml)	43.45 (19.4–64.7)	32.3 (19–47.3)	52.8 (36–75.6)*
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	35.87 ± 9.81	35.46 ± 11.46	34.94 ± 8.03

Continuous variables are shown as means \pm standard deviation for a normal distribution or medians (interquartile range) for a non-normal distribution. BMI, body mass index; F, female; M, male; CRP, C-reactive protein; Hg, hemoglobin; Tg, Triglyceride; WC, waist circumference; MAC, mid arm circumference; VFA, visceral fat area; VAI, visceral adiposity index; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone. *p < 0.05 inadequate Zn intake vs adequate Zn intake, #distribution of data could not be tested as there are less than 5 data (n = 3).

phospholipids' levels of individual n-6 and n-3 PUFAs neither with estimated desaturase activities among HD patients. Positive correlations were found for serum zinc concentration with DGLA (r = 0.357, p = 0.024) and D6D (r = 0.311, p = 0.037) and inverse associations with the DGLA/LA ratio (r = -0.335, p = 0.033). Serum copper concentration was inversely associated with EPA (r = -0.465, p = 0.03). The Cu/Zn ratio and serum copper concentration directly correlated with ELO (r = 0.384, p = 0.01 and r = -0.575, p < 0.001, respectively).

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating zinc status in hemodialysis patients, considering dietary zinc intake, serum zinc levels and mutual relations with fatty acid profile, and estimated desaturase activities. Among studied patients, both zinc deficiency and altered Cu/Zn ratio were observed. Inadequate dietary zinc intake was present up to 55% of hemodialysis patients and there was no significant correlation between the estimated intake and serum zinc concentration. Based on our findings, zinc dietary intake did not correlate with serum PUFA status and estimated desaturase activity in hemodialysis patients. Furthermore, data revealed the

absence of association between serum zinc concentration and analyzed biochemical parameters. It is noteworthy that all the studied hemodialysis patients had zinc deficiency, determined according to low serum zinc concentration as known as a sensitive biomarker of zinc status. This led to no statistically significant difference in the zinc levels and Cu/Zn ratio compared hemodialyzed patients with adequate and inadequate zinc intake. Results of this study indicate that the serum zinc and copper concentrations and their ratio were related to modified fatty acid PUFA profile in hemodialysis patients, with DGLA, EPA, LA/DGLA and estimated D6D activity.

Our results are in accordance with previously published data suggesting that hemodialysis patients have low serum zinc concentration (5, 19–23). As reported in the present study, dietary zinc intake is quite often not correlated with plasma/serum zinc status (37, 51). Fifty-five percent of recruited patients had zinc intake below the recommended level for patients with CKD and all had zinc deficiency (defined as serum concentration below 60 μ g/dL). Severe zinc deficiency can manifest clinically when its serum values decrease to 40 μ g/dL. Mean serum zinc concentration of 38.8 \pm 7.72 μ g/dL obtained in these samples could be considered as indicative for zinc supplementation. Although only 1% of total zinc in the body is present in circulation, serum zinc is still regarded as an important

TABLE 3 | Plasma fatty acid status in hemodialysis patients.

Fatty acid	All patients	Adequate Zn intake	Inadequate Zn intake
%		<i>n</i> = 18	<i>n</i> = 22
16:0	28.60 ± 1.94	28.44 ± 2.03	28.31 ± 2.28
18:0	19.06 (17.68–19.81)	17.80 (17.04–19.70–24.82)	19.36 (18.36–20.29)
SFA	47.52 ± 2.32	46.85 ± 2.22	47.96 ± 2.30
16:1n-7	0.38 (0.26–0.46)	0.36 (0.22–0.45)	0.40 (0.27–0.48)
18.1n-9	9.61 (8.54–10.25)	9.73 (8.38–10.19)	9.87 (8.86–10.44)
18:1n-7	1.85 (1.70–2.09)	1.73 (1.66–2.02)	1.95 (1.74–2.08)
MUFA	11.84 (11.03–12.68)	11.81 (10.72–12.20)	12.31 (11.22–12.87)
18:2n-6 (LA)	21.89 ± 3.14	22.22 ± 2.93	21.64 ± 3.99
20:3n-6 (DGLA)	2.87 ± 0.66	3.02 ± 0.74	2.94 ± 0.63
20:4n-6 (AA)	11.78 ± 2.25	12.14 ± 2.06	11.61 ± 2.62
22:4n-6	0.66 (0.50–0.90)	0.67 (0.46–1.01)	0.60 (0.45–0.71)
n-6	37.27 ± 3.03	38.12 ± 2.69	36.79 ± 7.48
18:3n-3	0.11 (0.08–0.16)	0.12 (0.08–0.15)	0.09 (0.07–0.19)
20:5n—3 (EPA)	0.22 (0.16–0.31)	0.24 (0.14–0.32)	0.18 (0.16–0.32)
22:5n-3(DPAn-3)	0.56 (0.48–0.69)	0.62 (0.48–0.80)	0.54 (0.44–0.59)
22:6n-3 (DHA)	2.26 ± 0.57	2.36 ± 0.62	2.08 ± 0.41
n-3	3.25 ± 0.74	3.42 ± 0.83	$2.97 \pm 0.51^{*}$
n-6/n-3	11.99 ± 2.54	11.71 ± 2.66	12.68 ± 2.20
EPA+DHA	2.51 ± 0.60	2.61 ± 0.63	2.29 ± 0.42
PUFA	40.52 ± 3.31	41.54 ± 2.71	39.77 ± 3.61
D5D	4.28 ± 1.15	4.20 ± 1.09	4.06 ± 1.11
D6D	0.128 (0.106-0.153)	0.129 (0.109–0.149)	0.127 (0.102–0.185)
SCD16	0.013 (0.009–0.016)	0.012 (0.008-0.016)	0.014 (0.010-0.016)
SCD18	0.49 (0.43–0.57)	0.53 (0.45–0.57)	0.49 (0.44–0.57)
LA/DGLA	8.10 ± 2.53	7.80 ± 2.17	7.79 ± 2.72
ELO	2.47 (0.96–11.0)	3.29 (3.10-11.00)	2.51 (1.00–5.17)

Continuous variables are shown as means \pm standard deviation for a normal distribution or medians (interquartile range) for a non-normal distribution; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; LA, linoleic acid; DGLA, dihomo- γ -linolenic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; D5D, Δ -5-desaturase; AA/DGLA (20:4 n-6/20:3 n-6), D6D, Δ -6-desaturase: DGLA/LA (20:3 n-6/18:2 n-6); SCD16 and 18, stearoil-CoA desaturase 16 and 18, ELO, elongase: (DPAn-3/EPA), *p < 0.05 inadequate Zn intake vs. adequate Zn intake.

biomarker and useful indicator of dietary zinc restriction, zinc supplementation, and clinical deficiency. The recently determined interval for serum zinc concentration in the adult Serbian population (from 40 to 82,5 µg/ dL) strongly implies that even our healthy population could be at risk to develop zinc deficiency (52). Therefore, adequate oral zinc supplementation and/or foodstuff fortification should be considered to prevent the deleterious effects caused by zinc deficiency (53). It is important to notice that meta-analysis by Wang et al. (54) showed that zinc supplementation with median dose of 45 mg/day and duration of median 60 days results in higher serum zinc levels and lower CRP and malondialdehyde levels in hemodialyzed patients. Thus, evidence supported that zinc supplementation in doses that are much higher than recommended values for dietary intake (8-12 mg/day for women, 10-15mg/day for men) may improve serum zinc levels in hemodialysis patients. Increasing number of CKD patients is considered a major public health problem and there is the new evidence that low dietary zinc intake may increase the risk of CKD development in individuals with normal renal function (55). Low serum zinc concentrations among hemodialysis patients are supposed to result from zinc removal during the treatment itself, decreased albumin levels, diminished gastrointestinal zinc absorption, and antagonistic effects of copper to their common carrier metalothionine, due to its higher affinity to copper compared to zinc (16, 56). In addition, a high intake of copper, iron or phytic acid could cause malabsorption of dietary zinc (57). The molar ratio of phytate and zinc has been shown to be a predictor of zinc absorption; however, data for dietary amounts of phytic acids are still scarcely available in food composition databases. A nutrition plan targeting plant-based food was not recommended to studied hemodialysis patients due to the high content of potassium and phosphates. Given that the major contributor to zinc intake were meat and meat products, participants of the present study dominantly obtained zinc from high bioavailability sources. Group comparison based on zinc intake adequacy revealed that our hemodialysis patients with appropriate dietary zinc intake had daily higher energy, protein, total fats and SFA, MUFA and n-3 PUFA consumption.

TABLE 4 | Correlation between zinc intake and status values with the different biochemical parameters in hemodialysis patients.

	Hg	Iron	CRP	HD per	Kt/V	Urea	sCr	Alb	тс	LDL	Tg	Tg / HDL	iPTH	Vit D	BMI	MAC	VFA	VAI
Dietary																		
Zn																		
r	0.021	-0.078	-0.140	-0.168	-0.132	-0.120	0.222	0.202	0.051	-0.332	-0.039	-0.168	-0.317	0.087	0.005	0.449	0.088	-0.317
р	0.899	0.629	0.388	0.300	0.415	0.460	0.170	0.211	0.750	0.036	0.809	0.300	0.046	0.589	0.977	0.004	0.589	0.046
Serum																		
Zn																		
r	0.113	0.021	0.009	-0.089	0.132	-0.118	0.032	0.118	-0.039	0.051	0.083	0.001	0.113	0.021	0.083	0.010	0.113	0.069
р	0.486	0.900	0.955	0.582	0.415	0.469	0.842	0.470	0.809	0.753	0.611	0.998	0.485	0.896	0.611	0.925	0.485	0.669
Serum																		
Cu																		
r	0.118	-0.214	0.231	0.010	-0.256	-0.032	0.118	-0.449	0.056	-0.064	0.010	-0.021	-0.177	-0.038	0.383	0.185	0.361	0.094
р	0.470	0.183	0.151	0.950	0.111	0.842	0.470	0.004	0.729	0.696	0.950	0.900	0.273	0.815	0.015	0.252	0.023	0.560
Cu/Zn																		
r	0.118	-0.214	0.231	0.010	-0.256	-0.032	0.118	-0.449	0.056	-0.064	0.010	-0.021	-0.177	-0.038	0.383	0.185	0.361	0.094
р	0.415	0.026	0.048	0.023	0.046	0.454	0.879	0.009	0.683	0.522	0.539	0.751	0.029	0.720	0.016	0.155	0.040	0.770

Takic et al.

Zinc and PUFA in Hemodialysis

Alb, albumin; sCr, serum creatinine; HD per, hemodialysis period; TC, total cholesterol.

TABLE 5 | Correlation between Zinc intake and status values with plasma PUFA profile and estimated desaturase activity in hemodialysis patients.

-								-						
	LA	ALA	DGLA	AA	EPA	DHA	n-6/n-3	EPA +	D5D	D6D	LA /	SCD16	SCD18	ELO
								DHA			DGLA			
Dietary														
Zn														
r	0.173	0.213	0.133	0.023	0.026	-0.048	0.007	0.058	-0.092	0.011	-0.025	-0.036	0.054	0.07
р	0.284	0.182	0.406	0.892	0.874	0.742	0.955	0.729	0.564	0.947	0.883	0.827	0.761	0.66
Serum														
Zn														
r	-0.125	-0.218	0.357	0.250	-0.292	-0.052	0.165	-0.112	-0.168	0.331	-0.335	-0.229	-0.183	0.220
р	0.442	0.174	0.024	0.118	0.064	0.748	0.307	0.491	0.296	0.037	0.033	0.155	0.277	0.16
Serum														
Cu														
r	-0.032	-0.147	0.256	0.089	-0.465	0.079	0.060	-0.027	-0.215	0.181	-0.202	0.165	-0.202	0.575
р	0.842	0.365	0.111	0.583	0.003	0.627	0.704	0.868	0.184	0.263	0.211	0.310	0.211	<0.00
Cu/Zn														
r	0.118	0.021	-0.023	-0.118	-0.364	0.093	-0.060	0.036	-0.087	-0.070	0.063	0.035	-0.027	0.384
р	0.470	0.899	0.907	0.470	0.090	0.566	0.715	0.827	0.589	0.666	0.697	0.829	0.867	0.014

LA, linoleic acid; DGLA, dihomo-γ-linolenic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alfa-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid, DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; D5D, Δ-5-desaturase; AA/DGLA (20:4 n-6/20:3 n-6); D6D, Δ-6-desaturase; DGLA/LA (20:3 n-6/18:2 n-6); SCD16 and 18, stearoil-CoA desaturase 16 and 18; ELO, (DPAn-3/EPA).

It is assumed that disruption of zinc and copper levels could be the cause of clinical deterioration as well as negative outcomes in hemodialysis patients. Previous findings indicated that the increased plasma Cu/Zn ratio reflects the disturbance in zinc and copper homeostasis and could be applied as a clinical predictor for patients' inflammatory status (10). It is suggested that the optimum serum Cu/Zn-ratio lies between 0.7 and 1.0 (58). Participants in the present study exhibited abnormally increased Cu/Zn-ratio with a mean value of 2.76 \pm 0.68. Trendafilov et al. (56) found a negative correlation between zinc status and markers of inflammation (CRP and IL-6), and a direct association of these parameters with copper status. Given the association found with the CRP as an indicator of the inflammatory response, clinical significance of Cu/Zn ratio for treatment outcome and further progression of renal failure is evident in our study population.

According to the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism guideline for hospitalized patients with acute or CKD, zinc and copper levels should be measured for nutrition screening and supplemented accordingly (59). There is evidence implying that serum zinc concentration is reduced by hypoalbuminemia in CKD patients, as zinc is bound to albumin in the circulation (60). Our study showed that the Cu/Zn ratio is inversely correlated with albumin levels. This study did not identify such associations between serum zinc concentration and explored biochemical parameters. This might be due to the limited sample size, which resulted in low statistical power for detecting outcomes of the serum zinc variable. The Cu/Zn ratio has been recognized as a better indicator of the significance of zinc deficiency than the concentration of zinc and copper in serum separately. In the present study inverse association between the serum Cu/Zn ratio and serum iron and iPTH concentration was observed among hemodialysis patients.

Zinc deficiency is suspected to cause an increase in PTH due to its contribution in maintaining calcium homeostasis (61). Previously published studies showed a significant negative correlation between serum levels of iPTH and zinc in hemodialyzed children (62), but this correlation was not highlighted for the adult patient population (63). Based on our findings, estimated dietary zinc intake and Cu/Zn ratio were inversely associated with serum concentrations of iPTH, but there was no significant association between serum zinc levels and iPTH levels. Taken all together, our results indicate that zinc intake and its status together with Cu/Zn balance in serum are associated with iPTH levels and consequently calcium homeostasis. The mechanism of PTH effects on plasma zinc concentration in CKD was investigated by Chen et al. (64) who found that PTH enhanced extra renal zinc disposal and increased zinc uptake by liver, suggesting that the over-secretion of PTH could be present in zinc deficiency. Furthermore, low vitamin D status leads to reduced efficiency of intestinal calcium absorption, and the body reacts by increasing the secretion PTH. Prescription of activated vitamin D to a CKD patient with high PTH levels is, therefore, a justified clinical solution. It is noteworthy that all the studied patients in our sample had vitamin D deficiency. Nevertheless, serum vitamin D levels did not correlate with zinc status.

Previously published data revealed that zinc supplementation could significantly reduce total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, and triglycerides in the general population (63). However, a recent meta-analysis showed no effect on the lipid profile of zinc supplementation in patients subjected to maintenance hemodialysis (54). A statistically significant inverse association was found between LDL-cholesterol levels and estimated dietary zinc intake, but no significant relationships were found with serum zinc concentration and Cu/Zn ratio. We obtained significant differences for iPTH, VAI, and MAC between the groups with adequate and inadequate dietary zinc intake, and its association with these parameters. However, we did not obtain correlations of iPTH, VAI, and MAC with serum zinc concentration. This could indicate the influence of deviations of zinc homeostasis and redistribution in tissue and cell (e.g. zinc concentration in erythrocytes). Some authors declare that it is not clear yet whether low serum/plasma zinc levels in CKD patients represent genuine deficiency or its low levels are due to redistribution in different biological compartments (65). Recently, serum zinc levels were found to positively correlate with the nutritional status assessed by measuring abdominal fat area using computed tomography in patients with advanced CKD undergoing hemodialysis (66). In our study, no statistically significant correlations were determined between the serum zinc level concentration and anthropometric measurements. Nevertheless, based on our observations, the Cu/Zn ratio positively correlated with BMI and VFA. Furthermore, the results of our study indicated that dietary zinc intake directly correlated with the MAC and inversely with VAI, a reliable indicator of visceral fat function associated with cardiometabolic risk. There is substantial evidence that higher BMIs are associated with an increased risk of CVD and mortality in the general population, but a reverse relationship is observed in HD patients and this phenomenon is known as the "risk factor paradox" (67). It is, however, unclear whether the survival advantage associated with higher BMIs among hemodialysis patients is caused by increased muscle mass, fat mass, or both. Previous findings indicated that zinc supplementation increase body weight and BMI in hemodialysis patients (68, 69).

Blood fatty acid composition seems to be an independent risk factor for CVD in patients subjected to HD (34, 70-72). It reflects both nutritional intake and endogenous synthesis of fatty acids, but there is still not much available information on dietary fatty acid intake in patients undergoing hemodialysis. In a recent study, Khor et al. (73) reported suboptimal dietary intake of PUFAs (<5% of total calories). The American Heart Association recommends replacing saturated fatty acids with PUFAs (>10% of total calories) for the general population to reduce the risk for CVD (74). Inadequate intake of total PUFAs was found in 50% of hemodialysis patients in this study. The mean dietary intake of fish and seafood was 10.5 g/day i.e. 73.5 g/week. These findings suggest suboptimal intake of n-3 PUFA as well, since two servings of fish (180g) a week is recommended (75). Based on Wijendran et al. (76), if the consummation of LA, ALA, EPA+DHA were in accordance with the recommendations, the dietary n-6/n-3 ratio should be approximately 6. In the present study 33 of 40 participants had a higher dietary n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio. Therefore, dietary habits of studied hemodialysis patients indicate the need for better nutritional strategies to achieve adequate fatty acid status. However, adequate zinc intake in our study population was accompanied with significantly higher intake of energy, total fats, SFA, MUFA and protein. According to results of our study red meat represented the main dietary source of zinc. Red meat represents a rich dietary source of zinc and proteins but also other nutrients such as SFA and cholesterol, limiting of its consumption is proposed strategy to reduce CVD risk in CKD patients, making even more difficult to reach adequate zinc intake by diet (77). Currently, there is no consensus in nutrition guidelines for the optimal dietary fatty acid intake targeting specifically CKD patients, but high dietary intake of zinc by consumption of foods abundant in zinc may lead to overconsumption of SFA. According to results of this study the zinc supplementation in CKD patients on hemodialysis, may be necessary to improve serum zinc status as the patients with adequate dietary zinc intake are shown to be zinc deficient, but could be a good strategy to ensure adequate zinc intake without high intake of some other nutrients such as SFA. Due to the recommended restriction of animal protein intake in patients with CKD supplementation is indicative for resolving zinc deficit in patients on hemodialysis.

A recent systematic review regarding the blood fatty acid status in dialysis patients from different countries revealed that the reported diversity of n-3 PUFA levels could be attributed to the variety of dietary habits (78). Among participants in this study, very low levels of EPA+DHA were observed in serum phospholipids. These findings are not unexpected since the dietary intake of fish and seafood was significantly below the recommendations. Our previous studies have already demonstrated markedly low n-3 PUFA status in dialyses population as well as its association with other clinical parameters, especially inflammation markers (29, 47, 79). This current study indicates that besides low n-3 PUFA status their dietary intake is also inadequate and accompanied by high n-6/n-3 ratio.

Essential fatty acids LA and ALA cannot be synthesized in humans and must be provided by the diet. However, they can be metabolized to long-chain PUFAs. DGLA, AA, and 22:4n-6 are the major products of LA desaturation/elongation metabolic pathway, while the ALA can be converted to EPA, DPAn-3, and DHA. Although these conversions seem to be relatively inefficient in humans, our previous research suggested beneficial effects of administration of ALA-rich seed mixture for improving EPA and DHA levels in hemodialysis patients (47). In fact, in the recent study authors hypothesized that uremic milieu found in hemodialysis patients could affect the n-3 PUFA metabolic pathway (73). Previous investigations have shown that serum/plasma zinc and copper levels could be associated with LA/DGLA values in healthy, dyslipidemic obese subjects, and children (35, 37, 80). To our best knowledge, there is no literature data regarding the relationship between zinc and copper status with estimates of desaturase activities and relative abundance of individual PUFA in HD population.

In the present study, zinc status was low in all patients undergoing hemodialysis, but the finding that it is directly associated with D6D is not unexpected. The inverse association between serum zinc status and LA/DGLA ratio has been determined in healthy subjects and dyslipidemic obese adult subjects, as well as children (35, 37, 80). Therefore, LA/DGLA was proposed as an emerging candidate biomarker for zinc status assessment (37). The obtained statistically significant inverse relationship between serum zinc concentrations and LA/DGLA confirms sensitivity of this biomarker in zinc deficient population. In line with other studies, we also found that DGLA levels were positively correlated with zinc status (35, 37). This fatty acid can be metabolized to one series of prostaglandins which possess anti-inflammatory properties, unlike two series of prostaglandins produced from AA generally viewed as proinflammatory (69). AA/DGLA ratio which is generally elevated in chronic renal patients undergoing HD is regarded as an important predictor of poor clinical outcomes (72). In this study, copper levels correlated inversely with EPA levels and directly with estimates of ELO activity, while the Cu/Zn ratio directly correlated with ELO activity and was not associated with EPA levels. These findings could be important as there is no literature data for copper status association with EPA levels and estimated ELO activity and scientific evidence suggests that EPA supplementation could decrease the all-cause mortality in patients undergoing HD treatment (71).

Based on a contrite meta-analysis of early and preliminarily available data, CKD seems to be associated with enhanced risk of severe COVID-19 infection. Multiple aspects of the immune system are affected by zinc. The prevalence of CKD in COVID-19 patients has been reported to be about 0.09-47.1% (81). Novel data suggest that oral zinc supplementation (80 mg/day of elemental zinc) administered at the first signs and symptoms of COVID-19 could be a promising therapeutic strategy (82). In general, a large body of evidence shows that up to one year of zinc supplementation in doses of 220 mg/d to 660 mg/d in chelated form (corresponding to approximately 50 mg to 150 mg of elemental zinc) seems to be a safe regimen for patients with CKD (54). Recently published studies demonstrated that the administration of oral zinc acetate could increase a risk for copper deficiency in hypoalbuminemic hemodialysis patients (83). A personal nutrition therapeutic approach is necessary for patients with CKD and hemodialysis sessions represent a valuable opportunity to monitor nutritional status and prescribe the appropriate interventions (84–86).

LIMITATIONS

Several limitations of this study should be acknowledged. First, the sample size was relatively small, and our findings should be confirmed and clarified by further larger-scale studies. All involved hemodialyzed patients were zinc deficient, so it was not possible to divide them into groups according to serum zinc levels. Second, dietary intake of zinc, copper and fatty acids were estimated using self-reported, retrospective 24 h nutritional surveys. All methods for the assessment of dietary exposure have their inherent limitations and 24 h surveys may not be the best nutritional tool to estimate the consumption of foods that are not consumed on a daily basis, such as fish, seafood, and

seafood products. Finally, statistical analysis was not performed with sex-specific considerations since female participants were underrepresented with only 20% in the studied patient group. Zinc deficiency could cause changes in a plethora of biochemical and clinical parameters that reflect renal function, the efficiency of hemodialysis treatment, dyslipidemia, calcium homeostasis (iPTH and vitamin D), body composition, inflammatory status, and anemia. In addition to factors explored in this study, there are other important parameters such as glucose homeostasis, redox status, and immune function that are relevant for patients undergoing HD, and further research is needed to provide a better understanding of their relationships with zinc status.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, due to the observed zinc deficiency in hemodialysis patients, it is necessary to determine serum zinc levels together with the Cu/Zn ratio as a standard in screening nutritional status. These indices could play an important role in desaturation/elongation of PUFA in this patient population group. Our results underline the need for zinc supplementation in patients undergoing hemodialysis as all patients had suboptimal serum status of zinc including those with adequate dietary intake. Zinc supplementation with high doses that cannot be provided by diet in hemodialysis patients in combination with n-3 PUFA supplements potentially could induce even more favorable change in fatty acids profiles than n-3 PUFAs treatments alone. Importantly, zinc deficiency with an altered n-3 fatty acid profile can affect disease progression and associated with various risk for CVD. More interventional studies are warranted to confirm the benefits of zinc and PUFA supplementation in hemodialysis patients for the prevention and attenuation of adverse health outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Cozzolino M, Mangano M, Stucchi A, Ciceri P, Conte F, Galassi A. Cardiovascular disease in dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2018) 33:iii28–34. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy174
- Bulbul MC, Dagel T, Afsar B, Ulusu NN, Kuwabara M, Covic A, et al. Disorders of lipid metabolism in chronic kidney disease. *Blood Purif.* (2018) 46:144–52. doi: 10.1159/000488816
- Grüngreiff K, Gottstein T, Reinhold D. Zinc deficiency-an independent risk factor in the pathogenesis of haemorrhagic stroke? *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3548. doi: 10.3390/nu12113548
- Meerarani P, Ramadass P, Toborek M, Bauer HC, Bauer H, Hennig B. Zinc protects against apoptosis of endothelial cells induced by linoleic acid and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:81–7. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.1.81
- Choi S, Liu X, Pan Z. Zinc deficiency and cellular oxidative stress: prognostic implications in cardiovascular diseases. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2018) 39:1120–32. doi: 10.1038/aps.2018.25
- Damianaki K, Lourenco JM, Braconnier P, Ghobril JP, Devuyst O, Burnier M, et al. Renal handling of zinc in chronic kidney disease patients and the role of circulating zinc levels in renal function decline. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2020) 35:1163–70. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfz065
- 7. Kaneko S, Morino J, Minato S, Yanai K, Mutsuyoshi Y, Ishii H, et al. Serum zinc concentration correlates with ferritin concentration in patients

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Review Board of the Military Medical Academy, Belgrade, Serbia. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MT contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools and performed the statistical analysis and review. MZ accountable for dietary data analysis, presentation of data, review, and editing. BT and MM data collected and review. AS completed mineral analysis, reviewing, and editing. SR responsible for carrying out the human study, for its design and coordination, and editing. DRM conceptualization/study design, methodology, manuscript preparation, review, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Contract No. 451-03-9/2021-14/200015) and by the Ministry of Defence of the Republic of Serbia, Project MFVMA/8/15-17.

undergoing peritoneal dialysis: a cross-sectional study. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:537586. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.537586

- Neto LC, Bacci MR, Sverzutt LC, Costa MG, Alves BA, Fonseca L. The role of zinc in chronic kidney disease patients on hemodialysis: a systematic review. *Health.* (2016) 8:344–52. doi: 10.4236/health.2016.84036
- Mocchegiani E, Malavolta M, Lattanzio F, Piacenza F, Basso A, Abbatecola AM, et al. Cu to Zn ratio, physical function, disability, and mortality risk in older elderly (ilSIRENTE study). *Age (Dordr)*. (2012) 34:539–52. doi: 10.1007/s11357-011-9252-2
- Laine JT, Tuomainen TP, Salonen JT, Virtanen JK. Serum copperto-zinc-ratio and risk of incident infection in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic heart disease risk factor study. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2020) 35:1149–56. doi: 10.1007/s10654-020-00644-1
- Baudry J, Kopp JF, Boeing H, Kipp AP, Schwerdtle T, Schulze MB. Changes of trace element status during aging: results of the EPIC-Potsdam cohort study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2020) 59:3045–58. doi: 10.1007/s00394-019-0 2143-w
- Malavolta M, Giacconi R, Piacenza F, Santarelli L, Cipriano C, Costarelli L, et al. Plasma copper/zinc ratio: an inflammatory/nutritional biomarker as predictor of all-cause mortality in elderly population. *Biogerontology*. (2010) 11:309–19. doi: 10.1007/s10522-009-9251-1
- Malavolta M, Piacenza F, Basso A, Giacconi R, Costarelli L, Mocchegiani E. Serum copper to zinc ratio: Relationship with aging and health status. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2015) 151:93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2015.01.004

- Guo CH, Wang CL. Effects of zinc supplementation on plasma copper/zinc ratios, oxidative stress, and immunological status in hemodialysis patients. *Int J Med Sci.* (2013) 10:79–89. doi: 10.7150/ijms.5291
- Prasad AS. Clinical, immunological, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant roles of zinc. *Exp Gerontol.* (2008) 43:370–7. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2007.10.013
- Gammoh NZ, Rink L. Zinc in Infection and Inflammation. Nutrients. (2017) 9:624. doi: 10.3390/nu9060624
- Nakatani S, Mori K, Shoji T, Emoto M. Association of zinc deficiency with development of CVD events in patients with CKD. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1680. doi: 10.3390/nu13051680
- Corrao S, Mallaci Bocchio R, Lo Monaco M, Natoli G, Cavezzi A, Troiani E, et al. Does evidence exist to blunt inflammatory response by nutraceutical supplementation during COVID-19 pandemic? An overview of systematic reviews of Vitamin D, Vitamin C, Melatonin, and Zinc. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1261. doi: 10.3390/nu13041261
- Dashti-Khavidaki S, Khalili H, Vahedi SM, Lessan-Pezeshki M. Serum zinc concentrations in patients on maintenance hemodialysis and its relationship with anemia, parathyroid hormone concentrations and pruritus severity. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl.* (2010) 21:641–5. Available online at: https://www. sjkdt.org/text.asp?2010/21/4/641/64620
- Yang CY, Wu ML, Chou YY, Li SY, Deng JF, Yang WC, et al. Essential trace element status and clinical outcomes in long-term dialysis patients: a two-year prospective observational cohort study. *Clin Nutr.* (2012) 5:630–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2012.02.008
- Fukushima T, Horike H, Fujiki S, Kitada S, Sasaki T, Kashihara N. Zinc deficiency anemia and effects of zinc therapy in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2009) 13:213–19. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-9987.2009.00656.x
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Hemmelgarn B, Klarenbach S, Field C, Manns B, et al. Trace elements in hemodialysis patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMC Med.* (2009) 7:25. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-25
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Bello A, Field CJ, Gill JS, Hemmelgarn BR, et al. Concentrations of trace elements and clinical outcomes in hemodialysis patients: a prospective cohort study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018) 13:907–15. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11451017
- 24. Filler G, Felder S. Trace elements in dialysis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2014) 29:1329–35. doi: 10.1007/s00467-013-2585-6
- Takagi K, Masuda K, Yamazaki M, Kiyohara C, Itoh S, Wasaki M, et al. Metal ion and vitamin adsorption profiles of phosphate binder ion-exchange resins. *Clin Nephrol.* (2010) 73:30–5. doi: 10.5414/CNP73030
- Bhogade RB, Suryakar AN, Joshi NG. Effect of hemodialysis on serum copper and zinc levels in renal failure patients. *Eur J Gen Med.* (2013) 10:154–7. doi: 10.29333/ejgm/82248
- Maiguma M, Suzuki Y, Suzuki H, Okayaki K, Aizawa M, Muto M, et al. Dietary zinc is a key environmental modifier in the progression of IgA nephropathy. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e90558014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090558
- Al-Timimi DJ, Sulieman DM, Hussen KR. Zinc status in type 2 diabetic patients: relation to the progression of diabetic nephropathy. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2014) 8:CC04–8. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2014/10090.5082
- Ristić V, Tepsić V, Ristić-Medić D, Perunicić G, Rasić Z, Postić M, et al. Plasma and erythrocyte phospholipid fatty acids composition in Serbian hemodialyzed patients. *Ren Fail.* (2006) 28:211–6. doi: 10.1080/08860220600574897
- Madsen T, Christensen JH, Svensson M, Witt PM, Toft E, Schmidt EB. Marine n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in patients with end-stage renal failure and in subjects without kidney disease: a comparative study. *J Ren Nutr.* (2011) 21:169–75. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2010.06.020
- Sikorska-Wiśniewska M, Mika A, Sledziński T, Małgorzewicz S, Stepnowski P, Rutkowski B, et al. Disorders of serum omega-3 fatty acid composition in dialyzed patients, and their associations with fat mass. *Ren Fail.* (2017) 39:406–12. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2017.1295870
- Mika A, Sikorska-Wiśniewska M, Małgorzewicz S, Stepnowski P, Debska-Slizień A, Sledziński T, et al. Potential contribution of monounsaturated fatty acids to cardiovascular risk in chronic kidney disease. *Pol Arch Intern Med.* (2018) 128:755–63. doi: 10.20452/pamw.4376
- 33. Czumaj A, Sledziński T, Carrero JJ, Stepnowski P, Sikorska-Wisniewska M, Chmielewski M, et al. Alterations of fatty acid profile may contribute to

dyslipidemia in chronic kidney disease by influencing hepatocyte metabolism. Int J Mol Sci. (2019) 20:2470. doi: 10.3390/ijms20102470

- 34. Shoji T, Kakiya R, Hayashi T, Tsujimoto Y, Sonoda M, Shima H, et al. Serum n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid profile as an independent predictor of cardiovascular events in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2013) 62:568–76. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.02.362
- Chimhashu T, Malan L, Baumgartner J, van Jaarsveld PJ, Galetti V, Moretti D, et al. Sensitivity of fatty acid desaturation and elongation to plasma zinc concentration: a randomised controlled trial in Beninese children. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 1196:610–19. doi: 10.1017/S000711451700366X
- 36. Reed S, Qin X, Ran-Ressler R, Brenna JT, Glahn RP, Tako E. Dietary zinc deficiency affects blood linoleic acid: dihomo-γ-linolenic acid (LA:DGLA) ratio; a sensitive physiological marker of zinc status in vivo (Gallus gallus). *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:1164–80. doi: 10.3390/nu6031164
- Knez M, Stangoulis JCR, Glibetic M, Tako E. The linoleic acid: Dihomoγ-Linolenic acid ratio (LA:DGLA)-an emerging biomarker of Zn status. *Nutrients.* (2017) 9:825. doi: 10.3390/nu9080825
- Daugirdas JT, Depner TA, Greene T, Levin NW, Chertow GM, Rocco MV, et al. Standard Kt/V urea: a method of calculation that includes effects of fluid removal and residual kidney clearance. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 77:637–44. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.525
- Amato MC, Giordano C, Galia M, Criscimanna A, Vitabile S, Midiri M, et al. Visceral adiposity index: a reliable indicator of visceral fat function associated with cardiometabolic risk. *Diabetes Care.* (2010) 33:920–2. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1825
- Nikolić M, Milešević J, Zeković M, Gurinović M, Glibetić M. The development and validation of food atlas for portion size estimation in the Balkan region. *Front Nutr.* (2018) 5:78. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00078
- Gurinović M, Milešević J, Kadvan A, Nikolić M, Zeković M, Djekić-Ivanković M, et al. Development, features and application of DIET ASSESS & PLAN (DAP) software in supporting public health nutrition research in Central Eastern European Countries (CEEC). *Food Chem.* (2018) 238:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.114
- 42. Gurinović M, Milešević J, Kadvan A, Djekić-Ivanković M, Debeljak-Martačić J, Takić M, et al. Establishment and advances in the online Serbian food and recipe data base harmonized with EuroFIRTM standards. *Food Chem.* (2016):193:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.01.107
- Fouque D, Vennegoor M. ter Wee P, Wanner C, Basci A, Canaud B, et al. EBPG guideline on nutrition. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2007) 22:ii45–87. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm020
- 44. Bossola M, Di Stasio E, Viola A, Leo A, Carlomagno G, Monteburini T, et al. Dietary intake of trace elements, minerals, and vitamins of patients on chronic hemodialysis. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2014) 46:809–15. doi: 10.1007/s11255-014-0689-y
- 45. EFSA (European Food Safety Authority). Dietary reference values for nutrients: summary report. In: EFSA supporting publication. (2017). p. e15121.92.
- Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanlez GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. (1957) 226:497–509. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)64849-5
- Ristic-Medic D, Perunicic-Pekovic G, Rasic-Milutinovic Z, Takic M, Popovic T, Arsic A, et al. Effects of dietary milled seed mixture on fatty acid status and inflammatory markers in patients on hemodialysis. *Sci World J.* (2014) 2014:563576. doi: 10.1155/2014/563576
- Warensjö E, Sundström J, Vessby B, Cederholm T, Risérus U. Markers of dietary fat quality and fatty acid desaturation as predictors of total and cardiovascular mortality: a population-based prospective study. Am J Clin Nutr. (2008) 88:203–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.1.203
- 49. Stojsavljević A, Trifković J, Rasić-Milutinović Z, Jovanović D, Bogdanović G, Mutić J, et al. Determination of toxic and essential trace elements in serum of healthy and hypothyroid respondents by ICP-MS: a chemometric approach for discrimination of hypothyroidism. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2018) 48:134–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2018.03.020
- Yokokawa H, Fukuda H, Saita M, Miyagami T, Takahashi Y, Hisaoka T, et al. Serum zinc concentrations and characteristics of zinc deficiency/marginal deficiency among Japanese subjects. J Gen Fam Med. (2020) 21:248–55. doi: 10.1002/jgf2.377

- King JC, Brown KH, Gibson RS, Krebs NF, Lowe NM, Siekmann JH, et al. Biomarkers of nutrition for development (bond)-zinc review. J Nutr. (2016) 146:8585–855. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.220079
- 52. Stojsavljević A, Jagodić J, Vujotić L, Borković-Mitić S, Rašić-Milutinović Z, Jovanović D, et al. Reference values for trace essential elements in the whole blood and serum samples of the adult Serbian population: significance of selenium deficiency. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2020) 27:1397–405. doi: 10.1007/s11356-019-06936-8
- Jagodic J, Rovcanin B, Borković S, Vujotic Lj, Avdin V, Manojlovic D, et al. Possible zinc deficiency in the Serbian population: examination of body fluids, whole blood and solid tissues. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2021) 24:1–8. doi: 10.1007/s11356-021-14013-2
- 54. Wang LJ, Wang MQ, Hu R, Yang Y, Huang YS, Xian SX, et al. Effect of zinc supplementation on maintenance hemodialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 15 randomized controlled trials. *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:1024769. doi: 10.1155/2017/10 24769
- Joo YS, Kim HW, Lee S, Nam KH, Yun HR, Jhee JH, et al. Dietary zinc intake and incident chronic kidney disease. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:1039–45s. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.07.005
- Trendafilov I, Georgieva I, Manolov V, Atanasova B, Vasilev V, Arabadjieva D, et al. Status and relation to inflammation of some serum trace elements (TE) in hemodialysis (HD) patients. *Nephrol Renal Dis.* (2018) 3:1–4s. doi: 10.15761/NRD.1000148
- 57. Maares M, Haase H. A guide to human zinc absorption: general overview and recent advances of in vitro intestinal models. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:762. doi: 10.3390/nu12030762
- Osredkar J, Sustar N. Copper and zinc, biological role and significance of copper/zinc imbalance. J Clin Toxicol. (2011) S3:001. doi: 10.4172/2161-0495.S3-001
- Fiaccadori E, Sabatino A, Barazzoni R, Carrero JJ, Cupisti A, De Waele E, et al. ESPEN guideline on clinical nutrition in hospitalized patients with acute or chronic kidney disease. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:1644–48. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.01.028
- Wieringa FT, Dijkhuizen MA, Fiorentino M, Laillou A, Berger J. Determination of zinc status in humans: which indicator should we use? *Nutrients.* (2015) 7:3252–63. doi: 10.3390/nu705 3252
- Suzuki T, Kajita Y, Katsumata S, Matsuzaki H, Suzuki K. Zinc deficiency increases serum concentrations of parathyroid hormone through a decrease in serum calcium and induces bone fragility in rats. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)*. (2015) 61:382–90. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.61.382
- 62. El Tayeb AA, Abd El-Mottaleb NA, Abdel Aziz EA. Relationship between serum parathyroid hormone and trace elements (serum zinc and magnesium) in hemodialyzed chronic renal failure children. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2009) 128:128–34. doi: 10.1007/s12011-008-8265-x
- Ranasinghe P, Wathurapatha WS, Ishara MH, Jayawardana R, Galappatthy P, Katulanda P, et al. Effects of Zinc supplementation on serum lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. (2015) 12:26. doi: 10.1186/s12986-015-0023-4
- Chen SM, Kuo CD, Liao JF, Ho LT. Effects of parathyroid hormone on plasma zinc concentration in rat with chronic renal failure. *Chin J Physiol.* (2005) 48:121–8.
- 65. Yonova D, Dimitrova V, Popov I, Manolov V, Vasilev V, Trendafilov I, et al. Is the iron treatment important for lowering erythrocyte zinc in non-dialyzed patients with chronic kidney disease? *Arch Nephrol Urol.* (2020) 3:27–32.
- 66. Fukasawa H, Niwa H, Ishibuchi K, Kaneko M, Iwakura T, Yasuda H, et al. The impact of serum zinc levels on abdominal fat mass in hemodialysis patients. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:656. doi: 10.3390/nu1203 0656
- Fleischmann EH, Bower JD, Salahudeen AK. Risk factor paradox in hemodialysis: Better nutrition as a partial explanation. ASAIO J. (2001) 47:74–81. doi: 10.1097/00002480-200101000-00016

- Sahin H, Uyanik F, Inanç N, Erdem O. Serum zinc, plasma ghrelin, leptin levels, selected biochemical parameters and nutritional status in malnourished hemodialysis patients. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2009) 127:191-9. doi: 10.1007/s12011-008-8238-0
- El-Shazly AN, Ibrahim SA, El-Mashad GM, Sabry JH, Sherbini NS. Effect of zinc supplementation on body mass index and serum levels of zinc and leptin in pediatric hemodialysis patients. *Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis.* (2015) 8:159–63. doi: 10.2147/IJNRD.S94923
- 70. Wang X, Lin H, Gu Y. Multiple roles of dihomo-γ-linolenic acid against proliferation diseases. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2012) 11:25. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-11-25
- Kuwamura Y, Shoji T, Okute Y, Yamazaki Y, Motoyama K, Morioka T, et al. Altered serum n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid profile and risks of mortality and cardiovascular events in a cohort of hemodialysis patients. *J Ren Nutr.* (2018) 28:54–63. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2017.07.001
- Inoue T, Okano K, Tsuruta Y, Tsuruta Y, Tsuchiya K, Akiba T, et al. Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) decreases the all-cause mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Intern Med.* (2015) 54:3133–7. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.54.4931
- 73. Khor BH, Sahathevan S, Sualeheen A, Ali MSM, Narayanan SS, Chinna K, et al. Dietary fatty acid intake in hemodialysis patients and associations with circulating fatty acid profiles: A cross-sectional study. *Nutrition*. (2019) 63:14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2019.01.005
- 74. Eckel RH, Jakicic JM, Ard JD, de Jesus JM, Houston Miller N, Hubbard VS, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 63:2960–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.003
- 75. Sacks FM, Lichtenstein AH, Wu JHY, Appel LJ, Creager MA, Kris-Etherton PM, et al. Dietary fats and cardiovascular disease: a presidential advisory from the American heart association. *Circulation*. (2017) 136:e1–e23. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000510
- Wijendran V, Hayes KC. Dietary n-6 and n-3 fatty acid balance and cardiovascular health. Annu Rev Nutr. (2004) 24:597–615. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.24.012003.132106
- Mafra D, Borges NA, Cardozo LFMF, Anjos JS, Black AP, Moraes C, et al. Red meat intake in chronic kidney disease patients: two sides of the coin. *Nutrition*. (2018) 46:26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.08.015
- Khor BH, Narayanan SS, Sahathevan S, Gafor AHA, Daud ZAM, Khosla P, et al. Efficacy of nutritional interventions on inflammatory markers in Haemodialysis patients: a systematic review and limited meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:397. doi: 10.3390/nu10040397
- Perunicic-Pekovic GB, Rasic ZR, Pljesa SI, Sobajic SS, Djuricic I, Maletic R, et al. Effect of n-3 fatty acids on nutritional status and inflammatory markers in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrology (Carlton)*. (2007) 12:331– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2007.00777.x
- Knez M, Pantovic A, Zekovic M, Pavlovic Z, Glibetic M, Zec M. Is there a link between zinc intake and status with plasma fatty acid profile and desaturase activities in dyslipidemic subjects? *Nutrients*. (2019) 12:93. doi: 10.3390/nu12010093
- Henry BM, Lippi G. Chronic kidney disease is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2020) 52:1193–4. doi: 10.1007/s11255-020-02451-9
- Santos HO, Tinsley GM, da Silva GAR, Bueno AA. Pharmaconutrition in the clinical management of COVID-19: a lack of evidence-based research but clues to personalized prescription. J Pers Med. (2020) 10:145. doi: 10.3390/jpm10040145
- Nishime K, Kondo M, Saito K, Miyawaki H, Nakagawa T. Zinc burden evokes copper deficiency in the hypoalbuminemic hemodialysis patients. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:577. doi: 10.3390/nu12020577
- Garagarza CA, Valente AT, Oliveira TS, Caetano CG. Effect of personalized nutritional counseling in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *Hemodial Int.* (2015) 19:412–8. doi: 10.1111/hdi.12260

- Piccoli GB, Lippi F, Fois A, Gendrot L, Nielsen L, Vigreux J, et al. Intradialytic nutrition and hemodialysis prescriptions: a personalized stepwise approach. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:785. doi: 10.3390/nu12030785
- Ristic-Medic D, Takic M, Radjen S. Chapter 11-soybeans, flaxseeds, and fish oil in the treatment of renal disease. In: Holban AM and Grumezescu AM (eds). *Therapeutic Foods, Handbook of Food Bioengineering*, Academic Press as imprint of Elsevier, Inc London, UK. (2017) 8:329–97. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-811517-6.0 0011-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Takic, Zekovic, Terzic, Stojsavljevic, Mijuskovic, Radjen and Ristic-Medic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

